Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657

Zofia Wilimowska Leszek Borzemski Jerzy Świątek *Editors* 

Information Systems Architecture and Technology: Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017

Part III



### Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing

Volume 657

### Series editor

Janusz Kacprzyk, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: kacprzyk@ibspan.waw.pl

#### About this Series

The series "Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing" contains publications on theory, applications, and design methods of Intelligent Systems and Intelligent Computing. Virtually all disciplines such as engineering, natural sciences, computer and information science, ICT, economics, business, e-commerce, environment, healthcare, life science are covered. The list of topics spans all the areas of modern intelligent systems and computing.

The publications within "Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing" are primarily textbooks and proceedings of important conferences, symposia and congresses. They cover significant recent developments in the field, both of a foundational and applicable character. An important characteristic feature of the series is the short publication time and world-wide distribution. This permits a rapid and broad dissemination of research results.

#### Advisory Board

Chairman

Nikhil R. Pal, Indian Statistical Institute, Kolkata, India e-mail: nikhil@isical.ac.in

#### Members

Rafael Bello Perez, Universidad Central "Marta Abreu" de Las Villas, Santa Clara, Cuba e-mail: rbellop@uclv.edu.cu

Emilio S. Corchado, University of Salamanca, Salamanca, Spain e-mail: escorchado@usal.es

Hani Hagras, University of Essex, Colchester, UK e-mail: hani@essex.ac.uk

László T. Kóczy, Széchenyi István University, Győr, Hungary e-mail: koczy@sze.hu

Vladik Kreinovich, University of Texas at El Paso, El Paso, USA e-mail: vladik@utep.edu

Chin-Teng Lin, National Chiao Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan e-mail: ctlin@mail.nctu.edu.tw

Jie Lu, University of Technology, Sydney, Australia

e-mail: Jie.Lu@uts.edu.au

Patricia Melin, Tijuana Institute of Technology, Tijuana, Mexico e-mail: epmelin@hafsamx.org

Nadia Nedjah, State University of Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil e-mail: nadia@eng.uerj.br

Ngoc Thanh Nguyen, Wroclaw University of Technology, Wroclaw, Poland e-mail: Ngoc-Thanh.Nguyen@pwr.edu.pl

Jun Wang, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong e-mail: jwang@mae.cuhk.edu.hk

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/11156

Zofia Wilimowska · Leszek Borzemski Jerzy Świątek Editors

# Information Systems Architecture and Technology: Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017

Part III





Editors Zofia Wilimowska Department of Management Systems, Faculty of Computer Science and Management Wrocław University of Science and Technology Wrocław Poland

Leszek Borzemski Department of Computer Science, Faculty of Computer Science and Management Wrocław University of Science and Technology Wrocław Poland Jerzy Świątek Department of Computer Science, Faculty of Computer Science and Management Wrocław University of Science and Technology Wrocław Poland

 ISSN 2194-5357
 ISSN 2194-5365 (electronic)

 Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing
 ISBN 978-3-319-67222-9
 ISBN 978-3-319-67223-6 (eBook)

 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6
 ISBN 978-3-319-67223-6
 ISBN 978-3-319-67223-6 (eBook)

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017952321

#### © Springer International Publishing AG 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

### Preface

This three volume set of books includes the proceedings of the 2017 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology (ISAT), or ISAT 2017 for short, which will be held on September 17–19, 2017, in Szklarska Poręba, Poland. The conference was organized by the Department of Computer Science and Department of Management Systems, Faculty of Computer Science and Management, Wrocław University of Technology, Poland.

The International Conference on Information Systems Architecture has been organized by the Wrocław University of Technology from the seventies of the last century. The purpose of the ISAT is to discuss a state of the art of information systems concepts and applications as well as architectures and technologies supporting contemporary information systems. The aim is also to consider an impact of knowledge, information, computing and communication technologies on managing the organization scope of functionality as well as on enterprise information systems design, implementation, and maintenance processes taking into account various methodological, technological, and technical aspects. It is also devoted to information systems concepts and applications supporting the exchange of goods and services by using different business models and exploiting opportunities offered by Internet-based electronic business and commerce solutions.

ISAT is a forum for specific disciplinary research, as well as for multidisciplinary studies to present original contributions and to discuss different subjects of today's information systems planning, designing, development, and implementation. The event is addressed to the scientific community, people involved in a variety of topics related to information, management, computer and communication systems, and people involved in the development of business information systems and business computer applications.

This year, we received 180 papers. The papers included in the three proceedings volumes published by Springer have been subject to a thoroughgoing review process by highly qualified peer reviewers. At least two members of Program Committee or Board of Reviewers reviewed each paper. The final acceptance rate was 56%. Program Chairs selected 101 best papers for oral presentation and

publication in the 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology 2017 proceedings.

The papers have been grouped into three volumes:

**Part I**—discoursing about topics including, but not limited to, Artificial Intelligence Methods, Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, Big Data, Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, Knowledge Based Management, Internet of Things, Cloud Computing and High Performance Computing, Distributed Computer Systems, Content Delivery Networks, Service Oriented Computing, and E-Business Systems, Web Design, Mobile and Multimedia Systems.

**Part II**—addressing topics including, but not limited to, System Modelling for Control, Recognition and Decision Support, Mathematical Modeling in Computer System Design, Service Oriented Systems and Cloud Computing and Complex process modelling.

**Part III**—dealing with topics including, but not limited to, Modeling of Manufacturing Processes, Modeling an Investment Decision Process, Management of Innovation, Management of Organization.

We would like to thank the Program Committee and external reviewers, essential for reviewing the papers to ensure a high standard of the ISAT 2017 conference and the proceedings. We thank the authors, presenters, and participants of ISAT 2017; without them, the conference could not have taken place. Finally, we thank the organizing team for the efforts in bringing the conference to a successful scientific event.

We devote ISAT 2017 to our friend and former ISAT Chair, Professor Adam Grzech.

September 2017

Leszek Borzemski Jerzy Świątek Zofia Wilimowska

### In Memory of Our Friend and Past ISAT Chair

### **Professor Adam Grzech**



November 2016

**Professor DSc. Adam Grzech** was born in 1954 in Dębica (Poland). He was graduated at the Wroclaw University of Technology 1977—M.Sc. Electronic Engineering. He did his PhD at the Institute of Technical Cybernetics in 1979 and D.Sc. in technical sciences in the field of computer science in 1989 and received the title of full Professor in 2003 from Wroclaw University of Technology.

He was an Assistant Professor at the Institute of Technical Cybernetics (1979–1982), an Assistant Professor at the Institute of Control and Systems Engineering (1982–1989), Associate Professor at the Institute of Control and Systems Engineering (1989–1993), a Professor at the Institute for Technical Informatics (1993–2006), and a Full Professor at the Institute of Computer Science, Faculty of Computer Science and Management at Wroclaw University of Technology (since 2006).

He was an author and co-author of over 350 published research works. His areas of research were as follows: analysis, modeling, and design information and communication systems and networks. Since 2002, he was a Chief of Telecommunication Department. He was a leader of Scientific School on Information and Communication Systems and Networks. He was a promoter of the 10 completed Ph.D. theses.

During the years 1991–1993 and 1999–2002, he was a Director of the Institute of Control and Systems Engineering. Since 2002, he was a delegate of the Rector for Information Technology, and then during the years 2003–2005, he was a Vice President for Development at the Wroclaw University of Technology and in 2002–2008 a member of the Senate of the Wroclaw University of Technology. During the years 2005–2012, he was a Vice Dean of Computer Science and Management Faculty.

He was active in the work at the national, international committees of conferences and scientific journals. He was Co-chair of Information Systems Architecture and Technology (ISAT) and Systems Science International Conferences. Since 1982, he served as Scientific Secretary, and since 2006 Editor-in-Chief of the Science Systems journal published quarterly.

Professor Adam Grzech was a member of the Wroclaw Scientific Society, the Polish Informatics Society, the Council of Information Technology, the Committee on Informatics of the Polish Academy of Sciences, and Technical Committee TC6 (Communication Systems) IFIP.



Leszek Borzemski Jerzy Świątek Zofia Wilimowska

ISAT 2017 Szklarska Poręba, September 17-19, 2017

### **ISAT 2017 Conference Organization**

### **General Chair**

Leszek Borzemski, Poland

### **Program Co-chairs**

Leszek Borzemski, Poland Jerzy Świątek, Poland Zofia Wilimowska, Poland

### Local Organizing Committee

Leszek Borzemski (Chair) Zofia Wilimowska (Co-chair) Jerzy Świątek (Co-chair) Mariusz Fraś (Conference Secretary, Website Support) Arkadiusz Górski (Technical Editor) Anna Kamińska (Technical Secretary) Ziemowit Nowak (Technical Secretary) Kamil Nowak (Website Coordinator) Danuta Seretna-Sałamaj (Technical Secretary)

### **International Program Committee**

Leszek Borzemski, Poland (Chair) Jerzy Świątek, Poland (Co-chair) Zofia Wilimowska, Poland (Co-chair) Witold Abramowicz, Poland Dhiya Al-Jumeily, UK Iosif Androulidakis. Greece Patricia Anthony, New Zealand Zbigniew Banaszak, Poland Elena N. Benderskaya, Russia Janos Botzheim, Japan Diallel E. Boubiche, Algeria Patrice Boursier, France Anna Burduk, Poland Andrii Buriachenko, Ukraine Udo Buscher, Germany Wojciech Cellary, Poland Haruna Chiroma, Malaysia Edward Chlebus, Poland Gloria Cerasela Crisan, Romania Marilia Curado, Portugal Czesław Daniłowicz, Poland Zhaohong Deng, China Małgorzata Dolińska, Poland Milan Edl, Czech Republic El-Sayed M. El-Alfy, Saudi Arabia Peter Frankovsky, Slovakia Naoki Fukuta, Japan Bogdan Gabryś, Poland Piotr Gawkowski, Poland Manuel Graña, Spain Wiesław M. Grudzewski, Poland Katsuhiro Honda, Japan Marian Hopej, Poland Zbigniew Huzar, Poland Natthakan Iam-On, Thailand Biju Issac, UK Arun Iyengar, USA Jürgen Jasperneite, Germany Janusz Kacprzyk, Poland Henryk Kaproń, Poland Yury Y. Korolev, Belarus Yannis L. Karnavas, Greece Ryszard Knosala, Poland Zdzisław Kowalczuk, Poland Lumír Kulhanek, Czech Republic Binod Kumar, India Jan Kwiatkowski, Poland Antonio Latorre, Spain Radim Lenort, Czech Republic

Gang Li, Australia José M. Merigó Lindahl, Chile Jose M. Luna, Spain Emilio Luque, Spain Sofian Maabout, France Lech Madeyski, Poland Zygmunt Mazur, Poland Elżbieta Mączyńska, Poland Pedro Medeiros, Portugal Toshiro Minami, Japan Marian Molasy, Poland Zbigniew Nahorski, Poland Kazumi Nakamatsu, Japan Peter Nielsen, Denmark Tadashi Nomoto, Japan Cezary Orłowski, Poland Sandeep Pachpande, India Michele Pagano, Italy George A. Papakostas, Greece Zdzisław Papir, Poland Marek Pawlak, Poland Jan Platoš, Czech Republic Tomasz Popławski, Poland Edward Radosinski, Poland Wolfgang Renz, Germany Dolores I. Rexachs, Spain José S. Reyes, Spain Leszek Rutkowski, Poland Sebastian Saniuk, Poland Joanna Santiago, Portugal Habib Shah, Malaysia J.N. Shah, India Jeng Shyang, Taiwan Anna Sikora, Spain Marcin Sikorski, Poland Małgorzata Sterna, Poland Janusz Stokłosa, Poland Remo Suppi, Spain Edward Szczerbicki. Australia Eugeniusz Toczyłowski, Poland Elpida Tzafestas, Greece José R. Villar, Spain Bay Vo, Vietnam Hongzhi Wang, China Leon S.I. Wang, Taiwan

Junzo Watada, Japan Eduardo A. Durazo Watanabe, India Jan Werewka, Poland Thomas Wielicki, USA Bernd Wolfinger, Germany Józef Woźniak, Poland Roman Wyrzykowski, Poland Yue Xiao-Guang, Hong Kong Jaroslav Zendulka, Czech Republic Bernard Ženko, Slovenia

### **ISAT 2017 Reviewers**

Małgorzata Adamska, Poland Patricia Anthony, New Zealand Katarzyna Antosz, Poland Zbigniew Antoni Banaszak, Poland Jan Betta, Poland Grzegorz Bocewicz, Poland Leszek Borzemski, Poland Janos Botzheim, Hungary Djallel Eddine Boubiche, Algeria Krzysztof Brzostowski, Poland Anna Burduk, Poland Udo Buscher, Germany Wojciech Cellary, Poland Haruna Chiroma, Malaysia Witold Chmielarz, Poland Grzegorz Chodak, Poland Kazimierz Choroś, Poland Piotr Chwastyk, Poland Gloria Cerasela Crisan, Romania Anna Czarnecka, Poland Mariusz Czekała, Poland Grzegorz Debita, Poland Jarosław Drapała, Poland Tadeusz Dudycz, Poland Fic Maria. Poland Mariusz Fraś, Poland Naoki Fukuta, Japan Joanna Furman, Poland Piotr Gawkowski, Poland Krzysztof Goczyła, Poland Arkadiusz Gola, Poland

Arkadiusz Górski, Poland Jerzy Grobelny, Poland Joanna Helman, Poland Bogumila Hnatkowska, Poland Katsuhiro Honda, Japan Grażyna Hołodnik-Janczura, Poland Zbigniew Huzar, Poland Artur Hłobaż, Poland Biju Issac, UK Katarzyna Jach, Poland Małgorzata Jasiulewicz-Kaczmarek, Poland Jerzy Józefczyk, Poland Ireneusz Jóźwiak, Poland Magdalena Jurczyk-Bunkowska, Poland Krzysztof Juszczyszyn, Poland Robert Kamiński, Poland Yannis Karnavas, Greece Włodzimierz Kasprzak, Poland Grzegorz Kołaczek, Poland Mariusz Kołosowski, Poland Jacek Korniak, Poland Zdzisław Kowalczuk, Poland Damian Krenczyk, Poland Lumír Kulhánek, Czech Republic Binod Kumar, India Jan Kwiatkowski, Poland Sławomir Kłos, Poland Antonio LaTorre, Spain Zbigniew Lipiński, Poland Wojciech Lorkiewicz, Poland Andrzej Loska, Poland Sofian Maabout, France Lech Madeyski, Poland Rafał Michalski, Poland Miroslava Mlkva, Slovak Republic Marian Molasy, Poland Zbigniew Nahorski, Poland Peter Nielsen, Denmark Cezary Orłowski, Poland Donat Orski, Poland Michele Pagano, Italy Agnieszka Parkitna, Poland Iwona Pisz, Poland Jan Platoš, Czech Republic Grzegorz Popek, Poland

Tomasz Popławski, Poland Sławomir Przyłucki, Poland Dolores Rexachs, Spain Maria Rosienkiewicz. Poland Stefano Rovetta, Italy Jacek, Piotr Rudnicki, Poland Dariusz Rzońca, Poland Anna Saniuk, Poland Joanna Santiago, Portugal José Santos, Spain Danuta Seretna-Sałamaj, Poland Anna Sikora, Spain Marcin Sikorski, Poland Dorota Stadnicka, Poland Malgorzata Sterna, Poland Janusz Stokłosa, Poland Grażyna Suchacka, Poland Remo Suppi, Spain Joanna Szczepańska, Poland Edward Szczerbicki, Poland Jerzy Świątek, Poland Błażej Święcicki, Poland Kamila Urbańska, Poland José R. Villar, Spain Bay Vo, Vietnam Anna Walaszek-Babiszewska, Poland Leon Shyue-Liang Wang, Taiwan Krzysztof Waśko, Poland Jan Werewka, Poland Zofia Wilimowska, Poland Bernd Wolfinger, Germany Józef Woźniak, Poland Ryszard Wyczółkowski, Poland Jacek Zabawa, Poland Krzysztof Zatwarnicki, Poland Jaroslav Zendulka, Czech Republic Maciej Zięba, Poland

### **ISAT 2017 Special Session**

Modeling of Manufacturing Processes Anna Burduk (Chair), Poland

### Contents

Modeling an Investment Decision Process	
Intelligent ALMM System for Discrete Optimization Problems – The Idea of Knowledge Base Application Ewa Dudek-Dyduch	3
The Inversion Test of the Investment Funds Efficiency Measures Agnieszka Bukietyńska, Mariusz Czekała, Zofia Wilimowska, and Marek Wilimowski	13
Modelling of Currency Exchange Rates Using a Binary-Wave	
Representation	27
Infrastructure Investments as a Tool for Implementing the Strategy of Sustainable Development of Regional Economic Systems Alsu Akhmetshina, Venera Vagizova, Joanna Koczar, and Terenteva Kseniia	38
Application of Probability and Possibility Theoryin Investment AppraisalBartłomiej Gaweł, Bogdan Rębiasz, and Iwona Skalna	47
Quality of Investment Recommendation – Evidence Form Polish Capital Market, Income Approach Michał J. Kowalski	57
Some Aspects of Management of Innovation	
On Application of Recursive Preferences in Optimal Growth Model Agnieszka Szpara	69

The Influence of the Methods of Determining Cost Drivers Values on the Accuracy of Costs Estimation of the Designed Machine Elements Dorota Więcek and Dariusz Więcek	78
An Experimental Investigation of Lead Time and the Effect of Order Crossover Peter Nielsen, Zbigniew Banaszak, Grzegorz Bocewicz, and Zbigniew Michna	89
The Stability of the Financial Indicators over Time Sebastian Klaudiusz Tomczak	98
<b>Crowdsourcing-Based Open Innovation Processes on the Internet</b> Małgorzata Dolińska	108
Optimization of Mesh-Type Logistic Networks for Achieving Max Service Rate Under Order-Up-To Inventory Policy Przemysław Ignaciuk and Łukasz Wieczorek	118
Dimensions of Business Ecosystem Efficiency Aldona Małgorzata Dereń, Arkadiusz Górski, Agnieszka Parkitna, and Jan Skonieczny	128
An Analysis of Selected Correlations Between Microenterprises' Financing and Its Characteristics. A Case Study Maciej Szmit, Anna Szmit, Magdalena Dąbkowska, and Dominika Lisiak-Felicka	141
Management of Organization	
Context Specification in Support of Business Processes and Knowledge Management Integration Mariusz Żytniewski	153
The Actual Nature of Lead Times in Supply Chains Followinga Strict Reorder Point Based ApproachPeter Nielsen, Zbigniew Michna, and Izabela Nielsen	164
Into Organizational Structure Simplicity	173
Simulation Approach to Forecasting Population Ageing on Regional Level Jacek Zabawa, Bożena Mielczarek, and Maria Hajłasz	184
Factors Determining the Development of Small Enterprises Anna Maria Kamińska, Agnieszka Parkitna, and Arkadiusz Górski	197

Contents

Design of EA Development Guideline for Small Enterprises Based on TOGAF 9.1	210
Arry Akhmad Arman, Ghani Ruhman, and Ratih Hurriyati	
Analysis of Measurement Convertibility from FP to CFP:Conversion Formula and Monotonicity ConditionGrażyna Hołodnik-Janczura	220
Developing Conformance Between Project Management and Enterprise Architecture Governance on the Basis of a PMBOK Case Jan Werewka	233
Hazard Control in Industrial Environments: A Knowledge-Vision-Based Approach Caterine Silva de Oliveira, Cesar Sanin, and Edward Szczerbicki	243
The Adaptation of the Device Assessment Questionnaire ISO 9241-9 in the Polish Samples	253
Special Session: Modeling of Manufacturing Processes	
Improvement of Production Processes with the Use of Simulation Models Dagmara Górnicka and Anna Burduk	265
Optimization of Production Support Processes with the Use of Simulation Tools	275
An Artificial Bee Colony Algorithm to Solve the Single Row Layout Problem with Clearances Laura Manzke, Birgit Keller, and Udo Buscher	285
Measurement Center Processes Support in the Automotive Industry Martin Sarnovsky and Petra Cibulova	295
<b>Ergonomics Analysis in the Context of a Digital Factory</b> Dariusz Plinta and Ľuboslav Dulina	304
Multiple Criteria Decision Support System for Making the Best Manufacturing Technologies Choice and Assigning Contractors Joanna Gąbka and Grzegorz Filcek	314
Sludge Volume Index (SVI) Modelling: Data Mining Approach Bartosz Szeląg, Jarosław Gawdzik, and Jan Studziński	324

Simulated Annealing Based on Linguistic Patterns: Experimental Examination of Properties for Various Types of Logistic Problems Jerzy Grobelny and Rafał Michalski	336
Knowledge Sharing Using Customer Relationship Management Systems (CRM) in NPD Processes - Research Results from Polish and German Manufacturing Companies Justyna Patalas-Maliszewska and Sławomir Kłos	346
An Analysis of the Impact of Buffer Allocation and Maintenanceon the Effectiveness of a Manufacturing SystemUsing Computer SimulationSławomir Kłos and Dorota Stadnicka	355
Planning and Assessment of Manufacturing Processes         Flow Variants Based on a Simulation Experiment         Sławomir Kukla	369
Smart Innovation Engineering (SIE): Experience-Based ProductInnovation System for Industry 4.0Mohammad Maqbool Waris, Cesar Sanin, and Edward Szczerbicki	379
Author Index	389

## Modeling an Investment Decision Process

### Intelligent ALMM System for Discrete **Optimization Problems – The Idea** of Knowledge Base Application

Ewa Dudek-Dyduch<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Department of Automatics and Biomedical Engineering, AGH University of Science and Technology, al. Mickiewicza 30, 30-059 Krakow, Poland edd@agh.edu.pl

Abstract. The paper introduces the concept of intelligent information system for solving discrete optimization problems, named Intelligent ALMM System. The system is a new version of the software tool named ALMM Solver [8, 13]. The paper propose new idea of functioning the solver and its new, essentially extended structure. Presented in the paper Intelligent ALMM System not only solves discrete optimization problems, but also: assists its users in the selection of an appropriate solving method, helps configure algorithms and helps the development of problem model software representations. In order to implement this new idea the author proposes the use of a Knowledge Base linked with the Intelligent User Interface. Both ALMM Solver and Intelligent ALMM System utilize a modeling paradigm named Algebraic-Logical Meta-Model of Multistage Decision Processes (ALMM) and its theory both developed by Dudek-Dyduch E. ALMM enables a unified approach to creating discrete optimization problem models, representing knowledge about these problems and presenting solving methods and algorithms.

Keywords: Intelligent solver · Optimizer · Intelligent decision technology · Knowledge base · Algebraic-logical meta-model · ALMM · Discrete optimization problems · Intelligent software tool · Artificial intelligence tool · Intelligent User Interface · ALMM technology

#### 1 Introduction

The paper introduces the concept of intelligent information system for solving discrete optimization problems (including NP-hard ones). The system is based on modeling paradigm named Algebraic- Logical Meta-Model of Multistage Decision Processes (ALMM) [6, 7], hence its name ALMM System. Using ALMM paradigm, it is possible to develop so called algebraic logical (AL) models for a large class of discrete optimization problems as well as combinatorial ones [5–7, 9, 11, 14]. Methods and algorithms used for solving as well as various problem properties can be presented in a uniform, ALMM based terminology too. This fact is of key importance. What is more, relationships between problem properties and the suitability (and feasibility) of

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_1

applying certain methods can be recorded in the knowledge base. This particular fact was used for development of the Intelligent ALMM System.

The very first idea of the ALMM based software tool for solving discrete optimization problems, named ALMM Solver, was described in [8, 16]. Then the idea of functioning and the architecture of solver was developed by introducing a new module Problem Model Library [3, 13]. The solution methods provided in the all former versions [3, 8, 13], however, were only limited to those based on state graph searches. This paper introduces a new idea of the solver functioning together with its essentially modified and extended structure. The relatively simple software tool is replaced by extended information system. The tasks of the system, called Intelligent ALMM System by the author, are much more extensive. The ALMM System is not only supposed to solve discrete optimization problems utilizing a broader spectrum of methods than merely those based on state graph searches, but it is also supposed to:

- assist its users in the selection of an appropriate solving method,
- help configure algorithms based on the method selected,
- help and to a certain extent automate the development of software models of problems to be solved by the Solver.

In order to implement this new idea, the author proposes the use of a Knowledge Base (KB) linked with the Intelligent User Interface (IUI). Thanks to these two new modules, the Intelligent ALMM System will not only solve discrete optimizations problems, but also perform certain expert and creative functions to date reserved for humans [10].

The idea of developing software tools capable of solving certain classes of problems is not new. The most popular such tools are based on CLP approach [17]. The problems are modeled there by a finite, predetermined number of variables, their domains and relations between them. The models are introduced with the use of declarative languages [2]. There are also software tools based on agent approach and the ones dedicated to some chosen methods e.g. evolutionary programming [18] as well as discrete programming. None of these applications, however, according to the author, have sufficient intelligence to be able to tackle Intelligent ALMM System tasks.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 presents an ALMM based modeling paradigm. The structure of Intelligent ALMM Solver, proposed by the author, is described in Sect. 3 together with its functional background. Section 4 presents the idea and general structure of the proposed KB or more specifically the Knowledge Base of Problems. It describes the Library of Problem Models and the Problem Properties Knowledge Base with definitions of criteria important for automated procedure configuration and intelligent support of solving method selection included therein. Examples of such properties used for automated configuration of criteria' procedures are provided as well.

### 2 Algebraic-Logical Meta-Model

ALMM is the general model development paradigm for deterministic problems for which the solutions can be presented as a sequence or a set of complex decisions. The idea of system modelling, that uses both algebraic and logical formulas, comes from Z. Bubnicki. The author of herein has adopted this general idea for create Algebraic Logical Meta Model of Multistage Decision Processes.

ALMM paradigm was proposed and developed by Dudek-Dyduch in [6, 7, 9] and recalled in many papers among others [3, 4, 13, 14]. It is also put to use in multiple cases [5, 7, 12, 14]. Based on ALMM the formal AL models may be established for a very broad class of discrete optimization problems from a variety of application areas (especially for modeling and control of discrete manufacturing processes) [4–6, 9–12, 14], thus yielding to the meta-model designation. ALMM provides a structured way of recording knowledge of the goal and all relevant restrictions that exist within the problems modeled. Using this paradigm, the author has provided, i.e. in [6] and recall in [3, 4] the definitions of two base types of multistage decision processes: a common process (cMDP) and a dynamic process (MDDP). Both types imply two basic classes of AL models and may frequently determine divergent solving methods (and algorithms). The definition of MDDP quoted below refers to processes wherein both the constraints and the transition depend on time. Therefore, the concept of the so called "generalized state" has been introduced, defined as a pair containing both the state and the time instant.

**Definition 1.** "**Multistage dynamic decision process is a process** that is specified by the sextuple  $MDDP = (U, S, s_0, f, S_N, S_G)$  where U is a set of decisions,  $S = X \times T$  is a set named a set of generalized states, X is a set of proper states,  $T \subset \Re + \bigcup \{0\}$  is a subset of non-negative real numbers representing the time instants,  $f: U \times S \rightarrow S$  is a partial function called a transition function, (it does not have to be determined for all elements of the set  $U \times S$ ),  $s_0 = (x_0, t_0)$ ,  $S_N \subset S$ ,  $S_G \subset S$  are respectively: an initial generalized state, a set of not admissible generalized states, and a set of goal generalized states, i.e. the states in which we want the process to take place at the end. Subsets  $S_G$  and  $S_N$  are disjoint i.e.  $S_G \cap S_N = \emptyset$ .

The transition function is defined by means of two functions,  $f = (f_x, f_t)$  where  $f_x, f_t$  determine the next state and the next time instant respectively."

The cMDP is obtained by reducing a generalized state to a proper state with a transition function  $f = f_x$ . For both defined types of the multistage decision processes, in the most general case, sets U and X may be presented as a Cartesian product  $U = U^1 \times U^2 \times \ldots \times U^m$ ,  $X = X^1 \times X^2 \times \ldots \times X^n$  i.e.  $u = (u^1, u^2, \ldots, u^m)$ ,  $x = (x^1, u^2, \ldots, u^m)$  $x^2, ..., x^n$ ). In particular,  $u^i, i = 1, 2..m$  represent separate decisions that must or may be taken simultaneously and relate to particular objects. Values of particular coordinates of a state or a decision may be names of elements (symbols) as well as some objects (e.g. finite set, sequence etc.). A sequence of consecutive states from the initial state to a final state (goal, nonadmissible or blind one), computed by transition function form a process trajectory. One can define a large class of constructive algorithms by means of proper control over the generation of particular trajectories or their parts, as the trajectories are defined with use of AL model. The concept of ALMM Solver is based on this noticing. AL model of optimization problem is denoted as a (P, Q) pair where P is a suitable multistage decision process and Q, is a criterion. An optimization task is denoted as a (P, Q), where P, Q are the individual process and individual criterion respectively.

### 3 Structure of Intelligent ALMM System

Intelligent ALMM System is to provide solutions (exact or approximate) for combinatorial and discrete optimization problems or indicate that no solution has been found. A solution has form of a sequence (or set) of decisions (very often the complex ones). As mentioned, the initial structure of ALMM Solver [8, 16] has been modified essentially in [3], where then new Library of Problem Models module was introduced and described. Figure 1 presents quite new, extended architecture. The new modules are: Intelligent User Interface (IUI), Knowledge Base, Solution Creator module and Solution Creator Control module.



Fig. 1. Architecture of intelligent ALMM system

The main computation module is Solution Creator carrying out operations aimed at finding solutions for problem instances. In the current solver version, the Solution Creator consists of a few parallel submodules called Solving Method Engines (SME). The functioning of each SME is based on a strictly defined solving method (or class of algorithms). These methods, both well established and newly developed ones [4, 7], are defined by the so called ALMM technology, i.e. ALMM based modelling paradigm and terminology. The methods will be implemented in a component based technology. Each Solving Method Engine implements an algorithm class based on its own method. The Control of Solution Creator module launches and configures the appropriate Solution Method Engine so that the appropriate algorithm is executed.

In earlier papers [3, 8, 13] only one module named SimOpt was used instead of the Solution Creator. The SimOpt module was designed for implementation of a class of

constructive algorithms based on state tree searches and specially developed local optimization tasks (see [4]). The SimOpt module task is to intelligently construct the state transition tree (either in its entirety, or only a part of it) by generating one or more trajectories (parts of trajectories). The structure of the SimOpt module and its detailed description is given in [3, 8]. (Due to limited length of the article, the description cannot be included herein.) From this point the module (following appropriate modifications) will constitute a part of the Solution Creator module as one of its Solving Method Engines. The Solution Creator operating paradigm and architecture will be laid out in a separate paper.

### The role of the Intelligent User Interface (IUI) is threefold.

Its first task is to initiate and forward information about the problem model and its instance to the Solution Creator module. The model needs to take a form understandable to the Solution Creator module and other modules, i.e. it should have a software form called the software representation of the AL model (software model). There are three base manners of creating AL models and their software representations, proposed in [3]. A user can download a ready model from Problem Model Library or build a model from Problem Model Library components. Obviously, a user can develop a new model from scratch and implement it in a proper programming language. IUI processes the first task together with the Problem Library module and for the last two cases it can also use its submodule ALM Modeler.

The second task consists of intelligent method selection (supported by ALMM System) and configuration of its solving algorithm. In this task, the IUI works together with the Knowledge Base parts: Problem Properties (located in the Knowledge Base of Problems) and the Knowledge Base on Solving Methods & Algorithms.

The third task consists in returning a solution (one or many) or information that no solution was found. Additional information on the solution and solving processes may be also presented.

### 4 Knowledge Base

The Knowledge Base consists of two main mutually joined parts. First part contains the knowledge of problems while second part contains knowledge on solving methods and algorithms (see Fig. 1). This paper presents the idea and general structure of the first part, named Knowledge Base of Problems. This part consists of two further parts: Library of Problem Models and Properties of Problems.

### 4.1 Library of Problem Models

Library of Problem Models provides software models to various Solver modules and is supposed to serve two objectives. The first of these is storage of AL models together with their software representations. Models of problems belonging to specific, well-known areas such as scheduling, graph problems etc. will be stored in matching subareas of the library. The second objective is storage of components that can be used to develop new AL models and their software representations. For that reason, the library has a component based structure. The library must be designed the way it enables to easily seek out appropriate models and necessary components. Moreover, its structure must be flexible in order to enable its gradually extension. The library is implemented with the use of C# because of its object-oriented character, capacities, ease of use and availability of multiple class libraries for various purposes, as well as its reliability.

The most important issue is to adopt an appropriate way for implementing the problem models, that is to design a software representation of AL models. As mentioned earlier, process P represents all problem constraints and is the formal model of admissibility problem, while a (P, Q) correspond to optimization problem. The software model of process P is implemented as a class named cProblem. Problem instances are represented by objects from that class. The AL model indicates and defines elements of the process that need to be implemented in the cProblem class.

Both the idea and basic structure of the Problem Model Library and the software representation of AL models concept have been proposed and presented in [3]. Then, the extended and detailed description of process P implementation is given in [13]. The library also contains the components used for creating the procedures for the criteria. The paper gives basic rules of creating these procedures for the classes of most popular criteria.

### 4.2 Knowledge Base of Problem Properties

The knowledge of problems' properties stored in the Knowledge Base part referred to as Problem Properties will be used directly by the Intelligent User Interface. On the current stage, this part of the Knowledge Base is established with two basic objectives in mind. The first is related to model searches carried out in the Library of Problem Models and developing new models using existing components. The verification of whether a model or its components is already included in the Library of Problem Models is an important task. Such check may be carried out based on the problem name, but in case of ambiguous names it can also be executed based on certain selected properties of elements defining the model (e.g. properties of state or decision structures or others). The second objective is related to the Solution Creator Control module performance, touching on the issues of method selection and configuration of algorithm based on that method. Problems tackled by the Solver have certain common properties enabling the use of a relevant method and/or the determination of which out of interchangeable procedures (within that method) should be applied. They also have certain specific properties significant for an algorithm based on a selected solving method. The Intelligent User Interface supports method selection and communicates information regarding such choice (executed by an appropriate Solution Method Engine) to the Solution Creator Control module. Furthermore, it communicates information enabling the configuration of an algorithm based on the selected method by setting appropriate subroutines for execution. The interchangeable procedures contained in the procedure library are determined depending on the model as well as problem properties. Obviously, the interchangeable procedures can also be developed on purpose and input by the user. Properties stored in the knowledge base will be divided into groups related to:

- multistage process type that is a base for the given model (MDDP or cMDP),
- properties of individual elements defining the P process,
- properties of the P process trajectories,
- properties of individual criteria,
- other properties.

#### 4.2.1 Properties of Criteria

The example below presents cooperation of the Intelligent User Interface with the Knowledge Base of Problem Properties, aimed at selection and configuration of an algorithm calculating any criterion. The example utilizes criteria properties given in Definitions 2–4. The Problem Model Library will contain, alongside software representation of processes P, certain procedures enabling the computation of various criteria occurring frequently in some problem domain [1]. A broad class of criteria can be defined by recurrence and computed in parallel to the calculations of trajectories. The author named the said class as "separable criterions" (see Definition 2) [6, 9]. It is worth remembering, though, that these are not the only criterion class that may be used.

Vast majority of methods and algorithms described in literature use (with or without overt declaration) some properties of criteria that facilitate the solving process. Some of these, defined by Dudek-Dyduch and based on ALMM paradigm in [6, 7, 9] and then recalled in [14], are presented below. Let us denote: P - a fixed multistage decision process,  $S^P - set$  of all states of trajectory of the process,  $d(\tilde{s}) - number of$  the last state of a finite trajectory  $\tilde{s}$ ,  $\tilde{U} - set$  of all decision sequences of the process P,  $\Re - set$  of real numbers.

**Definition 2.** "Criterion Q is a separable for the process P, iff for every decision sequence  $\tilde{u} \in \tilde{v}$  can be recursively calculated as follows:

 $Q_0 = \text{const.}$ , in particular  $Q_0 = 0$ 

$$Q_{i+1} = f_Q(Q_i, u_i, s_i)$$
 for  $i = 0, 1, \dots, d(\tilde{s}) - 1$  (1)

where:  $Q_i$  for i > 0 denotes partial value of criterion Q calculated for *i*-th state of the considered trajectory, defined as follows:

 $Q_i = Q(\tilde{u}')$ , where  $\tilde{u}' = (u_0, u_2 \dots u_{i-1})$  is the initial part of the sequence  $\tilde{u}, f_0$  is some partial function  $f_Q : \Re \times U \times S \to \Re$  such that:  $Dom f_Q = \{(a, u, s) \in \Re \times U \times S : s \in S^P, u \in U_P(s), a \in \Re\}$ ".

Separability is a property of an algorithm which calculates quality criterion for a sequence of decisions  $\tilde{u}$ , and thus for designated by it the trajectory  $\tilde{s}$ . Criterion is separable if we can calculate its value for the next state of trajectory knowing its value in the previous state and the decision taken at that time. Particularly useful are the property of additive separability of criterion. Let Q be separable criterion and a function  $\Delta Q(u, s)$  denotes the increase (decrease) of criterion in the *s* state (of a fixed trajectory of the process *P*) as a result of decision *u*.

**Definition 3.** "Separable criterion Q is additive iff for each trajectory  $\tilde{s}$  of process P:

$$f_Q(Q_i, u_i, s_i) = Q_i + \Delta Q(u_i, s_i)$$
 for  $i = 0, 1, \dots, d(\tilde{s}) - 1$  (2)

 $(\Delta Q(u_i, s_i)$  is usually denoted as  $\Delta Q_i)$ ".

**Definition 4.** Separable criterion Q changes multiplicatively iff for each trajectory  $\tilde{s}$  of process P:

$$f_Q(Q_i, u_i, s_i) = Q_i \cdot q(u_i, s_i) \quad for \quad i = 0, 1, \dots, d(\tilde{s}) - 1$$
 (3)

where q(u,s) is a certain function depending on the decision and the state (in particular q(u,s) = const.).

Taking into account the widespread use of separable criterion class, its computation pattern will be implemented in the Solution Creator module. The Solution Creator module will execute various criterion calculation procedures depending on properties the individual criteria will meet. The  $\Delta Q$  and q procedures may be stored in the Library of Problem Models or be entered by the user.

The Intelligent User Interface asks a series of question (see Fig. 2). The first of these concerns criterion separability. For affirmative answer it executes a default procedure compliant with Definition 2 (formula (1)) and checks in sequence if the criterion



Fig. 2. Criterion algorithm configuration diagram

11

is additive or multiplicative, using functions  $f_Q(Q_b u_b si)$  with formulas given in Definition 3 or 4, respectively, depending on the user's answer. The relevant part of the  $f_Q(Q_b u_b s_i)$  formula (that is  $\Delta Q$  or q) can be read from the library or input by the user. For nonseparable criterion, the Interface requests definition of the criterion calculation algorithm from the user.

The next, very valuable criterion properties is monotonicity. It is use in many method and individual algorithms, thus it is verified by IUI too.

**Definition 5.** "Separable criterion Q is monotonically ascending along each trajectory of the process P if  $Q_{i+1} \ge Q_i$  for each decision sequence  $\tilde{u} \in \tilde{U}$ . If  $Q_{i+1} \le Q_i$  for each  $\tilde{u} \in \tilde{U}$  we say that Q is monotonically descending."

The criterion properties provided above are used in branch & bound (or pruning) method, dynamic programming, reinforcement learning,  $A^*$  algorithms and the construction algorithm class based on the so called three stage method and in particular learning method based on ALMM [4, 6, 9]. Thus IJI may offer possible solution methods to a user's problem based on criterion properties and the *P* process. Once a method is selected by the user, the Intelligent ALMM Solver uses more detailed problem properties and its software model to configure individual algorithm components.

### 5 Conclusion

The paper introduces concept of Intelligent ALMM System for solving large class of discrete optimization problems. The system is a new, essentially changed and developed version of the software tool named ALMM Solver. The author proposes the new idea of functioning and the new, extended structure. Intelligent ALMM System is supposed not only to solve discrete optimization problems, but also: assist its users in selection of an appropriate solving method, help configure algorithms and aid the development of problem model software representations. In order to implement this new idea, the author proposes the use of a Knowledge Base linked with the Intelligent User Interface. The paper presents the first part of the knowledge base, namely the Knowledge Base of Problems. Its next part, the Knowledge on Solving Methods linked with Solution Creator Control module will be covered in another paper to follow. The team under the supervision of Dudek-Dyduch E. is currently working on the implementation project of Knowledge Base.

### References

- Błażewicz, J., Ecker, K., Pesch, E., Schmidt, G., Węglarz, J.: Handbook on Scheduling. Springer, Heidelberg (2007). ISBN 978-3-540-28046-0
- Bocewicz, G., Wójcik, R., Banaszak, Z.A., Pawlewski, P.B.: Multimodal processes rescheduling: cyclic steady states space approach. Math. Probl. Eng. 2013 (2013). Article ID 407096. Hindawi Publishing Corporation

- Dudek-Dyduch, E., Korzonek, S.: ALMM solver for combinatorial and discrete optimization problems - idea of problem model library. In: Nguyen, N.T., Trawiński, B., Fujita, H., Hong, T.-P. (eds.) ACIIDS 2016 Part I. LNAI, vol. 9621, pp. 459–469. Springer, Heidelberg (2016)
- Dudek-Dyduch, E.: Algebraic logical meta-model of decision processes new metaheuristics. In: Rutkowski, L., et al. (eds.) ICAISC 2015, Part I. LNCS, vol. 9119, pp. 541–554. Springer International Publishing, Heidelberg (2015)
- Dudek-Dyduch, E.: Modeling manufacturing processes with disturbances a new method based on algebraic-logical meta-model. In: Rutkowski, L., et al. (eds.) ICAISC 2015, Part II. LNCS, vol. 9120, pp. 353–363. Springer International Publishing, Heidelberg (2015)
- 6. Dudek-Dyduch, E.: Information systems for production management (in Polish) Wyd. Poldex, Kraków (2002). ISBN 83-88979-12-4
- Dudek-Dyduch, E.: Learning based algorithm in scheduling. J. Intell. Manuf. (JIM), 11(2), 135–143 (2000). Accepted to be published 1998
- Dudek-Dyduch, E., Kucharska, E., Dutkiewicz, L., Rączka, K.: ALMM solver-a tool for optimization problems. In: Artificial Intelligence and Soft Computing, pp. 328–338. Springer, Heidelberg (2014)
- 9. Dudek-Dyduch, E.: Formalization and analysis of problems of discrete manufacturing processes. Sci. Bull. AGH Univ. Autom. **54** (1990). (in Polish)
- Gomolka, Z., Twarog, B., Zeslawska, E.: Cognitive investigation on pilot attention during take-offs and landings using flight simulator. In: Artificial Intelligence and Soft Computing, pp. 432–442. Springer International Publishing, Heidelberg (2017). doi:10.1007/978-3-319-59060-8
- Gomolka, Z., Twarog, B., Bartman, J.: Improvement of image processing by using homogeneous neural networks with fractional derivatives theorem. Discrete Continuous Dyn. Syst. 505–514 (2011). Supplement
- Grobler-Dębska, K., Kucharska, E., Dudek-Dyduch, E.: Idea of switching algebraic-logical models in flow-shop scheduling problem with defects. In: 18th International Conference on Methods and Models in Automation and Robotics, MMAR 2013 (2013)
- Korzonek, S., Dudek-Dyduch, E.: Component library of problem models for ALMM solver. J. Inf. Telecommun. (2017, to be printed). Taylor & Francis
- Kucharska, E., Dudek-Dyduch, E.: Extended learning method for designation of cooperation. In: Transactions on Computational Collective Intelligence XIV, pp. 136–157. Springer, Heidelberg (2014)
- 15. Pascual, D.G.: Artificial Intelligence Tools. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2015)
- Rączka, K., Dudek-Dyduch, E., Kucharska, E., Dutkiewicz, L.: ALMM solver: the idea and the architecture. In: Rutkowski, L., et al. (eds.) ICAISC 2015, Part II. LNCS, vol. 9120, pp. 504–514. Springer International Publishing, Heidelberg (2015)
- 17. Rossi, F., Van Beek, P., Walsh, T.: Handbook of Constraint Programming. Elsevier, Amsterdam (2006)
- Smith, R.E., Taylor, N.: A framework for evolutionary computation in agent-based systems. In: Looney, C., Castaing, J. (eds.) Proceedings of International Conference on Intelligent Systems, pp. 221–224. ISCA Press, Santiago de Compostela (1998)

### The Inversion Test of the Investment Funds Efficiency Measures

Agnieszka Bukietyńska<sup>1(⊠)</sup>, Mariusz Czekała<sup>1</sup>, Zofia Wilimowska<sup>2</sup>, and Marek Wilimowski<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Higher School of Banking, Wrocław, Poland {agnieszka.bukietynska, mariusz.czelakla}@wsb.wroc.pl <sup>2</sup> University of Applied Sciences in Nysa, Nysa, Poland {zofia.wilimowska, marek.wilimowski}@pwsz.nysa.pl

**Abstract.** The purpose of this article is to present the use of the inverse test in investment funds based on historical data. Kendall's coefficient is the known factor used to test rank correlations. As a measure of dependency is used at any sample size. Its distribution (except asymptotic distribution) is rarely used because of the rather difficult analytical form of the statistics used to test the hypotheses. This work will use the inversion test, which is a variant of the test based on correlation Kendall rank. In the case of a moderate sample, it is more convenient to consider the amount of inversion. It is equal to the number of incompatible pairs (in the sense described below) for variables with a continuous distribution (binding pairs are not possible). It turns out that the language of inversion is often more comfortable. This is particularly noticeable in case of second type error analysis. In the paper are presented the results of the test of the Sharpe and Treynor measures ability for investment rate of return prediction of Polish investment funds.

Keywords: Investment funds · Inversion test · Efficiency · Predictability

### 1 Introduction

Investing in the capital market allows individual and institutional investors to make money without contributing the work by investing their previously earned cash surplus. However, the risk is an inherent part of investing. According to the definition of investment, today are incurred expenditures, for future benefits. The future in a changing environment creates uncertainty for future benefits, and uncertainty creates risk. Investor makes an investment decision and expects that future cash flows generated by the investment will earn money. All investors like the idea of achieving high returns on the investment, most tend to dislike the high risks that are associated with anticipated high returns. The investor in the decision-making process must constantly make choices (trade off) between the rate of return and risk. Understanding the trade-off that have to be made between investment risk and expected rate of return is a base to investment require a special instrument supporting process of the investor's decision making.

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology: Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_2

Risk understood as uncertainty, possibility that expected benefits will not be achieved, that benefits deviate from expected benefits follows the decision making process. Managers recognize that the expected return from risky activity tends to be higher than the expected return from less risky activities.

Investment funds allow reduce the risk of investment in the financial market by risk diversification building the portfolio of financial instruments. The individual investor must devote a lot of effort, and when he has small amount of capital simply is not able to effectively diversify his portfolio. The investment fund deposit gathering many participants may choose securities such a way that potential large drops, or even bankruptcy of one of the issuers, it was compensated by increases in the prices of shares in other companies, thus reducing the investment risks and giving it greater stability.

Evaluation of the efficiency of investment is always carried out in relation to the accepted reference point (benchmark). As a criterion for assessing the effectiveness of the funds shall be the rate of return, which is determined on the basis of changes in the value of shares, the level of risk incurred and the additional profits that it compensate. The most commonly used indicators to evaluate investment funds are indicators: Sharpe (Sp), Treynor (Tr) and Jensen (Je) [10]. These measures are risk-adjusted capital, as their design takes into account both the rate of return reached by the investment fund as well as the accompanying investment risk. These indicators are calculated based on the results of the estimation model (CML) Capital Market Line and the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM).

Sharpe ratio is the ratio of the average additional rate of return, which is the surplus profit that comes from the fund over a risk-free rate to the standard deviation of the additional rate of return which is a derivative of total risk. A positive index value indicates the profit worked out by the fund is higher than the benchmark, which lets you choose a fund with the highest rate of return with minimal risk. If the index value is negative, it means that the profit of the fund is lower than the market risk-free rate for which is usually assumed profitability of T-bills.

$$Sp = \frac{R_p - R_f}{\sigma_p}$$

where:

 $R_p$  - the average rate of return of the investment fund at time t

R<sub>f</sub> - the average rate of return on risk-free instruments at time t

 $\sigma_{\text{p}}$  - standard deviation of the returns of the investment fund at time t

The counter of this expression is the so-called risk premium, a kind of reward for the investor, that is additional income above the risk-free rate. The higher the Sharpe ratio, the higher is the efficiency of the tested fund.

Construction of Treynor's Ratio is similar to Sharpe ratio, Treynor ratio, however, takes into account two types of risks. One result of the general situation on the whole market and is called systematic risk (coefficient  $\beta$ ), and the second, the specific risk is characteristic of the assets in the portfolio. Through appropriate diversification of assets

portfolio, reducing the risk unsystematic it manages to reduce the total risk to the level of systematic risk.

$$Tp = \frac{R_p - R_f}{\beta_p}$$

where:

Rp - the average rate of return of the investment fund at time t

Rf - the average rate of return on risk-free instruments at time t

 $\beta p$  - systematic risk (coefficient  $\beta$ ) of investment fund at time t

This indicator reflects the sensitivity to changes in the value of the instrument to changes in benchmark.

### 2 The Inversion Test

The coefficient  $\tau$ -Kendall (Magiera R. 2002) is used to describe the correlation between order variables. In order to calculate  $\tau$ -Kendall, the observations in the sample should be compiled into all possible pairs and classified into three categories.

Compatible pairs – either variable or in the first observation both are larger than the second or both smaller, the number of such pairs will be marked as  $P_z$ .

Incompatible pairs – the variables change in the opposite direction, one of them is greater for the observation in pair for which the second one is smaller, the number of such pairs is marked as  $P_n$ .

Bonded pair – in both observations one variable has the same value, the number of such pairs –  $P_w$ .

Estimator of  $\tau$ -Kendalla can be calculated from the formula

$$\tau = \frac{P_z - P_n}{P_z + P_n + P_w}$$

This coefficient is contained in the interval (-1, 1). Because

$$P_z + P_n + P_w = \binom{n}{2} = \frac{n(n-1)}{2}$$

then

$$\tau = 2\frac{P_z - P_n}{n(n-1)}$$

where:

n – sample size.

 $P_z$  – number of compatible pairs.

 $P_n$  – number of incompatible pairs.

A permutation tool is a convenient tool for analyzing variables in the order scale. Permutation is a function that transforms the set of natural numbers {1, 2,..., n} into oneself. Observations of any real random variable can be ordered according to the natural order if there are no equal ones. This happens if the assumed random variable is assumed to be continuous.

Let

$$N_n = \frac{n(n-1)}{2}$$

will be the maximum number of inversions in permutation with n arguments

Let  $\binom{N_n}{k}$  will be the number of permutations having exactly k inversion. If  $N_1 = 1$ , then from definition  $\binom{N_1}{0} = 0$ For  $N_2 = 2$ , is  $\binom{N_2}{0} = 1$  i  $\binom{N_2}{1} = 1$ . For  $N_3 = 3$  is  $\binom{N_3}{0} = \binom{3}{0} = 1$ ,  $\binom{3}{1} = 2$ ,  $\binom{3}{2} = 2$ ,  $\binom{3}{3} = 1$ Similary for  $N_4 = 6$ :

$$\begin{cases} N_4 \\ 0 \end{cases} = 1, \begin{cases} N_4 \\ 1 \end{cases} = 3, \begin{cases} N_4 \\ 2 \end{cases} = 5, \begin{cases} N_4 \\ 3 \end{cases} = 6,$$
$$\begin{cases} N_4 \\ 4 \end{cases} = 5, \begin{cases} N_4 \\ 5 \end{cases} = 3, \begin{cases} N_4 \\ 6 \end{cases} = 1$$

In the general case:

$$\begin{cases} N_n \\ k \end{cases} = \sum_{i=\max(0,k-n+1)}^k \begin{cases} N_{n-1} \\ i \end{cases}$$
 (1)

### **3** Inversion Test for Investment Funds

The study was conducted for 36 investment funds with legal form of mutual funds or expertly open, operating on the Polish market. These are different types of funds: Money Funds, Debt Funds, Mixed Funds and Stock Funds, Table 1. The study period covers the years 2012–2016.

The following theorem [1] will be used to test hypotheses about inversions.

#### Theorem

Let p be a probability of inversion and

$$P(I_n = k) = \left( \begin{cases} N_n \\ k \end{cases} p^k q^{N_n - k} \right) / \sum_{k=0}^{N_n} \begin{cases} N_n \\ k \end{cases} p^k q^{N_n - k}$$
  
=  $\left( p_{n,k} \cdot p^k q^{N_n - k} \right) / \sum_{k=0}^{N_n} p_{n,k} \cdot p^k q^{N_n - k}$ (2)

Table 1. Tested investment fun	ds
--------------------------------	----

Туре	Investment fund (TFI)				
	INVESTOR Gotówkowy SFIO (Investors TFI)				
-	KBC Pieniężny (KBC TFI)				
	MetLife Pieniężny (MetLife TFI)				
	NN Lokacyjny Plus FIO (NN Investment Partners TFI)				
	UniKorona Pieniężny FIO (Union Investment TFI)				
Debt funds	Aviva Investors Obligacji Dynamiczny FIO (Aviva Investors Poland TFI)				
	ALLIANZ Obligacji Plus FIO (Allianz Polska S.A. TFI)				
	KBC Papierów Dłużnych FIO (KBC TFI)				
	NN Obligacji FIO (NN Investment Partners TFI)				
	PZU Ochrony Majątku FIO (PZU S.A. TFI)				
	PZU Papierów Dłużnych POLONEZ FIO (PZU S.A. TFI)				
	Skarbiec Depozytowy DPW FIO (Skarbiec TFI)				
Mixed funds	ALLIANZ Aktywnej Alokacji FIO (Allianz Polska S.A.)				
	Investor Zabezpieczenia Emerytalnego FIO (Investors TFI)				
	Investor Zrównoważony FIO (Investors TFI)				
	KBC Stabilny FIO (KBC TFI)				
	MetLife Ochrony Wzrostu SFIO (MetLife TFI)				
	MILLENNIUM Cyklu Koniunkturalnego FIO (Millennium TFI)				
	NN Zrównoważony FIO (NN Investment Partners TFI)				
	Noble Fund Mieszany FIO (Noble Funds TFI)				
	Noble Fund Timingowy FIO (Noble Funds TFI)				
	PKO Stabilnego Wzrostu FIO (PKO TFI)				
	UniKorona Zrównoważony FIO (Union Investment TFI)				
Stock funds	AVIVA Nowoczesnych Technologii FIO (Aviva Investors Poland TFI)				
	BPH Akcji FIO (BPH TFI)				
	KBC Akcji Małych i Średnich Spółek FIO (KBC TFI)				
	KBC Akcyjny FIO (KBC TFI)				
	Millennium Dynamicznych Spółek FIO (Millennium TFI)				
	NN Akcji FIO (NN Investment Partners TFI)				
	NN Średnich i Małych Spółek FIO (NN Investment Partners TFI)				
	Noble Fund Akcji FIO (Noble Funds TFI)				
	NOBLE FUND Akcji Małych i Średnich Spółek FIO (Noble Funds TFI)				
	Novo Akcji FIO (Opera TFI)				
	PKO Akcji Małych i Średnich Spółek FIO (PKO TFI)				
	PZU Akcji Małych i Średnich Spółek FIO (PZU S.A. TFI)				

Source: [11]

### 18 A. Bukietyńska et al.

For selected funds were calculated: the expected rate of return, standard deviation, coefficient of variation, coefficient  $\beta$  and the efficiency measures of Sharpe and Treynor. In Table 2 there are shown expected value of rate of return, standard deviation,  $\beta$  coefficient, Sharpe and Traynor's coefficients for selected investment funds.

Fund	Selected fund	Date	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
type							
Money	MetLife Pieniężny	R*	0.093	0.023	0.038	0.018	0.012
		σ	0.048	0.057	0.015	0.010	0.018
		β	0.009	0.042	0.015	0.001	0.002
		Sharpe	1.936	0.395	2.454	1.685	0.508
		Treynor	10.490	0.539	2.545	11.622	3.923
Debt	Aviva Investors Obligacji	R*	0.151	0.053	0.101	0.022	0.025
	Dynamiczny	σ	0.098	0.221	0.103	0.115	0.087
		β	0.080	0.105	0.127	0.045	0.002
		Sharpe	1.531	0.236	0.974	0.190	0.261
		Treynor	1.889	0.495	0.794	0.482	9.302
Mixed	MetLife Ochrony Wzrostu	R*	0.144	-0.070	-0.044	-0.076	-0.027
		σ	0.224	0.287	0.193	0.140	0.076
		β	0.325	0.462	0.467	0.318	0.113
		Sharpe	0.641	-0.246	-0.231	-0.542	-0.393
		Treynor	0.441	-0.153	-0.095	-0.239	-0.264
Stock	AVIVA Nowoczesnych Technologii	R*	0.112	0.247	-0.026	0.029	0.103
		σ	0.442	0.415	0.222	0.292	0.339
		β	0.569	0.523	0.416	0.272	0.285
		Sharpe	0.252	0.595	-0.120	0.100	0.297
		Treynor	0.196	0.471	-0.064	0.107	0.353

 Table 2.
 Statistic for selected funds

Source: own work

The basis for the fund's ranking is the Sharpe and Traynor's measure [10]. This is a commonly used methods for evaluating the quality of investment for investment funds, Table 3.

Calculating the number of inversions requires several comparisons of rankings from two consecutive years. In the penultimate line of the No. 4 table, the number of inversions was calculated, and in the last line the probability of inversion was estimated by frequency (Table 4).

The size of sample is 36. Value of p is the frequency of inversion. Maximal value of inversions equals  $630 = (36 \cdot 35)/2$ . *NI*- is the number of inversions. Thus p = NI/630.

In Table 5 chosen values of distribution function are presented. They are calculated using formulas (1) and (2). In Table 5, the values used for testing are bolded.
Ranking by Sharpe's measureRanking by Treynor's measureRank201220132014201520132014201613110111611311304234311616523510351131253531353161616161854102810359431351031163564354268634224109718203425157302830488303230221481811835159163181832944153434105141523310132034251011179515101153252222132723278361317142726131491692828142615983152315129				<i>by</i> 511		-						
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$									-			
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												
3         1         25         35         31         35         3         16         16         16         18         5           4         10         28         10         35         9         4         31         35         10         31         16           5         13         22         31         10         1         5         10         25         31         16         35           6         4         35         4         26         8         6         34         22         4         10         9           7         18         20         34         25         15         7         30         28         30         4         8           8         30         32         30         22         14         8         18         1         18         35         15           9         16         3         18         18         32         9         4         4         15         34         34           10         5         14         15         23         31         13         13         13         13         13         13 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>4</td></td<>												4
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		34										
5         13         22         31         10         1         5         10         25         31         16         35           6         4         35         4         26         8         6         34         22         4         10         9           7         18         20         34         25         15         7         30         28         30         4         8           8         30         32         30         22         14         8         18         1         18         35         15           9         16         3         18         18         32         9         4         4         15         34         34           10         5         14         15         23         3         10         13         20         34         25         10           11         17         9         5         15         10         11         5         3         13         23         14           12         26         8         13         30         22         12         9         25           14         9         1						35						
64354268634224109718203425157302830488303230221481811835159163181832944153434105141523310132034251011179515101153132314122681330221215325222213272327836131714272613149169282814261598315231512941523912925162117412162781715321712483234179238282018152736342518234363281936193314261920533322620352411202720122711 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>9</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>						9						
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$												
916318183294415343410514152331013203425101117951510115313231412268133022121532522221327232783613171427261314916928281426159831523151294152391292516211741216278171532171248323417923828201815273634251823436328193619331426192053332262035241120272012271114362111171431121361314201222242619132922252419131723829211720232419<									28			
1051415233101320342510111795151011531323141226813302212153252222132723278361317142726131491692828142615983152315129415239129251621174121627817153217124832341792382820181527363425182343632819361933142619205333226203524112027201227111436211117143112136131420122224261913292225241913172382921172023241921172724207285192432												
1117951510115313231412268133022121532522221327232783613171427261314916928281426159831523151294152391292516211741216278171532171248323417923828201815273634251823436328193619331426192053332262035241120272012271114362111171431121361314201222242619132922252419131723829211720232419211727242072851924321772429251911724172826		16	3			32						
122681330221215325222213272327836131714272613149169282814261598315231512941523912925162117412162781715321712483234179238282018152736342518234363281936193314261920533322620352411202720122711143621111714311213613142012222426191329222524191317238292117202324192117272420728519243217724292519117241725826285192621122027132611 <t< td=""><td>10</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>13</td><td>20</td><td></td><td></td><td>10</td></t<>	10							13	20			10
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			9		15					13		
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	12											
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$					28	28			15		8	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			15									
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										33	32	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$											20	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										21		
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				28	5			32				
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				20		13				20	27	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$											19	
32         7         30         23         6         6         32         7         21         23         29         6           33         3         18         26         21         31         33         3         18         25         21         23           34         33         33         29         36         23         34         14         33         26         36         31           35         14         6         25         33         30         35         33         6         22         33         2	30										7	
33         3         18         26         21         31         33         3         18         25         21         23           34         33         33         29         36         23         34         14         33         26         36         31           35         14         6         25         33         30         35         33         6         22         33         2	31	28			29	33		29				33
34         33         33         29         36         23         34         14         33         26         36         31           35         14         6         25         33         30         35         33         6         22         33         2												
35         14         6         25         33         30         35         33         6         22         33         2	33				21							
									33			
36     6     2     32     2     2     36     6     2     32     2     30		14	6		33	30		33	6		33	
	36	6	2	32	2	2	36	6	2	32	2	30

Table 3. Ranking by Sharpe and Treynor's measure

Rank 2012	2013	Rank 2013	2014	Rank 2014	2015	Rank 2015	2016
1	2013	1	4	1	1	1	5
2	28	2	5	2	2	2	1
3	16	3	35	3	4	3	33
4	1	4	24	4	5	4	3
5	30	5	31	5	3	5	11
6	17	6	3	6	16	6	19
7	33	7	26	7	18	7	18
8	32	8	36	8	12	8	12
9	14	9	27	9	9	9	30
10	29	10	21	10	11	10	34
10	21	10	14	11	24	11	7
12	22	12	17	12	22	12	35
12	18	12	32	12	26	12	6
13	11	13	2	13	15	13	14
15	13	15	10	15	27	15	4
16	36	16	1	16	23	16	15
17	26	17	6	17	13	17	9
18	15	18	13	18	34	18	17
10	27	19	22	19	35	19	8
20	6	20	30	20	29	20	23
20 21	25	20	16	20	19	20	10
22	20	21 22	33	22	28	22	26
23	12	23	34	22	33	22	25
23	7	23	25	23	14	23	2
25	19	25	20	25	30	25	27
26	31	26	15	26	20	26	20
27	8	20	18	27	20	20	16
28	3	28	7	28	32	28	24
29	23	20	11	29	36	29	21
30	5	30	12	30	25	30	28
31	4	31	23	31	8	31	20
32	24	32	8	32	10	32	32
33	9	33	9	33	6	33	29
34	34	34	19	34	31	34	13
35	10	35	28	35	7	35	31
36	35	36	28	36	17	36	36
NI	339	50	320	50	222	50	213
							0.338
<u>p</u>	0.538		0.508		0.352		0.3

 Table 4.
 Comparisons of ranking

14010 01 21	ouro acro				araesi			
NI $(p = 0.05)$	213	214	215	216	217			
Distr function	0.0026	0.0028	0.0031	0.0033	0.0036			
NI $(p = 0.05)$	218	219	220	221	222			
Distr function	0.0040	0.0043	0.0047	0.0051	0.0055			
NI $(p = 0.05)$	251	252	253	254	255			
Distr function	0.0418	0.0444	0.0470	0.0498	0.0527			
NI $(p = 0.05)$	337	338	339	340	341			
Distr function	0.7287	0.7376	0.7464	0.7550	0.7634			
NI $(p = 0.05)$	372	373	374	375	376			
Distr function	0.9411	0.9443	0.9473	0.9502	0.9530			
Courses own w	Sources over work							

 Table 5. Distribution of inversions. Chosen values.

We wish to test hypotheses for years 2012 and 2013 firstly. We begin by identifying the null (*PI* means probability of inversion, *NI*- number of inversions) and alternative hypotheses.

$$H_0: PI = 0.5$$

versus

 $H_1: PI > 0.5$ 

#### **Our Test is Right-Tailed**

Assuming significance level 0.05 and using tables of distribution for PI = 0.5 (under null hypothesis) we find the critical *NI* value of 374 from Table 5.  $P(NI \ge 375) \le 0.05$  but  $P(NI \ge 374) \ge 0.05$ . So we fail to reject  $H_0$ . Using p-value approach we obtain for NI = 339, p-value of 0.2536.

At the usual levels of significance hypothesis  $H_0$  should not be rejected.

For years 2013 and 2014 we consider right tailed hypothesis too. Because 320 < 339 we fail to reject  $H_0$ . Therefore for these years the ranking by Sharpe measure seems to irrelevant.

To have significance of a ranking we expect PI < 0.5. In this case, the probability of inversion is lower than in a random situation. In addition, in such a situation, the ranking has a predictive value.

We will consider such case in following example related years 2014 and 2015 firstly. Let us consider the following hypotheses:

$$H_0: PI = 0.5$$

versus

$$H_1: PI < 0.5$$

#### **Our Test is Left-Tailed**

Let us assume the significance level as usual 0.05. In considered case NI = 222, (see Table 5) but the critical value (according Table 5) equals (left-tailed test) 254 because  $P(NI \le 255) \ge 0.05$  but  $P(NI \le 254) \le 0.05$ . Therefore  $H_0$  should be rejected.

Using p-value approach we obtain for NI = 222, p-value of 0.005506. (see Table 5). At the usual levels of significance hypothesis  $H_0$  should be rejected. It seems that in this case, the 2014 ranking is predictive for 2015.

The last case concerns the years 2015 and 2016. We will consider the following hypotheses:

$$H_0: PI = 0.5$$

versus

$$H_1: PI < 0.5$$

As before for significance level 0.05 the critical value is 254. The test statistic *NI* calculated from the sample is 213. Therefore  $H_0$  should be rejected. Using p-value approach we obtain for NI = 213, p-value of 0.0026. At the usual levels of significance hypothesis  $H_0$  should be rejected.

For the second time the classification based on the Sharpe measure seems to be non-random.

An analogous classification can be made using the Treynor measure, Table 6. In this case, the results of the sample suggest that the probability of inversion is less than 0.5 in the given years. Samples values range from about 0.29 to about 0.42. In all cases considered, both hypotheses will have the same form

$$H_0: PI = 0.5$$

versus

$$H_1: PI < 0.5$$

This time we will use the p-value approach firstly.

In the penultimate line of 6 table, the number of inversions was calculated, and in the last line the probability of inversion was estimated by frequency. The distribution of inversion is shown in Table 7.

The calculation results are in Table 8 for chosen number of inversions. The decisions are presented in Table 8 (assuming significance level 0.05).

None of the suggested methods did not bind into the power test problem. This will be the last part of the work.

#### Power of the Test

Using the cited theorem, the distribution of the number of inversions can be found. On Fig. 1. distribution functions for chosen values of p.

Rank 2012		Rank 2013		Rank 2014		Rank 2015	2016
1	8	1	5	1	2	1	2
2	4	2	4	2	8	2	29
3	3	3	3	3	5	3	34
4	1	4	2	4	6	4	4
5	2	5	33	5	4	5	10
6	18	6	35	6	7	6	1
7	31	7	25	7	1	7	5
8	33	8	1	8	3	8	9
9	9	9	6	9	16	9	15
10	21	10	26	10	9	10	33
10	19	11	27	11	22	11	12
12	14	12	36	12	25	12	19
12	24	12	21	12	26	12	7
13	25	13	9	13	15	13	6
15	17	15	14	15	28	15	8
16	20	16	17	16	23	16	18
17	15	17	32	17	14	17	14
18	36	18	10	18	34	18	16
10	10	19	12	19	35	19	11
20	29	20	13	20	27	20	17
20 21	30	20	11	20	20	20	13
22	5	22	30	22	29	22	22
23	22	23	22	23	33	23	27
24	12	23	16	24	30	24	3
25	16	25	34	25	17	25	23
26	28	26	31	26	21	26	26
27	7	27	24	27	18	27	21
28	6	28	20	28	31	28	25
29	23	29	15	29	36	29	28
30	32	30	18	30	24	30	32
30	26	31	7	31	32	31	24
32	27	32	23	32	11	32	30
33	11	33	8	33	10	33	20
34	13	34	19	34	13	34	31
35	34	35	28	35	12	35	35
36	35	36	29	36	19	36	19
NI	234		266		211		183
$\frac{p}{p}$	0.371		0.422		0.334		0.290
I	0.429		0.222		0.921		0.476

Table 6. Comparisons of ranking by Treynor's measure.

181	182	183	184	185
0.00009	0.00010	0.00012	0.00013	0.00015
209	210	211	212	213
0.0018	0.0020	0.0021	0.0023	0.0026
232	233	234	235	236
0.0119	0.0128	0.0138	0.0148	0.0159
264	265	266	267	268
0.0768	0.0809	0.0850	0.0894	0.0939
	0.00009 209 0.0018 232 0.0119 264	0.000090.000102092100.00180.00202322330.01190.0128264265	0.000090.000100.000122092102110.00180.00200.00212322332340.01190.01280.0138264265266	0.000090.000100.000120.000132092102112120.00180.00200.00210.00232322332342350.01190.01280.01380.0148264265266267

Table 7. Distribution of inversions. Selected values.

Table 8. Results for chosen number of inversions.

Years	p-value	Decision
2012/13	0.01378	REJECT
2013/14	0.08505	FAIL TO REJECT
2014/15	0.00214	REJECT
2015/16	0.00012	REJECT
~		





In the case of Sharpe measure, simple hypotheses were considered:

$$H_0: PI = 0.5$$

(a)  $H_1 : PI = 0.508$ (b)  $H_1 : PI = 0.538$  (c)  $H_1 : PI = 0.352$ (d)  $H_1 : PI = 0.338$ 

Four pairs of simple hypotheses will be considered,  $\alpha = 0.05$ . Let  $\beta$  be type II error.

$$\begin{split} \beta &= P(acceptH_0 | p = 0.508) = P(PI \le 374/p = 0.508) = 0.677\\ \beta &= P(acceptH_0 | p = 0.538) = P(PI \le 374/p = 0.538) = 0.0002\\ \beta &= P(acceptH_0 | p = 0.352) = P(PI \ge 255/p = 0.352) \approx 0\\ \beta &= P(acceptH_0 | p = 0.338) = P(PI \ge 255/p = 0.338) \approx 0 \end{split}$$

Probability of type II error is very small except the case of p = 0.508. This result is not surprising since the value of 0.508 is very close to the value 0.5. In other cases, the  $\beta$  value is close to zero which indicates a high power of the test.

In the case of Treynor's measure, simple hypotheses were considered.

In all the cases we have left-tailed tests.

For  $\alpha = 0.05$  critical value is 255.

$$\beta = P(PI \ge 255|p = 0.29) \approx 0$$
  
$$\beta = P(PI \ge 255|p = 0.33) \approx 0$$
  
$$\beta = P(PI \ge 255|p = 0.37) \approx 0$$
  
$$\beta = P(PI \ge 255|p = 0.42) \approx 0$$

# 4 Conclusions

The Treynor measure seems to be more useful. In the examples presented above, it was more often distinguishable from randomness, although the studies concerned the same sample using different indicators. In the case of the Sharpe measure, it even occurred that the reverse predicted ranking seemed more likely (estimate probability of inversion greater than 0.5). The problem requires further investigation, but the analysis attempted to favor the measure of Treynor. In both cases the test showed great power. For the inversion probability values analyzed, the test showed practically zero probability of type II error.

#### References

- Czekała, M., Bukietyńska, A.: Distribution of inversions and the power of the τ- Kendall's test. In: Information Systems Architecture and Technology: Proceedings of 37th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2016 – Part III, Springer (2017)
- 2. David, F.N., Kendall, M.G., Barton, D.E.: Symmetric Function and Allied Tables, Cambridge, p. 241 (1966)

- 3. Feller, W.: An Introduction to Probability Theory and its Application. Wiley, New York (1961)
- 4. Ferguson, S., Genest, Ch., Hallin, M.: Kendall's tau for autocorrelation. Can. J. Stat. 28, 587–604 (2000)
- 5. Ferguson, S., Genest, Ch., Hallin, M.: Kendall's tau for autocorrelation. Department of Statistics Papers, UCLA (2011)
- Hallin, M., Metard, G.: Rank-based test for randomness against first order dependence. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 83, 1117–1128 (1988)
- 7. Janjic, M.: A generating function for numbers of insets. J. Integer Seq. 17, #14.9.7 (2014)
- 8. Kendall, M.G., Buckland, W.R.: A Dictionary of Statistical Terms. Oliver and Boyd, Edinburgh (1960)
- 9. Netto, E.: Lehrbuch der Combinatorik, 2nd edn. Teubner, Leipzig (1927). p. 96
- 10. Reilly, F.K., Brown, K.C.: Analiza inwestycji i zarządzanie portfelem. PWE, Warszawa (2001)
- Wilimowska, Z., Kwias, M., Wilimowski, M.: Efficiency of investment funds investing in the polish market. In: International Conference on Business Risk in Changing Dynamics of Global Village, 26–27 April 2017, Nysa (2017)

# Modelling of Currency Exchange Rates Using a Binary-Wave Representation

Michał Dominik Stasiak<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Poznan University of Economic and Business, Al. Niepodległości 10, 60-875 Poznan, Poland michal.stasiak@ue.poznan.pl

**Abstract.** Exchange rate of a currency pair can be visualized in a binary representation. Binarization algorithm transforms the course trajectory represented by tick data into an appropriate binary string. This kind of representation allows for a far more precise analysis and can be applied in HFT systems. In the following article a state model for exchange rate in binary representation with use of wave relations is proposed. In the model, states corresponding to particular price change patterns and wave types were defined. The wave detection process uses respective algorithms of wave detection in binary representation. In the article, research was performed for EUR/SEK currency pair with main focus on the possible application of abovementioned model in creating a HFT system with a positive rate of return.

**Keywords:** Foreign exchange market  $\cdot$  High frequency econometric  $\cdot$  Technical analysis  $\cdot$  Currency market investment decision support  $\cdot$  Exchange rate modeling

# 1 Introduction

The exchange rates usually show a high variability in time (the trajectory changes every few seconds) and therefore are traditionally presented by broker platforms in form of candlestick charts. This kind of data representation is also used in appointing respective indicators and in visual methods of technical analysis of given currency pair exchange rate trajectory [1–5]. The candlestick representation (in which the parameters are dependent on the assumed time interval) leads to a loss of vital information about the dynamic and range of each change happening "inside" the candle. This information could have been used in more precise course prediction. In the following article the concept of tick data representation based on relative absolute price value is introduced. This approach allows for easier analysis of trajectory changes and is characterized by higher accuracy as compared to the candlestick representation, which is highly encouraged while creating High Frequency Trading (HFT) systems.

In order to model the course trajectory an assumption about the wave structure of the market is introduced. As suggested in the existing wave theory (e.g. Eliott's Theory), the direction of a future change of a price trajectory is dependent on the direction and parameters of a current wave [1, 2, 6, 7]. In this paper, two wave detection algorithms are described, which register waves based on binary representation along with the means of

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_3

constructing the latter. Proposed state model of binary-wave representation (SMBWR) allows for precise approximation of probabilities calculated for future trajectory change direction. In the article an analysis of possible application in HFT systems is also performed.

The paper consists of following parts. In Sect. 2 a binary representation of an exchange rate is proposed. Section 3 introduces wave detection algorithms and means of constructing a wave-binary representation. Section 4 contains main assumptions about the state model of binary-wave representation (SMBWR) and results of EUR/SEK (Euro/Swedish krona) course modeling. In Sect. 5 performed research and highlight main conclusions are summarized.

All research performed in the following article was carried out using 6 year-period tick data for EUR/SEK currency pair form Ducascopy broker from 01.01.2011 to 01.01.2017.

# 2 Binary Representation of Exchange Rate Trajectory

In order to eliminate possible loss of information about the exchange rate trajectory in candlestick representation, a binary representation was proposed in [8]. The concept of exchange rate binarization was known since 30' of XX century and used to create and analyze charts in so called point and figure method [9]. Yet, this kind of representation was soon replaced by the candlestick chart representation.

The basis of a binary representation is the discretization of exchange rate with a given discretization unit. Figure 1 presents an example of a discretization algorithm applied to an exchange rate. The algorithm appoints a value of '0' is the course decreases and '1' if the course increases one discretization unit and this way creates a binary string. As an effect of the algorithm performance, the course trajectory can be represented by such a binary string. The use of binary representation eliminates periods of no course variability (e.g. nights) and registers all changes of given range in periods of a high investor activity.



Fig. 1. Binary representation of an exchange rate trajectory

The binary representation can be used in constructing HFT systems. If in the considered HFT system the Take Profit (TP) and Stop Loss (SL) parameters are equally distanced from the opening price by 100 pips, used algorithm will assign the following binarization values for purchase transaction. With binarization unit 100, value '1' will be connected with achieving a positive revenue and value '0' with a registering a loss (opposite for sell transaction).

The quality of course trajectory modeling is dependent on the chosen discretization unit. Appointing too low discretization unit would result in algorithm registering random fluctuations (noise [10-12]). On the other hand, too high discretization unit can lead to a loss of information about smaller changes and causes a smaller number of changes being registered. A decision about the value of a discretization unit should consider its possible applications in HFT systems. In this article and for the researched currency pair the discretization unit of 130 pips have been chosen. This unit is 10 times higher than the spreads offered by brokers (e.g. ICMarket). Appointing a lower discretization unit would mean a high influence of spreads on achieved profit/loss from a given transaction.

#### **3** Wave Structure of an Exchange Rate

A lot of technical analysis methods highly popular among analysts and investors assume a wave structure of quotations. In example, in the visual analysis of a chart, ensuing waves of given parameters create a formation, etc. [1-4] Thus, wave existence does not rise any doubts and can be explained by investors' behavior [13]. The major movements on a market are usually caused by publication of important macroeconomic data, e.g. percentage rates, or unexpected political changes, e.g. dismisses in the government. In such situations, investors who make transaction decisions use obtained information even a long time after the actual announcement, in effect creating a wave of a particular range and duration. Ralph Elliot in 1930' formulated a theory regarding a wave structure of the market and dependences between parameters of ensuing waves. Technical analysis methods (as well as Eliott's theory [6]) assume a visual wave detection on a candlestick chart (Fig. 2). Even despite the loss of information quality of the candlestick chart, the effectiveness of this method relies highly on the subjective and individual analysis performed by a specialist. Without any precisely determined, clear rules of wave detection, a reliable statistical analysis and objective verification of any possible wave dependencies is impossible. Therefore, in this paper, a new method for wave detection in binary representation is proposed.



Fig. 2. Three different possibilities of appointing a wave for the same exchange rate trajectory

#### 3.1 Wave Detection Algorithm in Binary Representation (WDABR)

The basis of wave detection algorithms in a binary representation is exceeding of respective thresholds for average values of increases and decreases. Wave Detection Algorithm in Binary Representation (WDABR) is the simplest model in this group. It assigns each *i*-th course trajectory change ( $z_i$ ) a value representing the type of current market wave  $W_i$  (0 for falls and 1 for increases). It is generally assumed, that a wave continues until a new one is detected. This way – analogously as in Elliot's theory – each course change in binary representation we assign the type of the wave

The algorithm uses two input parameters which determinate its precision: the number of analyzed historical changes (l) and average number of increases/decreases in l previous course trajectory changes starting a new wave (p).

In the Fig. 3 a block diagram for WDABR is presented. The algorithm takes the following steps: after detecting a new i-th course trajectory change it calculates the



Fig. 3. Block diagram for WDABR

average number of increases (u) and decreases (d) in previous changes determined by (i-l). Next, the algorithm checks if a detection threshold (p) was reached for an increase wave when under a decreasing one or the other way round. If yes, then WDABR assigns a new wave type to the *i*-th change. If not, the current wave is continued.

# **3.2** Wave Detection Algorithm in Binary Representation with Consolidation (WDABRC)

In the WDABR it is assumed, that the course trajectory can be placed on an increasing or a decreasing wave. This method of detection causes the consolidation periods to be automatically classified as a continuation of the previous wave. This approach leads to deterioration of the precision and quality of course modeling with the use of waves. In order to increase the modeling accuracy a new wave detection algorithm in binary representation, WDABRC, is introduced. This algorithm includes the consolidation periods. The algorithm uses three input parameters:

*l*-the number of analysed previous trajectory changes,

n-average number of increased/decreases in l previous trajectory changes, starting a neutral wave,

p-average number of increases/decreases in l previous trajectory changes, starting an increasing or decreasing wave.

In the Fig. 4 a block diagram for WDABRC is presented. The algorithm uses the following procedure: after detecting a new, *i*-th course change it calculates the average number of increases (u) and decreases (d) in (i-l) previous changes. Next, the algorithm checks, if the detection threshold (p) of an increasing wave was reached during a decreasing wave (or the other way round). If it was, then WDABRC assigns the *i*-th change a new type of wave. If not, the algorithm checks whether the average number of increase/decrease occurrences in the increase/decrease wave has fallen below *n*. If yes, then it assigns the current trajectory change to the neutral wave

#### 3.3 Wave-Binary Representation

A wave-binary representation can be created with use of wave-detection algorithms (both WDABR and WDABRC). In the wave-binary representation, each *i*-th course trajectory change is assigned a value representing the type of current market wave (0 for falls, 1 for increases, 2 for neutral wave). The form of wave-binary representations is therefore dependent on the type and parameters of applied wave detection algorithm. Based on the wave-binary representation it is possible to analyze and model the exchange rate trajectory while taking into account wave relations.



Fig. 4. Block diagram for WDABRC

# 4 State Modelling for an Exchange Rate

The main idea of state modeling is appointing states which depicts the investors' behavior and calculating probabilities of transitions between those states. The simplest state model, described in detail in [8], is State Model of Binary Representation

(SMBR). In this model a state is defined as m previous exchange rate trajectory changes. In [14] a State Model of Binary-Temporal Representation was presented (SMBTR), which is extended by including the duration of a change. In the article a State Model of Wave-Binary Representation is proposed. This model stands as a generalization of SMBR and corresponds to the most popular technical analysis method that is wave analysis.

#### 4.1 State Model of Wave-Binary Representation (SMBWR)

SMBWR allows for calculating the probabilities of future trajectory change direction in the binary representation, based on the relations occurring in wave-binary representation. The concept of the model is to define such market states that would correspond to respective decrease/increase patterns of given order (analogously as in SMBR) and to assign membership to a respective wave type. The model is characterized by following parameters:

*m* –number of analyzed previous trajectory changes,

 $m_f$  –number of changes in which the membership to the particular wave type is analyzed.

A state in SMBWR is defined as an ordered pair: first parameter is defined as a pattern described by *m* previous course trajectory changes. The second one is the wave type of registered  $m_f$  previous changes (value 0,1 for WDABR or 0,1,2 for WDABRC). Figure 5 depicts an example of state (01,1) in SMBWR{ $m = 2, m_f = 1$ , WDABR (l = 5, p = 0.6)} in a wave-binary representation.



Fig. 5. State (01, 1) in wave representation

State space in SMBWR can be calculated with following formulas:

$$S = 2^{m+m_f}$$
 for WDABR algorithm, (1)

$$S = 2^m * 3^{m_f}$$
 for WDABRC algorithm. (2)

Consider now a model SMBWR{ $m = 2, m_f = 1$ , WDABR (l = 5, p = 0.6)}. A state diagram for this model was presented in Fig. 6. The diagram depicts all possible states and transitions between them. In order to present the idea of state model in the clearest possible way, the values of respective transition possibilities are not included in the figure. Let us now analyze the algorithm performance. First, let's assume that the

exchange rate dropped in the change before the previous one, and then it increases by one discretization unit. The wave detection algorithm has registered a decrease wave for the last change (the model being in state (01,0)). Next, the course increased and the algorithm detected a Direction change and assigned it an increase wave. Therefore, the model registered a transition from state (01,0) to (11,1).



**Fig. 6.** State model diagram in wave-binary representation with parameters m = 1, n = 1, WDABR(l = 5, p = 0.3).

The most important parameters characterizing a model for a given currency pair are the respective probabilities of transitions between given states. They can be appointed heuristically based on historical data. For the investor or HFT system it is most important to assess the probabilities of future trajectory change direction. The exchange rate can both increase or decrease in either an increasing or decreasing wave (the waves stand only as a kind of indicator). Thus, the probability of an increase/decrease of a price is actually a sum of transition probabilities for respective states. Therefore the probability of an increase in this state  $P_{increase}(01,0)$  can be calculated as follows:

$$\mathbf{P}_{\text{increase}}(01,0) = \mathbf{P}[(01,0) \to (11,0)] + \mathbf{P}[(01,0) \to (11,1)], \tag{3}$$

where  $P((\text{state I}) \rightarrow (\text{state II}))$  symbolizes transition from state I to state II. Analogously, the probability of a fall in state (00,0) is equal to:

$$\mathbf{P}_{\text{decrease}}(01,0) = \mathbf{P}[(01,0) \to (10,0)] + \mathbf{P}[(01,0) \to (10,1)]. \tag{4}$$

The sum of all output probabilities from a given state equals 1, so:

$$P_{\text{increase}}(01,0) + P_{\text{decrease}}(01,0) = 1.$$
(5)

#### 4.2 Currency Pair Exchange Rate Modeling with Use of SMBWR

The quality of Exchange rate trajectory modeling depends mostly on the appropriate appointment of wave detection algorithms. In order to optimize the parameter choice a dedicated software, written in C++ language, was created. This software allows simulating the model performance for different parameter sets. For verifying obtained results an approach native for testing algorithms connected with neural systems is used. The data used for verification comes from a 6-year time period if EUR/SEK quotations and was divided into a two-year teaching period and a four-year test period. Wave detection algorithm parameters were appointed based on data from the teaching period. Figure 7 presents modeling results in the test period for optimal parameter set for WDABR and WDABRC, obtained for SMBWR(m = 2,  $m_f = 1,...$ ) in state (01,1). Each chart also depicts results achieved for SMBR(m = 2). It can be concluded, based on described analysis, that SMBWR, which includes the wave dependencies in exchange rate trajectory analysis, is more precise.



**Fig. 7.** Probability of next change in (a) SMBR(m = 2), (b) SMBWR{ $m = 2, m_f = 1, WDABR$  (l = 5, p = 0.6)}, (c) SMBWR { $m = 2, m_f = 1, WDABRC(l = 8, p = 0.9, n = 0.4$ )}.

Many technical analysis methods are characterized by a high prediction efficiency in periods of strong trends and by fairly low efficiency in consolidation periods (or the other way round). In order to describe the influence of trends, a five-year period of research was divided into 10 equal parts. In each of them respective transition probabilities and a 95% confidence interval, calculated based on t-Student distribution, are appointed. For each states the confidence intervals do not exceed 0.06. Presented results confirm an existence of relations between the wave type and the probabilities of future change direction.

#### 4.3 Application of SMBWR in HFT Systems

Let us now consider a HFT [15] system ma king transactions for which the TP and SL parameters are equally distanced from the current price. The direction of single transaction is appointed based on the SMBWR. Potential profit or loss form a single transaction can be calculated with:

$$Profit = (J - spread) * Lot, \tag{6}$$

$$Loss = (J + spread) * Lot, \tag{7}$$

where J in the discretization unit and Lot is an unit describing the transaction size (equal to 100000 units of base currency). Assuming an equal value of each position the parameter only scales the position value and has no influence in the context of performed considerations. Based on formulas (6) and (7) and after some elementary operations we can MapPoint the limit value of a future change probability assessment  $P_g$  which guarantees a positive return rate in the system:

$$P_g = \frac{(J + spread)}{2J},\tag{8}$$

The value  $P_g$  for applied discretization unit and spread offered by ICMarket broker equals 0.55. The probability assessment fir future trajectory change direction in SMBWR exceeds 0.66. This means that constructed HFT system will be characterized by a positive rate of return. The exact return for an investor is dependent on applied Money Management and preferred risk. The high stability of the assessment in time (small confidence interval) for used discretization unit stands as additional argument for using abovementioned model in HFT systems.

### 5 Summary

In this paper, a wave-binary representation state model was proposed for modeling an exchange rate trajectory of EUR/SEK currency pair. The model uses wave relations in binary representation in order to approximate the probability of future course change direction. Regarding wave detection, the Author has suggested two algorithms: WDABR which registers increasing and decreasing waves, and WDABRC which allows for detecting additional, so called "neutral" wave, corresponding to the consolidation period on the market.

Analysis of 6-year period quotations of EUR/SEK currency pair confirmed the existence of wave dependences. Based on SMBWR it is possible to predict the future trajectory change direction with 66% success level. This allows for constructing HFT systems with positive rate of return.

#### References

- 1. Schlossberg, B.: Technical Analysis of the Currency Market. Wiley, Hoboken (2006)
- Murphy, J.: Technical Analysis of the Futures Markets: A Comprehensive Guide to Trading Methods and Applications. Prentice Hall Press, Upper Saddle River (1986)
- Kirkpatrick, C.D., Dahlquist, J.A.: Technical Analysis: The Complete Resource for Financial Market Technicians. FT press, Upper Saddle River (2010)

- 4. Burgess, G.: Trading and Investing in the Forex Markets Using Chart Techniques, vol. 543. Wiley, Hoboken (2010)
- Valcu, D.: Using The Heikin-Ashi Technique. Technical Analysis of Stocks and commodities-Magazine 22(2), 16–29 (2004)
- 6. Frost, A.J., Prechter, R.R.: Elliott Wave Principle: Key to Market Behavior. Elliott Wave International, Gainesville (2005)
- 7. Bickford, J.: Forex Wave Theory-A Technical Analysis for Spot and Futures Currency Traders. The Mc-Graw-Hill Companies, New York (2007)
- Stasiak, M.D.: Modelling of currency exchange rates using a binary representation. In: Proceedings of 37th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2016, Springer (2016)
- 9. De Villiers, V.: The Point and Figure Method of Anticipating Stock Price Movements: Complete Theory and Practice, Stock Market Publications (1933)
- 10. Logue, D.E., Sweeney, R.J.: White noise in imperfect markets: the case of the franc/dollar exchange rates. J. Financ. **32**(3), 761–768 (1977)
- 11. Neely, C.J., Weller, P.A.: Technical analysis in the foreign exchange market. Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis Working Paper No. (2011)
- Lo, A.W., Mamaysky, H., Wang, J.: Foundations of technical analysis: computational algorithms, statistical inference, and empirical implementation. J. Financ. 55(4), 1705–1770 (2000)
- 13. Oberlechner, T.: The Psychology of the Foreign Exchange Market. Wiley, Hoboken (2005)
- Stasiak, M.D.: Modelling of currency exchange rates using a binary-temporal representation. In: Proceedings of International Conference on Accounting Finance and Financial Institution. Theory Meets Practice ICAFFI 2016. Springer (2016, accepted for publication)
- 15. Aldridge, I.: High-Frequency Trading: A Practical Guide to Algorithmic Strategies and Trading Systems. Wiley, Hoboken (2009)

# Infrastructure Investments as a Tool for Implementing the Strategy of Sustainable Development of Regional Economic Systems

Alsu Akhmetshina<sup>1(⊠)</sup>, Venera Vagizova<sup>2</sup>, Joanna Koczar<sup>3</sup>, and Terenteva Kseniia<sup>4</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Higher School of Business, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia alsoura@yandex.ru
 <sup>2</sup> Educational Development Higher School of Business, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia venera.vagizova@mail.ru
 <sup>3</sup> Wrocław University of Economics, Wrocław, Poland Joanna.koczar@wp.pl
 <sup>4</sup> Banking Department, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia TerentevaKL@mail.ru

**Abstract.** The purpose of this article is to study the potential of the reference sectors, creating the fundamental basis for the implementation of the strategy of sustainable development of regional economic systems and attracting investment. The authors' position is based on the capacity assessment of the regional transport infrastructure, ensuring the implementation of its strategy for sustainable development. The study presents a model of transport infrastructure capacity assessment in the region – Republic of Tatarstan (Russia) for the formation on its territory of the transport cluster (Eurasian hub), planned within the framework of the Strategy for socio - economic development of the Republic until 2030.

## 1 Introduction

The search for new ways and methods of attracting investments in transport infrastructure, which is the basis of dynamic development of economy of any country today, becomes one of the fundamental issues of management science and economic practice.

Active consolidation of the countries and their individual regions on the basis of the innovation process necessitates a comprehensive in-depth theoretical and practical study of the instruments of investment support for transport infrastructure. In modern conditions it becomes obvious that the only fundamentally new approaches to the creation of mechanisms of investment support for transport infrastructure is able to provide a level of development sufficient to meet the needs of a dynamically developing society and prospects for sustainable development [1, p. 171].

Investment support for the transport infrastructure today is influenced by such processes as the flow of the credit resources outside the banking system; strengthening the role of regional economies as platforms for the interaction of investment institutes

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_4

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

and real sectors of the economy; transformation of the assets of the economic entities in the market tools, promoting expanded reproduction of economic systems of regions; restoring the role of technological mode as a basis for the development of the economy [2, p. 711].

The analysis of investment provision efficiency of the transport industry have shown that existing resources are used inefficiently: there is a shortage of long-term investment, there are no effective mechanisms of interaction of institutions in the investment industry and transport companies, attractive conditions for the private investment involvement in transport infrastructure are not developed. In addition, special attention should be paid to the specific features of transport infrastructure, adversely affecting its investment attractiveness: the inability to establish adequate tariffs for use of infrastructure objects, leading to the complexity of assessing the effects of infrastructure on other sectors of the economy; the involvement of natural monopolies in many infrastructure projects; the absence of the generation of financial flows at the stage of initiation of infrastructure projects; low liquidity of investments in transport infrastructure because of the uniqueness of its services.

Besides, there are difficulties connected with the formation of mutually beneficial long-term cooperation of subjects of transport infrastructure and institutions investment sphere [3, p. 129]. This leads to a growing importance of measures on transformation of the organizational systems of the countries and regions, whose main purpose is the creation of a space for inter-institutional interaction of the participants of this cooperation [4, p. 115].

One of the institutional formations that serve as the basis for the formation of a space for interaction between transport infrastructure operators and institutions in the investment industry at the meso-level, can be regional or inter-regional (transboundary) transport cluster, in which will be organized by the successful interaction of actors from government, business and society. Cluster activation in the area of transport infrastructure on regional level will contribute to the growth of the scale of the spatial effects and competitiveness of the economy as a whole, innovation in the field of transport and logistics services, attracting additional investment resources for development of regional transport infrastructure and accelerate economic turnover, creation of resources to ensure sustainable development.

Thus, the problem of improving and implementation of the tools of investment provision of transport infrastructure with the aim of providing innovative variant of development is complex and multidimensional and must be considered in the system of complex interaction of the supporting sectors of the economy (transport and investment infrastructure).

#### 2 Literature Review

The problem of attracting the necessary volume of investments into development of regional transport infrastructure is of particular importance in the context of globalization and integration of economic processes. Russian and foreign experts considered its various aspects. The etymological basis of the study of investment provision of infrastructure development of the region were laid in the works of A.V. Bazhenov, John Baldwin, V. Bour, V.G. Varnavskiy, A. Vining, L. Goryainova, E. Gramlich, P. Groot, M.A. Deryabina, J. Jacobs, J. Dixon, R. Jochemsen, A.V. Klimenko, R. Prudom, John Richards, J. Sterm, N. Hansen, etc.

The questions of influence of infrastructure on economic growth, the level and quality of life of the population were mentioned by: D. Aschauer, D. Canning, and G. Karras, P. Pedroni, P. Evans.

Research of the infrastructure projects risks and their investment support are represented in the research interests of scientists: N. Bruzelius, R. Bain, E. Molina, D. Pickrell, V. Rothengatter, D. Strambach, B. Flyvbjerg, K. Purnell, K. Shantal.

Research of effective tools for investment development of the real sector of the economy is contained in the works of scientists: E.F. Avdokushin, E.A. Baklanov, G. N. Beloglazova, I.Y. Belyaeva, E.A. Isaeva, I.G. Levina, P. Polukhina, A.A. Porokhovsky, E.V. Rybina, V.V. Ryazanov, O.S. Sukharev, M.A. Eskindarov, etc.

Methodical fundamentals of implementation of public-private partnerships to attract private investment in infrastructure are set out in the papers of: M. Bult-Spiring, John Hamilton, L.K. Gilroy, D. Grimes, G. Dewolf, John Delmon, M.B. Gerrard, G.E. Klein, V. Katari, S.K. Lee, S. Linder, M.K. Lewis, R.W. Pool, G. Segal, P. Nelson, G. B. Tismana, S. Harris, J. Holies.

The problem of applying the cluster approach to investment to ensure economic development of the region is carried out in the works of: E.M. Bergman, K. Morgan, A. A. Migranyan, S.I. Parinova, M.E. Porter, G.R. Hasayev, M. Enright.

Issues associated with the advantages of cluster-type development of the economy are engaged in the works of: K. Burzynski, D. Dickinson, L. Wives, D. Liu, S. Min, J. Sigurdson, T. Xiaoyan, G. Turner, N. Teng, L. Wendon, John Angang, etc.

The formation of inter-firm linkages in sectoral and intersectoral aspects, and the development of clusters at the regional and interregional levels are in the works of: E. M. Isaeva, T.V. Kolesnikova, V.V. Kuznetsova, A.G. Kulikov, E.G. Kulikova, T.S. the Speranskaya, E.A. Yagafarova, M.V. Puchkov, S.P. Savinsky, D.A. Smaktin, O.K. Tsapieva, E.B. Lenchuk, O.A. Romanova, Y.M. Berger, Y.I. Treschevsky.

Methodical bases of use of infrastructure bonds for investment in infrastructure projects is reflected in the following works: D. Platz, John Legland, V. Glushkov, S. Pakhomov.

Despite the considerable amount of research on efficient investment on transportation systems and infrastructure projects, there are no systematic approaches to the development and implementation of tools involving the investment of infrastructure in the implementation of promising infrastructure projects. This study presents a study of the prospects of the transport cluster as a mechanism to attract private investment in transport infrastructure.

# **3** Assessment of Sustainable Development Potential of the Transport Infrastructure of the Republic of Tatarstan

One of the regions on whose territory in the framework of the Transport strategy of the Russian Federation it is planned to create transport clusters (Eurasian Hub) till 2030, is the Republic of Tatarstan [5, p. 200]. Herewith in the strategy of socio-economic development of the Republic of Tatarstan till 2030 it is necessary to consider the prospect of forming cross-border clusters formation, focused on the effective interaction of investment institutes and actors in the real sector of the economy. Their formation must take into account the problems that have developed in the investment of infrastructure projects, particularly transport [4, p. 115].

We have performed an integrated assessment of the development potential of transport infrastructure of the Republic of Tatarstan as a tool for sustainable development. According to the study, it has a positive trend (Table 1).

2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015		
The contr	The contribution of transport infrastructure entities in the GRP							
6129.60	6275.63	7062.73	6037.37	24467.64	23572.87	26334.34		
The dema	nd for tran	sport servic	es					
8333.29	8920.68	10091.75	10533.00	11251.46	11909.21	12704.55		
The logist	ics of regio	onal transpo	ort infrastru	cture				
6632.38	7010.56	6983.43	7953.49	8028.48	8131.62	8590.40		
The finan	cial sustain	ability of re	egional tran	sport infra	structure			
1460.87	2512.17	3286.83	2657.02	3803.44	1744.78	3043.87		
Socio - de infrastruct	emographic ure	conditions	of the dev	elopment c	of regional	transport		
6068.81	6971.04	7721.54	8794.14	9801.01		11684.44		
				10804.76				
Investments in regional transport infrastructure								
14966.56 23924.38 39612.43 36632.18 40059.37 39317.21 43648.18								
The potential for the development of transport infrastructure of the region								
6539.07	7627.91	9102.17	9286.03	11896.51	11742.33	26334.34		

 Table 1. Integrated assessment of the potential for accelerated development of transport infrastructure of the Republic of Tatarstan

Sectoral diagram (Fig. 1) showed that, despite the fluctuations in values of the ratio of investment in transport infrastructure, it has a relatively high impact on the development of transport infrastructure of the Republic of Tatarstan. This suggests the need to improve the efficiency of the investment support of the development of infrastructure projects instruments, used in the region, which will contribute to the implementation of the sustainable development strategy of the Republic of Tatarstan. One of the effective ways to achieve this goal is to build system of transport clusters with the participation of investment institutions on the territory of the Republic.



Fig. 1. The coefficients of integral evaluation of the potential accelerated development of transport infrastructure of the Republic of Tatarstan

# 4 Research Methodology

With the use of cross-border cluster technologies, the approach to the assessment of potential transport of the clusters formation in regional economic systems, which allows to obtain a quantitative estimate of any region of the Russian Federation, and on the basis of gradation data estimates to obtain an idea about the necessity and possibility of formation of transport cluster in its territory is proposed. It is based on a systematic classification of important indicators in the following groups: main characteristics of transport infrastructure in the region; the provision of regions with transport infrastructure; the intensity of use of transport infrastructure; the adequacy of investment in transport infrastructure in the region; addressing the needs of interregional and foreign trade turnover (Table 2).

Each indicator, based on the analysis of the degree of its connection with the indicator "Gross regional product", has a weight within the group of indicators in which it is included.

The degree of connection is evaluated by constructing a series of models analyzing correlations between the indicator "Gross regional product of the Republic of Tatarstan" and groups of indicators to assess the potential of transport infrastructure of the region for the formation of the transport cluster on its territory, and in each model has no more than three factors included.

According to the results of computer simulation the correlation coefficients (K), the value of which varies from (-1) to 1 were defined. Based on these factors, the weight of the indicators is calculated by the formula:

Figure	Bec
The main characteristics of the transport infrastructure of the region (OH)	0.1483
Products transport in the gross regional product (OX <sub>1</sub> )	0.2905
The ratio of the volume of transport services (OX <sub>2</sub> )	0.7095
The provision of regions with transport infrastructure (OO)	0.5054
The Engel coefficient (the security of the region's transport network) $(OO_1)$	0.2014
The ratio of population roads (OO <sub>2</sub> )	0.2082
The ratio of the population of the train tracks (OO <sub>3</sub> )	0.1854
The provision of vehicles (OO <sub>4</sub> )	0.2060
Fixed assets of transport infrastructure in the total amount of fixed assets in the economy $(OO_5)$	0.1985
The intensity of use of transport infrastructure (IU)	0.1496
The density ratio of cargo mass (IU <sub>1</sub> )	0.4722
The ratio of the density of passenger traffic (IU <sub>2</sub> )	0.3369
The coefficient of depreciation of fixed assets of transport infrastructure (CDF)	0.1909
The adequacy of investment in transport infrastructure in the region (AI)	0.0186
The volume of investments in transport infrastructure in the total investment volume in the region $(AI_1)$	1.0000
The needs of interregional and foreign-trade turnover (NIFT)	0.1781
The ratio of development of inter-regional turnover (NIFT <sub>1</sub> )	0.4179
The factor of development of foreign trade turnover (NIFT <sub>2</sub> )	0.5821

**Table 2.** The assessment of potential transport infrastructure of the region for the formation on its territory of the transport cluster

weight<sub>i</sub> = 
$$\frac{K_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} K_i}$$
 (1)

where weight<sub>i</sub> is the weight rating of the "i" indicator;

 $K_i$  is the "i" indicator, with the indicator "Gross regional product of the Republic of Tatarstan";

 $\sum_{i=1}^{m} K_i$  - the sum of the linkages of indicators of the j-th group with index "Gross regional product of the Republic of Tatarstan" on the module.

Weight groups of indicators are calculated according to the formula:

weight<sub>j</sub> = 
$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} K_i}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} K_j}$$
 (2)

where weight<sub>i</sub> - the weight rating of the j-th group of indicators;

 $\sum_{i=1}^{m} K_i$  - the sum of the linkages of indicators of the j-th group with index "a Gross regional product of the Republic of Tatarstan" on the module;

 $\sum_{j=1}^{n} K_{j}$  - the sum of the relationships of all groups of indicators with the index of "Gross regional product of the Republic of Tatarstan".

The final value of the transport infrastructure potential of the region for the formation on its territory of the transport cluster is calculated by the formula:

$$FV = \sum_{j=1}^{n} value_{j} * weight_{j}$$
(3)

where value<sub>i</sub> - the total value of the estimations of the j-th group;

weight<sub>i</sub> - the weight rating of the j-th group of indicators.

In order to assess the adequacy of transport infrastructure capacity of a region for formation of the transport cluster on its territory it is proposed to use the scale developed on the basis of the scale of Chaddok (Table 3).

**Table 3.** Assessing the potential of transport infrastructure of the region for the formation of the transport cluster on its territory

Gradation values of the outcome indicator of the potential of transport infrastructure of the region	The potential of transport infrastructure of the region for the formation of the transport cluster on its territory
0-0.1	Missing
0.1-0.3	Low
0.3–0.5	Moderate
0.5–0.7	Noticeable
0.7–0.9	High
0.9–0.99	Very high

# 5 Results

The potential of transport infrastructure of the Republic of Tatarstan for the formation of the transport cluster on its territory for the period 2000–2015 has positive dynamics (Table 4).

 Table 4. Potential of transport infrastructure of the Republic of Tatarstan for the sustainable development of the region

Weight	Year	Year							
	2000	2005	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	
	The ma (MC)	The main characteristics of the transport infrastructure of the region (MC)							
0.1483	0.09	0.10	0.15	0.16	0.16	0.18	0.18	0.18	
	The pro	vision o	f regions	with tra	insport in	frastruc	ture (PT)	)	
0.5054	0.34	0.38	0.60	0.62	0.71	0.73	0.72	0.73	
	The int	The intensity of use of transport infrastructure (IU)							
0.1496	0.57	0.48	0.59	0.61	0.61	0.60	0.56	0.57	
							(cc	ontinued)	

Weight	Year							
	2000	2005	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	The ade	equacy of	f investm	ent in tra	insport ir	frastruct	ure in th	e region
	(AI)							
0.0186	0.12	0.14	0.09	0.13	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10
	The nee	eds of in	terregion	al and fo	breign-tra	de turno	ver (NIF	T)
0.1781	0.11	0.15	0.19	0.19	0.20	0.20	0.21	0.22
	The cap	The capacity of the transportation infrastructure in the region						
	0.2923	0.3080	0.3480	0.4646	0.5113	0.5229	0.5136	0.5220

Table 4. (continued)

Thus, the capacity of the transport infrastructure of the Republic of Tatarstan for the formation of the transport cluster on its territory for the period 2000–2015 increased from low to visible, which proves the accuracy of the feasibility of formations transport and logistics cluster "Eurasian hub" on the territory of the Republic of Tatarstan.

# 6 Conclusion

Transport cluster with the participation of investment institutions is by far the best mechanism of attracting private investment in transport infrastructure projects. For optimal results, its implementation required the implementation of effective tools for improving cluster policy of the Republic of Tatarstan, under which the following should be carried out [6, p. 455]:

- improvement of the tax system (tax incentives to companies that invest on a long term basis in the development of transport infrastructure) and the complex use of tools of tax, financial and customs policy [7, p. 250];
- increasing the transparency of the financial market of the region on the basis of uniform information base on regional issuers and professional market participants;
- the introduction of a preferential order of formation of reserve for possible losses on loans provided for investment purposes for the real sector of the economy;
- accommodation on a competitive basis of means of the Federal budget and means of budgets of subjects of the Russian Federation for financing of investment projects;
- development of institution of state guarantees;
- development of specialized banks, the purpose of which will be the development priority and lagging sectors of the economy;
- monitoring of investment activity in the region which facilitates the identification of areas attractive for investment and creating attractive conditions for investment in promising infrastructure projects;
- stimulating domestic demand to revive the production and strengthening of creditworthiness of the enterprises;
- creation on the basis of the existing productive capacity of the capacities, capable to satisfy the need of transport infrastructure in the equipment;

- enhancing private financing of the transport cluster through: ensuring the legal security of private investors, the provision of tax benefits on regional and local taxes;
- promotion of foreign investments in transport infrastructure by creating different incentives for investors and a new policy of openness of the economy;
- ensuring political stability, continuity and predictability of economic policy.

The performance of the proposed tools and activities aimed at creating an effective transport cluster with the participation of investment institutions will determine the future of institutional support for sustainable development of the region.

# References

- Vagizova, V.I., Terenteva, K.L., Hakimova, L.I.: Transgranichnyiy regionalnyiy klaster kak innovatsionnaya forma integratsii realnogo i bankovskogo sektorov ekonomiki Povolzhya. Evraziyskiy mezhdunarodnyiy nauchno- analiticheskiy zhurnal «Problemyi sovremennoy ekonomiki» 4, 169–174 (2013). (in Russian)
- 2. Frumina, S.V., Zhuravleva, T.A., Shapchits, L.A.: Problemyi stimulirovaniya innovatsiy: finansovyiy aspekt. Nalogi i nalogooblozhenie **7**(121), 709–717 (2014). (in Russian)
- 3. Freydman, O.A.: Metodyi kriterialnoy otsenki logisticheskogo potentsiala regiona. Rossiyskoe predprinimatelstvo **3**(225), 127–130 (2013). (in Russian)
- Rudneva, L.N., Kudryavtsev, A.M.: Metodika kompleksnoy otsenki effektivnosti funktsionirovaniya transportnoy infrastrukturyi regiona. Rossiyskoe predprinimatelstvo 8(254), 109–121 (2014). (in Russian)
- 5. Bik, S.: Kontsessii, izmenivshie Rossiyu. Ekspertnoe agentstvo «Otkryityie kommunikatsii» 232 p. (2015). (in Russian)
- Terenteva, K.L.: Rol klasterizatsii v obespechenii effektivnogo vzaimodeystviya bankovskogo i realnogo sektorov ekonomiki. In: Sovremennyie problemyi globalizatsii mirovogo hozyaystva i sotsialno- kulturnogo razvitiya cheloveka, Kazan, pp. 454–456 (2015). (in Russian)
- Vagizova, V.I., Terenteva, K.L., Hakimova, L.I.: Formirovanie transgranichnogo regionalnogo finansovo-promyishlennogo klastera Povolzhya (na primere agropromyishlennogo sektora ekonomiki). Evraziyskiy mezhdunarodnyiy nauchno- analiticheskiy zhurnal «Problemyi sovremennoy ekonomiki» 4, 247–251 (2013). (in Russian)
- 8. Postalyuk, M., Akhmetshina, A.: Economic systems sustainable development spatial structures innovatization. Invest. Manag. Financ. Innov. **11**(4), 127–133 (2014)

# Application of Probability and Possibility Theory in Investment Appraisal

Bartłomiej Gaweł<sup>(<sup>[\inference]</sup>)</sup>, Bogdan Rębiasz, and Iwona Skalna

Faculty of Management, AGH University of Science and Technology, ul. Gramatyka 10, 30-067 Kraków, Poland {bgawel, brebiasz, iskalna}@zarz.agh.edu.pl

**Abstract.** There are two kinds of uncertainty the one which arises from the lack of knowledge (ignorance) and the other, which is due to randomness (variability). The majority of researchers agree that different types of uncertainty should be treated separately in risk analysis. This means that each type of uncertainty should be propagated through computation using an appropriate calculation method. If both types of uncertainty are present in a problem, then the appropriate methods must be combined into a single framework in order to obtain a single risk measure. Usually, as a result of such approach, a probability box (p-box) is obtained, which may be difficult to interpret for economic practitioners. In order to make a p-box useful from the practical point of view, in this article we propose methods to aggregate a p-box into a single cumulative distribution function. We demonstrate our approach on the example of the appraisal of an investment, where the distinction between different types of uncertainty is of great importance.

**Keywords:** Risk of investment projects · Fuzzy random variable · Stochastic simulation · Interval regression

# 1 Introduction

The choice between tangible investment opportunities is one of most challenging tasks that business executives must made. This kind of decisions is so demanding, because it requires to make assumptions which strongly impact the results of an analysis. Each assumption involves its own degree of uncertainty, which combined together are transformed into calculable risk. It means that elicitation of uncertainty plays very important aspect of risk analysis. Distinction between various sources of uncertainty plays very important role in an adequate description of uncertainty mathematics. In general, we can distinguish two kinds of uncertainty: epistemic uncertainty, which comes from the lack of or incomplete information and aleatory (stochastic), which has its sources in irreducible variability of historical data. In modern approach to risk analysis various uncertainties are modelled using different mathematical theories. In many problems only one type of uncertainty is present. In such case, we can use pure probability or possibility theory in parameter estimation. However, in some cases, such as tangible investment appraisal, uncertainty of parameters comes from both variability and ignorance. Then we must use a hybrid approach, which combines probability and possibility theory.

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_5

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

In this article, we discuss the choice of tangible investment opportunities. We use the Net Present Value Ratio (NPVR) to compare efficiency of different investments. We assume that some model parameters are described by probability distributions, whereas the remaining one are described by possibility distributions. We use a hybrid simulation to evaluate the risk of an investment. – Within this framework, a nonlinear programming and a stochastic simulation are utilized to propagate uncertainty through a risk model. As a result of the risk analysis, we obtain a set of cumulative distribution functions (CDF) called a p-box or a probability box.

The described above approach is still new and far from mature. There are still many problems, which must be solved in order to use the proposed approach in practice. One of them is how to present the results of the hybrid simulation, so that they can be utilized to compare investment alternatives. In the literature, there are only few propositions to solve this problem [4, 10, 12]. In this article, we propose a method which aggregates the bounds of a p-box into a cumulative distribution function, which allows us to compare various alternatives using stochastic dominance.

The article is organized as follows. First, we present the advantages of hybrid approach to risk analysis. Next, we show how to conduct risk analysis using a p-box structure and we present several strategies of aggregation of a p-box into a cumulative distribution function. Then, using a practical example of the appraisal of an in-vestment we show how to utilize this approach and how to combine it with stochastic dominance. The article ends with concluding remarks.

# 2 Benefits of Using Hybrid Simulation in Investment Appraisal

In numerous decision-making situations, the nature of the uncertainty of economic parameters does not satisfy the assumptions of the probability theory. Most real-world problems of investment project analysis involve a mixture of quantitative and qualitative data and the conventional probabilistic approach appears to be insufficient to analyze the efficiency of investment project. Therefore, many researchers have come up with alternative ways of describing uncertainty, among which the possibilistic (fuzzy) approach deserves particular attention [2, 3, 8, 9]. The usefulness of possibilistic and probabilistic approaches in decision-making analysis is viewed in different ways. Many researchers voice the opinion that in every single case one needs to decide whether the possibilistic or probabilistic approach will be more appropriate. The selection of the approach should be conditioned mostly by the degree of subjectivity of the available information. On the other hand, Gupta [7] and Smets [13] claim that in decisionmaking, a probabilistic description of uncertainty is more effective than a possibilistic one. According to [9], selection of the method of representing uncertainty depends mainly on the experience and habits of the decision-maker. Choobineh and Behrens [2] claim that maintaining a probabilistic approach stems more from tradition than from conscious selection. Ferson and Ginzburg [6] suggest that distinct methods are needed to adequately represent variability and im-precision. Baudrit et al. [1] state that randomness and imprecise or missing information are two sources of uncertainty. Therefore, in the process of assessment of the efficiency of investment projects it is

necessary to take into account both types of uncertainty. Making no distinction between them, may seriously bias the outcome of economic analysis in a non-conservative manner [2]. For example, in the case of partial ignorance, the use of a single probability measure introduces information that is in fact not available. Therefore, we claim that the use of hybrid data, i.e. data partially described by probability distributions, and partially by possibility distributions [1, 5, 6], allows us to reflect more properly our knowledge on economic parameters.

# 3 Risk Analysis with Hybrid Simulation

Risk analysis entails the representation of uncertainty of model parameters as distributions taking into consideration associations and interdependency between them. In the case of tangible investment project efficiency assessment, Monte Carlo simulation is performed, where all uncertainty parameters are described by probability distribution. Due to the hybrid uncertainty elicitation in this article, risk analysis is conducted here using the hybrid simulation (for detailed description with reference to efficiency of investments see [11]). Below, we present the short description of the hybrid simulation:

- Formulating an investment decision problem, which involves selection of input parameters and identification of the dependency between them. In the case of hybrid simulation, a decision problem usually takes the form of a linear programming model. In the examples, which are discussed in this article, an investment decision problem is solved to obtain efficiency measure (*NPVR* in case of example of this article).
- Selection of appropriate uncertainty representation for all parameters based on the origin of uncertainty. In hybrid simulation, stochastic parameters are described by probability distribution and epistemic parameters are described by possibility distribution.
- **Propagation of aleatory and epistemic uncertainty through model.** The propagation of uncertainty is performed by combining the Monte Carlo technique with the extension principle of fuzzy set theory [1]. Each run of simulation consists of the following steps. First, all possibility distributions are divided into  $\alpha$ -cuts [1, 19] (each  $\alpha$ -cut represents an interval of all possible values of possibilistic variables). Then, the upper and lower bounds of the  $\alpha$ -cuts are converted into constraints in a decision problem. This means that each fuzzy parameter becomes an additional variable, in our decision problem, and each  $\alpha$ -cut imposes a new constraint. This step usually causes that decision problem becomes a nonlinear programming problem. All probability distributions are sampled in order to obtain the values of stochastic parameter. Finally, two nonlinear programming problems are solved to obtain the worst and the best value of *NPVR* for a given set of parameters. We denote those values as  $[\underline{npvr_{\alpha}^{i}}, \overline{npvr_{\alpha}^{i}}]$ . The indices mean  $\alpha$ -cut and *i*-th simulation run.

As a result of the hybrid simulation, we obtain m realizations of the intervals  $[\underline{npvr_{\alpha}^{i}}, \overline{npvr_{\alpha}^{i}}]$ . Those intervals can be then transformed into a probability box (p-box) or possibility distribution (detailed description may be found in [1]).

When we conduct risk analysis with Monte Carlo simulation we know exact values of cumulative distribution function F(npvr). In case of hybrid simulation we only have a partial information about probability distribution, so for every npvr we have interval  $[\underline{F(npvr)}, \overline{F(npvr)}]$  of possible values of F(npvr). Bounds of such intervals are lower and upper cumulative distribution functions - also called probability box or p-box. A p-box  $[\underline{F(npvr)}, \overline{F(npvr)}]$  is a set of cumulative distribution functions F(npvr)bounded between two functions, i.e.:  $F(npvr) \leq F(npvr) \leq \overline{F(npvr)}, npvr \subseteq R$ .

Figure 1 compares two approaches: the classical Monte Carlo simulation (dotted line), where variability and ignorance are described by probability distributions and the hybrid simulation, and (solid line) the. As we can see, in addition to the information given by the Monte Carlo simulation, the p-box expresses different kinds of uncertainty. Epistemic uncertainty is represented by the spread between lower and upper bound of the p-box and aleatory uncertainty is represented by the overall curve of the p-box. This is a very important information for a decision maker, because it shows whether the risk comes from expert opinions, which can be biased, or from the irreducible variability of historical data.



**Fig. 1.** The comparison of the output of risk analysis conducted by using different methods: Monte-Carlo simulation (dotted line) and hybrid simulation (solid line)

The main barrier to the practical use p-box in risk assessment are difficulties in its interpretation by a decision maker. When risk analysis is made using a Monte Carlo simulation, then as a result we obtain a precise cumulative distribution function. In this case, conclusions about possible values of NPVR can be drawn from the shape and position of a distribution function. The position of is used to determine, e.g., the value

at risk (loss probability). In our example  $P(F_{MC}(nprv) < 0) = 0.22$ . In the case of a p-box, we obtain an interval [0, 0.75], which may baffle a decision maker.

When comparing investment alternatives, besides the described above likelihood that investment will be unprofitable, also relative profitability of investment is taken into consideration. This criterion is based on the comparison of the slant of F's using stochastic dominance. The concept of stochastic dominance allows us to rank the results of risk analysis represented by F's. Stochastic dominance gives only partial ordering. In terms of F's of the risk of two investment alternatives, the first alternative dominates the second one if at least equals at every cumulative probability and exceeds it at least once. It is called first order stochastic dominance. The first alternative exhibits a second-degree stochastic dominance over the second alternative if the area that is constituted by cumulating the differences between F's is either always positive, or never negative and positive at least once. In the case of a p-box, there are two pairs of F's, so it is difficult to build the stochastic dominance.

It's important to stress that described above difficulties in analyzing p-boxes result from more adequate description of risk with hybrid approach. P-boxes play a very important role in communication impact of different kinds of uncertainty to a decision maker. But it is only beginning to understand the risk. As it described below, the p-box allows a decision maker to make more informed decisions.

In classical risk analysis, decisions are made in three situations—certainty, risk and uncertainty. Ellsberg experiments show [14] that in real decision problems decision maker is faced with mix of risk and uncertainty environment, which is called ambiguity. In contrast to risk analysis, where a probability can be assigned to each possible outcome of a situation, the ambiguity applies to a situation where the probabilities of outcomes are not known exactly and are described by intervals. So, the p-box is one of the mathematical representation of ambiguity. Decision maker tries to reduce ambiguity, which corresponds to choosing one arbitrary F from a p-box. There are three strategies that will help a decision maker to choose the best F.

First strategy is called pignistic transformation. It was proposed by Smets [13] and is based on Laplace principle of insufficient reason, where the hybrid simulation results in S, which is a set of possible and indistinguishable from the utility point of view values of npvr. So, each interval  $s_{\alpha}^{i} = [\underline{npvr_{\alpha}^{i}}, \overline{npvr_{\alpha}^{i}}], s_{\alpha}^{i} \subseteq S$  may be converted into the uniform probability distribution  $f_{uniform}(\underline{npvr_{\alpha}^{i}}, \overline{npvr_{\alpha}^{i}})$ . The value of  $F_{pig}$  is calculated as:

$$F_{pig}(npvr) = \sum_{npvr \in s_{\alpha}^{i} \subseteq S} \frac{\mathbf{n}(\mathbf{s}_{\alpha}^{i})}{|\mathbf{s}_{\alpha}^{i}|}, \mathbf{n}(\mathbf{s}_{\alpha}^{i}) = \frac{1}{mk}$$
(1)

. . .

where k is the number of  $\alpha$ -cuts, and m is a number of simulation runs in the hybrid simulation. The main deficiency of this approach is that it does not take into consideration the risk aversion.

The second strategy is based on Hurwicz criterion. In this approach, we use the aforementioned definition of ambiguity. Upper and lower bounds of a p-box defines extreme scenarios. For each *npvr* we can define probability interval  $[F(npvr), \overline{F(npvr)}]$ .

Using a Hurwicz criterion and treating the upper and lower bounds of a p-box as extreme scenarios, ambiguity distribution may be defined as follows [15]:

$$F_{amb}(k) = \lambda \cdot \underline{F^{-1}(k)} + (1-\lambda) \cdot \overline{F^{-1}(k)}, k \in [0,1],$$
(2)

where  $\lambda$  takes values from 0 to 1, and is called *the indicator of the pessimism (optimism) of a decision maker*. Optimism index may be treated as a simple measure of belief in expert's opinion.

The third approach is a generalization of the credibility theory proposed by Liu [16]. Dubois and Guyonnet [17] extends the measure proposed by Liu with the coefficient of risk aversion  $\beta$ :

$$F_{cred}(npvr) = \beta \cdot \underline{F(npvr)} + (1 - \beta) \cdot \overline{F(npvr)}$$
(3)

For  $\beta = 0.5 F_{cred}$  is equal to the credibility distribution.

Generally speaking, ambiguity may be treated as a security interval  $[\underline{npvr}, \overline{npvr}]$  for a given probability  $\theta$ . Credibility is a probability interval  $[\underline{\theta}, \overline{\theta}]$  for a given npvr. This distinction is very important in the process of investment appraisal as we will show below. Figure 1 presents pignistic, ambiguity and credibility distributions for a given investment. Optimism index and risk aversion are set to 0.5.

Table 1 presents comparison of strategies for two decisions:

- **Decision I** Value at risk (probability loss)  $P(npvr < 0) = \theta$
- **Decision II**  $npvr_0$  such as  $P(npvr < npvr_0) = 0.9$ .

	Value at risk (loss probability)	npvr <sub>0</sub> (.000 USD)
Monte Carlo simulation	0.2	1.58
$F_{pig}$	0.16	1.45
F <sub>amb</sub>	0.42	0.33
F <sub>cred</sub>	0.45	1.45
Hybrid simulation (p-box)	[0,0.75]	[0.08, 1.7]

Table 1. The comparison of VaR and npvr0 for different approaches in risk analysis

As we may see, there are significant differences in the results of the strategies, so it is very important to define situation where each of approaches should be applied.

#### 4 Numerical Example

In order to illustrate the effectiveness of the proposed approach, we present the results of calculations performed for three investment projects. We consider the following investment projects:

- [Option I] Construction of new department of OC sheet, production capacity 200 thousand tonnes
- [Option II] Construction of new department of OC sheet, production capacity 300 thousand tonnes
- [Option III] Construction of new department of HDG sheet, production capacity 400 thousand tonnes.

The effectiveness of the project was measured by net present value ratio (NPVR):

$$NPVR = \frac{\sum_{t=0}^{T} NCF_t}{\sum_{t=0}^{T} \frac{I_t}{(1+r)^t}} = \frac{NPV}{PVI}$$
(4)

where:

 $NCF_t$  – net cash flow in year t

r - discount rate,

T - economic life of investment project,

 $I_t$  – investment outlays in year t,

NPV - net present value,

PVI - discounted investment outlays.

In the computational experiment, we have taken into consideration the uncertainty of selected parameters. The sales of products (Hot-dip galvanizing sheet – HDG sheet, Organic coated Sheet – OC sheet) were defined by normal probability density functions. The prices of these products, prices of cold rolled sheet – CR sheet (being a batch material for production HDG sheet and OC sheet), consumption per unit indicators for all products and investment outlays for project were defined by possibility distributions. The remaining parameters of the effectiveness calculations were assumed to be deterministic. So, in the efficiency evaluation process, data are partially expressed by possibility distribution and partially defined by probability distribution.

Figure 2 presents the results of the hybrid simulation for each alternative. Let's assume that decision maker follows the strategy. First, he wants to reject all investment options with the value at risk greater than zero, and then to choose the most profitable one. From the figure, we can see that all investment options have non-zero probability of failure, but the probability interval of third option is the widest and ranges from 0 to 1. So, one of the possible options for an investor is to decide that the distance between the upper and lower probability bounds is too big, and thus the epistemic uncertainty should be reduced by performing additional measures. Sometimes, time and budget constraints cause that this option is not possible. So, in second step decision maker should choose one of the strategies described above to aggregate a p-box into the CDF. His choice should be determined by the following rules:

 If risk aversion of a decision maker is not known and we don't know anything about assumption about parameters, the safest way will be to choose pignistic transformation.



Fig. 2. Output of simulation for each investment alternative

- If only risk aversion or "*expert aversion*" (belief in expert assumption) is known, ambiguity or credibility should be chosen accordingly.
- If we know the risk aversion and expert aversion, the decision depends on what we want to measure – probability or efficiency parameter. In case of probability, the ambiguity distribution should be chosen.

In this example, we stress on the last rule. The decision maker wants to compute probability loss or  $P(npvr < 0) = \phi$ . Let's assume that the decision maker is neutral to risk ( $\beta = 0.5$ ) and has more conservative approach to model assumption than experts ( $\lambda = 0.25$ ). To compute the probability of loss, we have built the credibility distribution for each investment option and have obtained the following results: **option I** – 0,38, **option II** – 0.



Fig. 3. Comparison between Option II and Option III
This means that the decision maker should reject Option I and compare profitability of Options II and III. To find a more profitable investment, stochastic dominance is used, but in this case we compare two ambiguity distributions which is presented in Fig. 3. We choose ambiguity distribution because now we focus on the value of efficiency parameter not probability. As a result, the DM should choose Option II, because it stochastically dominates Option III.

This simple analysis of three tangible investment options is based on the assumption that arbitrary selection of the CDF by decision maker makes more sense at the end of risk analysis. In our opinion this is true, because we divide risk analysis into two parts. Hybrid analysis faithfully propagates available information and uncertainty up to a p-box. Then, the decision maker analyzes the results and makes a decision. If information about parameter value is considered to be insufficient, he may decide to collect more information. If the information is incomplete, but no data collection is possible, then a judgment must take place with strategies described above.

## 5 Conclusions

In this article, we stress on the importance of the consistency between different types of uncertainty and adequacy of the description of uncertainty of parameters. We present the hybrid simulation as well, which allows to perform computation on hybrid data. We show how to make a decision when the risk is described by a p-box, which is obtained as a result of the hybrid simulation. We describe three strategies of converting a set of cumulative distribution function into one CDF. Using the presented approach, we are trying to eliminate one of the shortcomings of the existing methods for joint hybrid propagation of uncertainty in context of investment appraisal, i.e. the problem of interpretation of the results. Using a practical example, we present how decision maker can benefit from to use the presented approach.

The main weaknesses of presented approach is the problem with computing the optimism index. In practice, is very hard to assess the quality of experts. Very good explanation, called "megaproject paradox", of this problem was presented by Flyvbieg in [18] in the case of megaprojects. Flyvbieg states that the number of tangible investments made in company does not translate into accuracy of risk analysis of a new one. This is because risk analysis is built on a collective belief in a firm which is usually biased. So, the next step should incorporate stochastic dominance defined on p-box instead of ambiguity theory as it is presented in work [10].

## References

- Baudrit, C., Dubois, D., Guynet, D.: Joint propagation and exploitation of probabilistic and possibilistic information in risk assessment. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 14(5), 593–607 (2006)
- Choobineh, F., Behrens, A.: Use of intervals and possibility distribution in economic analysis. J. Oper. Res. Soc. 43(9), 907–918 (1992)

- Chiu, C.Y., Park, S.C.: Fuzzy cash flow analysis using present worth criterion. Engl. Econ. 39(2), 113–138 (1994)
- Compare, M., Zio, E.: Genetic algorithms in the framework of Dempster-Shafer theory of evidence for maintenance optimization problems. IEEE Trans. Reliab. 64(2), 645–660 (2015)
- 5. Cooper, A., Ferson, S., Ginzburg, L.: Hybrid processing of stochastic and subjective uncertainty data. Risk Anal. 16(6), 785–791 (1996)
- 6. Ferson, S., Ginzburg, L.: Different methods are needed to propagate ignorance and variability. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Saf. 54, 133–144 (1996)
- 7. Gupta, C.: A note on transformation of possibilistic information into probabilistic information for investment decisions. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 56(2), 175–182 (1993)
- 8. Kahraman, C., Ruan, D., Tolga, E.: Capital budgeting techniques using discounted fuzzy versus probabilistic cash flows. Inf. Sci. **42**(1), 57–76 (2002)
- 9. Kuchta, D.: Fuzzy capital budgeting. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 111(4), 367-385 (2000)
- Montes, I., Enrique, M., Montes, S.: Imprecise stochastic orders and fuzzy rankings. Fuzzy Optim. Decis. Making 16, 1–31 (2016)
- Rębiasz, B., Gaweł, B., Skalna, I.: Fuzzy multi-attribute evaluation of investments. In: Advances in ICT, pp. 141–156. Springer (2015)
- Rębiasz, B., Gaweł, B., Skalna, I.: Hybrid framework for investment project portfolio selection. Adv. Bus. ICT 7, 87–104 (2017)
- Smets, P.: Constructing the pignistic probability function in a context of uncertainty. In: Henrion, M. (ed.) Uncertainty in Artificial Intelligence, vol. 5, pp. 29–39. North Holland, Amsterdam (1990)
- 14. Wakker, P.: Prospect Theory. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2010)
- Jaffray, J.-Y., Fabrice, P.: On the existence of subjective upper and lower probabilities. Math. Oper. Res. 22, 165–185 (1997)
- 16. Liu, B.: A survey of credibility theory. Fuzzy Optim. Decis. 5(4), 387-408 (2006)
- 17. Dubois, D., Guyonnet, D.: Risk-informed decision-making in the presence of epistemic uncertainty. Int. J. Gen. Syst. **40**(02), 145–167 (2011)
- 18. Flyvbjerg, B., Bruzelius, N., Rothengatter, M.: Megaprojects and Risk: An Anatomy of Ambition. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2003)
- 19. Skalna, I., Rębiasz, B., Gaweł, B.: Advances in Fuzzy Decision Making. Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing, vol. 333. Springer, Heidelberg (2015)

# Quality of Investment Recommendation – Evidence Form Polish Capital Market, Income Approach

Michał J. Kowalski<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Wroclaw University of Science and Technology, Wroclaw, Poland michal.kowalski@pwr.edu.pl

Abstract. In the paper, results of quality assessment of investment recommendations issued by Polish brokerage houses are presented. A hundred investment recommendations were examined, coming from seven different brokerage houses, issued in years 2015-2016. Only income approach and DCF model valuation were analyzed. The research indicates low quality of valuations presented in the Polish investment recommendations. The level of disclosures and assumptions used in the financial models underlying financial forecasting and valuations is not sufficient. Significant objections raises the methodology of discount rate calculation. The risk premium does not cover the local bonus, the assumptions are not revealed, beta is not individually chosen, and beta at level 1 is abused. Problems concerning lack of information about cash flows used for residual value calculation were identified. The study reveals numerous examples of gross methodological errors in investment recommendations, however, common mistakes identified in other studies, like for example the excessive optimism for cash flow forecasting or overvaluation of the long-term cash flow growth rate, were not observed.

Keywords: Business valuation · Investment recommendation · Income approach

## 1 Introduction

Investment recommendations are reports, analyses or other information sources that suggest investment behavior regarding investment instruments or their issuers. They include opinions concerning the current or future value/price of financial instruments. Investment recommendations are an important part of the capital market and, as the research suggests, can actually shape it by affecting company valuations and behavior of investors, clients and the management. Therefore, investment recommendations are widely pursued by researchers worldwide.

One of the first studies on investment recommendations showed that their implementation can in the short term bring abnormal returns for investors (Groth et al. [11]). Subsequent research confirmed that investment recommendations had caused changes in market valuation, especially buying recommendations that have a positive impact on stock prices and allow higher average market returns both in the short term and up to 90

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_6

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

days after their publication (Bjerring et al. [1]). The conclusions drawn from these studies suggest that investment recommendations provide important information to investors.

On the other hand, Jegadeesh and Kim [14], as well as many others, showed that significant number of investment recommendations was preceded by companies' good performance. Jegadeesh et al. [13] also indicated that stock recommendations are mainly prepared for companies with superior return, the so called "glamour stocks". Analysts make favorable reports for some firms and they select superior stocks for which recommendations will be positive.

Research on investment optimism has a long history. In some papers optimism was measured by comparing the analyst' forecast for a particular stock to the average forecast for the company made by other analysts in comparable forecast horizon [2]. Several studies showed that most of published recommendations are "buy" rather than "sell" recommendations (Ertimur et al. [7]). Morgan and Stocken [17] introduced analyst's objective function, which is able to assess if the stock price was overvalued due to analyst's lack of objectivity. Kowalski and Praźników [15] suggested that analysts are more likely to announce higher valuation than the historical value drivers and fixed growth model suggests. In all of the analyzed databases the average recommendation optimism indicator was positive.

The potential impact of analysts on the results of valuations can be traced back to numerous studies of their professional careers. Hong and Kubik [12] analyzed optimism forecast from analyst's carrier perspective, and they tried to explain differences between experienced and beginner analysts [6, 16, 18]. The authors showed that the accuracy of the analyses for a particular analyst had a significant impact on their carrier. According to Hong and Kubik [12], analysts were rewarded for optimistic forecasts that support profitable trading strategy of purchasing stocks with the most favorable recommendations. Similar research was performed by Ertimur et al. [7] on the sample of 97 000 recommendations.

Research on the Polish capital market does not confirm the above-mentioned conclusions about the positive correlation between the recommendations and market reactions. Dąbrowski [5] analyzed the results of investing in stocks, based on portfolio composite from stocks, which had the highest analysts' recommendations. In most cases, the price of securities did not achieve the target price indicated in analysts' reports – the effective price calculation was only in 44.63%. More than 70% announcements recommend purchasing direct stocks though recommendations were issued during bear trend in stock market, i.e. when the prices of securities were falling. Zaremba and Konieczko [19] documented overoptimism among analysts, measure efficiency of stock recommendations in the Polish capital market, by examining returns, after investing in securities, based on suggestions from stock recommendations. They studied 128 companies for which stocks were evaluated as negative but achieved the highest returns. Trading strategy of purchasing (buying long) stocks with the most favorable recommendations by analysts achieved abnormal negative returns.

Such reports indicate low utility of investment recommendations for Polish investors. The investment recommendations issued by Polish brokerage houses do not have fixed structure. Typically, they include description of the company's activities, historical performance, description of key value drivers, market position, risks affecting future performance, company evaluation, disclaimers and legal notes. The most common valuation methods are income approach and multiples approach. The recommendation report typically contains detailed results and valuation calculations. In Poland, the scope of disclosure of the content of the recommendation is not regulated at all. There are no formal standards or procedures indicating which methods or models of valuation should be used. The analysts have a free hand in taking decisions about choosing methods, making assumptions, sources of information, disclosures and presenting results.

The literature on valuation methods indicates a number of errors and omissions that often arise in valuation procedures. Fernandez and Bilan [10] indicated collection and classification of 119 errors encountered in business valuations, classified into six main categories. In particular, the income methods are subjected to errors or manipulations. Principles of applying valuation procedures are regulated by business valuations standards, but in Poland there is not one common binding regulation in this respect.

The purpose of the article is to assess the quality of practices used in the analysts' estimates of investment recommendations based on income approach. The article is organized as follows: Introduction, Materials and methods, Results and Conclusions. In Materials and methods, a database of investment recommendations issued by Polish brokerage houses is presented and the research sample is characterized. The Results section shows the results of the research on the methods and practices used in investment recommendations. Results are presented according to the analyzed valuation areas: cash flow forecasting, discount rate, terminal value and other parameters. At the end of the article, summarized conclusions are presented.

#### 2 Methods and Materials

#### 2.1 Research Design

A database dedicated to the project was established with information including (1) general data, (2) information about cash flows forecast, (3) data about terminal value, (4) data about discount rate, (5) information about debt and bonus/discounts, and (6) results of valuations. In all, 81 information pieces were collected for each recommendation.

Each valuation was analyzed in terms of (1) forecasting the expected cash flows, (2) terminal value, (3) discount rate, and (4) others parameters. Financial forecasts were investigated from the point of view of the forecast period, and I assessed compound annual growth rate (CAGR) for crucial value drivers, e.g. sales, EBIT, EBITDA. Additionally, I analyzed if the forecast covers the whole period of growth and the dynamics of value drivers in last forecasted year. Additionally I analyzed the level of capital expenses and the sum of delta working capital in the whole predicted period. To check obtained results I compared them with analogical parameters calculated for Polish market in years 2004–2014. For this purpose the data form StockGround Database by Notoria was used.

The key element of income approach is the residual value (terminal value), which calculates the value of cash flows to perpetuity. Errors in this area can have a major impact on the results and the quality of the valuation. Therefore, I also assessed expected free cash flows used in terminal value and the level of expected growth of cash flows.

Errors in the discount rate calculation and the ones concerning the risk of the company were indicated by Fernandez [9] as the most common. I exanimated parameters of calculated cost of capital taking into account: risk-free rate, beta, market risk premium used for the valuation, and value of tax shields.

The field 4 (other parameters) concerns additional factors of valuation as the value of debt, usage of the specific premium (odd small-cap, odd illiquidity premium) as well as comparing the results of valuation of income approach with current market value and multiples methods.

#### 2.2 Sample Selection

The research was performed on the stock recommendations sample issued by the Polish brokerage houses. Summary 100 investment recommendations were examined, coming from seven different brokerage houses, issued in years 2015 and 2016. The final sample contained 84 companies divided into 22 sectors. 98 recommendations used Discounted Cash Flow Model and they were included in further analyses. In two cases Dividend Discount Model was applied, and they were excluded from the analyses. The description statistics of crucial parameters for the sample are presented in Table 1.

	AVG	Q1	MED	Q2	Max	Min	StDev
Revenue [mPLN]	2 460	276	781	1 583	24 685	10	5 300
EBIT [mPLN]	248	24	66	242	3 484	-1 010	645
EBITDA [mPLN]	437	32	93	431	5 198	-1	979
Market value [mPLN]	3 786	397	1 152	4 014	42 260	16	7 050
Issue price [PLN]	137.8	3.9	29.1	56.8	7 580.2	0.0	824.9
ROS [%]	10.75	5.58	9.28	12.05	53.16	53.16	10.28

 Table 1. Characteristics of the sample

Table presents the value of parameters of the first year before forecast. AVG is average, MED-median, Q1 and Q3 the first and third quartile, StDev - standards deviation, in bracket the units are presented.

## **3** Results

## 3.1 Cash Flow Forecasting

Errors in forecasting the expected cash flows are often mentioned in literature, especially exaggerated optimism causing low quality of valuation in income approach. The most frequently indicated errors in cash flow forecasting are too short a period of the detailed forecast, not sufficient increase in working capital requirements, and undervalued capital expenses [8]. The analysts of brokerage houses in Poland set the length of the detailed forecast period for 10 years. Of the 98 recommendations, up to 74 analyzed DCF models covered the 10-year forecast period. The observed results show that only some brokerage houses differentiate the length of the forecast period depending on the company under valuation.

To evaluate financial forecasts, I looked into the average change of major forecast drivers, the level of investment in working capital, the net capital expenditures (Capex less amortization), and the last forecast period. The results are presented in Table 2.

	AVG	Q1	MED	Q2	StDev	Market t-stat	
Panel A: CAGR	Panel A: CAGR in the whole forecast [%]						
Revenue	3.0	1.4	2.7	4.5	2.4	0.17	
EBIT	3.5	1.9	3.4	5.0	4.1	-0.02	
EBITDA	6.1	1.7	2.8	5.2	12.1	0.12	
Panel B: Approp	oriate in	ivestm	ent ass	umpt	ion [nd]		
NetCapex/Sales	-1.0	-6.0	-1.1	1.0	11.1	0.08	
dWCR/Sales	-2.6	-7.1	-2.4	0.5	13.9	-0.29	
Panel C: Last ye	ar dyn	amics	of valu	e dri	vers [%]	]	
Revenue	1.9	1.0	2.0	2.8	1.5	-8.85*	
EBIT	0.7	0.0	1.5	3.5	10.0	-4.79*	
EBITDA	0.3	0.0	1.3	2.9	8.5	-4.43*	

 Table 2. Evaluation of cash flow forecasting

Abbreviations as in Table 1, last column presents results of t-statistic by comparison results for investment recommendations and the market, sign \* indicates results statistically significant at p = 0.05. Panel A presents compound annual growth rate in the whole forecast. Panel B presents sum of net capital expenses (Net Capex) and change in working capital (dWCR) in all years of forecast. The sums are scaled by dividing sales of companies in the first year of forecast. Negative number means decrease of free cash flow, positive increase of free cash flow. Panel C presents change in value drivers in the last year of forecast. Two last years are compared.

Compound annual growth of sales as well earnings are comparable with the average for the whole Polish market recommended by Damodaran [4]. The results of t-statistic show that the average growth of value drivers in investment recommendations does not differ from the average for the whole market in years 2004–2014. Similarly, the level of investment included in cash flow forecasting is without reservations. On average, the difference in capital expenses and amortization over the whole forecast period amounted to one-year sale, while the total amount of working capital over the whole forecast period was more than 2.5 times the annual sale. There were not any significant differences found for these parameters compared to the market average.

#### 3.2 Discount Rate

In 63.27% of DCF valuations, there was information in assumptions that the risk-free rate equaled the yield on 10-year government bonds. Such information was not

mentioned in 36.73% cases. The market risk premium used in the investment recommendations assumed only three different values. In 73.47% recommendations, market risk premium was used at 5% while in 24.49% at 5.50%. Only two recommendations had a 4.5% risk premium. All the indicated values were significantly lower than the recommended risk premiums in the Damodaran databases [4], which suggested market risk premium at 6.08% and 6.43%. Neither of the investment recommendations indicated the sources of information from which the risk premium was taken.

The investment recommendations do not use formal procedures concerning beta factor calculation. More than half of the recommendations used beta amounting to 1 without any justification. Another 32% did not indicate the source of information for the made assumptions. In 80.61% of the models, when calculating the cost of equity, beta was set at a constant level throughout the forecast period. In 19.39% cases, beta took different values in different years. In 28% cases, the calculation concerning information about process of unlevering beta was mentioned. In the rest cases lever and unlever beta process in all their recommendations, some occasionally and others never.

In 52% investment recommendation, effective tax rate is used, the rest used nominal tax rate. In 26.53% cases assumed tax rate was variable in time.

For 10 recommendations, for calculation of cost of equity, classical capital assets pricing model (CAPM) was not used but additional corrects were applied, however there is lack of any information about the assumptions taken.

#### 3.3 Terminal Value

Residual value has a major impact on valuation. The most common errors in this area are: the use of unstable cash flow and the wrong choice of expected growth [3, 9]. Table 3 shows the results of the analyses in the residual value area.

	AVG	Q1	MED.	Q2	Min	Max	StDev
Panel A: Sha	Panel A: Share of terminal value in results of valuation [%]						
PV(TV)/Eq	72.5	33.4	56.6	67.0	35.3	81.3	27.8
PV(TV)/EV	59.4	35.4	50.8	55.8	9.6	64.7	14.0
Panel B: Exp	pected g	growth	[%]				
g-rate	1.35	1.00	1.00	2.00	-0.04	3.00	0.88

Table 3. Parameters of terminal value

The results obtained confirmed significant influence of residual value on business valuation in investment recommendations. I analyzed the share of present value of TV in equity value and enterprise value. As presented in Table 3, Panel A the former is equal on average to almost 60% and the latter to 72.5%. This results may suggest that period of detailed forecast is too short.

High volatility of long-term cash flow growth rate used in investment recommendations is observed. The most commonly used rate of free cash flow in the residual period (43.88% of all observations) is the rate of 2%. In 32.65% recommendations, the rate is equal to 1%. The highest rate used in the analyzed valuations is the rate of 3%, which occurred only twice in the investigated sample. Growth rate of 0% occurred in 3.06% of observations. One recommendation used a negative growth rate of -0.04%. The used growth rates do not raise any objections and they are in line with standards and good valuation practices (Damodaran [4]).

PV(TV) – present value of terminal value, EV – enterprise value; Eq – value of equity calculated in valuation (Eq = EV – net debt), g-rate – long-term cash flow growth rate, consistent with Gordon Growth Model, others abbreviations as in Table 1.

There are reservations from the point of view of quality, raised by the scope of residual value information. For only 3 recommendations, the residual value is calculated based on the last year of the detailed forecast. In 15 DCF models, there is a separate column with financial data for the residual period. In contrast, 81.63% of the analyzed valuations did not provide any data on the basis of which the residual value was determined. The method of calculating cash flow for terminal value raises reservations. In 16 recommendations for which residual value data were disclosed, there are 3 that assumed in the residual period the depreciation greater than the investment in fixed assets, which should be considered as a significant methodological error.

#### 3.4 Others Parameters

The DCF valuation results do not differ from those presented using the multiples approach and are on average above average market valuation by 20%. In 73 cases, the valuation was higher than the current price and the buy recommendation was given, in other cases the value was lower than the current price and the recommendation was to sell or hold. Table 4 provides detailed results comparing valuations.

	AVG	Q1	MED.	Q2	Min	Max	StDev
DCF/multi	72.5	33.4	56.6	67.0	35.3	81.3	27.8
DCF/MV	59.4	35.4	50.8	55.8	9.6	64.7	14.0

Table 4. Comparison of valuation results

Adjustments in valuations include: short-term financial assets, factoring, associates, non-controlling interests, liabilities to employees, non-operating assets, cash position adjustments, foreign exchange differences, minority interests, dividends and other assets. The most common corrects are minority capitals (22 cases) and dividends (17 cases). Adjustments for liabilities to employees appeared in 4 valuations.

The Table presents surplus of valuation by DCF model with multiples approach (row DCF/multi) and current market value (row DCF/MV). Numbers are presented in percentages. The abbreviations as in Table 1.

## 4 Conclusions

The conducted research indicates that the quality of valuations presented in the Polish investment recommendations is low.

Restrictions are primarily a result of the low level of disclosures and assumptions used in the financial models underlying financial forecasts and valuations.

The excessive optimism was not identified for cash flow forecasting in investment recommendations. The average value drivers used in the forecasts do not differ from historical market data. The forecast period is not individually adjusted to the situation of the valuated entity. Significant objections raises the methodology of discount rate calculation. The risk premium does not cover the local bonus, the assumptions are not disclosed, beta is not individually chosen, and beta at level 1 is abused. Long-term cash flow growth rate used in the recommendations does not leave any doubts. However, a significant problem is the lack of information about cash flows used for residual value calculation.

Additional performed studies reveal numerous examples of gross methodological errors. Table 5 summarizes statistics of lack of disclosures and methodological errors (Table 6).

Table 5.	Lack of disclosures and methodological errors	

Panel A: Lack of disclosures of information [number of cases]	
Lack of revenue forecasts	17
Lack of source of information about free risk rate	37
Assumption of beta amounting to 1 without explanation	52
Lack of information about lever and unlever beta process	71
Lack of information about cash flow used for terminal value	81
Lack of information about calculation of the cost of equity, cases when CAPM model is	10
not used	

Table 6. Lack of disclosures and methodological errors (cont.)

Panel B: Methodological errors [number of cases]	
raner b. Methodological errors [number of cases]	
Inconsistent forecast, wrong period of detailed forecast <sup>a</sup>	7
Assuming that a perpetuity starts a year before it really starts	1
Not considering the country risk	92
Using discount rates lower than the risk free rate	1
Sum of debt share and equity share when WACC calculated is not equal 100%	3
Using the statutory tax rate, instead of the effective tax rate	41
Depreciation > Capex in cash flow forecast used in terminal value	3

 $^{a}$ As inconsistent were pointed cases where the change in revenue in the last forcastet year differs from previous year more than 10%

The research has several contributions to knowledge. First of all it has a practical application, it can be treated as guidelines for brokerage houses, issuers, exhibitors and investors. The findings from this empirical evidence can be useful for practitioners and researchers involved in work on valuation standards. They can also have impact on research concerning investment recommendations, their publication and how they influence the market and market valuation. It should be emphasized that the presented results come from the Polish capital market, which it is classified as a young and emerging market. The survey concerns a market where the experiences of brokerage houses as well as investors are small, and the usage of valuation methods, issuance of investment recommendations have short history. Form this point of view the results can be important for explanation of differences in findings concerning investment recommendation obtained for Polish and other more developed markets.

## References

- 1. Bjerring, J.H., Lakonishok, J., Vermaelen, T.: Stock prices and financial analysts' recommendations. J. Financ. **38**(1), 187–204 (1983)
- 2. Cowen, A., Groysberg, B., Healy, P.: Which types of analyst firms are more optimistic? Harvard Business School, Soldiers Field, Boston (2006)
- 3. Damodaran, A.: Valuation Approaches and Metrics: A Survey of the Theory and Evidence. Stern School of Business (2006)
- 4. Damodaran, A.: damodaran.com
- Dąbrowski, P.: Huraoptymizm Rekomendacji Maklerskich W Okresie Giełdowej Dekoniunktury. Uniwersytet Ekonomiczny w Katowicach (str. 95–97), Wrocław (2013)
- Dukes, W.: Business valuation basics for attorneys. J. Bus. Valuat. Econ. Loss Anal. 1(1) (2006)
- 7. Ertimur, Y., Zhang, F., Muslu, V.: Why are recommendations optimistic? Evidence from analysts' coverage initiations. Rev. Acc. Stud. **16**(4), 679–718 (2010)
- 8. Fernandez, P.: Cash flow is a fact. Net income is just a opinion. IESE Bussiness School, University of Navarra, Madrid (2002)
- 9. Fernandez, P.: Company valuation methods. IESE Bussiness School, University of Navarra, Madrid (2013)
- Fernandez, P., Bilan, A.: 119 common errors in company valuations. IESE Business School, University of Navara, Madrit (2013)
- Groth, J.C., et al.: An analysis of brokerage house securities recommendations. Finan. Anal. J. 35, 32–40 (1979)
- 12. Hong, H., Kubik, J.D.: Analyzing the Analysts: Career Concerns and Biased Earnings Forecast. Stanford Business School, September 2001
- 13. Jegadeesh, N., Kim, J., Krische, S.D., Lee, C.M.C.: Analyzing the analysts: when do recommendations add value? J. Financ. **59**, 1083–1124 (2004)
- Jegadeesh, N., Kim, W.: Value of analyst recommendations: international evidence. J. Financ. Mark. 9(3), 274–309 (2006)
- Kowalski, M.J., Praźników, J.: Investment recommendation optimism—results of empirical research on Polish capital market. In: Proceedings of 37th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology–ISAT 2016–Part IV. Springer International Publishing (2017)

- 16. Michel, J., Pandes, J.A.: Are analysts really too optimistic? SSRN Electron. J. (2012)
- 17. Morgan, J., Stocken, P.: An Analysis of Stock Recommendations. Princeton University, University of Pennsylvania (2001)
- Satchell, S.E., Williams, O.J.: On the difficulty of measuring forecasting skill in financial markets. J. Forecast. 34, 92–113 (2015)
- Zaremba, A., Konieczka, P.: Skuteczność rekomendacji maklerskich na polskim rynku akcji. Zeszyty Naukowe Uniwersytetu Szczecińskiego, nr 803 Finanse, Rynki Finansowe, Ubezpieczenia nr 66, Szczecin (2014)

# Some Aspects of Management of Innovation

# On Application of Recursive Preferences in Optimal Growth Model

Agnieszka Szpara<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Institute of Finance, University of Applied Sciences in Nysa, Nysa, Poland agnieszka.szpara@pwsz.nysa.pl

**Abstract.** This paper deals with the optimal growth model in the finite time horizon and the Epstein-Zin-Weil aggregator function. We formulate the dynamic recursive optimality equation, find the value function and the optimal policy of a consumer. Our results are illustrated by examples.

Keywords: Risk · Recursive utility · Optimal consumption policy

## 1 Introduction

This paper is devoted to an application of recursive utility to optimal growth model. Most of literature on optimal growth proceeds on the assumption that preferences are represented by a functional which is time additive, see [7, 8]. The class of recursive utility functions has been proposed as a generalisation of time additive utilities. It permits dynamic programming techniques for optimal growth model and enjoys time consistency property. One of the reasons which makes the recursive preferences popular is that it resolves the timing problem of resolution of uncertainty. For instance, let us consider two-stage model with the standard time additive utility function given by  $E[u(c_a) + \beta u(c_1)]$ , where ct is the consumption in period t, u is felicity function in period t; and  $\beta \in [0, 1)$  denotes the subjective discount coefficient. If we flip a fair coin at time zero. If it comes up heads, the consumption levels at time 0 and 1 are  $c_0$  and  $c_1^1$ , respectively. If it comes up tails, they are  $c_0$  and  $c_1^2$  ( $\neq c_1^1$ ): Now suppose that the consumption level at time point zero is still  $c_0$ ; but we flip a coin at date 1 with the same outcome  $c_1^1$ ,  $c_1^2$ . Then the expected utility of two experiments is identical  $u(c0) + 1 = 2[u(c_1^1) + u(c_1^2)]$ . However, as it is emphasised in [1–3, 6], the timing of resolution of uncertainty is relevant in economics, especially in asset pricing. Yet, the time additive expected utility implies that the marginal rate of substitution between consumption today and tomorrow for a constant consumption sequence c is the inverse of the subjective discount factor. More precisely,  $MRS_{t,t+1}(c) = \frac{u'(c_t)}{\beta u'(c_{t+1})} = \beta^{-1}$ . Hence, MRS is unaffected by the level of consumption. This constant marginal rate of substitution leads to an extreme behaviour of a consumer. A consumer facing a fixed interest rate will try either to save without limit or borrow without limit, except the case when the subjective interest rate equals to the interest rate.

In this paper, we focus on studying the optimal growth model in a finite time horizon. The recursive utility is defined with the aid of conditional certainty equivalent

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_7

proposed by Kreps and Porteus [5] and the aggregator function suggested by Epstein and Zin [3] and Weil [9]. It turns out that such defined recursive utility is a remedy for the aforementioned drawbacks, but still mathematically attractive, because we are able to use dynamic programming methods that lead to the so-called optimality equation. We find the value function and the optimal policy. We illustrate our results by various examples concerning both deterministic and stochastic models.

## 2 The Model and Recursive Equation

## 2.1 Certainty Equivalent

First we introduce the notion of *certainty equivalent*. Note that any number  $\alpha$  can be viewed as a random variable taking only one value  $\alpha$ . Consider a preference order  $\succcurlyeq$  in the set of random variables. Assume that for a random variable X we can find a number  $\alpha = \alpha(X)$  such that  $c \simeq X$  with respect to the order  $\succcurlyeq$ . In other words, an agent is indifferent between choosing X and  $\alpha$ . The number  $\alpha(X)$  so defined is called *certainty equivalent*.

For the expected utility maximiser with the utility *u* the relation  $c \simeq X$  is equivalent to  $Eu(X) = u(\alpha)$ . If u is one-to-one function, then there exists the inverse function  $u^{-1}$  and

$$\alpha(X) = u^{-1}(Eu(X))$$

Further, we shall consider the power utility function

$$u(x) = x^{\gamma}; \gamma \in (0; 1]; x \ge 0.$$

The coefficient reflects in some sense averse towards to risk. To see this, let us assume that X has a uniform distribution on [0; 1]: Then,

$$\alpha = (E(X^{\gamma}))^{\frac{1}{\gamma}}.$$

Since it follows

$$E(X^{\gamma}) = \int_{0}^{1} x^{\gamma} dx = \left[\frac{x^{1+\gamma}}{1+\gamma}\right]_{0}^{1} = \frac{1}{1+\gamma}$$

we obtain

$$\alpha = \left(\frac{1}{1+\gamma}\right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}} = \frac{1}{\left(1+\gamma\right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}}}$$

Note that if  $\gamma \to 1^-$ , then

$$\alpha \to \frac{1}{2} = EX.$$

This indicates that averse to risk disappears. From the other side, if  $\gamma \to 0^+$ ; then  $\theta := \frac{1}{\gamma} \to \infty$  and consequently

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{(1+\gamma)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}}} = \frac{1}{(1+\theta)^{\frac{1}{\theta}}} \rightarrow \frac{1}{e}$$

Hence, if  $\gamma$  decreases to 0; then the certainty equivalent decreases to  $\frac{1}{e}$ . This means that for a lack of uncertainty, we agree to be less paid. Hence the smaller  $\gamma$  is, the risk aversion becomes greater. Observe that for  $\gamma = \frac{1}{2}$ ; we obtain

$$\alpha = \left(EX^{1/2}\right)^2 = \left(E\sqrt{X}\right)^2 = \left(\int_0^1 \sqrt{x} dx\right)^2 = \left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^2 = \frac{4}{9}.$$

#### 2.2 Optimal Growth Model

We shall consider a model in discrete time, i.e.,  $t \in T := \mathbb{N}$ . In period  $t \in T$  a consumer faces a single good  $xt \ge 0$ . The agent decides how much to consume, i.e., he/she chooses  $ct \in A(xt) := [0; xt]$ . The remaining part yt = xt - ct is invested for the next period. The satisfaction of consumption ct is measured by one-period utility  $u(ct) = c_t^{\rho}$  with  $\rho \in (0; 1]$ . Moreover, a production function that relates output to input is of the following form

$$xt + 1 = \xi t + 1yt = \xi t + 1(xt - ct), \tag{1}$$

where  $(\xi_t)$  is a sequence of independent random variables. Usually, it is assumed that  $\xi t + 1 = 1 + rt + 1$ ; and rt + 1 denotes the interest rate from time point t to time point t + 1. Clearly, rt + 1 can be either deterministic or stochastic.

Let Jt(xt) be the value function, i.e., the optimal utility in a model with N - t + 1 steps, if the level of a good at time point t is  $xt \ge 0$ . Making use of a dynamic programming principle [6] and assuming that the consumer applies the Epstein and Zin [3] and Weil [9] aggregator,<sup>1</sup> we can write the following recursive optimality equation

$$Jt(xt) = \max_{c_t \in A(x_t)} \left[ (1 - \beta) c_t^{\rho} + \beta (E_t (J_{t+1}(x_{t+1})^{\gamma}))^{\rho/\gamma} \right]^{1/\rho}$$
(2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This aggregator is of the form  $W(x; y) = ((1 - \beta)x^{\rho} + \beta y^{\rho})^{1/\rho}$  where  $\beta \in [0; 1)$  is a subjective discount factor.

The term  $(Et(Jt + 1(xt + 1)^{\gamma})^{1/\gamma}$  is known as a conditional certainty equivalent of Kreps and Porteus [5]. Here, *Et* denotes the conditional expected value of a random utility given  $x_t$ . It is not difficult to guess that both the value function and the optimal consumption policy are linear in  $x_t$ . Therefore, we set  $J_t(x_t) = A_t x_t$  and  $c_t = x_t a_t$ , where  $A_t$  and  $at \in [0; 1]$  are some numbers, which we find. Plugging these formulas in (2) and using (1), we get

$$\begin{aligned} A_t x_t &= \max_{a_{t \in [0,1]}} \left[ (1-\beta) a_t^{\rho} x_t^{\rho} + \beta (E_t (A_{t+1} x_{t+1})^{\gamma})^{\rho/\gamma} \right]^{1/\rho} \\ &= \max_{a_{t \in [0,1]}} \left[ (1-\beta) a_t^{\rho} x_t^{\rho} + \beta A_{t+1}^{\rho} (E_t (\xi_{t+1} (x_t - a_t x_t))^{\gamma})^{\rho/\gamma} \right]^{1/\rho} \\ &= \max_{a_{t \in [0,1]}} \left[ (1-\beta) a_t^{\rho} x_t^{\rho} + \beta A_{t+1}^{\rho} (1-a_t)^{\rho} x_t^{\rho} (E_t (\xi_{t+1}^{\gamma}))^{\rho/\gamma} \right]^{1/\rho} \end{aligned}$$

Thus, we obtain

$$A_{t} = \max_{a_{t \in [0,1]}} \left[ (1-\beta)a_{t}^{\rho} + \beta A_{t+1}^{\rho} (1-a_{t})^{\rho} \left( E_{t} \left( \xi_{t+1}^{\gamma} \right) \right)^{\rho/\gamma} \right]^{1/\rho}$$
(3)

Since the functions  $a_t \mapsto a_t^{\rho}$  and  $a_t \mapsto (1 - a_t)^{\rho}$  are concave, then the first order condition yields

$$(1-\beta)a_t^{\rho-1} = (1-a_t)^{\rho-1}\kappa, \text{ where } \kappa := \beta A_{t+1}^{\rho}(1-a_t)^{\rho} \left( E_t(\xi_{t+1}^{\gamma}) \right)^{\rho/\gamma}$$
(4)

Consequently, the quantity

$$a_{t} = \frac{1}{1 + \left[\frac{\beta}{1-\beta}A_{t+1}^{\rho}\left(E_{t}\left(\xi_{t+1}^{\gamma}\right)\right)^{\rho/\gamma}\right]^{1/(1-\rho)}}$$
(5)

attains the maximum on the right-hand side in (3). Now we provide formula for At.

Observe that AN + 1 = 0 and aN = 1: Note that from (3) and (4) it follows that

$$A_{t} = \left( (1 - \beta)a_{t}^{\rho} + (1 - a_{t})^{\rho}\kappa \right)^{1/\rho}$$

$$= \left( (1 - \beta)a_{t}^{\rho} + (1 - a_{t})^{\rho}(1 - \beta) \left(\frac{a_{t}}{1 - a_{t}}\right)^{\rho-1} \right)^{1/\rho}$$

$$= (1 - \beta)^{1/\rho} \left(a_{t}^{\rho} + (1 - a_{t})^{\rho-1}\right)^{1/\rho}$$

$$= (1 - \beta)^{1/\rho} \left(a_{t}^{\rho} + a_{t}^{\rho-1} - a_{t}^{\rho}\right)^{1/\rho}$$

$$= (1 - \beta)^{1/\rho} a_{t}^{(\rho-1)/\rho}$$
(6)

Thus, we conclude that  $A_t = (1 - \beta)^{1/\rho} a_t^{(\rho-1)/\rho}$ .

#### **3** Examples

#### 3.1 Deterministic Case

Put  $\beta = \frac{1}{1+r_{\beta}} = 0.95$  and  $\xi_{t+1} = 1 + r$  for t = 1, ..., N - 1, where r > 0.

The number  $r_{\beta}$  is called a subjective discount rate. Moreover, set N = 50 and  $\rho_1 = 0.3$  (the blue colour) and  $\rho_2 = 0.8$  (the red colour). We will draw the optimal consumption policies.

The quantity  $EIS = \frac{1}{1-\rho}$  is known as the *elasticity of intertemporal substitution* and it reflects how strong is the reaction of a consumer with respect to changing prices from period to period. If  $\rho$  increases, then EIS increases as well. If  $\beta(1+r) < 1$ , then  $r < r_{\beta}$ . This implies that the consumer is willing to increase his consumption level in the current period at cost of decreasing his consumption in the next period. This is because the price of consumption in the consecutive period will increase, since the resources decrease. Figure 1 reflects this situation for r = 0,03. Since  $\rho_1 < \rho_2$ , the blue curve is below the red one.



Fig. 1. The optimal consumption policy: the left-hand side for r = 0.03 and the right-hand side for r = 0.1.

If, on the other hand, we assume that r = 0,1, then  $\beta(1+r) > 1$ , and we deal with opposite case, i.e., it pays off to invest more and to postpone consumption for next periods. This implies that the blue curve is now above the red one as in Fig. 1.

#### 3.2 Stochastic Case

Suppose that  $\xi_{t+1}$  follows log-normal distribution  $LN(\mu_t, \sigma^2 s_t^2 + \sigma^2)$  where  $\delta \epsilon(0, 1)$  and  $\sigma > 0$  are some given numbers. Moreover, assume that the sequences  $(\mu_t)$  and  $(s_t)$  are defined as follows:

$$\mu_t = (1 - \eta^t)\mu, \quad s_{t+1} = \sqrt{\sigma^2 s_t^2 + \sigma^2}, \quad with \quad \eta \in (0, 1), \quad \mu > 0.$$

From Appendix we have

$$E(\xi_{t+1}) = e^{\mu_t + \frac{\sigma^2 s_t^2 + \sigma^2}{2}}, Var(\xi_{t+1}) = e^{2\mu_t + \sigma^2 s_t^2 + \sigma^2} \left( e^{\sigma^2 s_t^2 + \sigma^2} - 1 \right).$$

Note that the expected value and the volatility of  $\xi_{t+1}$  increase in t. Moreover, formula (8) yields that

$$E\left(\xi_{t+1}^{\gamma}\right) = e^{\frac{1}{2}\gamma^2\left(\sigma^2 s_t^2 + \sigma^2\right) + \gamma\mu_t}.$$

Plugging the above expression and (6) into (5), we obtain

$$a_{t} = \frac{1}{1 + \beta^{\frac{1}{1-\rho}} A_{t+1}^{1-\rho} exp\left(\frac{\rho\gamma}{2(1-\rho)} \left(\delta^{2} s_{t}^{2} + \sigma^{2}\right) + \frac{\mu_{t}\rho}{1-\rho}\right)}$$
(7)

We calculate and plot the optimal policy at for the following cases.

(i) Figure 2 (the left-hand side):  $\mu = 0.02, s_1^2 = 0.06, \gamma = 0.5, \eta = 0.5, \delta^2 = 0.9, \sigma^2 = 0.006, \beta = 0.95$  and the time horizon N = 50. As in the deterministic case, we consider two values  $\rho_1 = 0.3$  (the blue curve) and  $\rho_2 = 0.8$  (the red curve). It is worth noticing that  $E\xi_{t+1} \le e^{0.02 + \frac{0.06}{2}} = e^{0.05} \approx 1.05$ .



**Fig. 2.** The optimal consumption policy: the left-hand side for case (i) and the right- hand side for case (ii).

(ii) Figure 2 (the right-hand side):  $\mu = 0.02, s_1^2 = 0.06, \rho = 0.5, \eta = 0.5, \delta^2 = 0.9, \sigma^2 = 0.006, \beta = 0.95$  and the time horizon N = 50. In this example, we wish to observe the influence of the risk parameter  $\gamma$  on the optimal policy *at*. Therefore, we draw two curves for  $\gamma_1 = 1$  (the blue colour) and  $\gamma_2 = 0.1$  (the red colour). As

we can see in this case there is no significant difference, because the variance of  $\xi_{t+1}$  is relatively small, i.e.,

$$Var(\xi_{t+1}) \le e^{0.04 + 0.06} (e^{0.06} - 1) \approx 0.07$$

From the picture, we can see that the risk neutral consumer is willing to consume less and invest more for future. On the other hand, the consumer who is risk averse towards uncertain future prefers to consume more and invest less. The outcome is consistent with real-life attitude of decision-makers.

The subsequent examples illustrate the importance of the risk coefficient  $\gamma$ .

(ii) The left-hand side in Fig. 3 presents the optimal consumption policy for the following data:  $\mu_t = 0.1$  and  $s_t^2 = 1.5 - \frac{1}{t}$  for all  $t \in T$ ,  $\sigma^2 = 1, \delta = 1, \rho = 0.5, \beta = 0.95$  and the time horizon N = 5. As in the previous case the blue curve presents the strategy for  $\gamma_1 = 1$  and the red curve for  $\gamma_2 = 0.1$ . The right-hand side in Fig. 3 shows the aforementioned case, but for  $\beta = 0.5$ .



Fig. 3. The optimal consumption policy: the left-hand side for case  $\beta = 0.95$  and the right-hand side for  $\beta = 0.5$ .

The main difference in Fig. 3 is concerned with the values of *at*. Indeed, the values of *at* for initial t's at the first picture are smaller than in second case. This is because of different values of  $\beta$ . If  $\beta = 0.5$  then it pays off to consume more. If  $\beta = 0.95$  or is close to 1, then there is no such a big difference between today and next periods, since the consumptions in the consecutive periods are not too much discounted.

## Appendix

Assume that the random variable X follows the log-normal distribution  $LN(\mu, s^2)$ . Then, the density function of X (see [4]) is as follows

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{xs\sqrt{2\pi}} exp\left(\frac{-(lnx-\mu)^2}{2s^2}\right), & \text{for } x > 0\\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We find  $EX^b$  for b > 0. We have that

$$EX^{b} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x^{b}}{xs\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{\frac{-(\ln x - \mu)^{2}}{2s^{2}}} dx.$$

By changing variable  $t = \ln x$  in the above integral, we obtain  $dt = \frac{dx}{x}$  and  $x^b = e^{bt}$ Hence,

$$EX^{b} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{bt - \frac{-(t-\mu)^{2}}{2s^{2}}} dx.$$

Observing that

$$bt - \frac{(t-\mu)^2}{2s^2} = \frac{-(t-(\mu+bs^2))^2 + 2b\mu s^2 + b^2 s^4}{2s^2}$$

we get

$$EX^{b} = e^{b\mu + \frac{b^{2}x^{2}}{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{(t-(\mu+bx^{2}))^{2}}{2s^{2}}} dx = e^{b\mu + \frac{b^{2}x^{2}}{2}}$$

The above formula allows us to conclude that

$$EX^{2} = e^{(2\mu + 2s^{2})},$$
  

$$Var(X) = EX^{2} - (EX)^{2} = e^{(2\mu + 2s^{2})} - e^{(2\mu + s^{2})} = e^{(2\mu + s^{2})} \left(e^{s^{2}} - 1\right).$$

Moreover, if X has the log-normal distribution  $LN(\mu_t, \delta^2 s_t^2 + \sigma^2)$  and  $b = \gamma$  then

$$EX^{\gamma} = exp\left(\mu_t \gamma + \frac{1}{2}\gamma^2 \left(\delta^2 s_t^2 + \sigma^2\right)\right).$$
(8)

## References

- 1. Becker, R.A., Boyd III, H.J.: Capital Theory, Equilibrium Analysis and Recursive Utility. Blackwell Publishers, Hoboken (1997)
- Epstein, L., Hynes, A.: The rate of time preference and dynamic economic analysis. J. Polit. Econ. 91, 611–635 (1983)

- 3. Epstein, L., Zin, S.: Substitution, risk aversion, and the temporal behavior of consumption and asset returns: a theoretical framework. Econometrica **57**, 937–969 (1989)
- 4. Jakubowski, J., Sztencel, R.: Wstęp do rachunku prawdopodobieństwa. Wydawnictwo Script, Warszawa (2010)
- 5. Kreps, D., Porteus, E.: Temporal resolution of uncertainty and dynamic choice theory. Econometrica **46**, 185–200 (1978)
- 6. Miao, J.: Economic Dynamics in Discrete Time. The MIT Press, Cambridge (2014)
- 7. Samuelson, P.: A note on measurement of utility. Rev. Econ. Stud. 4, 155-161 (1937)
- 8. Stokey, N., Lucas, R., Prescott, E.: Recursive Methods in Economic Dynamic. Harvard University Press, Cambridge (1989)
- 9. Weil, P.: Nonexpected utility in macroeconomics. Q. J. Econ. 105, 29-42 (1990)

# The Influence of the Methods of Determining Cost Drivers Values on the Accuracy of Costs Estimation of the Designed Machine Elements

Dorota Więcek<sup>(⊠)</sup> and Dariusz Więcek

Faculty of Mechanical Engineering and Computer Science, University of Bielsko-Biala, Bielsko-Biala, Poland {dwiecek,wiecekd}@ath.bielsko.pl

**Abstract.** Application of the proposed methods of defining cost drivers values, depending on the possessed information about the product at the stage of its design, enables to estimate total costs with good precision before starting its production. Cost drivers are variables of the function defining costs components of the designed element and its manufacturing process. The proposed methods base on the assumed features of the designed product, current values of cost parameters and are adjusted to unit and small lot production systems.

Keywords: Cost estimation  $\cdot$  Activity based costing  $\cdot$  Production process design

## 1 Introduction

Situations like a need for an earlier launch of a new product and looking for methods decreasing total costs force unit and small series production enterprises to integrate the design processes and the processes necessary for products manufacturing with identification of the related costs [7, 16]. The process should take into consideration the information about previous and current production, procurement, production organization processes, at the same time maintaining a proper level of products quality [1, 6]. Consequently, the processes of design and processing new products should, if possible, be supported by a relatively quick and accurate estimation of total production costs in order to avoid excessive expenses during production start-up [8, 9]. A significant influence on the cost consumption of the production process is exaggerated by designers on the stage of product development, in which the concept and functional structure of a product is made, materials, technology and production process parameters are chosen [3, 13].

The aim of the research is to develop methods of cost estimation of designed products on the stage of constructional production preparation, which would be based on proper selection of cost drivers related to activity based costing in order to optimally estimate the cost of a designed element, depending on constructional information. Thanks to simulating the influence of alternative decisions on the stage of production processes design, it is possible to estimate the level of own costs before the decisions

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_8

are taken, and the necessary resources are purchased [2, 11]. Solving the above problem in enterprises with unit and small series production requires:

- assuming a proper description of the features related to the designed element basing on the elementary object method, including constructional, manufacturing and organizational features,
- determining activity costs for an exemplary production system with accuracy corresponding to the description of features of the designed elements,
- developing a set of cost drivers, depending on the assumed cost estimation method,
- determining the volume of cost drivers on the basis of the obtained values from the assumed description of the designed elements' features,
- designing a calculation model for cost estimation which takes into account the available sets of cost drivers and actual activity rates.

## 2 The Proposed Methods of Estimating Machine Elements Costs

In order to estimate total production costs on the stage of designing and processing new products in unit and small-series production depending on the available information about the designed product, a model (Fig. 1) of conduct has been proposed.



Fig. 1. A general model of procedure in the proposed method.

The starting point is to appropriately apply activity costing which considers as many accounting bases as there are separated kinds of activities [15]. However, activity costs should be properly settled on each level of product structure (sets, sub-sets, elements, or elementary objects), and the account should show the differences in costs

for different design concepts, with detail up to particular technological operations. On the basis of the information available in financial-accounting systems about the costs encumbered, and the information on the presence of separate activities in the sample production system, costs of direct activities have been determined, as shown in Table 1. After calculating the cost of direct activities and determining the measures of throughput for these activities, it is possible to calculate the cost rate for particular activities (RateAct).

No	Activity	Activity costs by type in PLN	Costs of indirect activity in PLN	Total activity cost in PLN
1	Adopting orders	14 600.93	35 743.59	50 344.53
2	Preparing documentation – typical product	3 416.04	960.76	4 376.80
3	Preparing documentation – modified product	5 607.96	1 587.39	7 195.34
4	Preparing documentation – new product	10 318.59	2 828.41	13 147.01
•••			•••	
20	Activity performed on universal milling machines	2 269.07	2 366.56	4 635.63
21	Activity performed on gear hobbers	5 699.12	4 740.10	10 439.22
22	Activity performed on multiradial drilling machines	3 898.12	3 493.83	7 391.95
•••				
31	Co-operation	1 346.65	365.63	1 712.27
32	Storing elements	1 451.11	309.62	1 760.73
33	Control of elements	30 041.32	6 216.49	36 257.81
34	Sale	16 796.87	2 677.45	19 474.32
Total	cost of activities	-		516 146.44

Table 1. Costs of direct activities – a fragment.

The methods of cost estimation described in literature [5, 12] can be used if all characteristic features of a product are known, and the designed manufacturing process is similar to previously produced elements, which causes limitations to using such methods from the point of view of accuracy of the obtained results [4]. These methods are also based on fixed, often outdated cost data, which, in a situation of constantly changing structure of encumbered expenses by an enterprise, cause that the estimated costs significantly differ from the actually borne production costs. A problem of cost estimation on the stage of product design occurs when elements are not definitely designed, or considerably differ from previously manufactured products, which is characteristic and frequently met in case of unit or small series production. The methods which operate on an incomplete set of information necessary to determine

total production cost of a designed product are called cost estimation methods [4, 14]. Depending on the amount of available information about the designed product, it is possible to use the proposed fast, more or less precise cost estimation methods. Estimating particular cost components makes it possible for a designer to select a proper constructional solution from many options on the basis of economic criteria [12].

The basis of cost estimation of machine elements is to assume (Table 2) an appropriate description of the features of the designed elements, which, apart from constructional features, will additionally include the description of materials features and organizational features related to the manufacturing process for more comprehensive cost estimation. The description is based on the assumptions given in literature [17]. Depending on the information generated on different stages of production process design aided by the CAx system (computer aided ...), or the information stored in databases [10], the procedure follows the possibility of determining a set of cost drivers. Hence, it is necessary to settle such manufacturing process parameters for particular product structure levels (elementary objects, elements...), which unambiguously determine the values of the variables defining cost components together with the way of their estimation.

DESIGNED ELEMENT	Constructional elemen- tary objects, which directly create construc- tional shape of the de- signed-there can be simple surfaces: cham- fer, undercut, complex ones: toothed ring, threat	Constructional features describ- ing the designed elements	Geometrical features (determine the external structure): - type of shape (disks, shafts, bushings) - external shapes (cylindrical elements, flat conical sur- faces,) - additional external shapes (keyways, threats, under- cuts,) - internal shapes (opening, centring holes, multi- grooves,) - additional internal shapes (flat surfaces, threats, teeth,)  Input material features for production (determine the mate- rial, its internal properties, form of raw material): - half-product (bars, pipes, casts) - raw material (steel, iron, non-metal materials) - thermal and thermo-chemical treatment (annealing, tempering, hardening), and others
	designed elements	Manufacturing features describ- ing the elements	<ul> <li>variant of the manufacturing process (disc process with- out thermal treatment, with heat improver, with carburiz- ing and tempering,), and others</li> </ul>
		Organisational features describ- ing the elements	<ul> <li>production series type ( unit, series, large-scale)</li> <li>organization of the manufacturing process</li> <li></li> </ul>

Table 2.	Division	of features	describing	machine elements	[17]	ŀ
----------	----------	-------------	------------	------------------	------	---

The costs are determined on the basis of cost drivers values which, depending on the available information about the designed element, are settled according to different algorithms related to: determination of a variant set of cost drivers; determination of a corrected variant set of cost drivers; determination of a generative set of cost drivers; determination of a hybrid set of cost drivers. Basing on current rates of activity costs determined in a given accounting period, estimated costs of the designed elements are calculated, which, depending on the method of generating the value of a cost drivers set, are called variant costs, corrected variant costs, generative costs and hybrid costs.

## **3** Determining a Variant Set of Cost Drivers

The proposed method of cost estimation is based on a formalised description of in-formation about features of construction, manufacturing and organisation related to the designed element, automation method of technological processes design (variant design) using methods of group technology and a model of production costs of machine elements based on Activity Based Costing. The first step is related to separating from the elements base, the elements which are possibly closest to the designed element from the point of view of common features describing the elements. The first level of identification arbitrarily determines the kind of production object that the designed element belongs to. Next, on the basis of a set of features describing the elements in a different and the designed element, an attributive code of features is created in form of a zero-one vector. An example of the gathered information about the designed element's features in form of a FP vector, automatically generated during construction records is presented in part a) of Fig. 2, whereas part b) includes an example of a model element together with a FP vector (in the authorial module functioning in the SolidWorks software).



Fig. 2. The feature description of (a) a new and (b) a previously designed machine element

On the basis of the assumed similarity measure, which is the sum of the product of the common feature with binary value 1 and the assumed weight for a given feature determining the influence of the value of the parameters describing a given feature on actual production costs, the elements with the biggest measure are selected, as they are characterized by the highest similarity with the designed element. There can be a few or even about o dozen of such elements (for the above example the sum amounts to 11 and 9 model elements were selected). Next, for the common features of the designed and model elements, it is necessary to compare pairs of common features and the parameters together with their values describing the given features, e.g. for the feature F713\_k01 (internal shapes/internal keyway) the related parameters and values are keyway width -18 mm, length -38 mm, depth -4.4 mm, roughness -2.5. For such pairs the similarity measure is determined on the basis of the Canberra distance. The element with the smallest Canberra distance value is the closest to the designed element.

$$mC = \sum_{p=1}^{P} \left| \frac{wc_{n_p}^{ep} - wc_{m_p}^{w}}{wc_{n_p}^{ep} + wc_{m_p}^{w}} \right|$$
(1)

where:

 $wc_{n_p}^{ep}$ - feature value of the designed element ep by the n-th occurrence for parameter p:

 $wc_{m_p}^w$  - feature value of the model element w by the m-th occurrence for parameter p.

The next step is to search the exiting CAPP system's base of the manufacturing processes in terms of feature similarity in order to find a technological process route for a previously designed element, and specifically a set of information about technological processes in different variants, semi-product – its shape, dimensions, kind of materials, machining time standards, tools, production means, production workstations organization, etc. Each element of this set has some ascribed values which characterize the parameters of model element processing. On the basis of these values and a set of cost drivers of the variant model of cost estimation (Table 3), a variant set of cost drivers' values is determined, which, taking into consideration current rates for activity costs, allows to estimate variant cost of the designed element according to cost data from a current period, not historical cost. The method allows to estimate costs for a new product relatively fast and with less workload, which is sometimes connected with accepting limited accuracy of the obtained results.

#### Values of a Corrected Variant Set of Cost Drivers

The next stage of bringing the estimated costs closer to the actual costs of the designed element is to correct variant values of cost drivers on the basis of parameter values of the features describing the designed element in relation to the parameter values of the features related to the variant element. The most frequently corrected values of variant cost drivers are parameters of the features describing the designed element related to materials, semi-product, dimensions and organizational features. The costs which undergo changes on the basis of correcting the values of cost drivers include:

Name	Symbol
Unit time; Set-up and break-down time	tu_op <sub>n</sub> tsb_op <sub>n</sub>
Grade	gr_emp <sub>n</sub>
Storage item index	id_stor
Standard materials usage	SM
Standard number of semi-product	no_sprod
Production position	id_posit <sub>n</sub>
Type of documentation (typical, modified, new)	t_doc
Type of product (finished product, semi-product)	t_prod
Size of a production batch	s_batch

Table 3. A set of cost drivers for the variant costing model.

- costs of direct materials (CDM) may change as a result of other kind of assumed raw material (r\_mat), a different half-product (no\_sprod) and different dimensions of the designed element (x\_brut, z\_brut) and the variant element. These changes may influence the choice of storage item (st\_it), and the change of material unit price, and, above all, the change of standard materials usage (SM) – an example in Fig. 3,



Fig. 3. Estimated corrected variant costs of the designed element.

- costs of direct labour (CDL) resulting from different time consumption standards as a result of changing the machining parameters between the material of variant element and designed element, which is also influenced by unit time  $(tu_op_n)$ , set-up and break-down time  $(tsb_op_n)$ , changing worker's grading  $(gr_emp_n)$  and changing the size of a production batch (s\_batch),
- activity costs of the procurement process resulting from changing the storing position - CStor (id\_stor),
- activity costs of processing (CProcAct), which are influenced by changing time consumption standards Stand\_t (tu\_op<sub>n</sub>, tsb\_op<sub>n</sub>) and changing a production batch (s\_batch) - Fig. 3.

The corrected variant costs for the exemplary element are presented in Fig. 3.

## **4** Determining a Generative Set of Cost Drivers

A generative cost is determined on the basis of values of the cost drivers (Table 4) related only to parameter values of the features describing the designed element. Consequently, it is necessary that all features which describe the given element are clearly determined.

Name	Symbol
Dimension of starting material - x; - y; - z	x_brut; y_brut; z_brut
Raw material type	r_mat
Main dimension of starting material	dmat
Material density	den_mat
Lead time related to technological treatment	tl_treat <sub>t</sub>
Auxiliary time related to technological treatment	ta_treat <sub>t</sub>
Employees' grading for technological treatment	gr_emp <sub>t</sub>
Production workstation related to technological treatment	id_work <sub>t</sub>
+ variant set of cost drivers	

Table 4. A set of cost drivers for generative costing model.

Generating cost drivers was divided into a few levels according to the levels of cost aggregation:

- into factors of the level of features describing an element, in order to get constructional parameters according to constructor's assumption and the settled variant of the manufacturing process. These factors concern a set of the required technological treatments (tl\_treat, ta\_treat) related to direct labour costs and processing sub-activities. A basic tool on this level is an assumed dedicated expert system, in which a base of technological knowledge has been separated. This knowledge relates to the information about sets of technological treatments for the given feature, achieving the assumed parameter values in the adopted variant of the manufacturing process, the information about production workstation  $(id_work_t)$  and employees' grading  $(gr_emp_t)$  for the desired technological treatment,

- into factors related to the dimensions (x\_brut, y\_brut, z\_brut), features of materials (r\_mat, den\_mat), selection of semi-product (id\_stor, dmat) for the designed element, which allows to determine direct material costs,
- into factors determining completion of technological operations on the level of cost aggregation related to the element, influencing the cost of direct labour and processing activities. Adoption of a framework technological process takes place with the use of an advisory system, which, on the basis of the determined features of the designed element, proposes a given variant of the technological process with standard working time for particular operations (tu\_op<sub>n</sub>, tsb\_op<sub>n</sub>, s\_batch, gr\_emp<sub>n</sub>, id\_posit<sub>n</sub>),
- into factors determining activity costs of the procurement processes which are dependent on the type of semi-material (no\_sprod, SM), activity costs of planning on the production batch size (s\_batch) and other costs on the basis of the kind of the designed documentation (t\_doc), information if the element will be re-sold, if it will be a product component (t\_prod), etc.

With determined values for the required set of cost drivers and current rates of activity and sub-activity costs, it is possible to estimate generative costs of the designed element by means of proper algorithms.

## 5 Determining a Hybrid Set of Cost Drivers

The hybrid approach finds application when a set of features describing the designed element has not been fully determined. In such a case it is not possible to use only generative approach to creating cost drivers, as the settled estimated costs on an incomplete set would significantly differ from actual costs. The hybrid approach applies the rules of selecting a variant set of cost drivers and creating a generative set of cost driver values (Table 5). Hybrid cost is an estimated cost whose important components are generative sets of cost drivers' values composed on the basis of the values of parameters clearly determined for the features describing the designed element, and generative parameter values for analogical features describing a variant element. Therefore, hybrid cost value is the value of corrected variant decreased by the value of generative costs determined for a variant element, and increased by the value of generative costs determined by the designed element. The cost decrease and increase concern only clearly determined features: costs of direct labour (CDL) and processing costs (CProcAct).

The remaining costs – direct material costs (CDM), costs of order acceptance (COrder), material storing costs (CStorMater), planning costs (CPl), costs of preparing documentation (CDoc) - are settled according to corrected variant cost. Connecting these two methods allows to avoid getting insufficient amount of information in case of the generative method, and conditions cost estimation accuracy on the similarity level to the closest element in case of the variant method.

Costs	Corrected	Generative cost of	Generative cost of	Hybrid cost of designed element
	variant	exemplary element -	designed element -	(PLN)
	cost	for unambiguously	for unambiguously	
	(PLN)	described features	described features	
		(PLN)	(PLN)	
CDL	83.20	72.98	69.34	83.20–72.98 + 69.34 = 79,56
CProcAct	125.67	110.96	104.27	125.67 - 110.96 + 104.27 = 118,98
CDM	43.07			43.07
COrder	11.12			11.12
CStorMater	16.72			16.72
CPl	0.69			0.69
CDoc	17.16			17.16
Total	297.63	Decrease of 183.94	Increase of 173.61	287.30

Table 5. A sample hybrid cost of a designed element.

## 6 Conclusions

Particular cost components are dependent on the variables called cost drivers, so we can say that the value of a given cost component is a function of a certain set of cost drivers related to a given cost component. Sets of cost drivers created on the basis of variant, generative and hybrid approaches allow to determine different estimated costs for the designed element. These costs, depending on the stage of creating production documentation for a given element, that is the amount of information about the element's features, are characterized by a higher of lower level of cost calculation accuracy. The proposed method bases on the required sets of cost drivers and on proper value estimation of these factors, which allows to, adequately to a given period, estimate costs possibly similar to actual costs on the basis of appropriate algorithms and by using current rates (activity costs in previous periods are not considered).

Cost drives make it possible to understand what influences the cost of a particular activity or direct cost, and how we can minimize the resources used to perform this activity or to manufacture a given element. Knowledge about these factors allows to get better results in the area of cost-cutting and provide designers with valuable information about costs (both direct and indirect) in the moment when they have the highest possibility to influence them.

The proposed methods require full implementation of activity based costing in an enterprise, operation of the CAPP system with an up-to-date base of technological possibilities of the production system and an analysis of constructional documentation in order to create a base of features describing the designed elements. The proposed solutions were adapted to production systems operating in conditions of unit and small series production.

## References

- Dohn, K., Gumiński, A., Pawluś, A.: Supply processes in a machine-building enterprise concerning metallurgical products - case study. In: 24th International Conference on Metallurgy and Materials, METAL, Tanger, Czech Republic, pp. 1902–1907 (2015)
- Gola, A., Świć, A.: Computer-aided machine tool selection for focused flexibility manufacturing systems using economical criteria. Actual Prob. Econ. 124(10), 383–389 (2011)
- Grudzień, Ł., Hamrol, A.: Information quality in design process documentation of quality management systems. Int. J. Inf. Manag. 36(4), 599–606 (2016)
- Hueber, Ch., Horejsi, K., Schledjewski, R.: Review of cost estimation: methods and models for aerospace composite manufacturing. Adv. Manuf.: Polym. Compos. Sci. 2(1), 1–13 (2016)
- Chwastyk, P., Kołosowki, M.: Rozliczanie kosztów działań w systemie zapewnienia jakości. In: Knosala, R. (ed.) Komputerowo zintegrowane zarządzanie, Politechnika Opolska, Opole, vol. I, pp. 696–702 (2010)
- 6. Kramarz, M., Kramarz, W.: The identification of zones of amplification of disruptions in network supply chains of metallurgic products. Metalurgija **2015**(54), 279–282 (2015)
- Kuric, I.: New methods and trends in product development and planning. In: 1st International Conference on Quality and Innovation in Engineering and Management, Romania, pp. 453–456 (2011)
- 8. Matuszek, J., Moczała, A.: The modelling and simulation method in computer aided cooperation. Control Cybern. **39**, 117–131 (2010)
- Mičieta, B., Biňasová, V., Haluška, M.: The approaches of advanced industrial engineering in next generation manufacturing systems. In: Communications: Scientific Letters of the University of Žilina, vol. 16/3A, pp. 101–105 (2014)
- Mleczko, J., Dulina, L.: Manufacturing documentation for the high-variety products. Manag. Prod. Eng. Rev. 5(3), 53–61 (2014)
- Plinta, D., Krajcovic, M.: Production system designing with the use of digital factory and augmented reality technologies. In: Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, International Conference on Automation, Poland, vol. 350, pp. 187–196 (2015)
- Qian, L., Ben-Arieh, D.: Parametric cost estimation based on activity-based costing: a case study for design and development of rotational parts. Int. J. Prod. Econ. 113(2), 805–818 (2008)
- Relich, M., Świć, A., Gola, A.: A knowledge-based approach to product concept screening. In: Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, 12th International Conference, Spain, vol. 373, pp. 341–348 (2015)
- 14. Sajadfar, N., Ma, Y.: A hybrid cost estimation framework based on feature-oriented data mining approach. Adv. Eng. Inform. **29**(3), 633–647 (2015)
- Saniuk, A., Saniuk, S., Caganova, D., Cambal, M.: Control of strategy realization in metallurgical production. In: 23th International Conference on Metallurgy and Materials -METAL, Tanger, Czech Republic, pp. 1876–1881 (2014)
- Skołud, B.: Market oriented approach to the production management on the operational level. In: ModTech International Conference, Advanced Materials Research, Romania, pp. 663–668 (2013)
- 17. Więcek, D.: Implementation of artificial intelligence in estimating prime costs of producing machine elements. Adv. Manuf. Sci. Technol. **37**(1), 43–53 (2013)

## An Experimental Investigation of Lead Time and the Effect of Order Crossover

Peter Nielsen<sup>1( $\boxtimes$ )</sup>, Zbigniew Banaszak<sup>1</sup>, Grzegorz Bocewicz<sup>2</sup>, and Zbigniew Michna<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Materials and Production, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark peter@m-tech.aau.dk, Z.Banaszak@wz.pw.edu.pl <sup>2</sup> Faculty of Electronics and Computer Science, Koszalin University of Technology, Koszalin, Poland bocewicz@ie.tu.koszalin.pl <sup>3</sup> Department of Mathematics and Cybernetics, Wrocław University of Economics, Wrocław, Poland zbigniew.michna@ue.wroc.pl

**Abstract.** This paper presents results from an experimental investigation of lead time distributions. The focus is on the order crossover phenomenon where slower orders are overtaken by faster orders and the impact of this on the structure of the observed lead time distribution. The natural conclusion is that the likelihood of order crossover occurring strongly depends on the skewness and variance of the lead time distribution. Furthermore, the conclusion is that while lead times may be i.i.d. random variables, when crossover occurs lead times observed in the sequence orders are received are in fact mutually dependent. This has a significant impact on how supply chain members should estimate lead times and lead time distributions. That lead times are in fact mutually dependent is a major finding and has implications for both practice and academia.

Keywords: Stochastic lead times  $\cdot$  Supply chain management  $\cdot$  Bullwhip effect  $\cdot$  Order crossover

## **1** Introduction and Background

Order crossover is a phenomenon that has been studied for many years [1, 2], but has received increased attention in recent years especially in the context of supply chain management. Order crossover occurs (as illustrated in Fig. 1) when orders due to stochastic lead times are received in another sequence than that in which they are placed. In practice Riezebos [3] argues that there are three real causes for order crossover to occur and that there is a real risk of systems exhibiting this kind of behavior. Bagchi et al. [4] show that lead time variation is a major source of uncertainty in inventory management and argue that a compounded lead time demand distribution is used. Robinson et al. [5] argue that order crossover is increasingly important and suggest using shortfall distributions rather than lead time demand to calculate inventory positions. Bradley and Robinson [6] argue that when faced with order crossover the normal methods for estimating lead time demand are insufficient and especially the assumption of normality of the lead time demand distribution are violated. In the contexts of supply chains Disney

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_9

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

et al. [7] recently investigated order crossover. However, what seems to be lacking in current state is an analysis of how lead time distributions behave when crossover occurs. Bischak et al. [8] state that the majority of supply chain literature ignores order crossover and as a consequence overestimates the lead time variance. Hayya et al. [9] similar argue that order crossover can lead to reduced lead time variance. This is highly relevant as we from Michna et al. [10] and Chatfield et al. [11] know that lead time variation is in fact a major cause of bullwhip effect. Chopra et al. [12] argue that reducing lead time variability has a larger influence on performance than reducing lead times, but also argue that there is a complex relationship between lead times and lead time variability. Michna et al. [10] underline that the need to estimate the lead time distribution (more particularly the mean and variance of the lead time distribution), are in fact highly significant in determining the bullwhip effect. When lead times are in fact treated as stochastic rather than deterministic the need to predict their behavior as one would e.g. predict demand becomes relevant. In current supply chain literature lead times are (when not considered deterministic) assumed to be i.i.d. random variables. In practice a member of a supply chain must estimate the lead time distribution using the lead time observations that are available [10]. The need for estimating the lead time distribution is under-researched and the impact of order crossover has not been studied. For future reference we denote the original lead time distribution LT and the distribution as the orders are received  $LT^*$ . In this research we aim to demonstrate that this lead time estimation is significantly influenced by whether one observes LT or LT<sup>\*</sup>. Especially if one has a limited number of observations available for the estimation. This is supported by Nielsen et al. [13], who argue that this may be the case, due to the potential unstable nature of lead times.

Let us assume that LT in fact consists of i.i.d. random variables, then it becomes interesting to consider whether  $LT^*$  retain this attribute. For order crossover to occur a few prerequisites must be in place: the order frequency must be high enough compared to the variation of the lead time distribution to allow orders to crossover. It follows that "slow" orders will be overtaken by "fast" orders. Let us consider the following example: we place orders at a fixed interval once every four time units, we sample lead times from a discrete exponential distribution (with rate  $\frac{1}{4}$ ) and get the lead times as seen in Fig. 1 and then orders are received.

One can notice from Fig. 1 that only three orders (1, 2 and 10) are actually received in the same sequence as placed. Twice orders are received at the same time (orders 4 &



Fig. 1. overview of orders, lead times and order receipt.

7 and 8 & 10). Of special interest is the fact that while LT are random i.i.d. variables the observations from  $LT^*$  appear to have some structure, i.e. fast orders (e.g. order 5) have overtaken slow orders (e.g. orders 3 and 4). So it appears that  $LT^*$  is mutually dependent in its structure. This phenomenon has not previously been addressed experimentally in literature. It is of particular relevance for the situations (as argued in Michna et al. [10]) where the lead time distributions must be estimated based on a limited number of observations. Estimating the mean and variance of the lead time distribution will under limited information availability be influenced by whether or not the observations can be considered to be i.i.d..

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. First, we conduct an experimental study of lead time distributions and investigate the behavior of  $LT^*$ . Second, implications from the results are discussed. Finally conclusions and avenues of further research are presented.

## 2 Experimental Investigation

Having determined that there is a likelihood that lead times will in fact exhibit non-randomness when order crossover occur and lead times are observed in the sequence orders are received, we set about investigating two critical questions experimentally:

- 1. What is the likelihood of order crossover occurring?
- 2. What kind of structure does  $LT^*$  exhibit?

First, we must determine which lead time distributions are relevant to investigate. Bagchi et al. [4] use Gamma, Exponential, Gaussian and Geometric distributions in their study of the impact of stochastic lead times on the lead time demand distribution and consider them representative lead time distribution. Nielsen et al. [13] demonstrates at least one case where lead times (for 50 different products) are in fact distributed close to the exponential distribution. Hayya et al. [14] investigate the unbounded Gaussian and Gamma distribution, Hayya et al. [14] investigate the unbounded Gaussian and Gamma distribution, Hayya et al. [14] use the exponential distribution and Wensing and Kuhn [1] use a discrete uniform distribution (but only allow for pair-wise crossover to occur). For this reason we limit our investigation to the discrete versions of the: Exponential, Gaussian, Uniform and Gamma distributions. The characteristics of the tested distributions are shown in Table 1. These values are chosen as they ensure a limited need for truncation (for the normal distribution) and still allow for significant variance to be present in the data. All distributions are truncated at 0 and we allow zero lead times to occur (i.e. instantaneous delivery).

The experiments are run with varying time between orders for all distributions shown in Table 1, starting with an order frequency of one order per time unit incrementally increasing by one time unit between orders until 30 time units between orders. We denote the time between orders as n. The shape of the distributions (as seen in Table 1) will ensure that they will have a likelihood of crossover occurring for low values of n. For each of these order frequencies 50.000 lead times are generated and placed at intervals of n time units. The experiments are run in R [15] an open source
	Mean $(\mu_{LT})$	Median	Variance $(\sigma_{LT}^2)$	Skewness	Kurtosis
$LT_{exp}$	10.0	7	100	2.0	8.9
LTnorm	10.0	10	6.3	0.0	3.0
$LT_{gamma}$	10.0	10	5.1	-0.43	3.3
LT <sub>uni</sub>	10.0	10	27.1	0.0	1.8

Table 1. Lead time distribution characteristics.

statistical software. Initial experiments on the structure of the  $LT^*$  indicate that it is only the first 3 lags in observations that are in fact significant and that the first lag is always strongest correlated. To limit the investigation only these will be investigated in the following as they will aptly underline if observations from  $LT^*$  are in fact mutually dependent or independent.

Figure 2 shows the likelihood of crossover occurring. As expected the likelihood depends on both the time between orders (n) and the shape of the distributions. Of course for some of the distributions this likelihood decreases sharply as the time between orders increases above a given threshold. For  $LT_{exp}$  the likelihood of crossover occurring is still above 7% when *n* is three times the mean of the distribution (n = 30). It is also worth noting that  $LT_{gamma}$  and  $LT_{norm}$  behave very similar with respect to the likelihood of crossover. With the Gaussian distributed lead times exhibiting slightly higher likelihood of crossover.

Figure 3 shows the 1st, 2nd and 3rd lag autocorrelations for the  $LT^*$  distributions for  $n \in \{1, 30\}$ . The mutual dependent structure of  $LT^*$  naturally depends very much on the initial LT distribution and on n (time between orders).



#### Percentage of orders received out of sequence

Fig. 2. Likelihood of order crossover occurring for the four distributions as a function of the time between orders.



Fig. 3. Lag 1–3 autocorrelation for the four investigated distributions with 1 to 30 time units between orders.

In Fig. 3 the horizontal lines indicate a 0.01 significance level for 50.000 observations. From Fig. 3(a) it is clear that the structure of  $LT^*_{exp}$  is in fact mutual dependence for most values of n. It is interesting to note that although the likelihood of crossover occurring is non-zero for all the order intervals,  $LT_{exp}^*$  is in fact only behaving mutually independent for time between orders above 29 and the strength of the correlation is rather weak for values of *n* larger than 15. For the shorter order frequencies, where time between orders is low compared to the mean there is a high degree of dependency in  $LT^*_{exp}$  and the structure is more complex than just a first order model.  $LT^*_{gamma}$  and  $LT^*_{norm}$  exhibit similar behavior with rather strong dependencies between observations for n up to 5, to the extent that both lag 2 and 3 are in fact also significant. The strength of the dependency is much stronger than the ones observed for  $LT_{exp}^*$ . It would be logical to conclude that while order crossover in general is a problem for supply chains with exponentially distributed lead times, it is more so a problem in supply chains with Gaussian and Gamma distributed lead times and high order frequency (low values of n compared to mean lead time).  $LT_{uni}^*$  exhibit characteristics of all the other three distributions. First, for n less than 10 there is a strong dependence between observations. Second, the maximum strength of the dependence is on level of that observed for both the Gaussian and Gamma distributions. It seems that  $LT_{ini}^*$  have the worst characteristics of all the three distributions.

In general it appears as the following holds true. The larger the variance of LT, the higher likelihood of order crossover occurring for even high values of n. The lower the variance, the stronger the mutual dependency in the observations from  $LT^*$  for high order frequencies compared to the mean of LT.

## 3 Discussion

Some important findings can be inferred from the above experimental study. First, the likelihood of crossover occurring as expected depends on the shape of the original lead time distribution and the time between orders. It is interesting to note that regardless of the original lead time distribution's shape, given a sufficiently high order frequency (i.e. low  $n'_{\mu_{IT}}$  ratio) there is a large likelihood of order crossover occurring. Second, this high likelihood of order crossover occurring directly results in  $LT^*$  being mutually dependent, despite LT being i.i.d random variables. This dependence is the same across all four investigated distributions and the conclusion is that the first lag is always (when significantly correlated) negative. Third, the strength of dependency seems to be a bit counter-intuitive in the sense that the distributions with the lowest variance exhibit the strongest dependency between observations for low values of n. Reversely the distributions with largest variance have dependencies between observations for much larger values of n. This strongly suggests that in practice one must consider both the shape of the lead time distribution and the time between orders when evaluating whether or not order crossover is going to pose real challenge in managing the supply chain. Fourth, there seems to be a critical level of likelihood of crossover above which  $LT^*$  are mutually dependent. Further studies seem to be warranted to determine specifically how large the order crossover likelihood should be before the observations from  $LT^*$ 

are in fact mutually dependent. This would be a good indicator for when the estimate of the mean and variance of the lead time distribution will be influenced by whether one observers LT or  $LT^*$ . For illustrative purposes the likelihood of crossover is plotted against the first order autocorrelation in Fig. 4 for all four distributions. The vertical line in Fig. 4 indicates the 0.01 significance level for 50.000 observations.



Fig. 4. Lag 1 autocorrelation plotted as a function of the likelihood for crossover occurring.

Although the graphs in Fig. 4 indicates that  $LT^*$  are mutually dependent for even low likelihoods of crossover, the strength of the correlations are relative low and it may be that in practice the crossover likelihood can be higher than indicated by the significance level. It is also interesting to note that the strength of the dependence between observations remains rather constant for likelihoods of order crossover below 0.3. Correspondingly the strength of the dependency quickly decreases for likelihoods of crossover below c. 0.3.

For the Gamma, Gaussian and Uniform distributions it is obvious that there is a  $n/\mu_{LT}$  value above which crossover cannot occur. For the uniform distribution this is clear as the distribution is bounded. For the Gaussian and Gamma distributions it is equally clear, even if they are not bounded the likelihood of observing lead time values above/below a certain value is in practice zero and there for they can in practice be considered bounded. For the exponential distribution this is not the case and the structure of  $LT^*_{exp}$  is as a consequence mutual dependence even for large values of *n*. This is interesting as empirical investigations of lead times by both Disney et al. [7]

and Nielsen et al. [13] seem to indicate that lead times may in practice follow distributions with characteristics such as the exponential distribution. In practice this means that not only is it likely that crossovers will occur, but it is also likely that observations from  $LT^*$  are in fact mutually dependent. However, what is of equal interest is perhaps that the bounded distributions exhibit very non-random behavior for low  $n/\mu_{IT}$  values.

# 4 Conclusions and Further Research

Order crossover is potentially critical in determining the performance of supply chains with stochastic lead times. Michna et al. [10] demonstrate that lead time estimation is critical in determining the bullwhip effect in a supply chain. However, as demonstrated in this research while lead time may be mutually independently distributed random variables they must under certain circumstances be considered mutually dependent if order crossover occurs. The conclusion is therefore that given limited information to estimate the lead time distribution, this mutual dependence/ordering of lead time observations is in fact significant for the estimation process. This means that academia must critically review the current state. It also implies that order crossover will result in nervous supply chains at least if managers are not aware of how order crossover impacts their chain. Here we must emphasis that crossover can influence the dependence structure between lead times (independent to dependent) and the estimation of their distribution.

Future work will focus on two streams of research. One will elaborate on the impact of the dependency on estimates of the lead time distribution. One will focus on the impact on the bullwhip effect in supply chains given crossover occurs.

## References

- 1. Wensing, T., Kuhn, H.: Analysis of production and inventory systems when orders may cross over. Ann. Oper. Res. **231**(1), 265–281 (2015)
- Zalkind, D.: Order-level inventory systems with independent stochastic leadtimes. Manag. Sci. 24(13), 1384–1392 (1978)
- 3. Riezebos, J.: Inventory order crossovers. Int. J. Prod. Econ. 104(2), 666-675 (2006)
- Bagchi, U., Hayya, J.C., Chu, C.-H.: The effect of lead-time variability: the case of independent demand. J. Oper. Manag. 6(2), 159–177 (1986)
- Robinson, L.W., Bradley, J.R., Thomas, L.J.: Consequences of order crossover under order-up-to inventory policies. Manuf. Serv. Oper. Manag. 3(3), 175–188 (2001)
- Bradley, J.R., Robinson, L.W.: Improved base-stock approximations for independent stochastic lead times with order crossover. Manuf. Serv. Oper. Manag. 7(4), 319–329 (2005)
- Disney, S.M., Maltz, A., Wang, X., Warburton, R.D.H.: Inventory management for stochastic lead times with order crossovers. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 248(2), 473–486 (2016)
- Bischak, D.P., Robb, D.J., Silver, E.A., Blackburn, J.D.: Analysis and management of periodic review, order-up-to level inventory systems with order crossover. Prod. Oper. Manag. 23(5), 762–772 (2014)

- 9. Hayya, J.C., Bagchi, U., Kim, J.G., Sun, D.: On static stochastic order crossover. Int. J. Prod. Econ. **114**(1), 404–413 (2008)
- Michna, Z., Nielsen, I.E., Nielsen, P.: The bullwhip effect in supply chains with stochastic lead times. Math. Econ. 9(16), 71–88 (2013)
- Chatfield, D.C., Kim, J.G., Harrison, T.P., Hayya, J.C.: The bullwhip effect impact of stochastic lead time, information quality, and information sharing: a simulation study. Prod. Oper. Manag. 13(4), 340–353 (2004)
- 12. Chopra, S., Reinhardt, G., Dada, M.: The effect of lead time uncertainty on safety stocks. Decis. Sci. 35(1), 1–15 (2004)
- Nielsen, P., Michna, Z., Do, N.A.D.: An empirical investigation of lead time distributions, advances in production management systems. In: Innovative and Knowledge-Based Production Management in a Global-Local World: IFIP WG 5.7 International Conference, APMS 2014, Part I, vol. 438, pp. 435–442. Springer, Heidelberg (2014)
- 14. Hayya, J.C., Harrison, T.P., He, X.J.: The impact of stochastic lead time reduction on inventory cost under order crossover. Eur. J. Oper. Res. **211**(2), 274–281 (2011)
- 15. r-project.org. http://r-project.org. Accessed 10 Dec 2016

# The Stability of the Financial Indicators over Time

Sebastian Klaudiusz Tomczak<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Department of Operations Research, Wrocław University of Science and Technology, Smoluchowskiego 25, 50-372 Wrocław, Poland sebastian.tomczak@pwr.edu.pl

**Abstract.** The article attempts to assess the stability of the financial indicators in the period of ten years (2006–2015). Nearly 1600 companies have been examined within the manufacturing sector – including 800 bankrupt companies. For each enterprise the five selected ratios were calculated for each year. The stability of calculated variables during the research period was measured by (1) the standard deviation and normal distribution, (2) the correlation matrix, and (3) the discriminant ability (by using the t-Student test). The results indicated a substantial degree of instability of analyzed indicators over the last decade.

**Keywords:** Stacjonarity of ratios · Standard deviation · Correlation matrix · Discriminant ability

## 1 Introduction

The number of ratios in the literature is enormous. So far, there have been done many research studies on the usefulness of indicators (mostly financial indicators) of evaluating the business financial standing [4, 5, 13]. The studies very often are performed by the authors who create models for assessment financial condition of a company [1, 3, 26] in order to select those ratios, which are characterized by the predictive and discriminant abilities [16–19, 21–23] as well as have a normal distribution [7, 24]. Sometimes, the ratios are coped in various models [16], which may mean that they are useful in evaluating financial condition of enterprises.

One of the disadvantages of the models of assessing financial condition of a company is the decrease in their correct classification of a company with the passage of time since the construction of the model [8, 11, 16, 20]. It is worth adding that one of the assumptions of the models is the stability of ratios over time. However, not every ratio can be stable over time. Therefore, there were attempts to study the stability of ratios [2, 6, 9, 15]. The results showed that some of ratios are instable over time.

The article also presents the study of variability of selected ratios over the last decade. The variability of the indicators was examined based on the analysis of standard deviation, normal distribution, correlation coefficients as well as discriminant ability.

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_10

## 2 Research Methodology

#### 2.1 Sample

One has analyzed nearly 1,600 companies, including 800 companies that had gone bankrupt in the period of ten years (2007–2016). Firstly, the financial statements of failed businesses were selected, that were available within a year before bankruptcy. The source of financial reports is the Serwis EMIS (A Euromoney Institutional Investor company)<sup>1</sup>. The access to reports in a year prior to bankruptcy of enterprises was as follows:

- there was access to 42 reports of companies that went bankrupt in 2016
- there was access to 72 reports companies that went bankrupt in 2015
- there was access to 58 reports companies that went bankrupt in 2014
- there was access to 28 reports companies that went bankrupt in 2013
- there was access to 129 reports companies that went bankrupt in 2012
- there was access to 106 reports companies that went bankrupt in 2011
- there was access to 57 reports companies that went bankrupt in 2010
- there was access to 38 reports companies that went bankrupt in 2009
- there was access to 50 reports companies that went bankrupt in 2008
- there was access to 7 reports companies that went bankrupt in 2007

A total of 597 failed businesses have been covered by the analysis. The equivalents of failed businesses were chosen that are still running a business and have not undergone any bankruptcy process. In the selection of these enterprises, the following criteria were used: industry, the period of time, the good financial standing and size of the company.

#### 2.2 Financial Ratios

The financial indicators that were chosen for the research study are indicators that have been used and classified as useful in several past studies [16, 25]. The ratios are presented below:

$$X1 = \frac{currentassets}{shorttermliabilities} \tag{1}$$

$$X2 = \frac{equity}{totalassets} \tag{2}$$

$$X3 = \frac{netsales revenue(n)}{netsales revenue(n-1)}$$
(3)

$$X4 = \frac{(shorttermliabilities * 365 days)}{netsales revenue}$$
(4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> www.emis.com.

$$X5 = \frac{(net \ sales \ revenue - costs \ of \ goods \ sold)}{netsales \ revenue} \tag{5}$$

These ratios represents different type of groups. The first one current liquidity ratio stands for liquidity ratios. The second one equity to assets ratio represents the debt ratios. The third one income dynamics ratio is used in the initial analysis. The four one payables turnover stands for turnover ratios. The last one ratio gross margin represents profitability ratios.

## 2.3 Statistical Analysis

The author assesses the stability of financial indicators over time. First, the standard deviation and normal distribution were estimated for bankrupt and non-bankrupt companies and the results were compared in ten-year time. Second, the correlation coefficients among the variables for each year in the period were calculated and analyzed. Third, in order to analyze the discriminant ability of financial ratios t-Student test for independent samples has been used. The t-Student test was performed with Statistica.

# 3 Results

#### 3.1 Standard Deviation and Normal Distribution Chosen Ratios

The standard deviation is a method that is used to measure the volume of variation or diffusion of a data set. A low value of standard deviation points out that the values in data set are similar to the average, while a high value of standard deviation means that the values in data set are broaden. This method appears to be the strongest measure of index stability [6]. The Figs. 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 present the results of the standard deviation of chosen indexes for bankrupt and non-bankrupt businesses as well as for whole sample.

The research results presented in figure from 1 to 5 indicate that there were significant differences in the values of bankrupt companies for all analyzed indicators. The greatest variation in the period was characterized by current liquidity ratio. Whereas the lowest fluctuation of data during the period was marked by income dynamics ratio. It is worth pointing out that the values of non-bankrupt businesses for all analyzed indicators were more stable than the values for bankrupt businesses. In the last decade, the values of equity to assets ratio, income dynamics ratio as well as gross margin ratio were most stable.

Next, the test for normal distribution of the five chosen ratios was carried out for each year separately, keeping division on the bankrupt and the non-bankrupt businesses<sup>2</sup>. A total distribution of 100 ratios has been tested (2 groups of companies, 5 indicators for 10 years). The summary results of the Kolmogorov - Smirnov test are presented in Table 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See [10].



Fig. 1. The standard deviation of current liquidity ratio



Fig. 2. The standard deviation of equity to assets ratio

Analyzing the results of the Kolmogorov - Smirnov test for chosen ratios, it can be observed that the values of income dynamics had a normal distribution for both companies with bad and good standing with some exceptions. The values of equity to assets ratio and payables turnover were also similar to a normal distribution but only for non-bankrupt companies with some exceptions. The rest of analyzed values of indicators were not characterized by a normal distribution. The results are consistent with the results presented by [16].



Fig. 3. The standard deviation of income dynamics ratio



Fig. 4. The standard deviation of gross margin ratio

## 3.2 The Correlation Among Chosen Indicators

In turn, the correlation between variables determines which variables possess similar information capacity<sup>3</sup>. The higher correlation among variables the more similar information they possess. Table 2 presents only correlation higher than 0.5 [12] among the analyzed indicators in each year as well as mean in the period of 2015–2006.

By analyzing the above Table 2, it can be concluded that the relationship among variables was varied, for example, income dynamics ratio was not correlated with other indicators. Although in 2013, 2012 and 2006 there was strong correlation between

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See [14].



Fig. 5. The standard deviation of payables turnover ratio

<b>T</b> 11 1	17 1	G ·	C 1 1 .	• •	1 1 4	
Table L.	Kolmogorov -	Smirnov 1	for bankrupt	companies and	non-bankrunt	companies
I able II	nonnogorov	Summer 1	ioi ounnupu	companies and	non ounnupt	companies.

Ratio	2015	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006
Current liquidity	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes*
	No	Yes	Yes**							
Equity to assets	No	No*								
	Yes	Yes**								
Income dynamics	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes*
	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No**
Gross margin	No	No*								
	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No**
Payables turnover	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	Yes*
	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes**

Legend: \*bankrupt companies, \*\*non-bankrupt companies

income dynamics ratio and gross margin ratio. Generally, there was only one moderate linear relationship between variables namely payables turnover and equity to total assets by analyzing the mean in the research period. Perhaps if one used liabilities turnover ratio instead of payables turnover the correlation between the indicators would be reduced. The difference between the rates is in the denominator. The denominator in the first rate is the cost of product sold and net sales in the second. The liabilities turnover ratio can be considered as useful indicator [26].

Ratios	Current	Equity to	Income	Gross	Payables
	liquidity	assets	dynamics	margin	turnover
Current	1	0.51 (2007)	-0.01	0.04	-0.51 (2008)
liquidity		0.67 (2006)	(Mean)	(Mean)	-0.57(2006)
		0.38 (Mean)			-0.34 (Mean)
Equity to	0.51 (2007)	1	0.06 (Mean)	0.06	-0.60(2014)
assets	0.67 (2006)			(Mean)	-0.64 (2011)
	0.38 (Mean)				-0.52 (2010)
					-0.54 (2009)
					-0.65 (2008)
					-0.58 (Mean)
Income	-0.01	0.06	1	-0.65	-0.57 (2006)
dynamics	(Mean)	(Mean)		(2015)	-0.14 (Mean)
				-0.73	
				(2013)	
				0.72	
				(2006)	
				-0.03	
				(Mean)	
Gross	0.04 (Mean)	0.06	-0.65	1	-0.56 (13)
margin		(Mean)	(2015)		-0.19 (Mean)
			-0.73 (2013)		
			0.72 (2006)		
			-0.03 (Mean)		
Payables	-0.51	-0.60	-0.57	-0.56	1
turnover	(2008)	(2014)	(2006)	(2013)	
	-0.57(2006)	-0.64	-0.14 (Mean)	-0.19	
	-0.34	(2011)		(Mean)	
	(Mean)	-0.52			
		(2010)			
		-0.54			
		(2009)			
		-0.65			
		(2008)			
		-0.92			
		(2006)			
		-0.58			
		(Mean)			

Table 2. The correlation between the chosen indicators within 10 years.

Source: Own work.

# 3.3 The Discriminant Ability of Chosen Ratios

In order to verify the discriminant ability of selected indicators the t-Student test was applied. The test is a commonly used method for evaluating dissimilarities between the means in the two groups (failed and non-failed companies). This test one can assess

Ratio	2015	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006
Current liquidity	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Equity to assets	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Income dynamics	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Gross margin	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Payables turnover	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table 3. The results of the t-Student test for failed businesses and non-failed businesses.

Legend: No – differences between the average of failed and non-failed companies are statistically insignificant; Yes – differences between the average of failed and non-failed companies are statistically significant.

whether the existing difference in means of examined groups is statically significant<sup>4</sup>. The summary results of the test are presented in Tables 3.

Carrying out analysis of the results presented in Table 3, it can be observed that none of analyzed indicators had the stable discriminant ability over last decade. However, the differences between the values of failed and non-failed companies for equity to assets ratio only in 2012 were statistically irrelevant. Based on the research, this indicator is the most stable one in the analyzed period. The result considering the current ratio may be surprising. The discriminant power of this ratio is only in the period of 2010–2006. In the rest of analyzed period this ratio did not have such a power. It is worth noting that the indicator occurs in many predicting corporate bankruptcy models [16].

## 4 Conclusions

The article deals with an important topic that is the stability of variables over time. The stability of indicators was verified based on the standard deviation, the normal distribution, the correlation coefficients as well as the discriminant ability. The analysis of standard deviation and the normal distribution showed that there is serious variation in the values in data set. Most of ratios were not characterized by normal distribution with one exception of equity to assets ratio but only for non-bankrupt companies. In last decade also the correlation coefficients among variables were diverse. However, only two indicators were highly correlated payables turnover and equity to total assets. The results on discriminant ability was shocking because the ability was not stable over time for all analyzed indicators. Concluding the results obtained, it should be said that the indicators were characterized by high variation during the period considered. The next step in the research will be to analyze much more indicators than only the five as well as to assess their predictive and discriminant powers over time.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See [10].

# References

- 1. Altman, E.I.: Financial ratios, discriminant analysis and the prediction of corporate bankruptcy. J. Financ. **23**(4), 589–609 (1968)
- 2. Antonowicz, P.: The analysis of ranges of variability of selected ratios from a group of assets productivity ratios three years before the declaration of bankruptcy by companies in Poland. Bus. Econ. Horiz. **10**(3), 202–213 (2014)
- 3. Beaver, W.H.: Financial ratios as predictors of failure. J. Acc. Res. 4, 71-111 (1966)
- 4. Casey, C.J.: The usefulness of accounting ratios for subjects' predictions of corporate failure: replication and extensions. J. Acc. Res. **18**(2), 603–613 (1980)
- Cowen, S.S., Hoffer, J.A.: Usefulness of financial ratios in a single industry. J. Bus. Res. 10 (1), 103–118 (1982)
- Dambolena, I., Khoury, S.J.: Ratio stability and corporate failure. J. Financ. 35, 1017–1026 (1980)
- Deakin, E.B.: Distributions of financial accounting ratios: some empirical evidence. Acc. Rev. 51(1), 90–96 (1976)
- 8. Hamrol, M., Chodakowski, J.: Forecasting of the financial threat. Predictional value of the Polish models of discrimination analysis. Oper. Res. **3**, 17–32 (2008)
- 9. Johnson, W.B.: The cross-sectional stability of financial patterns. J. Bus. Financ. Acc. 5, 207–214 (1978)
- 10. Jóźwiak, J., Podgórski, J.: Statistics from Scratch. PWE, Warsaw (2012). (in Polish)
- 11. Juszczyk, S., Balina, R.: Predicting the threat of bankruptcy in enterprises of some selected branches. Ekonomista 1, 67–96 (2014)
- 12. Mączyńska, E., Zawadzki, M.: Discriminant analysis models in the prediction of corporate insolvency. Ekonomista 2, 205–234 (2006)
- O'Connor, M.C.: On the usefulness of financial ratios to investors in common stock. Acc. Rev. 48(2), 339–352 (1973)
- 14. Panek, T.: Statistical Methods of Multidimensional Comparative Analysis. SGH, Warsaw (2009). (in Polish)
- 15. Pinches, C.E., Mingo, K.A., Carruthers, J.K.: The stability of financial patterns in industrial organisations. J. Financ. **28**, 389–396 (1973)
- 16. Tomczak, S.: The early warning system. J. Manag. Financ. Sci. 16, 51-74 (2014)
- 17. Tomczak, S.: Comparative analysis of liquidity ratios of bankrupt manufacturing companies. Bus. Econ. Horiz. **10**(3), 151–164 (2014)
- Tomczak, S.: Comparative analysis of the bankrupt companies of the sector of animal slaughtering and processing. Equilib.: Q. J. Econ. Econ. Policy 9(3), 59–86 (2014)
- 19. Tomczak, S.: The analysis of indicators used in the bankruptcy prediction models (in Ukrainian), Buhgalterskij učet, analiz, audit, nalogoobloženie i statistika: istoriâ razvitiâ ot drevnejših civilizacij do naših dnej: materialy I meždunarodnoj naučno-praktičeskoj konferencii, Rostov-na-Donu, 21–22 sentâbrâ 2012. Č. 2/. In: Ucenko, L.N., Gončarova, L.V. (eds.) Rostov-na-Donu Rostovskij gosudarstvennyj ekonomičeskij universitet (2012)
- Tomczak, S., Przybysławski, B., Górski, A.: Comparative analysis of the bankruptcy prediction models. Information systems architecture and technology. In: Wilimowska, Z. (ed.) The Use of IT Models for Organization Management, pp. 157–166. PWr, Wroclaw (2012)
- Tomczak, S., Górski, A.: Indicators used in predicting bankruptcy (in Ukrainian). In: Francevič, F. (ed.) Bankrotstvo predpriâtij: problemy učeta i analiza: monografiâ, Žitomirskij gosudarstvennyj tehnologičeskij universitet, Butynca. Žitomir (2012)

- 22. Tomczak, S., Górski, A.: Influence of economic sector on predictability of financial indicators in discriminant analysis. In: Wilimowska, Z., et al. (eds.) Information Systems Architecture and Technology: Information as the Intangible Assets and Company Value Source. Oficyna Wydawnicza Politechniki Wroclawskiej, Wrocław (2011)
- Tomczak, S., Wilimowska, Z., Górski, A.: The selection of variables in the models for financial condition evaluation. In: Information Systems Architecture and Technology: Proceedings of 36th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2015 – Part IV, vol. 432, pp. 39–49 (2016)
- Tomczak, S., Wilimowska, Z.: Testing the probability distribution of financial ratios. In: Information Systems Architecture and Technology: Proceedings of 36th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2015 – Part IV, vol. 432, pp. 75–84 (2016)
- Wilimowska, Z., Tomczak, S., Wilimowski, M.: Selected methods of risk modelling in management process. In: Information Systems Architecture and Technology: Proceedings of 37th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2016 – Part IV, vol. 524, pp. 3–19 (2017)
- 26. Zięba, M., Tomczak, S., Tomczak, J.: Ensemble boosted trees with random features generation in application to bankruptcy prediction. Expert Syst. Appl. 58, 93–101 (2016)

# Crowdsourcing-Based Open Innovation Processes on the Internet

Małgorzata Dolińska<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Maria Curie-Skłodowska University in Lublin, Maria Curie-Skłodowska Square 5, 20-031, Lublin, Poland m. dolinska@umcs.lublin.pl

Abstract. Using Internet in open and networked innovation processes has transformed people from consumers of products, services to active prosumers (producers and consumers). They take part in creating value, knowledge, innovations in open (web-based) innovation platforms (OPIs) on the Internet, also as participants of crowdsourcing platforms. The purpose of this paper is to propose the model of developing open, networked innovation process thanks to creation of knowledge based relationships (cooperation) among its participants, and to describe application of this model on crowdsourcing platforms on the Internet, also in the economic practice. Using collaborative networks of open communities on crowdsourcing platforms enable companies to learn new values, innovative solutions from the crowd on the Internet. Organizing effective knowledge based cooperation with and among active members of the crowd, and motivating them make easier development of open innovations on crowdsourcing platforms. Companies can successfully innovate by using complementary resources of knowledge, innovative competencies and creative abilities of the crowd during execution of open innovation process activities on crowdsourcing platforms.

Keywords: Open innovation process · Crowdsourcing · Prosumer

## 1 Introduction

Contemporary companies are under pressure to reinvent their business models as company borders are dissolving and the value and innovation creation processes are changing from linear to networked, from closed to open, from centralized to decentralized [4]. In the closed innovation model, internal R&D activities enable the company to produce own new products are bring them to innovation markets by the company itself. Open innovators employ a systematic strategy for motivating the creation and utilization of external sources of knowledge or innovations, such as universities, R&D entities, laboratories, competitors, and engaged consumers, also open innovation platforms (OIPs) on the Internet [6].

OIPs are designed for contribution and collaboration of one or two typologies of members: individuals and companies in open innovations. OIPs can be a means for companies to accelerate the open innovation process [1]. The following types of OIPs are developed on the Internet: crowdsourcing, peer production and open source software platforms.

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology –

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_11

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

The emergence of crowdsourcing platforms is driven by new technology, active users, and the move towards open innovation. The goal for any crowdsourcing platform is to engage a crowd that has both the willingness and capacity to create value, knowledge, innovation solutions [14].

The purpose of the paper is to present the model developing of open and networked innovation process thank to creation of knowledge based relationships (cooperation) among its participants, and to describe application of this model on crowdsourcing platforms on the Internet, also in the economic practice.

This paper presents an idea of developing open and networked innovation process, and characterizes types of OIPs (crowdsourcing, peer production and open source software platforms). It determines assumptions of using crowdsourcing by innovative companies and the role of active members of the crowd (prosumers) and their motivation in creation of innovative solutions on the Internet. The paper presents development of knowledge based relationships between the crowd and partner-companies during execution of activities in open and networked innovation process on crowdsourcing platforms, also on the example of the platforms that are managed efficiently on the Internet.

# 2 Development of Open, Networked Innovation Processes also on the Internet

Open innovation is the use of purposive inflows and outflows of knowledge to accelerate internal innovation of a company [4]. Open innovation is an emerging innovation management model comprised of two dimensions: (1) unbound open innovation, which is the practice of establishing relationships with external organizations or individuals with the purpose of accessing their knowledge and technical, scientific competences for improving internal innovation performance and (2) outbound open innovation, which is the practice of establishing relationships with external organizations with the purpose of commercially exploiting technological knowledge [15]. Contemporary companies evaluate from close (firm-centric) innovations and using internal resources of knowledge towards open innovations that are centered on external resources of knowledge, innovations and development of them in outside networks, also by communities on the Internet.

Innovations are results and knowledge products of innovation processes accomplishment by innovative companies and their external collaborators within the framework of innovation networks, also on the Internet [5]. Implementing open innovation process by a company in practice requires establishing knowledge based relationships (cooperation) with a variety of partners (suppliers, consumers, co-creators of knowledge) and managing complementary, internal and external innovation networks to enable efficient creation, development and application of innovations.

Innovation networks are defined as business network structure within which actors are intensively interacting to develop and implement innovations through adaptation, cooperation and coordination [20]. Such networks aim at improving the effectiveness of innovation performance and at linking firms with different assets and competences together in response to new market opportunities [11]. Firms no longer innovate in

isolation but through a complex set of interactions and knowledge based relationships with external collaborators, also users of OIPs during execution of open innovation processes on the Internet.

In OIPs, stakeholders contribute to and collaborate on ideas, propose new concepts and trends, present innovative solutions, take part in their commercialization to win contests and to answer companies' needs [1]. Innovation networks on the Internet establish users of OIPs (companies or their employees, consumers). They are engaged in execution of one, a few or all the following activities of open innovation process: foresight, generation of new ideas, screening of new concepts, innovation elaboration, testing, application, development, innovation commercialization (promotion, sale), diffusion [1, 18].

External knowledge of the innovative company derives from its partners and/or competitors within the innovation network, and is generated in its environment i.e. the area of their microenvironment (innovation markets) and macroenvironment [7]. Assimilation, diffusion and development of external knowledge, innovative solutions depends on the company's capacities of co-creating effective knowledge based relationships with participants of open innovation processes within the framework of outside innovation networks, also on the Internet. The model of creating knowledge based relationships by the innovative companies with outside collaborators, also participants of OIPs in open and networked innovation process activities is proposed in this paper (see Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Open and networked innovation process Source: own elaboration

The innovative companies may create knowledge based relationships with following partners within external innovation networks:

- companies and their customers and/or suppliers/distributors of knowledge, value, information, innovative solutions, also in OIPs on the Internet,
- R&D institutions, universities, laboratories, clusters, technology and science parks, innovation transfer institutions, consulting firms, innovation sale and/or promotion service firms, associations of innovators.

The following three forms of participation and cooperation in OIPs are developed: crowdsourcing, peer production, and open source software. Crowdsourcing is defined as the act of a company taking a function once performed by employees and outsourcing to an undefined (large) network of people in the form of open call. The process of crowdsourcing is sponsored by an organization that directly manages the crowd. Peer production refers to a new model of socio-economic production where a large number of people is coordinated into large projects without traditional hierarchical organization. Peer production is an organizational innovation along three dimensions: (1) decentralized conception and execution, (2) diverse motivations, including a range of non-monetary motivations, are central, (3) organization (governance and management) is separated from property and contract. Open source software is software that is developed collaboratively by different and independent geographically distant program developers. All three share the notion of openness and the use of the Internet as a collaboration platform [2, 13].

The active role of customers in OIPs is accompanied by evolving global trend of social communities representing innovative abilities and economic possibilities of engaged prosumers (producers and consumers) as executors of open and networked innovation process activities on the Internet.

## 3 Creation of Open Innovations on Crowdsourcing Platforms

Crowdsourcing platform is the initiative of a single company and is used by the company's employees and/or stakeholders. Crowdsourcing is defined as "the act of a company or institution taking a function once performed by employees and outsourcing it to an undefined (and generally large) network of people in the form of an open call. This can take the form of peer-production (when the job is performed collaboratively), but is also often undertaken by sole individuals" [12]. Crowdsourcing is a form of IT-enabled open innovation and as the connection of open and networked innovation processes enable companies to learn and/or to receive innovative solutions from the crowd.

Crowdsourcing-based open innovation model consists of three elements. First, companies building their business upon the crowd need to adopt an open business model. Second, opening up certain processes and resources to external creators can make a significantly greater set of resources available to the company and allows it to share social networks, user-generated content, and mobile connectivity to invite users to participate in value creation activities. Third, these business models transfer value creating activities to crowd members. The co-create value with the platform provider or by interacting with other groups of users, partners [21].

Today, users of crowdsourcing platforms not only contribute ideas and input to product development, but they also share goods, services, space, and money to deliver solutions that traditionally have been performed strictly by the companies themselves [14]. Users of OIPs can be involved in all activities of the innovation process, beginning with the acquisition of weak signals and future needs, continuing up to sharing user experiences and further developing ideas, innovative solutions, and presenting concepts how, when, where use the final products and services [1]. Moderators and/or community managers on crowdsourcing platforms manage and monitor interactions, disputes, knowledge based relationships of their users during accomplishment of open innovation process activities.

Different levels of concreteness during open innovation process activities execution may be analyzed. Open innovation process on crowdsourcing platforms may consists of different activities and each platform may serve one or more, or all of these activities. The platforms offer participants of the crowd the opportunity to resolve the presented challenges, problems and issues, and/or to propose, design and create products, services, and/or innovative technological solutions. Members of the crowd may participate and/or collaborate in execution of the following activities of open innovation process in accordance with the proposed model in this paper: (1) foresight, (2) generation of new ideas, screening of new concepts, (3) innovation elaboration, testing, application, development, (4) innovation commercialization (promotion, sale), diffusion. Description of open innovation process activities, which may be executed on the crowdsourcing platforms is presented in Table 1.

The crowd can intervene at different activities of the innovation process, contributing to idea generation, technical problem solving, product or service design, sale. The contribution of individual consumers to the development of innovative solutions varies strongly. Therefore, the identification and selection of the right customers play a critical role [3, 8].

Only when consumers are qualified and motivated to contribute promising ideas and relevant know-how they are able to add value to a producer's open innovation process [8]. Being motivated means being encouraged to act. The motivations attributable to different people can differ significantly and can be differentiated not only by the degree of motivation required (i.e. how much motivation) but the reasons (i.e. type of motivation) [1].

The literature on crowd motivation suggests that users of crowdsourcing platform can be motivated by [1, 18]:

- extrinsic motivation factors, which are subdivided into economic motivations (include monetary rewards, free final products, services, cash bonuses, price reductions), - individual (growth of professional status, career benefits, personal learning, higher reputation) and - social motivations (establishing relationships with other professionals of the community, for the purpose of knowledge exchange, sharing with others, building social capital),
- intrinsic motivation factors (not monetary rewards), that is individual (opportunity to express individual creativity, sense of membership, enjoyment, fun, entertainment, altruism) and - social (social identity, sense of cooperation, sensible and creative work during collaborative innovation) motivations,

Activity	Of the crowd	Of the company
Foresight	<ul> <li>Learning how to be prepared to face an uncertain markets, create new knowledge</li> <li>Presenting new values, determining new needs, expectations of customers</li> </ul>	- Engaging the crowd in identifying weak signals from macro- and/or microenvironments, anticipating emerging markets, evolution of markets
Generation of new ideas, screening of new concepts	<ul> <li>Generating new ideas, concepts of new products and/or services, submitting them online</li> <li>Users evaluate the design ideas, they comment, discuss, and vote on design ideas, describe opinions, comments on proposed designs, - members of the crowd decide which of the design ideas, concepts seem most suitable for the market</li> </ul>	services
Innovation elaboration, testing, application and development	- Active (co-)creating, developing designs for new products and/or services, collaborating during problem solving, innovation application, development, testing and evaluating innovative solutions (also products and/or services) using proper software	<ul> <li>Developing design ideas of users into new products and/or services and/or technological solutions</li> <li>The company pays only for profitable solutions hence design are cost effective, having large number of testers make possible to test innovative solutions by members of the crowd</li> </ul>
Innovation promotion, sale, diffusion	- Innovation promotion by the crowd usually took place via own community and users' social media channels, participating with the company in sale of innovations via online and/or physical channels, diffusion of innovative solutions	<ul> <li>Connection of innovation (also product, service) design with its viral marketing</li> <li>Cooperation with the crowd acting as a company's promotion sale, diffusion advisor and force</li> <li>Activating and motivating users in profitable selling of innovations</li> </ul>

Table 1. Activities of open, networked innovation process on crowdsourcing platforms

Source: own elaboration

The crowdsourcing platform managers must understand how to motivate the crowd and stimulate users and companies' mutual collaboration, knowledge effective development and using in open innovation process activities.

## 4 Examples of Using Crowdsourcing Platforms

Execution of open innovation process activities and creating knowledge based relations among users on crowdsourcing platforms are presented for the following platforms: LEGO Cuusoo, Dell IdeaStorm and CrowdSpirit.

LEGO is an example of a large and established manufacturing company that successfully implemented crowdsourcing with foreign partner-firm Cuusoo (technology company based in Tokyo). Cuusoo provides IT-enabled crowdsourcing services for such firms as LEGO, Muji, and Nissan.

The LEGO Cuusoo crowdsourcing platform allowed users to submit LEGO-related ideas for crowd evaluation and LEGO's consideration for implementation of product design. Users used actual bricks, software, or any combination to prepare their design ideas before submitting them to LEGO Cuusoo platform. They had various options to interact and to comment, discuss, and vote on design ideas. Receiving support via votes was most crucial on the platform because design ideas were considered by LEGO only when reaching a 10,000-vote threshold. Cuusoo passed all designs that met the vote threshold on to LEGO on a quarterly base [16, 19]. This crowdsourcing solution automatically provided an effective market test of new product design for LEGO.

A LEGO expert panel reviewed the winning ideas and determined which ideas were the best candidates for implementation and sale. The engaged users of Cuusoo crowdsourcing platform would be a product designers, that would be an artwork designer, looking at what the packaging would be and that would be people on the different markets looking at the positioning of the product idea in the US, Europe, and in Asia. And there would be financial control of the LEGO company in looking into the financial aspects of a product implementation and commercialization. Design ideas that survived both the crowd voting and the LEGO review then became part of LEGO's product offerings. LEGO listed the new models in catalogues and sold the models via its online and physical channels [19].

LEGO activates users in actually selling the product. The platform promises to offer both fame and financial gain to an originator of a successful idea approved by the LEGO Review Board. The owner of the idea will receive 1% of the net revenue from that particular model sold but also opportunities to work with professional LEGO designers, who create the final set based on the originator's idea, to be featured in set materials, and to be recognized as the product creator. LEGO aimed to involve users in commercialization the product after launch, moving directly from crowdsourced product design to viral marketing. This form of promotion by the users usually took place via users' social media channels [16]. LEGO crowdsourcing in en example of effective knowledge based cooperation the LEGO company and Cuusoo as its crowdsourcing platform manager with the crowd in accomplishment of open innovation process.

Dell introduced IdeaStorm crowdsourcing platform to its customers in 2007. Within the first five months, IdeaStorm users worldwide submitted over 6,200 ideas to help Dell become a better, more innovative organization. Several hundred of these gained immediate popularity, and Dell initially implemented them. These user ideas covered a wide variety of areas, such as preinstalling the Linux operating system to introducing a new tablet. As of August 2010, over 14,500 ideas with roughly 730,000

votes and almost 90,000 user comments were posted to IdeaStorm, and 417 ideas, approximately 3% of all ideas, were marked as implemented by Dell [9]. Through IdeaStorm, users can submit, vote, and comment on ideas. Users must create a username and account to post their ideas about new innovations. They provide an idea title and description and have the option to classify the idea from over 30 categories (e.g., Linux, Desktops, Sales Strategies). Once posted, other users in the IdeaStorm community are able to promote or demote the idea (vote), signaling whether it should or should not be adopted by Dell. Users are not given a financial incentive for participating, but they can benefit in other ways. Top users are honored on the Top Idea Makers list [10]. Dell and IdeaStorm have received many public acknowledgements from IT news magazines, professional bloggers for effective introducing crowdsourcing platform and adopting a user-driven open innovation process.

CrowdSpirit is a crowdsourcing platform launched in France (Grenoble). Its aim is to apply crowdsourcing to new electronic products development. In the initial CrowdSpirit business model, users submitted ideas for innovative electronic products that they would like to own, the community voted on the ideas, and the best ideas were worked on by a community of designers who developed and drafted the specifications. Following this, investors provided financing, development partners made the prototypes and the manufacturing was done by ad-hoc subcontractors in China. The business model was based on the idea that CrowdSpirit would sell the products designed by the community on the CrowdSpirit website. It became clear, however, that the original model was not viable and CrowdSpirit abandoned it. CrowdSpirit then turned to a more classical innovation intermediary model, whilst continuing with the concept of collective work done by the crowd. The following concept was adopted: the solutions of collective created goods could be negotiated directly by the community leader with a corporate firm (without any transaction fees) and CrowdSpirit would earn revenue on additional services for firms such as the use of the platform for open innovation [3]. CrowdSpirit platform manages R&D activity and its crowd participates in activities from idea generation to the design of new high-tech products development in open innovation process.

The success or failure of crowdsourcing platform is connected with its manager's ability to motivate the crowd to active, engaged participation and knowledge, designs development in open innovation process activities. It is also connected with building relationships with external partners of the platform.

Crowdsourcing relationships with external partners of the platform can take three forms [14]:

- Partnerships to grow and support creative members of the crowd tapping into the user base of partners is a quick way to grow a platform community. Zooppa is building relationships with creative media programs at universities to bring in talented designers and filmmakers. Local Motors partners with established car companies such as BMW to bring in additional revenue and creates opportunities for the crowd to engage in creative problem solving.
- Extend the value of platform particularly in the product platform, collaboration with partners becomes a central source of value creation. Companies pursuing this model actively search for novel ways of working together with customers or

complementors to extend their business. By creating partnerships with device manufacturers, Leap Motion extends the value of their platform.

• Partnerships to grow consumers - integrators partner with distribution channel companies to get the crowd's creation in front of consumers. Arcbazar reported that the first year of their partnership with AngelList (the startup-listing site) accounted for half of their clients.

Companies have much to learn from crowds. They empower members of crowd to leverage their innovative creativity (Zooppa's community creates advertisements for leading brands), share creativity (Threadless's community submits designs), or use their product domain (Innocentives's community tackles these challenges), also differentiate themselves in the marketplace and sustain their competitive edge [14, 17].

## 5 Conclusions

The paper describes using crowdsourcing by innovative companies, creation knowledge and innovations by the crowd, also during cooperation between engaged members of the crowd and partner-companies in open innovation process activities on crowdsourcing platforms. It presents the accomplishment of open and networked innovation process activities on the economic practice on the example of the chosen crowdsourcing platforms.

The creation of collaborative networks of open communities on the Internet plays an important role in effective innovation development on crowdsourcing platforms. By means of collaborations, companies can successfully innovate by sharing complementary resources of knowledge, innovative competencies and creative abilities of the crowd, and learning innovative solutions on crowdsourcing platforms.

# References

- 1. Battistella, C., Nonino, F.: Open innovation web-based platforms: the impact of different forms of motivation on collaboration. Innov. Manag. Policy Pract. **14**(4), 557–575 (2012)
- 2. Benkler, Y.: Peer production and cooperation. In: Bauer, J.M., Latzer, M. (eds.) Handbook on the Economics of the Internet. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham and Northampton (2016)
- Chanal, V., Caron-Fasan, M.L.: The difficulties involved in developing business models open to innovation communities: the case of a crowdsourcing platform. M@n@gement 13 (4), 318–340 (2010)
- 4. Chesbrough, H.: Open Business Models. Harvard Business Press, Boston (2006)
- Dolińska, M.: Otwarte procesy innowacji realizowane w sieci. Ekonomika i Organizacja Przedsiębiorstwa 6(797), 77–88 (2016)
- Dolińska, M.: Open innovation. In: Jaki, A., Mikuła, B. (eds.) Knowledge Economy Society. Managing Organizations: Concepts and Their Applications, pp. 221–228. Cracow University of Economics Press, Cracow (2014)
- Dolińska, M.: Knowledge based development of innovative companies within the framework of innovation networks. Innov.: Manag. Policy Pract. 17(3), 323–340 (2015)

- Füller, J., Matzler, K., Hutter, K., Hautz, J.: Consumers' creative talent: which characteristics quality consumers for open innovation projects? An exploration of asymmetrical effects. Creat. Innovat. Manag. 22(3), 247–261 (2012)
- Garner, R.: Hewlett-Packard Cements Lead over Dell in PC Market (Update2). http://www. bloomberg.com/app.s/news. Accessed 10 May 2017
- di Gangi, P.M., Wasko, M.M., Hooker, R.E.: Getting customers' ideas to work for you: learning from Dell how to succeed with online user innovation communities. MIS Q. Exec. 9 (4), 213–228 (2010)
- 11. Goglio-Primard, K., Crespin-Mazet, F.: Organizing open innovation in networks the role of boundary relations. Int. Manag. (Special Issue) **19**, 135–147 (2015)
- 12. Howe, J.: The rise of crowdsourcing. Wired Mag. 14(6), 1-4 (2006)
- 13. Howe, J.: Crowdsourcing: Why the Power of the Crowd is Driving the Future of Business. Crown Publishing, New York (2008)
- Kohler, T.: Crowdsourcing-based business models: how to create and capture value. Calif. Manag. Rev. 57(4), 63–83 (2015)
- Lichtenthaler, U.: Open innovation: past research, current debates, and future directions. J. Manag. Perspect. 25(2), 75–93 (2011)
- Lego Ideas: a Leading Crowdsourcing Platform in the Toy Industry. https://digit.hbs.org/ submission/lego-ideas-a-leading-crowdsourcing-platform-in-the-toy-industry. Accessed 10 May 2017
- Malhotra, A., Majchrzak, A.: Managing crowds in innovation challenges. Calif. Manag. Rev. 56(4), 103–123 (2014)
- Mladenow, A., Bauer, C., Strauss, C.: Social crowd integration in new product development: crowdsourcing communities nourish the open innovation paradigm. Glob. J. Flex. Syst. Manag. 15(1), 77–86 (2014)
- 19. Schlagwein, D., Bjørn-Andersen, N.: Organizational learning with crowdsourcing: the revelatory case of LEGO. J. Assoc. Inf. Syst. **15**(11), 754–778 (2014)
- Sommersten, E.T., Ramos, C., Corsaro, D., Henneberg, S.: (Re)Organizing for interaction within innovation networks – an exploratory study in the public sector. IMP J. 7(3), 112–128 (2013)
- Zott, C., Amit, R., Massa, L.: The business model: recent developments and future research. J. Manag. 37(4), 1019–1042 (2011)

# Optimization of Mesh-Type Logistic Networks for Achieving Max Service Rate Under Order-Up-To Inventory Policy

Przemysław Ignaciuk<sup>(区)</sup> and Łukasz Wieczorek

Institute of Information Technology, Lodz University of Technology, 215 Wólczańska Street, 90-924 Łódź, Poland przemyslaw.ignaciuk@p.lodz.pl, 201010@edu.p.lodz.pl

**Abstract.** The paper addresses optimization issues in inventory management networks organized in an arbitrary – mesh – topology. The stock at a network node, depleted according to uncertain, external demand and internal transshipments, is replenished with positive lead-time delay from other nodes and exogenous sources. The replenishment process is governed by the order-up-to policy, implemented in a distributed way. The objective is to ensure maximum customer service rate while minimizing the overall holding costs. In order to answer the computational challenges arising from the complexity of system structure a simple heuristic to tune the policy parameters is proposed and evaluated in numerical experiments.

Keywords: Logistic networks · Order-up-to policy · Optimization

## 1 Introduction

In the current literature, the articles concerning the problems of efficient goods distribution in inventory management systems, although already challenging from the analytical and numerical viewpoint, cover relatively simple structures [1-3]. The most common topologies cover:

- single-echelon systems [4, 5], in which external sources are connected directly to the distribution node via a single link;
- serial [6, 7], where all the nodes are linked to each other in sequence;
- tree-like ones [8, 9], wherein the node connections merge to form groups with parallel linkage.

The growth of goods distribution industry demands development of more complex and sophisticated inventory management systems. By using the processing power of modern computers, the design, implementation, and performance optimization of logistic networks is possible. The subject of this work is examination of mesh-type, multi-echelon networks using order-up-to inventory policy to control the stock replenishment process at the nodes. In this policy, the key factor behind the optimal network performance is proper selection of the reference stock level (reorder point) at the nodes.

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_12

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

For a specific sequence of demands imposed on the nodes, a numerical study may be conducted to determine the reference levels. However, this operation requires use of sophisticated numerical tools (due to intricate interdependencies in the networked construct), which may not be immediately available to the industry practitioners. It is therefore advisable to formulate rules for the reference level selection that would not require advanced computing mechanisms. For that purpose, in this work, an easily implementable heuristic is proposed. The presented tuning rule allows one to obtain maximum service rate, as verified in extensive simulation study for different network sizes and topologies and using various numerical algorithms, yet with much relieved computational effort as compared to the simulation-based optimization.

## 2 System Setting

#### 2.1 Entities in Logistic Processes

The goods distribution in the considered class of systems takes place in a network of logistic nodes (stores, retailers, etc.). Each node has finite warehouse space allocated for goods storage. The node interconnections form a mesh topology. Each connection is characterized by two attributes: delivery delay time (DTT) which represents the time since an order for goods acquisition is placed until the goods appear at the issuer and supplier fraction (SF) that reflects the percentage of goods quantity to be retrieved from a particular supply source chosen by the ordering node. By assumption, the network is connected - there are no isolated nodes without linkage to any other node or to an external supplier. Apart from the initial reservoir at the nodes, the goods in the network are provided by the external suppliers. They feed the network with a certain DTT. The fact that the network is connected ensures that there exists a finite path between each network node in and at least one external source. The system driving factor is the external (customer) demand imposed on the nodes. The demand can be placed at any node and its future value is not known at the moment of issuing an order. The business objective is to satisfy the entire external demand, which excludes the customer disappointment due to unfulfilled requests and ensures a 100% service level, at the same time avoid unnecessary increase of operational costs. Thus, the optimization purpose is to obtain the full service level at the lowest possible cost of goods storage at the nodes, i.e., minimizing the total network holding cost (HC).

The logistic network under consideration consist of *N* nodes  $n_i$ , where index  $i \in \Theta_N = \{1, ..., N\}$ , and *M* external sources  $m_j$ ,  $j \in \Theta_M = \{1, ..., M\}$ . All the entity indices are included in the set  $\Theta = \{1, ..., N + M\}$ . Let  $l_i(t)$  and  $d_i(t)$  denote, respectively, the on-hand stock level (the amount of goods already stored) and the external demand imposed on node *i* in period *t*, t = 0, 1, 2, ... An example of such mesh-topology network is shown in Fig. 3. The network does not contain any separated nodes, neither nodes that would supply the stock for themselves. There also exists a finite path between each internal node in the network and at least one external source. Each connection between nodes *i* and *j* is directed (not bilateral) and characterized by two attributes  $(\alpha_{ij}, \gamma_{ij})$ , where:

- $\alpha_{ij}$  SF between entities *i* and *j*,  $\alpha_{ij} \in [0, 1]$ ;
- $\gamma_{ij}$  delivery delay time at the connection between entities *i* and *j*,  $\gamma_{ij} \in [1, \Gamma]$ , with  $\Gamma$  the maximum delay between any two linked entities.

#### 2.2 Entity Interaction

The operation sequence at a given network node in each period is illustrated in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Node operational sequence.

For the sake of compactness only major aspects are treated here. The derivation details for a similar model are given in [10]. Let us introduce the following notation:

- $\Omega_i^S(t)$  amount of goods sent by node *i* in period *t*,
- $\Omega_i^R(t)$  amount of goods received by node *i* in period *t*.

The stock level dynamics at node i can then be expressed by

$$l_i(t+1) = \left(l_i(t) + \Omega_i^R(t) - d_i(t)\right)^+ - \Omega_i^S(t),$$
(1)

where  $(f)^+$  is the saturation function  $(f)^+ = \max\{f, 0\}$ . Representing  $s_i(t)$  – the satisfied external demand at node *i* in period t – by

$$s_i(t) = \min\{l_i(t) + \Omega_i^R(t), d_i(t)\},\tag{2}$$

formula (1) may be transformed into

$$l_i(t+1) = l_i(t) + \Omega_i^R(t) - s_i(t) - \Omega_i^S(t).$$
(3)

Denoting by  $o_i(t)$  the total quantity of goods to be ordered by node *i* in period *t*, both from the external sources as well as other cooperating nodes in the network, the goods quantity sent by node *i*,

$$\Omega_i^{\mathcal{S}}(t) = \sum_{j \in \Theta_N} \alpha_{ij}(t) o_j(t).$$
(4)

In turn, the amount of goods acquired by node *i* in period *t* may be calculated as

$$\Omega_i^R(t) = \sum_{j \in \Theta} \alpha_{ji}(t - \gamma_{ji}) o_i(t - \gamma_{ji}).$$
(5)

The nodes attempt to answer both the external and internal demand. In case of insufficient stock level to fulfill the requests, the fraction of total quantity is reduced accordingly, yet

$$\forall 0 \le \sum_{j \in \Theta} \alpha_{ji}(t) \le 1.$$
(6)

When a node receives a request from another node in the network and is able to fulfill it, then  $\alpha_{ij}(t) = \alpha_{ij}$ . Otherwise,  $\alpha_{ij}(t) < \alpha_{ij}$ . The external sources are assumed to have an infinite reservoir of goods, and thus they are able to satisfy every order originating from the network.

#### 2.3 State-Space Model

For the purpose of convenience of further study, a state-space model of the considered logistic network will be introduced. The dynamic dependencies are grouped into

$$\vec{l}(t+1) = \vec{l}(t) + \sum_{\gamma=1}^{\Gamma} M_{\gamma}(t-\gamma)\vec{o}(t-\gamma) + M_{\theta}(t)\vec{o}(t) - \vec{s}(t),$$
(7)

where the applied symbols denote:

•  $\vec{l}(t)$  – vector of stock levels (system state)

$$\vec{l}(t) = [l_1(t), l_2(t), \dots, l_N(t)]^T,$$
(8)

•  $\vec{o}(t)$  – vector of stock replenishment orders

$$\vec{o}(t) = [o_1(t), o_2(t), \dots, o_N(t)]^T,$$
(9)

•  $\vec{s}(t)$  – vector of satisfied (external) demands

$$\vec{s}(t) = [s_1(t), s_2(t), \dots, s_N(t)]^T,$$
 (10)

•  $M_{\gamma}(t)$  – matrices specifying the node interconnections; for each  $\gamma \in [1, \Gamma]$ ,

$$\boldsymbol{M}_{\gamma}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{i:\Gamma_{i1}=\gamma} \alpha_{i1}(t) & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ 0 & \sum_{i:\Gamma_{i2}=\gamma} \alpha_{i2}(t) & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \sum_{i:\Gamma_{i3}=\gamma} \alpha_{i3}(t) & \cdots & 0\\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & \sum_{i:\Gamma_{iN}=\gamma} \alpha_{iN}(t) \end{bmatrix}, \quad (11)$$

•  $M_0(t)$  – matrix describing stock depletion due to the internal shipments

$$\boldsymbol{M}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}(t) = - \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \alpha_{12}(t) & \alpha_{13}(t) & \cdots & \alpha_{1N}(t) \\ \alpha_{21}(t) & 0 & \alpha_{23}(t) & \cdots & \alpha_{2N}(t) \\ \alpha_{31}(t) & \alpha_{32}(t) & 0 & \cdots & \alpha_{3N}(t) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \alpha_{N1}(t) & \alpha_{N2}(t) & \alpha_{N3}(t) & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (12)

#### 2.4 Order-Up-To Inventory Policy

One of the popular stock replenishment policies applied in logistic systems is the order-up-to (OUT) inventory policy. It attempts to keep the current stock at a predefined – reference – level. A new order is issued by the node if the sum of the on-hand stock and goods quantity in the pending replenishment orders is below the reference level. The reference level should be chosen so as to maintain constant readiness to satisfy the external demand, yet avoid excessive goods accumulation. Figure 2 illustrates the operational sequence of the OUT policy.



Fig. 2. Order-up-to policy operational sequence.

From the technical perspective, the network optimization procedures discussed in a latter part of this work provide guidelines for the reference stock level selection under

uncertain demand, i.e., the demand that is not known exactly while issuing the replenishment orders. According to [10] and [11], for the OUT policy implemented classically in a fully distributed way, the quantity of the replenishment order placed by node i in period t may be calculated as

$$o_i(t) = l_i^r - l_i(t) - \Phi_i(t),$$
(13)

where:

- $l_i^r$  the reference stock level set at node  $i, i \in [1, N]$ ,
- $\dot{\Phi}_i(t)$  the quantity of goods in the pending orders issued by node *i*.

For convenience of further discussion in the context of distributed implementation of policy (13) the order quantity computation is summarized into a vector form

$$\overrightarrow{\boldsymbol{o}}(t) = \overrightarrow{\boldsymbol{l}} - \overrightarrow{\boldsymbol{l}}(t) - \sum_{k=1}^{\Gamma} \sum_{\gamma=t-k}^{t-1} \boldsymbol{M}_{\boldsymbol{i}}(\gamma) \overrightarrow{\boldsymbol{o}}(\gamma), \qquad (14)$$

where  $l^r$  denotes the vector of reference stock levels.

According to the assumed objectives, the logistic network should retain a high service level. It will be quantified through the fill rate, i.e., the percentage of satisfaction of the external customer demand imposed on the nodes. The optimization objective is to indicate such reference level for each node so as to preserve the lowest holding cost while keeping a 100% fill rate. As initial approximation, using only the knowledge about the highest expected demand in the system  $d_{max}$ , the 100% fill rate (for arbitrary demand pattern) can be obtained if the reference stock level is selected according to the following inequality [10]

$$\vec{l'} > \left( I_N + \sum_{\gamma=1}^{\Gamma} \gamma M_{\gamma} \right) M^{-1} \vec{d}_{\max}, \qquad (15)$$

where  $I_N$  is an identity matrix of size  $N \times N$ .

However, if the average demand differs significantly from the maximum value, inequality (15) overestimates the safety stock thus leading to increased holding costs. In such circumstances, it is reasonable to apply another formula, incorporating the fundamental statistical parameters of demand – mean and standard deviation. Inspired by the classical inventory theory applied previously to simpler, single-echelon constructs [11], in this work, it is proposed to assign the reference stock level for the networked, multi-echelon system according to

$$\vec{I}' = \left(I_N + \sum_{\gamma=1}^{\Gamma} \gamma M_{\gamma}\right) M^{-1} \vec{d}, \qquad (16)$$

where

$$\vec{d} = \vec{d}_{mean} + D_C \vec{d}_{sd} \tag{17}$$

with

- $\vec{d}_{mean}$  vector of demand mean values,
- $\vec{d}_{sd}$  vector of demand standard deviations,
- $D_C$  safety factor,

$$D_{C} = diag\{D_{C_{1}}, D_{C_{2}}, \dots, D_{C_{N}}\}.$$
(18)

The safety factor allows for determining the safety stock, i.e., the stock level needed to cover all the customer demands [11]. It grows rapidly with increasing the service level to be attained. Based on the numerous simulations performed for various network topologies and system parameters, a dependence between the safety factor and demand standard deviation has been established to follow

$$\boldsymbol{D}_{\boldsymbol{C}} = \boldsymbol{\mu} \boldsymbol{\vec{d}}_{sd}.$$
 (19)

Table 1 shows the number of topologies with maximum fill rate and associated cost increase with respect to the optimal solution for different  $\mu$ .

μ	% of topologies with max fill rate	Holding cost increase
0.04	1%	1.37–1.53
0.05	13%	1.51–1.87
0.06	43%	1.55-2.30
0.07	68%	1.92-2.67
0.08	84%	1.99–3.10
0.09	92%	2.65-3.44
0.10	96%	2.73-3.75
0.11	97%	2.96-4.24
0.12	99%	3.30-4.74
0.13	100%	3.55-5.03

Table 1. Effect of  $\mu$  on holding cost.

In the examined scenarios, the value of  $\mu$  falls in the range [0.04, 0.13] with  $\mu = 0.09$  covering more than 92% of the cases when the 100% fill rate was achieved with minimum holding costs.

## 3 Numerical Study

For the purpose of conducting a thorough numerical investigation of heuristic (16), a specialized, MATLAB®-based application was created. The simulations for different topologies and systems settings involved exhaustive search (fundamental topologies) and an evolutionary method – random mutation hill climbing algorithm [12] (more complex configurations).

One of the considered topologies is depicted in Fig. 3. It encompasses three external sources (M = 3) and six internal nodes (N = 6). The external demand, imposed on each node, has been generated using Gamma distribution with *shape parameter* = 5 and *scale parameter* = 10.



Fig. 3. Logistic network scheme.

The summary of heuristically determined reference stock levels vs. those obtained from the optimization process for the safety factor  $\mu = 0.06$  is given in Table 2. It indicates that the RSLs of controlled nodes connected directly to external sources have been overstated. The proposed value of safety factor is better suited for the nodes that process smaller distribution of goods. It follows that the longer the path from the node to external sources, the bigger  $\mu$  should be applied. Figures 4 and 5 display the corresponding stock evolution at the nodes. Both the heuristic and simulation-based approaches result in the maximum service rate. Although the stock level is close to the horizontal axis, the heuristic tends to overestimate the safety stock. Figure 4 illustrates that the stock level at the nodes which are closer to external sources may be too high. The readiness to fully satisfy customer demand and internal replenishment requests from other nodes is ensured, yet with some redundancy. Taking a single value of the safety factor for the entire network may be justified in the situations of balanced node localization and should serve as first approximation. In case of large structural differences in various network fragments  $\mu$  should be adjusted separately for each node.

Node	Heuristic RSL [units]	Optimal RSL [units]	Ratio
$n_1$	1100	885	1.24
$n_2$	913	753	1.21
<i>n</i> <sub>3</sub>	2187	1653	1.32
$n_4$	1583	1398	1.13
$n_5$	1350	1182	1.11
$n_6$	839	779	1.08

 Table 2. Results of reference stock level (RSL) calculations.



Fig. 4. Stock level at the nodes in heuristic approach.



Fig. 5. Stock level at the nodes for optimal reference level selection.

# 4 Conclusions

The paper explores the use of order-up-to inventory policy for goods distribution in mesh-type logistic networks. The optimization objective is to reduce the overall system holding cost while ensuring full customer satisfaction. For that purpose, the key point is adjusting the reference stock level. In the paper, a heuristic selection rule which depends solely on basic demand statistical parameters – mean and standard deviation – is proposed. The tests executed for different network topologies, sizes, and structural parameters show that the presented approach allows one to achieve reasonable network

performance without recurring to sophisticated numerical tools. Although straightforward to apply, the heuristic would need further adjustment in case of networks with disparate architecture to mitigate the holding cost increase.

## References

- Sarimveis, H., Patrinos, P., Tarantilis, C.D., Kiranoudis, C.T.: Dynamic modeling and control of supply chain systems: a review. Comput. Oper. Res. 35(11), 3530–3561 (2008)
- Fahimnia, B., Farahani, R.Z., Marian, R., Luong, L.: A review and critique on integrated production-distribution planning models and techniques. J. Manuf. Syst. 32(1), 1–19 (2013)
- Janssen, L., Claus, T., Sauer, J.: Literature review of deteriorating inventory models by key topics from 2012 to 2015. Int. J. Prod. Econ. 182, 86–112 (2016)
- Hoberg, K., Bradley, J.R., Thonemann, U.W.: Analyzing the effect of the inventory policy on order and inventory variability with linear control theory. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 176(3), 1620–1642 (2007)
- Ignaciuk, P., Bartoszewicz, A.: Linear-quadratic optimal control of periodic-review perishable inventory systems. IEEE Trans. Control Syst. Technol. 20(5), 1400–1407 (2012)
- Boccadoro, M., Martinelli, F., Valigi, P.: Supply chain management by H-infinity control. IEEE Trans. Autom. Sci. Eng. 5(4), 703–707 (2008)
- 7. Movahed, K.K., Zhang, Z.-H.: Robust design of (s, S) inventory policy parameters in supply chains with demand and lead time uncertainties. Int. J. Syst. Sci. **46**(12), 2258–2268 (2015)
- Ignaciuk, P.: Nonlinear inventory control with discrete sliding modes in systems with uncertain delay. IEEE Trans. Industr. Inf. 10(1), 559–568 (2014)
- Kim, C.O., Jun, J., Baek, J.K., Smith, R.L., Kim, Y.D.: Adaptive inventory control models for supply chain management. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 26(9–10), 1184–1192 (2005)
- Ignaciuk, P.: State-space modeling and analysis of order-up-to goods distribution networks with variable demand and positive lead time. In: Information Systems Architecture and Technology: Proceedings of 37th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2016 – Part IV, pp. 55–65 (2017)
- 11. Axsäter, S.: Inventory Control. Springer International Publishing, Heidelberg (2015)
- 12. Simon, D.: Evolutionary Optimization Algorithms. Wiley, Hoboken (2013)
# **Dimensions of Business Ecosystem Efficiency**

Aldona Małgorzata Dereń<sup>1(⊠)</sup>, Arkadiusz Górski<sup>2</sup>, Agnieszka Parkitna<sup>1</sup>, and Jan Skonieczny<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Management Infrastructure Department, Faculty of Computer Science and Management, Wrocław University of Technology, Wrocław, Poland {Aldona. Deren, Agnieszka. Prkitna, Jan. Skonieczny}@pwr.edu.pl <sup>2</sup> Systems Management Department, Faculty of Computer Science and Management, Wrocław University of Technology, Wrocław, Poland Arkadiusz. Gorski@pwr.edu.pl

**Abstract.** The research paper refers to the complexity of the business ecosystem's efficiency by attempting to describe the dimensions of organizational efficiency of the business ecosystem. The paper presents a business ecosystem as a set of organizations that interact with one another by creating various correlations and relationships of a symbiotic character - from competing to cooperative. Eight models of measurement of organizational efficiency were identified and systematized following the subject literature. Their analysis and own research allowed the authors to point out another model of measuring the efficiency of business ecosystems, which was named relational.

Keywords: Determinant · Efficiency · Business ecosystem

### 1 Introduction

Ecosystem is a concept from ecology that has been borrowed to describe the dynamic relations between a given organization and other organizations functioning in its business environment. Traditionally, the organization has been perceived as an element of a sector or industry that attempts to adopt trends and phenomena in its environment by analyzing and studying them. Failure to adapt to these changes signifies the organization's crisis, which in extreme cases may lead to its collapse. However, the understanding of an organization as an active entity in the ecosystem shows other possibilities for the organization's functioning. The organization not only adapts to changes in the environment, but actively shapes them. Depending on its role and position in the ecosystem, the organization shapes it independently or together with other ecosystem's participants.

"Ecosystem" conveys the idea that all the pieces of an economy come together in particular places, and that their strength and interactions determine prosperity and economic growth.<sup>1</sup> That you prosper only because you're surrounded by lots of

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> e Business Ecosystem, Rosabeth Moss Kanter, "Can America Compete?" September–October 2012, Harward Magazine, http://harvardmagazine.com/2012/09/the-business-ecosystem, 2.02.2017.

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

resources that make it possible to succeed, beyond what your own entity controls. I developed the idea associated with this transition from the industrial to the digital in World Class: competitive communities had to reach the highest standards in the world because your customers and employers now knew what the highest standards were, and didn't necessarily need you to access them—they could go even outside their country. Those developments pointed to networks and larger systems—what cities and regions and small businesses needed to do to remain prosperous (See footnote 1). The concept of ecosystem is derived from a Greek words oíkos and sýstēma, i.e. "the environment of connections" and is a complex ecological system that creates conditions for living organisms, inhabited by a group of species related to one another (PWN Encyclopaedia, 2015). This concept, essentially related to the biological environment, in a different configuration, is transferred to the business environment. In the business environment, one may discuss relations, connections and interactions between various entities that create an environment of economic activity where the organization plays a leading role.

Economic organizations are evaluated from the perspective of their efficiency. The organisation's efficiency refers to all positive results coming from a given organization's activities and do not necessarily have to be intentional (Baker and Stabryla 1989, pp. 178–179). The concept of organizational efficiency may and should be also referred to a collection of many organizations occurring in various forms including the business ecosystem. It can be stated that the efficiency of the business ecosystem is a condition for its survival. It combines a targeted approach (creativity, productivity, loyalty, employee satisfaction, as well as willingness and ability to adapt to changes) and systemic (the ability of the business unit to use resources coming from the environment while minimizing risk; on the other hand, the ability to maximize the use of available resources in the context of the long-term ability to maximize the company's income), which is referred to as a multicriterial approach.<sup>2</sup>

The purpose of this paper is to analyze factors influencing the efficiency of business ecosystem. Starting from the review of literature on organizational effectiveness models and the factors of its measurement, and ending with the authors' classification of dimensions of ecosystem efficiency including a proposal for one of them.

### 2 The Concept of Business Ecosystem

The concept of the business ecosystem was introduced by Moore in 1993 with the description: "An economic community supported by a foundation of interacting organizations and individuals - the organisms of the business world. This economic community produces goods and services of value to customers, who are themselves members of the ecosystem. The member organizations also include suppliers, lead producers, competitors, and other stakeholders. Over time, they coevolve their capabilities and roles, and tend to align themselves with the directions set by one or more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Skrzypek E. Jakość i efektywność, Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Marii Curie-Skłodowskiej, Lublin, 2000, Str. 192–193.

central companies. Those companies holding leadership roles may change over time, but the function of ecosystem leader is valued by the community because it enables members to move toward shared visions to align their investments and to find mutually supportive roles." Business ecosystems are analogous with biological ecosystems. Moore (1996)<sup>3</sup> uses biological metaphors. Moore's model is actually an attempt to replace the static environment with a dynamic business ecosystem. In the presented model a central role is held by an organization expanding its perception and impact on the environment across new areas (layers), starting from the key business, through the extended business, to the business ecosystem. The business ecosystem is another layer of business (competitors, stakeholders, government agencies, regulators) to be discovered and explored, as well as build new relationships based on cooperation.

Similarly, Iansiti and Levien (2004a)<sup>4</sup> use congruencies between biological and business ecosystems, but emphasise that analogies between these ecosystems can be dangerous and one should be careful when using them. In fact, they point out critical differences between the ecosystems, for example, innovation, competition for members and intelligent actors (e.g. planning, forethought), to differ from its descendant biological ancestor. However, despite of the susceptibility to risk in the term "business ecosystem" it fits well in the scope of this thesis and accentuates the varieties and possibilities of different interactions of business activities. In addition, the ecosystem analogy borrows viewpoints for understanding the challenges and opportunities in business ecosystems and inspires the seeking of them.

Thus, this thesis uses Iansiti and Levien's (2004b)<sup>5</sup> definition of business ecosystem. They define business ecosystems through interconnected business networks: "these loose networks - of suppliers, distributors, outsourcing firms, makers of related products or services, technology providers, and a host of other organizations - affect, and are affected by, the creation and delivery of a company's own offerings"<sup>6</sup>.

Where a business ecosystem is described as "like an individual species in a biological ecosystem, each member of a business ecosystem ultimately shares the fate of the network as a whole, regardless of that member's apparent strength.". An interesting perspective on the evolution of the ecosystems is co-evolution; where ecosystem member organisations or parts of the ecosystem evolve in alignment. An example of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Moore, J.F. (1993). Predators and Prey, A New Ecology of Competition. Harvard Business Review, May–June 1993.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Iansiti, Marco and Levien, Roy (2004a). The Keystone Advantage: What the New Dynamics of Business Ecosystems Mean for Strategy, Innovation, and Sustainability. Harward Business School Press, 2004, MA ISBN 1-59139-307-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Iansiti, Marco and Levien, Roy (2004b). Creating Value in Your Business Ecosystem. Harvard Business Review, March 2004.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Marko Karhiniemi, Creating and Sustaining Successful Business Ecosystems, Information Systems Science Master's thesis, Department of Business Technology HELSINGIN KAUPPAKORKEA-KOULU HELSINKI SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS, 2009.

co-evolution is a Digital Ecosystem and a Business Ecosystem evolution, which Moore (2003)<sup>7</sup> introduces as the Digital Business Ecosystem (DBE).<sup>8</sup>

Digital business ecosystem is a European Union funded environment, which provides a structure, where software coded by European SMEs can act like organisms in an ecosystem. The main goal is to enhance possibilities of SMEs to compete with larger software houses.<sup>9</sup> Nachira proclaims that it produces an extraordinary competitive advantage for a region if small organisations within it adopt digital business ecosystem early (Nachira 2002, 21)<sup>10</sup> There is evidence that if you make the connections between knowledge creators and businesses tighter, you can increase success.<sup>11</sup>

The current perception of the business ecosystem is much broader because the ecosystem is perceived not in terms of layers, but in terms of networks, where an organization, key business and extended business are the components of this ecosystem. Contemporary business ecosystems are multidisciplinary, multifunctional multirelational networks that interact with one another. Such a perception of the business ecosystem is closest to the traditional concept of the natural ecosystem. The structure of the business ecosystem is arranged as a network of organizations whose activity is concentrated on coordinating jointly undertaken actions for the relationship of goals. This structure consists of:

(Boulding 1956)

- points (junctions, vertices) meaning organizations;
- connections (ties, relationships, interrelations) between points, i.e. organizations, characterized by varying intensity (weak and strong ties) and different degrees of formalisation (formal and informal ties).

The structure of the business ecosystem understood in this way can be the subject of determining levels, dimensions and efficiency evaluation. In the case of business ecosystem, at least two levels of efficiency can be discussed:

- the junctions' efficiency (single organizations),
- the efficiency of the whole structure of the business ecosystem, which consists of the sum of the individual organizations' efficiency and their mutual relations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Moore, J.F. (2003). Digital Business Ecosystems in Developing Countries: An Introduction Berkman Center for Internet and Society, Harvard Law School.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Marko Karhiniemi, Creating and Sustaining Successful Business Ecosystems, Information Systems Science Master's thesis, Department of Business Technology HELSINGIN KAUPPAKORKEA-KOULU HELSINKI SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS, 2009. pp. 5–7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> M Peltoniemi, E Vuori, Business ecosystem as the new approach to complex adaptive business environments Proceedings of eBusiness research forum 18, pp. 267–281.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Nachira, F. 2002. Towards a Network of Digital Business Ecosystems Fostering the Local Development. European Commission Discussion Paper. Bruxelles. 23 p. http://www. digitalecosystem.org/html/repository/dbe\_discussionpaper.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The Business Ecosystem, Rosabeth Moss Kanter, "Can America Compete?" September–October 2012, Harward Magazine, http://harvardmagazine.com/2012/09/the-business-ecosystem, 2.02.2017.

Considering the fact that business ecosystems do not have a homogeneous structure other intermediate levels of efficiency, understood as the sum of the results and attributes of all participating ecosystems, can be distinguished.

# 3 Determinants of the Business Ecosystem Efficiency

The constantly changing environment, the pursuit of development and the competitiveness prompt us to consider the determinants of the ecosystem's efficiency. The leading factors affecting both the business unit and the business ecosystem are the mechanisms and conditions occurring in the environment as well as internal factors:<sup>12</sup>

- external factors:
  - (1) international environment, e.g. globalization of the economy, situation on the world markets, economic situation, market liberalization, free movement of capital, goods and services, etc.
  - (2) national environment, e.g. the state policy, level of economic growth, innovativeness of the economy, legal regulations resulting from the state decisions,
  - (3) sectoral environment, determinants of activity in the sector or industry,
  - (4) local environment, determinants of activity one the local market,
- internal factors competitive potential that depends on the company, organization, ecosystem as well as their internal:
  - (1) material resources,
  - (2) intangible assets,
  - (3) the efficiency of management,
  - (4) business relationships and arrangements,
  - (5) product competitiveness,
  - (6) the ongoing activities and processes,

Apart from the determinants of development there are also many barriers that prevent it:  $^{13}$ 

- legal barriers, i.e. complex procedures, lack of proper protection of personal interests such as trademark, ambiguity and ignorance of regulations;
- economic barriers, including: government policy, the scarce availability of financial services, high costs of bank loans;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Mitek Anna, Miciuła Ireneusz, Współczesne determinanty rozwoju przedsiębiorstwa prywatnych, WNEiZ nr 28, pobrane 20.03.2016. Mitek A., Miciuła I., Współczesne determinanty rozwoju przedsiębiorstwa prywatnych, WNEiZ nr 28, pobrane 20.03.2016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Krajewski K., Determinanty rozwoju małych i średnich przedsiębiorstw, Warszawa, 1999, [w:] Miłek Anna, Miciuła Ireneusz, Współczesne determinanty rozwoju przedsiębiorstw prywatnych, pobrane 07.01.2016.

- management barriers, ignorance of innovative management techniques, lack of learning abilities, incompetent use of information from the environment;
- personnel barriers, such as high employee rotation and low level of the employee's skills;
- educational barriers, i.e. lack of competencies in internet use and limited access to business information;
- social barriers, low culture of the business unit and lack of acceptance of the social stratum.

In the process of pursuing efficiency one need to involve factors that have a significant impact on the success of the entire business ecosystem. Certainly, the efficiency of the enterprises in the business ecosystem is an issue that is a prerequisite for the efficient and proper functioning of the economy, because it is a single economic entity that creates a real national income. The key to success is shaping appropriate relationships, cooperation that secure the development of the ecosystem in the long run. The assessment of the ecosystem is concentrated on several key elements, including species (ecosystem components), relations between species (ecosystem network), results - achievements (ecosystem condition), dynamics (ecosystem evolution) as well as enterprises' strategies and behaviours (the role of each component in the ecosystem). What is most important in the assessment is the condition of the ecosystem understood in the following categories:<sup>14</sup>

- Values creating niche,
- Efficiency critical mass,
- Effectiveness continuous improvement of the performance system,
- Economical co-evolution or otherwise co-learning and optimization effects.

An ecosystem is a form of cooperation in which companies merge their individual offers into homogeneous solutions of significant value to the client. The benefits are obtained both from the competition and cooperation with other organizations - the phenomenon of coevolution. A well-functioning ecosystem is characterized by good condition, enabling organizations to create values they would not otherwise be able to generate alone. Furthermore, the ecosystem is not stable, being a subject to continuous evolution processes. This evolution consists in matching between the organization and its specific ecosystem, which eventually is a selection system that determines whether the organization will survive. Ecosystems are objects that emerge, which in turn explains the theory of emerging. Emerging of the business ecosystem involves continuous reshaping, i.e. transformation of the population in the ecosystem or transformation of the ecosystem form. Reshaping is characterized by acceleration, qualitative-economic, technological and social novelties.<sup>15</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Stańczyk-Hugiert E.I., Dynamika srategiczna w ujęciu ewolucyjnym, Wydawnictwo UE we Wrocławiu, 2013, s. 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Stańczyk-Hugiert E.I., Dynamika srategiczna w ujęciu ewolucyjnym, Wydawnictwo UE we Wrocławiu, 2013, s. 42–43.

### 4 The Models of Business Ecosystem's Efficiency

The analysis of literature allowed the authors to identify and systematize eight leading models of organization's efficiency, which can be used to describe the efficiency of business ecosystems (according to Boulding's systems hierarchy). The following efficiency models were identified and described along with the evaluation criteria: target-oriented, system, of internal processes, of interpersonal relations, of competing values, of interest groups, of ability to acquire resources, of social justice.<sup>16</sup>

In a target-oriented model, the efficiency of an organization is related to outlining the vision and setting up the targets, as well as creating the conditions for their effective implementation. The determinants of evaluation are the following: rationalization of the targets, target orientation, maximization of production, minimization of costs, technology improvement, the optimal use of resources, specialization, division of labour, competitiveness, productivity, survival, return on investment.

The system model implies the balance of organizations participating in the ecosystem and the balance of the whole ecosystem with its environment. This balance is supposed to guarantee the survival (viability) of the organization in the ecosystem and the ecosystem in the market environment. During the evaluation the attention is drawn to changes in the environment, flexibility, adaptability, alignment of the organization to the environment, errors in differentiation and integration, responsiveness to changes in the environment, adaptation to external conditions, as well as management style.

The model of internal processes refers to the efficiency of the processes implementation. It underlines unity and unified management of the entire ecosystem, the order, social and technical match for internal processes within the ecosystem, efficient information processing, the internal cohesion and open communication. In this case, emphasis is placed on the proper management of information, work processes, projects and coordination of undertaken actions.

In the model of interpersonal relations efficiency is perceived as providing the appropriate interpersonal relationships in the organization, taking into account the individual needs of employees. It assumes that there is a group of factors that are more important to employees than technology and working conditions. These include: relationships between employees, their interactions, team spirit, teamwork, loyalty, open-mindness, employee satisfaction and a good atmosphere conducive to effective work. The determinants of evaluation should also include low rotation of employees, productivity resulting from job satisfaction, loyalty, openness, as well as productivity being a result of employee engagement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Źródło: opracowanie własne na podstawie: M. Bratnicki, M. Kulikowska-Pawlak, Uwarunkowania pomiaru efektywności organizacji, Zarządzanie i Finanse, 2013, vol. 4, s. 53–66; H.R. Greve, Positional rigidity: Low performance and resource acquisition in large and small firms, "Strategic Management Journal", 2011, nr 32; Keeley M. (1978), A social justice approach to organisational effectiveness, "Administrative Science Quarterly", nr 22, K.S. Cameron, R.E. Quinn, Kultura organizacyjna – diagnoza i zmiana. Model wartości konkurujących, Oficyna Ekonomiczna, Kraków 2003, s. 36–41; K. Kostro, Koncepcja sprawiedliwości F. A. von Hayeka, [w:] Efektywność a sprawiedliwość, pod red. J. Wilkina, Wyd. Key Text, Warszawa 1997, s. 78.

The model of competing values assumes the need to combine all the four earlier models of efficiency (target-oriented, system, internal processes and interpersonal relations). These models are seemingly mutually contradictory. Hence, this model is called of competing values. According to Cameron high efficiency in, for example, a target-oriented sense does not necessarily mean inefficiency from the perspective of interpersonal relations. A defined perspective becomes dominant in given circumstances, but providing results, on at least an average level, in terms of remaining perspectives is sufficient to ensure high overall organizational efficiency (Cameron et al. 2003). The authors of this model. Cameron and Ouinn, based on their research, identified four basic cultures that can refer to the business ecosystem: clan, adherence, hierarchy and market (Cameron et al. 2003, p. 40). The first two cultures are based on values such as flexibility and freedom of action, while the other two are based on stability and control. The efficiency of such an ecosystem is strongly influenced by culture, it is the result of the efficiency of many cultures, where non-dominant organizations are imposed with culture or values of dominant participants in the relationship. The assessment takes into consideration the orientation to internal affairs and integration, the orientation to the environment and diversity, as well as stability and unity.

In the model interest groups the organizational efficiency is perceived through the level of fulfilling expectations of the key stakeholders. The ecosystem includes not only organizations highly oriented on highly economic targets, but also those whose interests are linked to other goals, such as ecological and social. In this case, the ecosystem is a medium of various interest groups, such as owners, customers, suppliers, government and social organizations, etc. The condition for the efficient functioning of the business ecosystem is not only competition but also competence and cooperation between organizations, the level of fulfilling the expectations of internal stakeholders, the relative stakeholders' strength.

On the other hand, the model of ability to acquire resources encompasses a broad definition of resources, including both material resources - traditional (money, raw materials, facilities, equipment and labour) and intangible resources - intellectual (knowledge, ideas, reputation). This model is based on inputs, and the efficiency of this approach is measured by the ability of the organization to acquire rare and valuable resources, primarily intellectual ones, from the environment, the ability of decision-makers to recognize environmental constraints, and the responsiveness to environmental changes (Greve 2011). What is important for the assessment is the organization's ability to acquire rare and valuable resources from the environment.

The model of social justice implies equality of following social and market rules, emphasizing the needs and expectations of the least favoured and even excluded groups of stakeholder (Keeley 1978). In the efficiency evaluation the following are taken into account: distributive justice (material equality, the need for reallocation of income), commutative justice (the impersonal market process), exclusion of all political control, needs and expectations of least-favoured stakeholders, material equality, hierarchization of stakeholders' needs.

The multidimensional nature of the concept of efficiency influenced the development of various organizational efficiency models in practice. It is necessary to agree with the views of Bratnicki and Kulikowska-Pawlak, who recommend the use of criteria derived from many models when evaluating the organizational efficiency (Bratnicki and Kulikowska-Pawlak 2013, p. 54). Following such thinking, the authors suggest to put eight organizational models described in this paper together to describe the efficiency of the business ecosystem.

# 5 Factors of Business Ecosystem Efficiency in Business Incubator as an Exemplary Ecosystem

Considering the assumed purpose of identifying the factors of business ecosystem efficiency and taking into account the developed classification of efficiency models along with their determinants, empirical research was conducted within the business incubator functioning in Wrocław, and being an example of a real ecosystem. The study was conducted in January–May 2017 on a sample of 48 Polish companies from the SME sector concentrated in the studied business incubator. After rejecting incomplete research questionnaires, the results were further analyzed for 40 entrepreneurs. The selection of the sample was deliberate and therefore the results should be treated with caution and as hypotheses, since the data collected do not allow for a clear verification of the meaning of the factors and are fragmentary. Nevertheless, the research can be considered a survey that may contribute to further discussion.

For the purpose of the study, 8 specified efficiency models were synthesized and factors were listed that could be considered to influence the efficiency of the business incubator, i.e. de facto the ecosystem studied. The selection of factors was made by elimination, based on a survey and interview verification and the simplicity of understanding the individual concepts by the respondents. The specified factors were grouped within three levels of the assessment of the ecosystem efficiency corresponding to three areas of efficiency: i.e. effectiveness, economy and operational performance. The aim of the study was to isolate the efficiency factors of the examined ecosystem without linking them with the developed efficiency classifications so that, based on the results obtained, the results are not burdened with the features of the individual models.

Organized and grouped efficiency factors were included in the research questionnaire, and respondents were asked to identify the most important efficiency factors of the ecosystem in which they functioned. The respondents were tasked to grade the importance of the factors being assessed. The five-grade scale was used, whose extreme responses were defined as lack of impact and very high impact. The figures in Table 1 show the percentage of indications for responses that have a high impact and a very high impact.

According to the data analysis, the surveyed representatives of the incubator companies highly evaluated two factors: effectiveness of the operation through the perspective of business intermediation and the office-organizational support (54% of all respondents). From the economic point of view, as a factor of success of the business ecosystem, which was the examined business incubator, there has been distinguished legal and administrative assistance, as well as offering favourable rents (67% in total). From the perspective of operational performance, the respondents pointed out professional support for development on the market and modelling business behaviours (47% in total).

Efficiency levels	Factors of ecosystem efficiency	The frequency of the factor's importance	
Effectiveness of the ecosystem	Business intermediation	29%	
	Training support	13%	
	Legal support	17%	
	Entrusting	1%	
	Office-organizational support	25%	
	Location	15%	
Economy - assessed based on supporting new enterprises in achieving their goals (growth, development, income)	Legal and administrative assistance	33%	
	Offering favourable support loans	12%	
	Offering favourable rents for new organizations	34%	
	Help in business intermediation	13%	
	Matching the training offer to the organization's and market needs	8%	
Operational performance of the ecosystem	Activities integrating companies within the incubator and market	14%	
	Professional support for the development on the market	26%	
	Modelling business behaviours	21%	
	Informative-educational activities	14%	
	Personnel qualifications	10%	
	Trust = Honesty	15%	

**Table 1.** The factors of the efficiency of the examined business ecosystem with their importance described in percentage according to surveyed respondents [own research]

The obtained results confirmed the authors' assumptions that the classified organizational efficiency models would not be adequate to assess the ecosystem of the business incubator. For these reasons, it was justified to propose a new model for assessing the efficiency of the ecosystem and the bases for the concept of the relational model were formulated.

# 6 Conclusions - the Proposal of the Assessment of the Business Ecosystem Relational Efficiency

Taking into account the conducted research, interviews and literature analysis, it is recommended to introduce alongside the classified eight models of business ecosystem efficiency also the relational model, which is the authors' proposal. It has been noted that the binder of the arrangement that is business ecosystem is the relationship between the organizations involved. The basis of these relationships is sympathy, then co-exchange of values, co-creation of new values, and sharing of new values. Relational efficiency requires establishing particularly stable relation between organizations in the business ecosystem. This stability is based on the acceptance, satisfaction and uniqueness of each organization that contributes to the structure of the business ecosystem. The concept of relational efficiency was defined as the sum of sympathy efficiency (EWo), efficiency of co-creation (EWs), efficiency of co-exchange of values and experiences.

"Sympathy" understood as a moral feeling and referring to the ability of a human being to understand the needs of other people in the process of exchanging goods and services. By operating on the market and making moral judgments, both the individual and the organization must take into account the behaviour of the others in their environment. For organizations that form a business ecosystem, the trust or similar evaluations and moral judgments of the stakeholders in this organization are important to build a partner relationship in business for the purpose of exchanging resources and creating new values (Smith 1989, pp. 230–223).

Sympathy could be measured by the following: the amount of mutual transactions within one ecosystem and the amount of business co-operation measured by the number of recommendations, planned and conducted projects, organised business events and co-operation meetings, the number of co-operating advertisements, the number of acquired investors, etc.

Another key element of relationship in the business ecosystem is co-creation of values. This value does not originate from a physical product or a communication network and information technology supporting the ecosystem, or even from the social network or skill network, but derives from the experience of co-creation, in which a particular organization takes part at a specific time, place and in the context of a particular event (Prahalad and Ramaswamy 2005, p. 21). The co-creation experience arises from the interaction of organizations that shape the ecosystem of the business community. Each participating organization is equally interested in defining the relationship and the context of events occurring as its result. The key elements of the discussed co-creation process are: dialogue, access, risk assessment, transparency - DART (Prahalad and Ramaswamy 2005, p. 31).

What can be the measurement on co-creation is the share of profits generated by individual companies, the number of companies that make up the ecosystem, the number of patents that are the product of the co-operation of companies in the ecosystem, the number of submitted and conducted projects, the number of signed cooperation agreements, the amount of advice on supporting the development of the ecosystem entities, and advice on the strategic development of the market, the number of companies registered with help of the incubator's employees etc.

The co-exchange of values refers to both material and non-material resources between participants in the business ecosystem. The values conveyed are, among others: money, things, raw materials, materials, as well as intangible resources to which we include information, knowledge and values related to organizational culture - emotions, trust, empathy, prestige and credibility. Sharing values in the business ecosystem, i.e. sharing the organization's newly created values, is a part of the so-called sharing economy. By using the available IT resources (e.g. online platforms) organisations jointly and agreeably use new assets, resources, time, skills or capital without transferring ownership. In such an arrangement, all organisations in the business ecosystem are co-creators and consumers of the values they have established, and the relationships between them build a new space of market opportunities and organizational skills for the future (Greve 2011).

The measure of co-exchange could be the number of interactions between the participants in the ecosystem, the amount of training provided, the amount and value of loans from dedicated support funds incurred by the ecosystem entities, the amount of consultations on the possibilities of cooperation, the number of publications and studies, the recommendations and the study reports, the size of the proposed investment sites, the number of proposed offices for rent etc.

Sharing values in the business ecosystem, i.e. sharing the organization's newly created values, is a part of the so-called sharing economy. By using the available IT resources (e.g. online platforms) organisations jointly and agreeably use new assets, resources, time, skills or capital without transferring ownership. In such an arrangement, all organisations in the business ecosystem are co-creators and consumers of the values they have established, and the relationships between them build a new space of market opportunities and organizational skills for the future, and management accounting in its most basic tool assesses the efficiency as well as the model concentrated on possibilities to acquire resources and on the level of their use (Greve 2011).

Adopting a systemic perspective means focusing on such elements of the system as: inputs, transformations, outputs, and relationships between these elements. The three elements listed above are highlighted by different authors (Hall 1999, p. 252), nevertheless there is a need to study the efficiency of organizations from the perspective of acquiring resources from the environment, of transforming the system's merits into its products and of system's outputs into the environment. Observing the management accounting tools, it should be noted that the cost of operations (especially operational) complies with this interpretation.

It requires the use of a system of measures, both absolute (in monetary terms these are e.g. resource costs) and nominal (such as the profitability of a given customer), the number of documents prepared by employees for registration and support of business entities, the number of consultations related to selecting the organisational-legal form of planned business activity, the number of consultations and support during the process of preparing business plans, the amount of SWOT analyses conducted, the number of simulations of selection sources of financing, the number of consultations concerning the profile of conducted business activity etc.

### References

- Bratnicki, M., Kulikowska-Pawlak, M.: Uwarunkowania pomiaru efektywności organizacji. Zarządzanie i Finanse 4, 53–66 (2013)
- Bielski, M.: Organizacje: Istota, struktury, procesy. Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Łódzkiego, Łódź (1997)
- Bielski, M.: Podstawy teorii organizacji i zarządzania. C.H. Beck, Warszawa (2002)
- Borkowski, B., Dudek, H., Szczęsny, W.: Ekonometria, wybrane zagadnienia. PWN, Warszawa (2007)
- Bratnicki, M., Kulikowska-Pawlak, M.: uwarunkowania pomiaru efektywności organizacyjnej. Zarządzanie i Finanse (2013)
- Brzozowski, T.: Efektywność ekologiczna przedsiębiorstwa, pomiar i raportowanie, [w:] Uwarunkowania i prawidłowości gospodarcze wywierające wpływ na efektywność funkcjonowania przedsiębiorstw, (red.) T. Dudycz, Indygo Zair Media Wrocław (2008)
- Boulding, K.E.: General systems theory. The skeleton of since. Manag. Sci. 2, 197-208 (1956)
- Cameron, K.S., Quinn, R.E.: Kultura organizacyjna diagnoza i zmiana. Model wartości konkurujących. Oficyna Ekonomiczna, Kraków, pp. 36–41 (2003)
- Cameron, K.: A study of organizational effectiveness and its predictors. Manag. Sci. 32(1), 87– 112 (1986)
- Charnes, A., Cooper, W.W., Rhodes, E.: Measuring the efficiency of decision making units. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 2(6), 429–444 (1978)
- Czymmek, F.: Nutzen der koeffizienz-Analyse fur Banken (2004)
- Greve, H.R.: Positional rigidity: low performance and resource acquisition in large and small firms. Strateg. Manag. J. **32**(1), 103–114 (2011)
- Henri, J.F.: Performance measurement and organizational effectiveness: bridging the gap. Manag. Finan. **30**(6), 93–123 (2004)
- Holstein-Beck, M.: Szkice o pracy. Książka i Wiedza, Warszawa (1987)
- Keeley, M.: A social justice approach to organisational effectiveness. Adm. Sci. Q. 22 (1978)
- Kostro, K.: Koncepcja sprawiedliwości F.A. von Hayeka, [w:] Efektywność a sprawiedliwość, pod red. J. Wilkina, Wyd. Key Text, Warszawa, p. 78 (1997)
- O'Rourke, P.J.: Adam Smith. Bogactwo narodów. Biografia. Warszawskie Wydawnictwo Literackie MUZA, Warszawa (2009)
- Piekarz, H., Stabryła, A.: Analiza efektywności organizacyjnej jako narzędzie wspomagania procesu zarządzania. Zeszyty Naukowe Wydziału Ekonomiki Produk-cji Uniwersytetu Gdańskiego 12, 178–189 (1989)
- Prahalad, C.K., Ramaswamy, V.: Przyszłość konkurencji. Współtworzenie wyjątkowej wartości wraz z klientami, PWE Warszawa (2005)
- Robbins, S.T.: Organization Theory. Structure, Design and Applications. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey (1990)
- Smith, A.: Teoria uczuć moralnych, tłum.D. Petsch, Warszawa (1989)
- Borys, T. (red.): Wskaźniki ekorozwoju, Ekonomia i środowisko, Białystok (1999)
- Zeitschrift fur das gesamte Kreditwesen, 57 Jahrang, 15 Juni 2004

# An Analysis of Selected Correlations Between Microenterprises' Financing and Its Characteristics. A Case Study

Maciej Szmit<sup>1</sup>(<sup>[]</sup>), Anna Szmit<sup>2</sup>, Magdalena Dąbkowska<sup>3</sup>, and Dominika Lisiak-Felicka<sup>4</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> IBM GSDC, Wroclaw, Poland maciej.szmit@gmail.com
 <sup>2</sup> Department of Management, Lodz University of Technology, Lodz, Poland annaszmitgorecka@gmail.com
 <sup>3</sup> Department of Finance and Strategic Management, University of Lodz, Lodz, Poland magdalena.dabkowska@uni.lodz.pl
 <sup>4</sup> Department of Computer Science in Economics, University of Lodz, Lodz, Poland dominika.lisiak@gmail.com

**Abstract.** The article is devoted to analysis of several aspects of financing methods of microenterprises created under the Human Capital Operational Programme in the Fundacja Inkubator – a non-profit foundation form Lodz, one of beneficiates of the Human Capital Operational Programme in Lodz region. The issues concerning micro entrepreneurs' preferences of financing methods, importance of particular factors associated with external financing selection, problems with getting financial support and their statistical correlation with firms' characteristics and survivability were analyzed. The analysis was based on the data from a Computer Aided Web Interview (CAWI) survey, which was conducted among the participants of several projects, realized by the Fundacja Inkubator. The survey covered 146 microenterprises out of more than 400 firms created in 13 projects completed between years 2008 and 2015 under Measure 6.2 Support and promotion of entrepreneurship and self-employment and Submeasure 8.1.2. Support for adaptation and modernization processes in regions under the Human Capital Operational Programme.

Keywords: Human Capital Operational Programme  $\cdot$  B-N\_X\_K aggregate  $\cdot$  Microenterprises' survivability

### 1 Introduction

The researches of the ability to remain alive or continue to exist are conducted in various fields, starting from ecology and medicine through actuarial science and economy, management, up to engineering and military science. Especially there are a lot of publications concerning several aspects of micro-, small and medium enterprises survivability (see e.g. [2, 5, 7–9, 12, 13, 16]). The other question concerns microentrepreneurs'

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_14

preferences of financing methods and their correlation with firms' characteristics. There are also a lot of studies devoted to this problem (see e.g. [3, 10, 11]). The research presented below include Computer-Assisted Web Interviewing (CAWI) survey of 146 microenterprises created in a few projects under the Measure 6.2 (Support and promotion of entrepreneurship and self-employment) and under the Sub-measure 8.1.2 (Support to adaptation and modernization processes in regions) in the years 2007–2013 under the Human Capital Operational Programme carried out by the Fundacja Inkubator, which is one of beneficiaries of the program. Within these projects more than 400 persons from Lodz region received grants to start their own businesses. The survival rate of these newly created microenterprises is relatively high (higher than average startups' survival rate in Poland and higher than average survival rate of startups created under the Human Capital Operational Programme in Lodz region – see Fig. 1.



**Fig. 1.** Comparison of survivability of small enterprises between Poland, Lodz voivodeship, and microenterprises created under the Human Capital Operational Programme in the Fundacja Inkubator. Source: own research.

To allow the comparison, only microenterprises that have existed for at least 42 months have been shown in the Fig. 1. Table 1 shows detailed information about all companies created in 13 projects. For all of them since the moment of creation, a period of at least 2 years has elapsed (for the longest working over 6 years).

Fundacja Inkubator's microenterprises survival rate is shown in the Fig. 2.

The graph also shows some special moments when there is an increased tendency to liquidate companies. The first one occurs after 12 months, which is related to the obligation imposed by the project conditions to maintain the company for at least 12 months (for the WB2 project for 24 months). The second moment of the increased dynamics of companies liquidation was the 24 months since their establishment - in

	Survival rate after X years					
Project	X = 2	X = 3	X = 4	X = 5	X = 6	
CNB	87%	85%				
DDB	80%	66%	54%	52%		
KB	64%	52%				
MB	84%					
MFMP	85%	77%	65%	65%		
MNS	79%					
NS	78%	70%				
PMBTT	93%	87%	67%	50%	50%	
PNS	68%	54%	46%			
WB	74%	63%	52%	37%	33%	
WB2	92%	72%	72%	56%	56%	
WB50	92%					
ZSS	85%	81%	58%	58%		
Overall	82%	67%	59%	53%	49%	
Number of companies	533	434	245	217	108	

**Table 1.** Fundacja Inkubator Companies' survival rate in subsequent years since the creation shown by particular projects. Source: own research.



Fig. 2. Fundacja Inkubator's microenterprises survival rate. Source: own research.

one of the projects, this was due to the above-mentioned condition of maintaining the activity, while the rest was likely to incur increased insurance expenses.

# 2 The Survey

The survey invitation was sent by email to more about 400 Fundacja Inkubator's microenterprises. The questionnaire was available on the web for a few weeks and 146 microenterprise owners decided to participate in the survey. The most of them represent still living enterprises (see Fig. 3).

The sample structure (place of residence, age, sex etc.) was similar to the whole population structure except education (the better-educated people better responded to the questionnaire – see Fig. 4).



Fig. 3. Comparison of the population and CAWI responders structure. Source: own research.

Detailed information about the whole population and the survey sample may be found in [14, 15]. Although the main goal of the research concerns the microenterprises' survivability the financial aspects are also analyzed. In the CAWI survey, which was consisted of 22 questions, a set of questions (numbered 13–14d) concerned financial aspects of the microenterprise was included:

13. Was the financial support to start a business sufficient?

- yes the financial support was sufficient to start a business
- there was the need for raise new founds
- there was the need for investment reduction
- 14. Have you used other financial sources to start a business?

14a. Please indicate which additional sources of funding you have used

- Own resources
- Loan from family

- Loan form friends
- Bank credit
- Leasing
- Local government subsidies
- Other
- 14b. What is the most important for you when selecting an external source of financing?
  - Cost of funds
  - Recommendation by friends
  - Amount of the one-time installment to be repaid
  - The amount of funds available
  - Necessity and amount of own contribution
  - Speed of receiving funding
  - Credibility of the financing institution
  - Availability of information about the source of funding
  - Number of required documents

14c. Have you encountered any problems with applying for external funding?

14d. What problems have you encountered with applying for external funding?

- Very large number of documents to fill
- Incomprehensible language of documents
- Lack of a person to explain and help in completing the application
- Too high requirements for the applicant
- Lack of communication
- Other

### **3** Results

For 146 answers in question (13) 68 microenterprise's owners declared the need to raise new funds, 24 - stated that it was necessary to reduce the planned investments and 54 persons declared that financial support to start a business was sufficient, however in question (14) only 54 persons declared the use of additional sources of funding (92 persons did not use additional funds) so only these 54 persons answered questions (14a)–(14d). Interestingly microenterprises that owners declared the need to raise new funds have higher survivability (91%) then the other (80% in the group of owners declared that financial support to start a business was sufficient and only 75% in the group with the investment reduction – see Fig. 5).

Concerning question (14a) - 50 microenterprise's owners used their own resources, 23 declared use loan from their families, only 14 used bank credit and 7 persons declared use of other financial sources.

The most important factor determining the choice of financing method in question (14b) was cost of funds (41 persons marked it as "very important"), more than half of responders considered as "very important" also: the credibility of the financial



**Fig. 4.** Comparison of the population and CAWI responders' level of education ISCED characteristics (see: [6]), where level 1 – Primary education; level 2 – Lower secondary education; level 3 – Upper secondary education; level 4 – Post-secondary non-tertiary education; level  $\geq 5$  – Tertiary education. Source: own research.



Fig. 5. Figure answers for the question about sufficiency of the financial support to start a business in living and liquidated microenterprises.

institution, the amount of funds available, the speed of receiving funding. As a non-important were recognized: the recommendation by friends and number of required documents.

In question (14c) only 11 of 54 microenterprise's owners encountered problems with applying for external funding (14c). The most important problems declared in question (14d) were: too high requirements for the applicant and a very large number of documents to fill.

In the next step the existence of a stochastic relationship between the answers to the individual funding questions and the other features of the surveyed companies was investigated. For this purpose, appropriate conditional distributions were compared and the Cramér's phi intercorrelation coefficient was calculated, given by the formula (1):

$$V = \sqrt{\frac{\varphi^2}{\min(k-1, r-1)}} = \sqrt{\frac{\chi^2}{n \cdot \min(k-1, r-1)}}$$
(1)

where:

 $\varphi^2$  is the phi coefficient.

- $\chi^2$  is derived from Pearson's chi-squared test.
- *n* is the grand total of observations.
- *k* is the number of columns.
- r is the number of rows.

The most interesting relationships are shown below:

- Between education and the availability of information the less well-educated persons considered information as important (phi = 0.41);
- Between the responder's subjective importance of a single loan installment and belonging to a group Total Business Economy except Financial and Insurance Activities aggregate (based on Eurostat classification NACE rev. 2 i.e. B-N\_X\_K see. [4]) – (phi = 0.38); Responders included in the aggregate consider the amount of the installment to be less important, the persons outside the aggregate consider the amount of the installment to be more important;
- Between assessing the necessity of making a personal contribution and answering one of other questions: "did your previous professional experience relate to the current activity"; Persons whose previous work experience was not related to their current business assessed the need to contribute their own contribution as less important (phi = 0.35)
- Between assessing the speed of receiving funding and belonging to the B-N\_X\_K aggregate (phi = 0.35). Responders included in the aggregate consider the speed as less important, the persons outside the aggregate consider it to be more important;
- Between the assessment of the need to contribute own contribution and belonging to a to the B-N\_X\_K aggregate (phi = 0.28). Responders included in the aggregate consider it as less important than the others
- Between the need to contribute own contribution and business owner's gender (phi = 0,32). Women recognized the need as less important;

• Also, the fact of living in the countryside or in the city differentiated the questioned microenterprises' owners in the context of assessment of elements: cost of funds raised and the availability of information on the source of funding (phi = 0,31 in both cases).

### 4 Summary. Directions for Further Research

The most interesting conclusion seems to be the correlation between appreciation of financial support as insufficient and high survivability and a few correlations distinguishing responders belonging to Total Business Economy except Financial and Insurance Activities aggregate. Concerning the first conclusion: one might wonder what kind of relationship this is? Whether it was easier to get additional funding for companies that were (correctly) considered as promising by organizations that provide such funding or additional funding has allowed businesses to stay on the market? This phenomenon needs confirmation in wider research.

Concerning the second one: belonging to the B N\_X\_K aggregate seems to be one of the determinants that differentiate financial needs of particular microenterprise. The explanation might be related to fact that a big part of enterprises outside the aggregate (such as e.g. consulting services, advocates, private medical practices etc.) have a relatively smaller costs, so factors like the speed of receiving funding are less important to them comparing to firms inside the aggregate, especially that using "low price quantity" strategy (see e.g. [1]) with big costs, big turnover and small profit per unit, but the correlation also should be confirmed in wider research.

The detailed discussion of survey results and research concerning modeling of the microenterprises survivability and its key success factors will be published in the near future.

### References

- 1. Agibe, S.A.: Theory of Productivity Discovering and Putting to Work the Ideas and Values of American Culture. WestBow Press, Bloomington (2015)
- Aigbavboa, C.O., Tshikhudo, L.M., Thwala, W.D.: Identification of critical success factors for the survival of small, medium and micro enterprise contracting firms in the greater Johannesburg metropolitan area. In: Proceedings 8th Construction Industry Development Board; 2014. Identification of Critical Success Factors for the Survival of Small, Medium and Micro Enterprise Contracting Firms in the Greater Johannesburg Metropolitan Area (2014). http://hdl.handle.net/10210/12045. Accessed 10 May 2017
- Beck, T., Demirgüç-Kunt, A., Martinez Peria, M.S.: Bank financing for SMEs around the world: drivers, obstacles, business models, and lending practices. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 4785, International Monetary Fund (IMF), November 2008. https://papers.csrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=1312268. Accessed 10 May 2017

- Eurostat RAMON Reference and Management of Nomenclatures: SCL Statistical Classification of Economic Activities in the European Community (NACE Rev. 2). http://ec. europa.eu/eurostat/ramon/nomenclatures/index.cfm?TargetUrl=LST\_NOM\_DTL&StrNom= CL\_NACE2. Accessed 10 May 2017
- Groenewegen, G., de Langen, F.: Critical success factors of the survival of start-ups with a radical innovation. J. Appl. Econ. Bus. Res. 2(3), 155–171 (2012). http://www.aebrjournal.org/ uploads/6/6/2/2/6622240/4makalecriticalsuccessfactorsofthesurvivalofstart.pdf. Accessed 10 May 2017
- International Standard Classification of Education ISCED 2011. UNESCO Institute of Statistics, Quebec (2012). http://www.uis.unesco.org/Education/Documents/isced-2011-en. pdf. Accessed 10 May 2017
- Kalleberg, A.L., Leicht, K.T.: Gender and organizational performance: determinants of small business survival and success. Acad. Manag. J. 34(1), 136–161 (1991)
- Leych, C.: Critical success factors for ERP projects in small and medium-sized enterprises-the perspective of selected German SMEs. In: Proceeding of the 2014 Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems. ACSIS, vol. 2, pp. 1181–1190 (2014)
- Łobos, K., Szewczyk, M.: Survival analysis: a case study of micro and small enterprises in Dolnośląskie and Opolskie Voivodship (Poland). In: Ekonomická revue – Central European Review of Economic Issues, vol. 15, VSB, Ostrava, p. 207 (2012). doi:10.7327/cerei.2012. 12.01, https://www.ekf.vsb.cz/export/sites/ekf/cerei/cs/Papers/VOL15NUM04PAP01.pdf. Accessed 10 May 2017
- López-Gracia, J., Sogorb-Mira, F.: Testing trade-off and pecking order theories financing SMEs. Small Bus. Econ. 31(2), 117–136 (2008). doi:10.1007/s11187-007-9088-4
- Matejun, M., Szymańska, K.: Finansowanie i wspomaganie rozwoju firm sektora MSP. In: Matejun, M. (ed.) Zarządzanie małą i średnią firmą w teorii i w ćwiczeniach, Difin, Warszawa, p. 207 (2012). http://www.matejun.com/pubs-pl/2012\_Matejun\_Szymanska\_ Finansowanie\_i\_wspomaganie\_rozwoju\_firm\_sektora\_MSP\_fragment.pdf. Accessed 10 May 2017
- Olszak, C.M.: Krytyczne czynniki sukcesu wdrażania zarządzania wiedzą w małych i średnich przedsiębiorstwach. In: Zeszyty Naukowe Uniwersytetu Szczecińskiego. Ekonomiczne Problemy Usług, Szczecin, nr 87, pp. 110–119 (2012)
- Shane, S.: Small business failure rates by industry: the real numbers. In: Small Business Trends. http://smallbiztrends.com/2012/09/failure-rates-by-sector-the-real-numbers.html. Accessed 10 May 2017
- 14. Szmit, A., Lisiak-Felicka, D., Szmit, M.: Analiza przeżywalności firm utworzonych w ramach projektów realizowanych z Programu operacyjnego kapitał ludzki. Studium empiryczne dla Fundacji Inkubator w Łodzi. In: Przedsiębiorczość i Zarządzanie, vol. XVI, no. 5 cz. I, pp. 233–251 (2015)
- 15. Szmit, A.: Analiza przeżywalności startupów powstałych w ramach projektów POKL w Fundacji Inkubator w Łodzi. In: Depta, A. (ed.) Problemy i perspektywy zarządzania w społeczeństwie ryzyka oraz zagadnienia jakości życia, Monografie Politechniki Łódzkiej, Łódź, pp. 7–16 (2016). ISBN 978-83-7283-794-3
- van Praag, C.M.: Business survival and success of young small business owners. Small Bus. Econ. 21(1), 1–17 (2003)

# Management of Organization

# Context Specification in Support of Business Processes and Knowledge Management Integration

Mariusz Żytniewski<sup>(⊠)</sup>

University of Economics in Katowice, 1 Maja 50, 40-287 Katowice, Poland mariusz.zytniewski@ue.katowice.pl

Abstract. Applying a process approach in organisation managing and supporting it through knowledge management systems requires finding a way to combine both approaches. Especially in the case of creating information systems that would support them. In order to be successful in an organisation, it is necessary to consider the organisational, technical and social aspects in the construction of such systems. One of the theories of the development of process oriented knowledge management is the use of context in the process of modelling such a solution. Designing business process oriented knowledge management support systems. The aim of this paper is to analyse the definition of the operation context of a business process oriented knowledge management system. The paper presents elements of a proposed methodology that refer to developing the context of knowledge usage as an element of a business process and IT system.

Keywords: Context  $\cdot$  Business process  $\cdot$  Knowledge management system  $\cdot$  Integration

### 1 Introduction

Integration of knowledge management as part of systems designed to support business processes is one of key aspects of the development of the theory of knowledge management systems [1]. As pointed out by Grambow et al. [2], the main problem of KM systems is "providing the required knowledge to the right person at the right time for dealing with the right situation". IT technologies are one of key factors of successful use of KM in organisations [3, 4].

In this area, KM systems should facilitate making contextual knowledge available within a performed business process [5]. This, however, gives rise to a range of problems such as [2]: the need to automatically obtain the context from the environment and classify it with respect to the current situation, to automatically process contextual data in order to respond to changes in the contextual conditions and to integrate contextual data within the process. One of the concepts that may help to solve these problems is the use of the autopoietic approach in the process of designing and building such systems [6, 7]. In this approach, the knowledge contained in knowledge

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_15

management systems can be directly integrated within a performed business process or processed by the autopoietic system in the first place. Only after it has been processed, it is used within a business process. As pointed out by Zacarias et al. [8] adaptive and agent-based workflows are enhancing workflow's flexibility. The research undertaken in the paper deals with modelling of relations between a business process and a knowledge management autopoietic system and is continuation of the author's research [5, 6].

The article presents the initial stage of constructing the support system's context integrating business processes and knowledge management systems. Author's previous research pointed out that building the process oriented autopoietic knowledge management support system requires reference to the three stages of its construction:

- 1. Analysis and development of a business process this is a stage connected with designing a business process. The approach uses BPMN diagrams as a basis for defining a business process.
- Identification of organisational knowledge resources this stage refers to diagnosing knowledge that will be used to support the performance of a business process and used by an autopoietic system.
- 3. Design of process oriented autopoietic knowledge management system this stage involves definition of the design of an autopoietic system.

In this article the first two stages and their impact on the third stage will be shown. The aim of this paper is to analyse the process of defining the context of the operation of a business process oriented knowledge management system using an example of the author-applied methodology for designing such systems. The first and second chapter will present the theory of the development of the context of IT systems' operation. The third chapter will present selected stages of designing the operation context of the author-developed methodology for building a business process oriented knowledge management support system. The fourth and fifth chapter will provide an example and evaluation of its use.

### 2 Aspects of Modelling the Context of a System's Operation

The development of autopoietic systems requires addressing a range of characteristics possessed by such systems. Based on [9–14], it can be stated that such systems should be subject to division into a range of autonomous sub-systems that operate independently and have clearly defined boundaries. The systems should be characterised by self-production, self-organisation, auto-adaptability and self-referentiality. Additionally, they should use organisational knowledge and generate necessary knowledge in subsequent cycles of their use to be integrated with the organisation's knowledge. Such features of autopoietic systems require that the context of knowledge usage during the design is addressed in two ways. On the one hand (as is the case with process oriented knowledge management), there is the context of knowledge use as part of autopoietic systems. The problem of defining the context (apart from knowledge management,

quality management, information coordination and processes automation) is one of key aspects of building process oriented knowledge management systems [2].

Referring to the basic concepts of data, information and knowledge, knowledge can be defined as information used in a certain context. Such contextual knowledge can be viewed as knowledge that is relevant and can be used to understand a decision-making problem in certain circumstances [15]. The aspect of information usage in terms of IT solutions refers to the use of information to perform certain tasks which have been assigned to them or which they should support. In the literature of the subject, we can find proposals to divide knowledge about context into contextual knowledge and proceduralized context [16]. The first type of knowledge refers to general knowledge that enables the identification of the context and definition of actions that an IT system or a decision maker can take. It constitutes a kind of a background for decision-making processes which specifies the scope of possible actions. The second type of knowledge is knowledge about activities and related procedures that can be performed based on identified actions. Both these types of knowledge can be used in the process of modelling knowledge about the user and actions that can be undertaken.

### 3 Stages of Context Specification

The author's current research is concerned with the use of autopoietic systems considered against the background of the theory of software agent societies in supporting knowledge management processes in organisations. The author's research analysis of methodologies for designing software agent societies pointed out a range of problems related to their use in supporting knowledge-based organisations [17]. Against this background, a methodology for designing such systems has been proposed [5, 18, 19]. This chapter will present only the stages connected with the process of defining the context of using such a system and the context of using knowledge.

#### 3.1 Context of a Business Process Supported by an Knowledge Management System

The methodology proposed by the author deals with the integration within the business processes of the codified knowledge of the organization [19]. To this end the first stage "1. Analysis and development of a business process" is associated with the process of developing a BPMN diagram, which specification is based on the "3.1 Identification of the context of usage" stage and "2. Identification of organisational knowledge resources" is extended by the resources of organisational knowledge.

Figure 1 shows the main stages of this process and relationships between the individual stages. The arrowhead shows the initiating direction of the information flow between the stages. The presented methodology assumes possibility of returning to an earlier stage if it is diagnosed as uncompleted.

The red line (the relationship [1.4]-[3.1.1]) refers to the context of a business process use. In the case of using an knowledge management system, the system is triggered through initiation of a specific task of a business process or an event in this



Fig. 1. Context of a business process in the proposed methodology

process. Thus, the designer's task is to initially define which knowledge resources will be associated with the task or the event (the green line - the relationship [2]-[3.1.2]). The stage of an organisation's knowledge identification, related with stage 2, has been intentionally omitted. Additionally, the designer may indicate at this stage which knowledge resources will be initially made available to the knowledge management system (green line). In the next stage, the designer's task is to define which elements of organisational knowledge will be directly made available to the user during the performance of the business process (black line - relationship [1.4,1.5]-[3.1.3]) or will be directly used during defining the conditions of events (black line). While defining the context of using the knowledge management system, the designer's task is to indicate what knowledge will be generated by the autopoietic system further. For that purpose, the organisational knowledge resource should be extended to include the definition of knew knowledge, which will be stored by the knowledge management system (Magenta line - relationship [2]-[3.1.5]). As a result, the newly-defined resource of knowledge generated by the knowledge management system is made available as part of the business process as an element of the task or event (orange line - relationship [1.4,1.5]-[3.1.6]).

#### 3.2 Context of Knowledge Use in an Autopoietic System

When building an autopoietic system, it is necessary to indicate the context of using knowledge as an element of autonomous components of such a solution. Figure 2 presents the relationships between the elements of the developed methodology.



Fig. 2. Definition of the context of building an autopoietic system

The red and blue lines indicate stage 3.3.1 where an autopoietic system's tasks are linked with specific tasks and events of a business process. This example has been presented in paper [5] showing the base architecture of the system. Such linkage allows to define which areas of a business process should be supported by the autopoietic system and indicate the tasks of the autopoietic system that should be performed to meet informational needs. The informational needs have been shown by means of the pink line. The needs diagnosed during building the context of a business process are translated into the scope of tasks of the autopoietic system. Thanks to that, apart from the context of knowledge resources that are used by the system and generated by the autopoietic system, the designer can refer to the elements of a process that will be supported. Based on that, the autopoietic element of the knowledge management system is developed.

The elements presented here do no cover the whole cycle of building an autopoietic system. They only refer to the aspect of the context of its use in the area of knowledge and a business process. To illustrate the element of context modelling, an example of using a developed system will be presented.

### 4 Example System Implementation

The evaluation of proposed stages refers to the use of the proposed methodology in the process of modelling business processes connected with the actions needed to be taken by a person responsible for personal data protection in a company. This process requires knowledge about the company's organisational structure, its employees, technical resources, sets of processed data and other data specified in the personal data protection law. The process cannot be directly supported by an ERP system, as typical systems of this class do not have a module designed to support such tasks, despite the statutory requirement concerning data protection imposed on organisations. In the current version the software supporting the application of this method is based on BPMN Context modeller, Knowledge Resource modeller, User interface modeller and Autopoietic elements platform.

Figure 3 presents an example of a process instance for which an autopoietic system is modelled. This diagram was developed basing on the stages presented in Fig. 1 (stages 1, 2 and 3.1). The diagram proposed the extension of BPMN notation elements and artifacts used in this approach with the elements of the knowledge base, as described hereinafter.



Fig. 3. The process of information security audit - extended BPMN notation

As was indicated in Fig. 3, the task of formal assessment of data processing compliance is extended by an autopoietic system. In this case, the task of the system is to provide the auditor with knowledge about employees, sets of data processed in the organisation, how these resources are linked with the place where they are processed and how these sets are linked with specific employees. Additionally, the task of the system is to indicate the legal base for such activity. The diagnosed data sets that are necessary to achieve that have been presented in Fig. 4. In the implemented solution the knowledge metamodel was divided into three parts. The first is the domain ontology, for which The Organisation Ontology was adapted (W3C Recommendation



Fig. 4. Definition of ontology (in OWL2 standard) based on stage 2

from 2014) [20]. It provides interoperability of the developed model and its portability. It was expanded with application ontology elements defining the knowledge resources description. Red artifacts reveal example instances of knowledge resources i.e. building layout, site plan, certificate of the validity of inspections and systems. These objects are available from the user interface and autopoietic system level.

In order to indicate the context of using an autopoietic system connected with stages 3.3 and 3.2 (Fig. 2), it is necessary to indicate the relationship of knowledge resources of the business process stage and the tasks of the autopoietic system. For that purpose, diagrams of the autopoietic system's tasks (Fig. 5) is built. Figure 5 additionally reveals architectural elements of the developed system.



Fig. 5. Diagram of the system tasks built at stage 3.2.1 and system architecture

The lowest element of the architecture is a database which stores business data. This data can be mapped within a semantic server, which allows for semantic mapping of information resources. Apart from that, additional semantic definitions can be developed if a given resource is not represented in the database system. Figure 6 shows a user screen displaying knowledge elements.



Fig. 6. User screen with appropriate resources of organisational knowledge

As a result, the elements of a business process oriented autopoietic knowledge management support system defined in this way support actions of the user responsible for implementing the indicated stage of a business process.

# 5 Implementation Results

The proposed process oriented knowledge management system context modelling method was used during the implementation of the presented system. Effects of the proposed approach implementation were:

- identification of 12 business processes related to the context of the audit's report preparation presented in the article.
- defining knowledge ontology, which will be further extended while defining further contexts of system use.
- identification of 27 knowledge resources regarding the context of the system operation proposed in the article.
- the inclusion of such defined knowledge resources and business processes to the knowledge organisation's portal.

As a result, it speeded up the process of audit activities by providing contextual knowledge to the auditor. In the case of "Preparation of the schedule" task, it's realisation time was shortened to a dozen or so seconds (previously, the stage lasted even a dozen minutes and required the involvement of personnel department along with audited department). The report preparation task was shortened to a few minutes, thanks to the auditor's direct access to knowledge resources (in the absence of irregularities). Earlier, the report preparation process lasted between 30 and 40 min. In addition to the results of the system's implementation, the main features of the proposed approach should also be highlighted here:

- extending currently used standards for describing business processes to include sources of knowledge that supports the performance of users' tasks (in the context of the process, place and time),
- enabling direct integration of organisational knowledge within any business processes taking place in an organisation within the scope of the process in which this knowledge should be used and the task that it supports,
- automating processes of assessing the functioning of KMSs in terms of their usefulness in supporting business processes,
- generating new organisational knowledge at the interface of business processes and knowledge management,
- using semantic mechanisms for knowledge description for easier integration of possessed knowledge with internal organisational knowledge,
- independent operation from used IT solutions and enabling integration of any KMSs and a process-oriented solution.

The presented pilot implementation of the proposed solution will be extended in author's further studies with evaluation elements of the system's impact on the user.

### 6 Conclusions and Future Work

Integration of knowledge management systems within an organisation's business processes is an important element of an organisation's operation. The approach to building a business process oriented knowledge management support system which has been presented in this paper can be used both in processes supported by an ERP system, extending knowledge obtained from such systems by additional knowledge.

The proposed approach for modelling business processes and their support by knowledge management systems can be extended with the use of codified knowledge by the autopoietic system. This research indicated the need to address a wider context of research, i.e. the methodological aspect of modelling such solutions, whose earlier aspects in the author's research referred to the application of the theory of software agent societies and their use in knowledge-based organisations [18, 21].

The theories, elements of the developed methodology and the example of the operation of the developed system, which have been presented in the paper, constitute continuation of the author's research in the area of the use of artificial intelligence in the process of supporting knowledge management in an organisation. The methodology presented in the paper can be used to support the process of integration of business processes and knowledge management systems in the context of integration of such solutions, which were addressed earlier by the author in works [5].

The next aspect of the research will be relation of the presented methodology (whose element of context development has been presented in this paper) to a life cycle of knowledge management systems and business process management systems.

# References

- 1. Gourova, E., Toteva, K.: Design of knowledge management systems. In: Proceedings of the 8th Nordic Conference on Pattern Languages of Programs (VikingPLoP), pp. 1–15. ACM Press, New York (2014)
- Grambow, G., Oberhauser, R., Reichert, M.: Context-aware and process-centric knowledge provisioning: an example from the software development domain. In: Innovations in Knowledge Management, pp. 179–209. Springer, Heidelberg (2016)
- Scholl, W., Heisig, P.: Delphi study on the future of knowledge management overview of the results. In: Knowledge Management, pp. 179–190. Springer, Heidelberg (2003)
- Scholl, W., Konig, C., Meyer, B., Heisig, P.: The future of knowledge management: an international delphi study. J. Knowl. Mang. 8, 19–35 (2004)
- Żytniewski, M.: Integration of knowledge management systems and business processes using multi-agent systems. Int. J. Comput. Intell. Stud. 5, 180–196 (2016)
- Żytniewski, M.: Autopoiesis of knowledge management systems supported by software agent societies. In: Refereed Paper Proceedings - KM Conference 2017 – Novo Mesto, Slovenia, pp. 41–52. A Publication of the International Institute for Applied Knowledge Management (2017)
- Żytniewski, M.: Gossip and ostracism in modelling automorphosis of multi-agent systems. In: Goluchowski, J., Pankowska, M., Linger, H., Barry, C., Lang, M., Schneider, C. (eds.) Complexity in Information Systems Development. Lecture Notes in Information Systems and Organisation, vol. 22, pp. 135–150. Springer, Heidelberg (2016)
- Zacarias, M., Caetano, A., Pinto, H., Tribolet, J.: Modeling contexts for business process oriented knowledge support. In: Professional Knowledge Management, pp. 431–442. Springer, Heidelberg (2005)
- Kota, R., Gibbins, N., Jennings, N.R.: Self-organising agent organisations. In: Proceedings of the 8th International Joint Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems (AAMAS 2009), Budapest, Hungary, pp. 797–804. ACM (2009)
- Kasinger, H., Bauer, B., Denzinger, J., Holvoet, T.: Adapting environment-mediated self-organizing emergent systems by exception rules. In: Proceeding of the Second International Workshop on Self-organizing Architectures - SOAR 2010, pp. 35–42. ACM Press, New York (2010)
- Cheng, B.H.C., De Lemos, R., Giese, H., Inverardi, P., Magee, J., Andersson, J., Becker, B., Bencomo, N., Brun, Y., Cukic, B., Serugendo, G.D.M.: Software engineering for self-adaptive systems: a research roadmap. In: Software Engineering for Self-Adaptive Systems, pp. 1–26. Springer, Heidelberg (2009)
- Heylighen, F., Gershenson, C.: The meaning of self-organization in computing. IEEE Intell. Syst. 18, 72–75 (2003)
- Jelasity, M., Babaoglu, O., Laddaga, R.: Self-management through self-organization. IEEE Intell. Syst. 21, 8–9 (2006)
- 14. Kephart, J.O., Chess, D.M.: The vision of autonomic computing. J. Comput. **36**, 41–50 (2003)

- Pomerol, J.-C., Brezillon, P.: Dynamics between contextual knowledge and proceduralized context. Int. Interdisc. Conf. Model. Context 1688, 284–295 (1999)
- Pomerol, J.-C., Brézillon, P.: About some relationships between knowledge and context. Int. Interdisc. Conf. Model. Context 2116, 461–464 (2001)
- Żytniewski, M.: Comparison of methodologies for agents' software society modeling processes in support for the needs of a knowledge-based organization. In: Kiełtyka, L., Niedbał, R. (eds.) Wybrane zastosowania technologii informacyjnych zarządzania w organizacjach, pp. 15–26. Publishing House of University of Technology in Częstochowa (2015)
- Żytniewski, M., Sołtysik, A., Sołtysik-Piorunkiewicz, A., Kopka, B.: Modelling of software agents in knowledge-based organisations. Analysis of proposed research tools. In: Ziemba, E. (ed.) Information Technology for Management. Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing, vol. 243, pp. 91–108. Springer, Cham (2016)
- Żytniewski, M.: Business process oriented autopoietic knowledge management support system design. In: Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on Information Systems Development, ISD 2017, UCLan, Cyprus, 6–8 September 2017, p. (after positive review) (2017)
- 20. W3C: The Organization Ontology (2014)
- Żytniewski, M., Kowal, R.: Using software agents to enhance the functionality of social knowledge portal. In: Abramowicz, W. (ed.) Business Information Systems Workshops, BIS 2013. Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing, pp. 23–34. Springer, Heidelberg (2013)

# The Actual Nature of Lead Times in Supply Chains Following a Strict Reorder Point Based Approach

Peter Nielsen<sup>1</sup>(<sup>[]</sup>), Zbigniew Michna<sup>2</sup>, and Izabela Nielsen<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mechanical and Manufacturing Engineering, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark {peter, izabela}@m-tech.aau.dk <sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics and Cybernetics, Wrocław University of Economics, Wrocław, Poland zbigniew.michna@ue.wroc.pl

**Abstract.** The aim of this research is to demonstrate that supply chains by their very nature will experience stochastic rather than deterministic lead times. The presented study focuses on simulating delivery lead times in supply chains, where each echelon is servicing the next downstream member from inventory. The aim is to highlight the need for increased research focus on supply chains with stochastic lead times. Through a simple numerical example we conclusively show that lead times in any real supply chain following a re-order point method must be stochastic even in the case where lead times between individual echelons are in fact deterministic.

Keywords: Lead times  $\cdot$  Supply chain  $\cdot$  Bull whip effect  $\cdot$  Stochastic lead times

### **1** Introduction and Background

Supply chain management and the variation in inventory throughout supply chains have long been of interest for both academia and industry [1]. For several decades focus has been on the so called bull whip effect also known as the Forrester effect or somewhat misleading as demand amplification. Until the last ten years focus was more or less exclusively on how demand signals influenced the performance of supply chains and how this signal is distorted as it moves downstream in the chain. In recent years focus has shifted to supply chain optimization [2, 3] and on the analytical side to the impact of lead times first as deterministic [4] and later as stochastic [5, 6]. Bagchi et al. [7] show that lead time variation is a major source of uncertainty in inventory management and argue that a compounded lead time demand distribution is used. Chatfield et al. [8] note that there is a cascade effect in the supply chain when multiple neighboring supply chain members experience stock outs simultaneously. This cascade effect is the primary focus of the research presented in this paper. This research aims to investigate the nature of supply chains' lead times and how these will impact supply chains' performance.

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_16

From literature [5, 6, 8–10] we know that only the mean  $(\mu_{LT})$  and variance  $(\sigma_{LT}^2)$  of the lead time distribution between echelons impacts the long run performance of the supply chain in the form of the bullwhip effect. In that sense it becomes interesting to investigate what the coefficient of variation is for the lead time distribution  $\left(\frac{\sigma_{LT}}{\mu_{LT}}\right)$  and how it depends on the service level of the chain. Likewise from e.g. Do et al. [11] we also know that the shape of the lead time distribution impacts the time it takes for a supply chain to reach a steady state. Skewed lead time distributions result in longer time/more order cycles being needed to achieve steady state. For that reason it would be interesting to investigate what shape the lead time distribution will assume.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. First, a simple supply chain model is introduced. This model is used to estimate the lead time distribution observed by any given member of the supply chain. Second, we introduce a numerical example that is used to investigate how lead times are in fact behaving in such supply chains. Finally we provide a discussion of the results and the implications of these for research and practice before providing conclusions and avenues of further research.

### 2 A Simple Supply Chain Model

Let us assume a simple supply chain consisting of n members or echelons as illustrated in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Simple linear supply chain.

Each member  $E_j$  of the supply chain observes demand from the subsequent upstream echelon  $E_{j-1}$  and places orders at its subsequent downstream echelon  $E_{j+1}$  for which each member observes lead times. Each member of the supply chain follows a simple re-order point (ROP) method (as assumed in the vast majority of supply chain literature see e.g. Chen et al. [4]) and has a certain service level  $(SL_j)$ .  $SL_j$  is also often referred to as Fill Rate and describes the fraction of demand (in volume) met without lost sales and back orders [12]. In practice this means that e.g. a service level of 0.98 would indicate 98% of all demand volume is satisfied from inventory. This corresponds to a 2% likelihood of not being able to satisfy demand from inventory. In the context of this research we for simplicity's sake assume that the lead time between each neighboring pair of echelons is deterministic and that each supply chain echelon has a constant known service level. We also assume that sales are not lost in case of insufficient inventory, but rather back ordered. This assumption means that any order not directly satisfied from inventory at echelon j must be fulfilled – i.e. it is back ordered and satisfied when possible. In this case it means that this particular demand
will experience a lead time consisting of the lead time between several echelons instead of just between one pair of echelons. This behavior is illustrated in Fig. 2 and is normal behavior for supply chains where there multi-sourcing does not occur.



Fig. 2. Illustration of how far an order penetrates the supply chain before being satisfied from inventory.

As illustrated in Fig. 2 if there is a service level of 90% in all echelons, 90% of demand is fulfilled from echelon 1 directly, 9% is satisfied from echelon 2. This means that the lead time for satisfying demand is the combined lead time from echelon 2 to the customer for 9% of the demand. A step further one can see that 0.9% of the demand is satisfied from echelon 3 (making the lead time for the customer a combination of lead times between echelon  $E_3$  and  $E_2$ ,  $E_2$  and  $E_1$  and lead time from  $E_1$  to the customer) and so on. With this in mind let  $\mu_{LT}^j$  denote the lead time for delivery between echelons *j* and *j* + *1* and n denote the total number of echelons in the supply chain following the ROP method for supply replenishment. If the behavior of the supply chain is as listed above we get that  $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^j$  (estimated mean lead time at  $E_i$ ) is as follows:

$$\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^{j} = \mu_{LT}^{j} \cdot SL_{j} + \left(\mu_{LT}^{j} + \mu_{LT}^{j+1}\right) \cdot \left(1 - SL_{j}\right) \cdot SL_{j+1} + \left(\mu_{LT}^{j} + \mu_{LT}^{j+1} + \mu_{LT}^{j+2}\right) \\ \cdot \left(1 - SL_{j}\right) \cdot \left(1 - SL_{j+1}\right) \cdot SL_{j+2} \cdots$$

where  $SL_j$  is the service level at  $E_j$  and  $1 - SL_j$  is the corresponding stock-out likelihood. This corresponds to that the mean expected observed lead time for the *j'th* echelon is depending on the stock-out likelihood in all previous echelons and the lead time between previous echelons. This makes practical sense, since it implies that orders not directly satisfied from inventory at  $E_j$ , are backordered and satisfied when possible by the previous echelons in the supply chain. It follows that large values of  $SL_k$  (k > j) result in  $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^j$  depending primarily on the service level and lead time from echelons of lower order than k and any echelon further upstream can be dropped from the practical implications. Specifically it also follows that for any  $SL_k = 1$  any echelon k + 1 or lower will not influence the lead time at  $E_j$ . In practice this indicates that the supply

chain is always able to guarantee a maximum lead time to  $E_j$ . We can likewise determine that  $\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^{j^2}$  (variance of lead times at  $E_j$ ) is:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^{j^{2}} = & \left(\mu_{LT}^{j} - \tilde{\mu}_{LT}^{j}\right)^{2} \cdot SL_{j} + \left(\mu_{LT}^{j} + \mu_{LT}^{j+1} - \tilde{\mu}_{LT}^{j}\right)^{2} \cdot (1 - SL_{j}) \cdot SL_{j+1} \\ & + \left(\mu_{LT}^{j} + \mu_{LT}^{j+1} + \mu_{LT}^{j+2} - \tilde{\mu}_{LT}^{j}\right)^{2} \cdot (1 - SL_{j}) \cdot (1 - SL_{j+1}) \\ & \cdot SL_{j+2} \cdots \end{split}$$

As can be seen  $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^j$  and  $\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^{j^2}$  depend on two parameters; the delivery lead time between echelons and the service level (or the stock-out probability) at each echelon.

Some interesting observations can be made on the boundary behavior of  $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^j$  and  $\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^{j^2}$ . If  $SL_1 = 1$  then  $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^j = \mu_{LT}^1$  and  $\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^{j^2} = 0$ . If  $SL_j = SL_{j+1} = SL_{j+2} = \dots SL_k = 0$  for a chain of k members, then  $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^j = \sum_{i=1}^k \mu_{LT}^i$  and  $\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^{j^2} = 0$ . These are the extreme situations corresponding to the first echelon having a 100% service level and all echelons have 0% service levels. Given that there are other echelons of higher order than j it follows that for  $SL_i < 1$ :

 $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^j > \mu_{LT}^j$  so the mean lead time experienced in  $E_j$  is always larger than the lead time between  $E_j$  and  $E_{j+1}$ .

 $\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^{j^2} > 0$  so that the lead times at  $E_j$  have non-zero variance, i.e. are not deterministic, but rather a stochastic variable.

From the behavior of  $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^{j}$  and  $\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^{j^{2}}$  we can also estimate the coefficient of variation (CV) of lead times  $\frac{\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^{j}}{\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^{j}}$  through numerical investigations. This is relevant as a normal threshold for considering a variable as stochastic rather than as deterministic would be a coefficient of variation of 0.05.

### **3** Numerical Illustration

In the following we present a simple numerical illustration of the principles outlined in the previous section. We allow for the following assumptions to simplify the problem and the analysis:

- 1. Delivery time between each echelon is 1 time unit i.e. we set  $\mu_{LT}^{j} = \mu_{LT}^{j+1} = \mu_{LT}^{j+2} = \ldots = 1$
- 2. All echelons have the same service level at a given time i.e. we set  $SL_j = SL_{j+1} = SL_{j+2} = \dots$
- 3. The supply chain consists of up to 10 echelons.

Assumption (1) is used to remove the effect of longer lead times in either the beginning or end of the supply chain on the variation of the lead time in the final echelon and to ease comparison. Assumption (2) is used to limit the scope of the study. Further work will focus on investigating the behavior of  $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^j$  and  $\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^{j^1}$  when  $\mu_{LT}^j \neq$ 

 $\mu_{LT}^{j+1} \neq \mu_{LT}^{j+2} \neq \dots$  and  $SL_j \neq SL_{j+1} \neq SL_{j+2} \neq \dots$  Assumption (3) is simply used to limit the size of the supply chain. In practice it is very unlikely to find a consistent supply chain of such a length where each echelon is pursuing a ROP based replenishment strategy. However, as the illustrations in Fig. 2 show this assumption is rather trivial as no orders will in practice penetrate that far through the chain unless very low service levels are encountered.

We let the service levels vary from 0.65 to 1 and calculate  $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^1$ ,  $\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^1$  and the skewness and kurtosis of the lead time distribution at echelon 1 at each service level.

As can be seen from Fig. 3 even at service levels at 0.99 through the whole chain the lead times are in fact acting as a stochastic variable with a *CV* of 0.1 and that for supply chains with service levels below 0.99 it misleading to assume that echelon 1 will in fact observe deterministic lead times. From the right hand side of Fig. 3 one can note that the lower the service level, the larger  $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^1$  is compared to  $\mu_{LT}^1$ . An interesting phenomenon is that the relative effect on the mean observed lead time is relatively small for high service levels, whereas it is relatively large on the variance of the observed lead times. This is interesting as it indicates that there potentially is larger mistake in assuming deterministic lead times than in the underestimation of the actual observed lead times.



**Fig. 3.** left hand:  $\frac{\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^1}{\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^1}$  as a function of service level. Right hand:  $\frac{\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^1}{\mu_{LT}^1}$  as a function of service level.

From Fig. 4 it can be seen that the lead times at the final echelon is always positively skewed (when the service level is the same through the whole chain) and has a positive kurtosis indicating peakness of the lead time distribution. That the lead time distribution is by definition positively skewed has the interesting implication that at any given time it is more likely to experience a lower lead time than the mean expected lead time and that for high service levels the lead time distribution is in fact exhibiting very



**Fig. 4.** Skewness and kurtosis for  $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^1$  as a function of service level.

peaked behavior. This phenomenon must hold true for  $SL_j > 0.5$  as this would indicate that the majority of lead times observed stem from only the *j*'th echelon and not a combination of subsequent echelons. That the distributions are rather peaked for large values of  $SL_j$  is rather trivial as it simply indicates that supply is satisfied from the previous supply chain member (j + 1), rather than a subsequent combination of upstream members (j + n).

### 4 Discussion

From Duc et al. [9], Kim et al. [10] and Michna et al. [5] we know that lead time variation and the need to estimate lead time distributions are in fact a major source of bullwhip effect in supply chains. It is also interesting to note that the research into stochastic lead times in supply chains is rather limited. Especially since the research presented in this paper proves that lead times in supply chains using ROP-methods must in practice be stochastic rather than deterministic. From the study and the conceptual model we can reach a number of central conclusions. First, let us assume that a supply chain member must rely on a combination of shared information from other members and its own observations to make inventory decisions. If lead time information is not shared in the chain a supply chain member can only rely on what it observes. In this case the above conclusively proves that the observed lead times will in fact (for service levels below 0.99 under conditions of the same lead time between all echelons) act as a random variable. This conclusion is significant in the sense that it underlines that assuming that lead times are deterministic is incorrect and that supply chains by their very nature have to deal with stochastic lead times. What is also interesting to note is that in the numerical example even relatively high service levels

(e.g. SL = 0.96 gives a CV  $\left(\frac{\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^{I}}{\tilde{\mu}_{TT}^{I}}\right)$  of 0.20 if all echelons have the same service level) result in a significant amount of variation in the lead time distribution at the last supply chain member. From Michna et al. [5] we know that lead time variance and the subsequent need to estimate lead times are in fact a (if not the) major source of bullwhip effect. So even at relative high service levels we can now conclude that supply chains (that are not sharing lead time/service level information) will experience a significant bullwhip effect alone due to lead time variation even if lead times between individual echelons are in fact deterministic. The second main conclusion is that it follows from the above that, regardless of the lead times between echelons, the observed lead time distribution will in fact be positively (right) skewed in chains with the same service level at each echelon. This conclusion matches research on practical lead time distributions [13, 14] which indicates that real lead time distributions are in fact positively skewed. Seen in connection with the research in Do et al. [11] this indicates that supply chains of this type will find it more difficult to stabilize performance and there will be a larger need to buffer on safety stock to compensate for the lead time uncertainty. It also tends to indicate that assuming lead time demand is normally distributed will be difficult for short lead times. A third conclusion that requires a bit of extrapolation is that the mean actual lead time experienced by a supply chain member is roughly increasing linearly to the stock out (1-SL) likelihood throughout the chain. That the mean lead time must increase as a function of stock out likelihood is rather trivial. However, the finding that this increase is roughly proportional to the stock out likelihood has some interesting implications as we know from literature (e.g. Chen et al. [4]) that increasing lead times result in increasing bullwhip effect. A final interesting conclusion is that while demand signals are amplified upstream lead time variation can be considered to be amplified downstream. So demand uncertainty propagates upstream, while lead times propagate downstream as illustrated on Fig. 5.



Fig. 5. The nature of variance propagation in supply chains.

This finding is interesting as it runs contrary to the majority of supply chain literature, where focus is very much on upstream demand and downstream capacity signaling. We consider this to be a significant point that requires further attention in the future. It also seems to support the findings of e.g. Michna et al. [5] that the bull whip effect is strongly linked to the variance of lead times.

### 5 Conclusion and Further Research

The conclusions from the study are quite simple. If a supply chain consists of members that supply subsequent downstream members from inventory using Re-order point based methods and the SL in the chain is less than 0.99, lead times will in fact behave as stochastic with coefficients of variance above 0.1. In this case it would be patently wrong to assume that lead times are in fact deterministic in nature. Even short supply chains will in fact have stochastic rather than deterministic lead times. Consider the simple example with service levels 0.90; 0.90; 1.00 and lead times 1;1;1 in echelons 1, 2 and 3. In this case  $\frac{\tilde{\sigma}_{LT}^i}{\tilde{\mu}_{tr}^i}$  is 0.31 and  $\tilde{\mu}_{LT}^1$  is 1.11.

Further work will including extending the conclusions to cover the situations where delivery lead times between echelons are in fact stochastic rather than deterministic. Furthermore it would be beneficial to extend the conclusions to supply chains where there is a non-constant service level and varying delivery lead times across all echelons.

### References

- 1. Forrester, J.W.: Industrial Dynamics, 1st edn. The M.I.T. Press, Cambridge (1961)
- Sitek, P., Wikarek, J.: A hybrid approach to the optimization of multiechelon systems. Math. Probl. Eng. (2015). Article number 925675
- Sitek, P., Nielsen, I.E., Wikarek, J.: A hybrid multi-agent approach to the solving supply chain problems. Procedia Comput. Sci. 35(C), 1557–1566 (2014)
- Chen, F., Drezner, Z., Ryan, J.K., Simchi-Levi, D.: Quantifying the bullwhip effect in a simple supply chain: the impact of forecasting, lead times, and information. Manag. Sci. 46(3), 436–443 (2000)
- Michna, Z., Nielsen, I.E., Nielsen, P.: The bullwhip effect in supply chains with stochastic lead times. Math. Econ. 9(16), 71–88 (2013)
- Wang, X., Disney, S.M.: Mitigating variance amplification under stochastic lead-time: the proportional control approach. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 256(1), 151–162 (2017)
- Bagchi, U., Hayya, J.C., Chu, C.-H.: The effect of lead-time variability: the case of independent demand. J. Oper. Manag. 6(2), 159–177 (1986)
- Chatfield, D.C., Kim, J.G., Harrison, T.P., Hayya, J.C.: The bullwhip effect Impact of stochastic lead time, information quality, and information sharing: a simulation study. Prod. Oper. Manag. 13(4), 340–353 (2004)
- Duc, T.T.H., Luong, H.T., Kim, Y.D.: A measure of the bullwhip effect in supply chains with stochastic lead time. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 38(11–12), 1201–1212 (2008)
- Kim, J.G., Chatfield, D., Harrison, T.P., Hayya, J.C.: Quantifying the bullwhip effect in a supply chain with stochastic lead time. Eur. J. Oper. Res. **173**(2), 617–636 (2006)
- Do, N.A.D., Nielsen, P., Michna, Z., Nielsen, I.E.: Quantifying the Bullwhip Effect of multi-echelon system with stochastic dependent lead time. In: Advances in Production Management Systems. Innovative and Knowledge-Based Production Management in a Global-Local World: IFIP WG 5.7 International Conference, Proceedings, Part I, vol. 438, pp. 419–426. Springer, Heidelberg (2014)
- Silver, E.A., Pyke, D.F., Peterson, R.: Inventory Management and Production Planning and Scheduling, 3 ed. Wiley, Hoboken (1998)

172 P. Nielsen et al.

- 13. Disney, S.M., Maltz, A., Wang, X., Warburton, R.D.H.: Inventory management for stochastic lead times with order crossovers. Eur. J. Oper. Res. **248**(2), 473–486 (2016)
- Nielsen, P., Michna, Z., Do, N.A.D.: An Empirical Investigation of Lead Time Distributions. In: Grabot, B., Vallespir, B., Gomes, S., Bouras, A., Kiritsis, D. (eds.) APMS 2014. IAICT, vol. 438, pp. 435–442. Springer, Heidelberg (2014). doi:10.1007/978-3-662-44739-0\_53

# Into Organizational Structure Simplicity

Katarzyna Tworek<sup>(⊠)</sup>, Marian Hopej, and Janusz Martan

Wrocław University of Science and Technology, Wrocław, Poland
{katarzyna.tworek, marian.hopej,
 janusz.martan}@pwr.edu.pl

**Abstract.** The article attempts to define the principle of the simplicity of the organizational structure and its determinants. It has been established that abiding by the principle of simplicity means minimizing the level of structural characteristics (such as hierarchy, centralization, specialization and formalization), as well as increasing the transparency of organizational rules. The factors shaping the simplicity of the organizational structure were also indicated.

Keywords: Organization · Organizational structure · Simplicity of activities

### 1 Introduction

It is assumed that the organizational structure is a set of rules regulating the behavior of the organization members. As Steinmann and Schreyögg emphasize, it has to "... not only facilitate the smooth implementation of activities, but also lead the conflicts to the right paths, create pathways for the emergence of new ideas, or unify the outward appearance" [28]. They define the way in which the members of the organization work, making them more predictable, with the principle that the more organizational rules, the more work is deprived of the individuality.

The organizational structure, which is an element of every organization, serves the needs of management primarily. Especially:

- defines the division of labor,
- introduces the link between carried out activities,
- shapes the division of power,
- regulates relations with the environment [9, 19, 29]

Shaping the organizational structure is one of the fundamental issues of management science. It is no wonder then that management classics have formulated its principles [5], which can be divided into two groups:

- concerning the solution of the fragmentary problems connected with shaping the structure [19],
- concerning the desirable characteristics of the structure as a whole.

One of the basic principles of the second group is the simplicity of a structural solution, usually associated with its configuration [3, 4, 32]. However, the organizational structure is characterized not only by configuration but also by, e.g. centralization, specialization or formalization. Moreover, the model of the simple structure, closely related to

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_17

the principle of simplicity, is not indisputable, especially regarding the degree of centralization.

In the literature, the W.R. Ashby's law, which states that each variety should be balanced by another, is increasingly questioned. Following the growing complexity of the environment usually ends with the bureaucracy's ineffectiveness, which prevents an effective response to changes in the environment [3]. It is increasingly widely believed that structural solutions need to be simplified, although it is not easy and requires detailed analysis [15]. Despite this, simplifying actions are being implemented in some organizations to build the competitive advantage [13]. They are undoubtedly justified because organizations, including their structural solutions, are often highly complex. It was confirmed by a survey made by Camelot Management Consultants [26] among 150 organizations from various industries. It turned out that almost 83% of them described the level of organizational complexity as too high.

It also draws attention to the fact that the organizational structure is not considered from a holistic point of view. Of course, in such modern management instruments as lean management or reengineering, structure simplification is a part of multidimensional ventures, but they are not a core of those instruments. Therefore, it is not surprising that it is difficult to find in the literature concerning these instruments any statements, which would point to some recommendations to simplify organizational rules adequately linked to other elements of the organization and the environment.

The arguments mentioned above result in the need for a new approach to the simplicity of the organizational structure, which is a relative notion, also because it is gradual and there is a need for identification of its most important determinants. This article attempts to address this need, i.e., designations of the activities related to the observance of the organizational structure simplicity principle regarding shaping it and the more important conditions of simplicity. The realization of these intentions was based on:

- critical analysis of literature in the field of organizing activities;
- analysis of the simplicity (complexity) of structural solutions using the fractal calculus;
- empirical research on the factors shaping the simplicity of the structure.

### 2 Simple Organizational Structure Principle

In the literature concerning organizational structures, a simple structural solution is described in a very similar way (Table 1).

It can be said that it relies more or less on the model of a simple structure proposed by H. Mintzberg, in which the main part is the so-called strategic vertex and basic coordination mechanism - direct supervision. The mid-level staff does not appear because the management team is a small group of top management or even one person. Techno-structure and auxiliary services are reduced to a minimum and usually do not occur at all. A good example of an organization with a simple structural solution is a small workshop in which the owner deals with all matters, e.g., determines the order of individual operations execution, seeks new orders, controls, etc.

Author(s)	Characteristic		
Pawlak, Smoleń [20]	A small number of organizational units' positions and organizational		
	links		
Robbins, DeCenzo [22]	A small degree of specialization, formalization, flattened hierarchy,		
	significant centralization		
Sobczak [27]	A small degree of internal variation, high degree of centralization		
Zakrzewska-Bielawska	A small number of management levels, low level of specialization,		
[34]	significant centralization		
Ashkenas [1]	A small complexity of the hierarchy, a small degree of specialization		
Malik [17]	A small degree of specialization and standardization of activities, a		
	flattened hierarchy		
Global Simplicity	A small number of management levels, a small spread, significant		
Index [7]	centralization		

Table 1. Simple organizational structure according to some authors (own work)

However, such a structure can be seen as a restrictive solution, as the rules of action are set by one person, and the rest must be subordinated to them. The maneuvering area is, therefore, small [6]. It would certainly be greater if the basic coordination mechanism was not direct supervision, but mutual alignment, consisting of the direct coordination of the members of the organization, equipped with high decision-making powers.

Hence, the following question arises: is such a structure, which gives people greater freedom of decision-making action, simpler? Its legitimacy is also supported by e.g.:

- the accepted definition of organizational structure, which is the simpler, the less organizational rules, the number of which depends in turn on the scope of human decision-making freedom;
- the fact that the simplification of the structural solution requires the limitation of imposed rules so that people can creatively react in a complex and dynamic way [12].

The answer to this question was formulated based on the idea of a fractal tree, which resembles a simple structure configuration. The calculations revealed that when the intensity of direct supervision increases, the complexity of the structure also increases, although this is not a linear dependence [12]. This means that a simple structure is not a centralized but a decentralized solution in which the top management allows all subordinates to manage their activities independently. It is also characterized by the small degree of specialization and formalization of activities, just like in the case of the H. Mintzberg's simple structure.

The opposite of such a structural solution is a complex structure, characterized by an extensive hierarchy, a high degree of centralization, specialization, and formalization. Therefore, it can be said that the continuum of organizational structures may by drawn by their simplicity, which is illustrated in Fig. 1. Moving along in it towards the Z point means an increase in the complexity of the structure (lowering the simplicity) while moving toward the P point means an increase in the simplicity (reduction of complexity). P (simple structure) Z (complex structure)



On this basis, the following research question can be formulated: what the organizational structure should be regarding its simplicity? It can be said, paraphrasing words of A. Einstein ("everything should be done as simple as possible, but not simpler"), that structures should be as simple as possible, but not simpler [21]. This means that:

- the structure should be appropriate to the characteristics of the other elements of the organization and its environment (context);
- from the set of context-sensitive structural solutions, the simplest ones should be chosen, i.e. the one placed on the continuum closest to P point [12].

Therefore, obedience to this principle of structure simplicity leads not only to the formation of a rational structural solution but also to the reduction and promotion of elasticity of organizational management [14].

### **3** Actions Simplifying the Organizational Structure

With all the attacks directed nowadays in the world of the organization against the hierarchy, it must be remembered that there is no organization without hierarchical order, which is not denied either by virtuality or by the idea of organizational learning [25, 28]. However, the hierarchy should be as compact as possible, so that the chain of commands is as short as possible. As Drucker wrote many years ago, "... an extra hierarchy level hinders the achievement of common direction and mutual understanding. Each such additional level distorts the purpose and distracts attention from what is essential. Each chain link contributes additional tension, creating one more source of inertia, friction, and sluggishness.

And above all, especially in big business, every extra level hampers the formation of tomorrow's managers, on the one hand, because it raises the time of promotion, on the other, because in such an arrangement, promotion is more likely for specialized workers than managers." [4]. The demand for flattening organizational structures is formulated by many other management theorists and managers. Among others, previously cited M. Crozier and J. Welch and S. Welch wrote once that "it is precisely because of the irresistible pursuit of ranks that I propose that you flatten your company's structure by 50% in comparison with what you would normally feel good about. Managers should have at least ten direct subordinates and even 30% to 50% more if they have more experience" [32].

Being guided by the principle of simplicity also requires solving the problem of the number and size of basic organizational units, i.e. units that are separated from the "top" hierarchy level. In particular, the question is whether there should be fewer, but larger ones or more smaller ones.

This question can be answered based on the example of two structural solutions, which ideological schemes are shown in Fig. 2. They differ both in the number of basic organizational units and in their size, but the common feature is that they illustrate solutions that regulate the behavior of the same number of employees (16).



Fig. 2. Ideological schemes of two structural solutions (own work)

If we assume that the measure of the structure complexity can be based on the fractal dimension, then its value for both solutions can be calculated using the following formula:

$$D_{s} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{1}{i} \cdot \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\ln x_{ij}}{\ln \frac{1}{\gamma}}$$

$$\tag{1}$$

where:

 $x_{ij}$  – span of control (i-th level, j-th manager) in the organizational unit, which is a typical fractal tree

 $\gamma$  – intensity of direct supervision as a coordinating mechanism<sup>1</sup> The calculations (Table 2) show that:

- The greater the number of basic organizational units, the greater the complexity of the structure. Within the "a" structure, there are more expanded units than in the "b" structure, but according to the formula for complexity (Ds), the impact of lower levels on total complexity is smaller than that of higher levels. Therefore, the "b" structure is more complex than the "a" structure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The assumptions for deriving this formula are outlined in the article [10].

$\gamma$ -intensity of direct supervision (in % of power owned by the manager)	50 (0,5)	33 (0,33)	25 (0,25)
Dsa	4,58	2,89	2,29
Dsb	4,82	3,03	2,41

**Table 2.** The complexity of the two structures regarding different intensity of direct supervision<sup>a</sup> (own work)

<sup>a</sup>The concept of direct supervision is used in the sense given to it by Mintzberg [18]. The example of gamma values illustrates the decrease in the intensity of supervision as an instrument of coordination.

 The lower the intensity of direct supervision (the greater the decentralization), the simpler the structure.

It can be concluded that the simplicity of the structure is conducive to the creation of the smallest possible number of basic organizational units. This applies both to performance-oriented units and to object-oriented units (e.g., manufacturing specific products), although object-oriented units are typically characterized by a greater degree of decentralization [9].

The biggest possible decentralization means that members of the organization do not act by predetermined rules but are required to develop their own rules of conduct. In other words, there is a need for creating positions with autonomy and responsibility. Moreover, their actions cannot be homogeneous and reproducible, but as diverse as possible, forcing them to think systemically, and therefore remain not specialized.

It should be underlined that the image of positions created by the principle of simplicity should be as transparent as possible. This requires, among others:

- The assurance of the suitability of the scope of tasks performed in positions, powers, and responsibilities. The greater the suitability, the simpler the structure.
- The assurance of the separation of duties and responsibilities. The more this requirement is respected, the simpler the structure.
- The observance of the principle of unity of order, because multi-line structures are more complex than one-line ones.

The limitation to the minimum of the necessary auxiliary, advisory, and control positions. The fewer staff posts, the simpler the structure.

Also, the degree of formalization should be kept to a minimum. Of course, this applies to the rules introduced in an official way, but also to those introduced in other ways. Intelligent formalization exists because the opportunity is created for the organization members to create non-formal rules spontaneously. Those rules have a kind of backstage character and are the source of indicative patterns and expectations [28]. If they comply with formal rules, they will pass the exam in their daily work.

However, there is no such thing as an organizational structure devoid of any problems. All structural solutions are imperfect because they generate conflicts due to both organizational differentiation and organizational integration. There is also no ideal simplification of the structure. It usually requires compromises, primarily due to the rapidly growing uncertainty of the environment. Although transparency of organizational rules is an important aspect of simplicity, it is not possible to exclude instances in which matrix structural solutions (not based on the unity of order) are indispensable because they have no alternatives at present. As Malik [17] rightly points out, they are a threat to good governance. The key to achieving good results is the principle of focusing attention on the most important issues, which compliance is very difficult within the matrix structure.

The principle of unity of order is also not respected in solutions designed to be a sign of a modern management approach. It is the constant "overlay" of various forms of teamwork into traditional solutions, such as functional, which is the DNA of entirety of organizational rules [16, 23]. However, such solutions are by their relatively complex due to the hybridity of them, especially when teamwork is poorly organized, which unfortunately does not occasionally happen [17]. This implies the need for caution in the application of such structural solutions. Hence, they should not be the first choice.

### 4 Conditions of Structure Simplicity

The simplicity of the organizational structure seems to depend on many different factors. One of them is the uncertainty of the environment. High uncertainty undoubtedly requires a great deal of decision-making freedom for members of the organization. They may then, according to the paradigm of Burns and Stalker [28], quickly and rationally react to the changing environment and responsibly manage their work. On the other hand, the more stable the environment (less uncertain), the more unpredictable the behavior of organizational members might be and, therefore, the smaller their decision-making freedom. This means that the less uncertain is the environment, the more complex the organizational structure becomes. Conversely, increasing uncertainty leads to a simpler structural solution.

Another factor is the organization's dependence on the environment. It is easy to see that the increase in this dependence requires greater adaptability, which is conducive to the flexibility of the structural solution, which is equal to the increase of decision-making freedom of the organization members. Hence, the greater the organization's dependence on the environment, the simpler the structural solution is, while the reduction in dependence seems to result in an increase in the complexity of the structure.

The natural consequence of the increase in the number of organizational members or its revenue is the increase in the number of positions, including management positions, a number of hierarchy levels, procedures and organizational documents [29]. The larger the organization, the more complex the structure and vice versa (the smaller the organization, the simpler the structural solution).

Over 50 years ago Chandler [28] found that increased diversification of production is often accompanied by the introduction of functional, more complex, structural solutions. It can be assumed that between the diversification and the simplicity of the structure there is the following relation: the lower the diversification, the simpler the structure (and vice versa, the increase in the degree of diversification leads to an increase in the complexity of the structure). Another factor is organizational culture, which can be divided into open and closed, depending on the formation of three dimensions: anthropological, social and cognitive. The first is the freedom that an organization has in deciding its fate, the other defines whether it is dominated by individualism or collectivism, and the third is the question of whether human cognition is considered infallible or unreliable [8]. It is easy to see that both "opening up" of organizational culture and the simplification of structure not only increase decision-making freedom but also facilitate organizational learning and rational response to environmental challenges. It follows that "the opening up" of culture is conducive to the simplification of the structural solution, and its "closing" is conducive to its complication.

It is assumed that the professionalism of the organization members is "a set of skills which allow them to solve complex, non-routine problems independently" [24]. Reaching the benefits of the professionalism of the organization members requires a structural solution that enables them to be highly independent and responsible for decision-making. This means that the more professional the participants are, the simpler the structure, and the less professional, the more complex the structure.

The leadership can be distinguished as classical and organic leadership (scattered). The first is based on a strong individual or group that gives the others an unquestioned (mainly due to fear or respect) command, while the essence of distributed leadership is that it emerges from the relationship between the members of the organization. Classical leadership fits into a mechanistic (complex) structural solution and dispersed into a highly flexible, that allows people, among others, to react quickly to the rapid changes in the environment. The more distracted the character is, the simpler the structure, and the vice versa, the more classical it is, the more complex is the structural solution.

The impact of another factor, i.e. the leadership aspiration to simplify the organization, is undoubtful. The more determined the leadership is in the efforts to simplify the organization, the simpler the structural solution (and the less the determination, the more complex the structure).

Manufacturing technologies and organizational structure are also interdependent, as certain structures exclude specific technologies (e.g. organic structure and assembly line), and certain technologies can only be used with appropriate structures (e.g. pipeline production requires a stable structure). Based on the often-quoted literature and findings of Wodword [33], it can be assumed that the greater the routine of applied technology, the more complex the structure is and vice versa, the more non-routine technology, the simpler the structure.

Many researchers underline that information technology increases the independence of employees by increasing their knowledge of goals and processes, enabling them to access up-to-date and important information, and simplifying and intensifying communication within the organization and with the environment [2]. According to many authors, the use of information technology leads to the flattening of structures [30, 31]. This means that the greater the range of information technology, the simpler the structure and vice versa, the smaller the range, the more complex the structure.

It is impossible to disagree with Ashkenas [1] that gradual accumulation of changes in organizational structure not only leads to an increase in complexity, but also to the difficulty of functioning and development of the organization. Consequently, the following correlation seems to be relevant: the more structural changes and the longer the organization's lifetime, the more complex the structure. Conversely, the shorter the period of the organization and the number of changes in the structure, the simpler it is [11].

The above hypotheses were subject to preliminary verification. A survey among 100 companies operating in Lower Silesia revealed that among structural factors, none were predictors (the use of stepwise regression) of all dimensions of the structure, although each of them had statistically significant models. The results point out that:

- The hierarchy is less developed when the organization is smaller, less diversified, and more driven by the management to simplify it. This dimension of the structure is explained in 47% by the mentioned factors.
- The degree of centralization is smaller when the organization is larger and younger, with more open organizational culture and manufacturing technology with more non-routine character is used (corrected  $R^2 = 0.04$ ).
- The degree of specialization is smaller (simpler structure in this dimension) when manufacturing technology with more non-routine character is used (the degree of specialization is explained in 65% by this factor).
- The structure in the dimension of formalization is simpler (i.e. the formalization of activities is smaller) when the organization is smaller, less dependent on the environment and there is greater involvement of the management in simplifying the organization (adjusted  $R^2 = 0.433$ ).
- The degree of standardization of activities is smaller (and therefore a simpler structure in this dimension) when the organization is smaller and manufacturing technology with more non-routine character is used. This dimension is explained in 20% by both factors [12].

Although these dependencies are neither unavoidable nor certain, it authenticates the influence of organization size, diversification of business activity, manufacturing technology, organizational culture, and management determination in organizational simplification (including structure) on the simplicity of the organizational structure.

# 5 Summary

The principle of simplicity of the organizational structure seems to be crucial in the management. Its adherence requires twofold action:

- Limiting to the necessary minimum the level of formation of such structural characteristics as hierarchy, centralization, specialization and formalization. This means, among other things, that the number of levels of hierarchy, basic organizational units, workstations, organizational documents, as well as decisions taken by senior management should be reduced as far as possible.
- Increasing the transparency of organizational rules, e.g. by as precisely as possible determining the scope of tasks, increasing the appropriateness of tasks, powers, and responsibilities, limiting the number of staff posts and meetings, and striving for the unity of order.

It can be concluded that simplifying the structure is not easy. Requires, among others, implementation of complex activities related to shaping an open organizational culture. Its efficacy also seems to depend on the efforts of the organization's leadership to simplify it, the importance of which, as a structural factor, will probably grow as the dynamics and complexity of the environment grow.

# References

- 1. Ashkenas, R.: Simplicity-minded management. Harvard Bus. Rev. 85(12), 101-111 (2007)
- Crowston, K.: Processes as theory in information systems research. In: International Working Conference on the Social and Organizational Perspective on Research and Practice in Information Technology, Arlborg, Germany (2000)
- 3. Crozier, M.: Przedsiębiorstwo na podsłuchu. PWE, Warszawa (1993)
- 4. Drucker, P.F.: Praktyka zarządzania. Czytelnik. Nowoczesność. Akademia Ekonomiczna w Krakowie, Kraków (1994)
- 5. Fayol, H.: Ogólne zasady administracji, w: Twórcy naukowych podstaw organizacji, Kurnal J. (red.). PWE, Warszawa (1972)
- Glinka, B., Hensel P.: Projektowanie struktur organizacyjnych, Wydawnictwo Wyższej Szkoły Przedsiębiorczości i Zarządzania im. L. Koźmińskiego, Warszawa (1999)
- Global Simplicity Index. http://www.simplicity-consulting.com/research\_items/globalsimplicity-index-2/. Accessed 02 Sept 2015
- Gebert, D., Boerner, S.: Organizational culture and creative processes: comparing German theater companies and scientific institutes. Nonprofit Manag. Leadersh. 16(2), 209–220 (2005)
- 9. Hopej, M.: Dokonywanie zmian w strukturze organizacyjnej. Wydawnictwo Politechniki Wrocławskiej, Wrocław (1994)
- Hopej, M., Martan, J.: Pomiar hierarchii organizacyjnej. Przegląd Organizacji 12, 15–17 (2009)
- 11. Hopej-Kamińska, M., Zgrzywa-Ziemak, A., Hopej, M., Kamiński, R.: Myślenie systemowe a prostota struktury organizacyjnej. Przegląd Organizacji **8**, 19–25 (2013)
- 12. Hopej-Kamińska, M., Zgrzywa-Ziemak, A., Hopej, M., Kamiński, R., Martan, J.: Simplicity as a feature of an organizational structure. Argumenta Oeconomica 1(34), 264–268 (2015)
- Kledt, F., Evers, P., Benson, D.: Organizational Complexity. Contemporary Theory and Practice of Organizations, Part I: Understanding the Organization, vol. 95. Columbia University Press, New York City (2016)
- 14. Koźmiński, A.K., Jemielniak, D., Latusek-Jurczak, D.: Zasady zarządzania. Oficyna a Wolters Kluwer business, Warszawa (2014)
- Liu, H., Ma, L., Huang, P.: When organizational complexity helps corporation improve its performance. J. Manag. Dev. 34(3), 340–351 (2015)
- 16. Łobos, K.: Organizacje-prostota idee, zasady, narzędzia. Wydawnictwo Wyższej Szkoły Bankowej w Poznaniu, Poznań (2011)
- 17. Malik, F.: Kieruj działaj żyj. Zawód menedżer. NT Buissnes Ltd., Warszawa (2015)
- Mintzberg, H.: Structure in Fives Designing Effective Organizations. Prentice Hall International Edition, Upper Saddle River (1983)
- 19. Nalepka, A., Kozina, A.: Podstawy badania struktury organizacyjnej. Wydawnictwo Akademii Ekonomicznej w Krakówie, Kraków (2007)
- Pawlak, Z., Smoleń, A.: Organizacja firmy. Projektowanie, budowa, usprawnianie. Poltex, Warszawa (2008)

- Prostota jest wartością (2013). http://www.originall.redhosti.pl/wordpress. Accessed 10 Mar 2013
- 22. Robbins, S.P., DeCenzo, D.A.: Podstawy Zarządzania. PWE, Warszawa (2002)
- 23. Schneider, J., Hoffman, W.H.: Die einfache Organization, IFE, ob./2016
- Sikorski, C.: Profesjonalizm. Filozofia zarządzania nowoczesnym przedsiębiorstwem. PWN, Warszawa (1995)
- 25. Senge, P.: Piąta dyscyplina. Teoria i praktyka organizacji uczących się. Dom Wydawniczy ABC, Warszawa (1998)
- 26. Shey, V., Roesgen, R.: Mastering Complexity. Focus Topic Paper. Pub. v. Josef Packowski und Libor Kotlik. Camelot Management Consultants AG (2012)
- 27. Sobczak, A.: Struktury organizacyjne, w: Zarządzanie. Teoria i praktyka, w: Koźmiński A. K, Piotrowski W. (red.), Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN, Warszawa, pp. 277–278 (2006)
- Steinmann, H., Schreyögg, G.: Zarządzanie. Oficyna Wydawnicza Politechniki Wrocławskiej, Wrocław (2001)
- 29. Schoenherr, R.A., Blau, P.M.: The Structure Of Organizations. Basic Books, New York (1971)
- Travica, B.: Information aspects of new organizational designs: exploring the non-traditional organization. JASIS 49(13), 1224–1244 (1998)
- 31. Tworek, K.: Wpływ technologii informacyjnych na struktury organizacyjne przedsiębiorstw. Ph.D. thesis, Wroclaw University of Technology, Wroclaw (2014)
- 32. Welch, J., Welch, S.: Winning znaczy zwyciężać. Wydawnictwo Studio Emka, Warszawa (2005)
- 33. Woodward, J.: Industrial organization: Behaviour and control. Oxford Univ Pr. (1970)
- Zakrzewska-Bielawska, A.: Typy struktur organizacyjnych, w: Podstawy zarządzania, Zakrzewska-Bielawska, A. (red.), Podstawy Zarządzania, Oficyna a Wolters Kluwer business, Warszawa, s. 295 (2012)

# Simulation Approach to Forecasting Population Ageing on Regional Level

Jacek Zabawa<sup>(<sup>ICI</sup>)</sup>, Bożena Mielczarek, and Maria Hajłasz

Wrocław University of Science and Technology, Wrocław, Poland jacek.zabawa@pwr.edu.pl

**Abstract.** The paper discusses the simulation model that uses system dynamics method to study the demographic changes forecasted for the population, based on the aging chain approach. The goal of the study was to elaborate the method to overcome the drainage problem that manifests itself in the smaller number of individuals belonging to the simulated cohorts, as compared to the real population data. The solution for the drainage problem is presented. We propose the original modelling methodology that assumes the coexistence of main and elementary population cohorts. The simulation model was verified based on the historical data for Wrocław Region population and the results of the experiments prove the high degree of compatibility of the simulated age and gender related characteristics with the empirical data, which entitles us to formulate the perspectives of using this approach in the next stages of our research.

Keywords: Simulation · System dynamics · Ageing chain · Population

### 1 Introduction

A wide range of economic studies requires the credible demographic forecasts to be performed before the essential stage of research is started. When the quantitative evaluations of micro or macroeconomic performances depend on the effects of demographic trends then the proper examination of long-term implications of population dynamics can heavily influence the quality of final conclusions formulated for economic and managerial decision problems.

Financial sustainability of social security systems and, more generally, the burden on the state's budget due to the pensions paid to senior citizens, depends on the size of the older population and the percentage of insured employees [18]. The credible forecasting of the future demographic trends enables to indicate the optimal retirement age that would stop the budget deficit to grow.

It is proved [12], that there is a strong correlation between demography and savings, and between the population ageing and the economic growth. The authors investigated the life cycle hypothesis and empirically confirmed that population ageing has the negative influence on the society's savings. The working period favors the savings to grow and the retirement gradually weakens and stops this trend.

Population projections are necessary when studying the healthcare management problems. Lagergren [11] analyzed the relations between the increase of the older population and the growth of the number of seriously ill patients. Based on the

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_18

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

demographic data it was possible to estimate the total resource requirements for Swedish healthcare system in the future. Senese et al. [17] used the population projections to forecast the growing needs for human (personnel) resources. Ansah et al. [1] stressed the importance of demographic analysis when estimating the requirements for long-term care services. The knowledge about the structure and the number of the population with certain diagnose (i.e. dementia) enables to carefully plan the financial and human resources needed to cover the future demand for treatment. Jagger et al. [7] emphasized the importance of planning not only the number but also the certain types of medical specialties to best suit the population needs.

In this paper, we present the aging chain model that replicates population evolution according to continuous simulation paradigm. In our previous research [13, 14], we discussed the implementation of the cohort modeling approach using the system dynamics (SD) method. The projections of long-term population evolutions were performed on the aggregated data and the analysis was focused on pre-specified age-gender cohorts. The demographic groups were described using demographic parameters such as birth and death rates, life expectancy, and migration descriptors.

The challenge to be solved when using the SD approach to model the chronological aging of the population is the wastage of individuals that belong to particular cohorts. Using a series of stocks to represent population, the level of individuals in every cohort and the total population are smaller than expected if there are intermediate outflows that drain the cohorts located in the middle of the chain [3]. This phenomenon is particularly evident when the aging chain is defined for a long-run horizon. In our model, the cohort drainage is a troubling issue because every cohort is drained by at least two intermediate outflows (i.e. deaths and emigration).

To overcome the drainage problem we propose the method that eliminates the differences between the historical and the simulated values of age-gender cohorts in the aging chain population model. The goal of the paper is to introduce the solution and verify its credibility by comparing the empirical data, taken from [6] and the results of the simulation.

### 2 Aging Chain Modeling

Aging chains population models are usually built using SD method, the continuous simulation approach developed by Forrester [5]. The SD demographic model consists of the series of stocks to represent the sub-groups of population being at the similar age and the same gender. The stocks accumulate individuals that move through the system. An individual is born and immediately becomes a member of the youngest cohort. After the pre-specified length of time, a person grows up and is moved to the older cohort. The maturation is continued along the aging chain and at the end, after the lifetime, an individual reaches the last age-gender subgroup. In steady state the average age of population is equal the average lifetime which is also the average age of people dying. The flows in demographic SD model are used to represent the movement of individuals over a specified period of time, which is interpreted as the average residence time needed for example for a child to leave the youngest cohort and enter the subsequent one (i.e. from cohort 0-4 to cohort 5-9).

Each person in each moment of simulation belongs to only one age-gender cohort and in the next point of time a person can only be moved forward (the age of an individual can only increase). An individual becomes a member of the particular age-gender cohort when one of the following events takes place: birth (concerns only the youngest cohort, i.e. the cohort starting with the age zero), maturation (a person leaves the previous cohort and enters the next one when the maximum age, as defined for the younger cohort, is reached), immigration (the sources for immigration are irrelevant here). A person ceases to be a member of the cohort when she/he dies, is old enough to become a member of the older cohort, emigrates (the target for the emigration is irrelevant here).

The maturation time is equal to the difference between the oldest age that entitles to stay in the cohort and the age the person entered the cohort plus one. In other words, an individual stays in the cohort for the time that equals the age range of this cohort plus one, unless the person dies or emigrates.

# 3 Modelling Technology

### 3.1 Basic Assumptions

The simulation model was built according to SD approach [5], using ExtendSim software, based on the demographic data from Wrocław Region. The model is a part of the master hybrid model, in which the continuous changes of the population dynamics influence the discrete events of the health care model [13].

Ten state variables define the population inside 36 main cohorts (0-4, 5-9, 10-14, 15-19, 20-24, 25-29, 30-34, 35-39, 40-44, 45-49, 50-54, 55-59, 60-64, 65-69, 70-74, 75-79, 80-84, 85-105): 18 female and 18 male cohorts. Each cohort represents a separate state variable described by the*stock level*. A stock represents the number of individuals that belong to one cohort and a*flow*is equivalent to a rate that describes the intensity of the changes observed in the stock. The structure of the simulation model is determined by the available historical input data and the stability of the cause-effect relations that describe the population. We have assumed the availability of following data:

- Cohorts are described by the number of people of the same gender and the similar age. In particular, the initial values for each of the 36 main cohorts and for 14 historical years (from the year 2002 to 2015) were collected.
- Birth rates describe number of children born during each year. These parameters depend on the number of women from particular female cohorts.
- Death rates describe number of people belonging to particular cohort who died during each year. For the last cohort the average life expectancy is used instead.
- The volume of immigrating and emigrating people depend on the size of each cohort.

#### 3.2 Challenges

The previous version of aging chain model, developed for Wrocław Region (WR) and described in [13], was characterized by some serious drawbacks. The natural maturation lengths, interpreted as the differences between the maximum and the minimum age for each cohort, led to the small but noticeable deviations from the historical data. The prediction error suggested the population was aging too fast. Many different attempts have been made to solve the problem, to name the most important:

- the time ranges for each cohort were extended,
- the birth and death rates were modified,
- the corrections within the computation algorithm were suggested,
- the maturation times were extended based on the genetic optimization algorithm.

The results were satisfactory from the quantitative (numerical) point of view, however each of the above mentioned solutions was difficult to accept because of the non-transparent explanations that lie behind them. For example, when applying such a solution for another region, the tedious calculations would have to be made each time the new data were added to the input data base.

Eberlein and Thompson [4] used the continuous cohorting approach and they assumed that every input flow entering the cohort is delayed by the time that has to be spent in the previous cohort. Extendsim delivers the block that acts just as the conveyor type solution applied by Eberlein and Thompson [4], however this block can not be used for discrete simulation and therefore its use is excluded in hybrid modeling as well. For this reason such a solution was rejected from our study. Sato et al. [16] suggested to consider the year of birth instead of the age of the person when defining the consecutive cohorts, however such a solution forces the entirely new approach to be used when defining the input statistical parameters. For example, the migration rates for people who were born in the same year change over time and they would have to be modified accordingly.

In our model we decided to divide the WR population into 105 elementary cohorts for both genders. One cohort simulates one year of aging of males and (separately) females. To properly run the simulation, the specially designed blocks were developed, tested and implemented in the simulation model.

#### 3.3 Hierarchical Blocks - General Background

The population model was developed in Extendsim 9.2 using the blocks from Value library. The set of hierarchical blocks was designed to represent the elementary and the main cohorts. These new blocks are ready to be used in the future implementations of Extendsim environment. The blocks can be compiled, incorporated into the users' libraries and used repeatedly. Their equivalent in object-oriented programming languages is object plus private variables, methods for processing information and the mechanism such as encapsulation/inheritance and instantiation. Every modification made in the structure or the internal code of the hierarchical block is automatically replicated in its instances. This approach enabled us to create and run the model

composed of over one hundred hierarchical blocks for both genders. Each block simulates one year aging of the population cohort. The concept of hierarchical modeling and the example of the hierarchical block designed by the user is discussed in [8].

The model works inside the master model and has to cooperate with the discrete submodel and therefore the compatibility with the library Item has to be ensured. One of the requirements was the adoption of named connection approach. When the different model regions work simultaneously, then the correction of the names of the connections is required in order to avoid names' duplication.

#### 3.4 Key Elementary Blocks in Extendsim Environment

Modeling in Extendsim environment is done through selecting the block from the library, inserting the block's instance into the model, parametrization using the dialog boxes and input connectors, and creating the relations between the instances through the connectors. The connectors are divided into input, output, informative and object, (c.f. [8, 9]). The blocks usually used in the continuous simulation modeling are: HOLDING TANK, CONSTANT, SELECT VALUE IN, and EQUATION.

One of the most useful block is HOLDING TANK. This block is equivalent to stock in SD approach. It accumulates the dynamic objects (for example the individuals in aging chain simulation) coming through input connector and it could be withdrawn through the output connector want. The initial value of holding tank can be defined through init connector. Another connector (RS) is used to reset the tank's value and get connector enables to read the tank's level recorded in the previous simulation step.

Another key block, i.e. EQUATION enables the complex computation of the variables and sends the results of simulation to submodel's output or next block input.

### 4 Modelling Approach

#### 4.1 Main and Elementary Population Cohorts

Every main cohort is divided into a number of elementary cohorts (see Fig. 1) and two variants are eligible: the cohort with constant age range equal to one year and the cohort with the age range calculated based on the formula (1). In this paper the first variant was applied.



Fig. 1. The illustration of the hierarchical block: main cohort decomposes into the chain of elementary cohorts.

$$\frac{upper age of main cohort - lower age of main cohort + 1}{number of elementary cohorts}$$
(1)

For simplicity it was assumed that demographic factors are constant for each elementary cohort being a part of the main cohort. For example, the death rates are the same for every elementary cohort that forms the 5–9 main cohort, however the initial state of the main cohort is evenly distributed between each of the elementary cohort. For the oldest cohorts, when an individual reaches a maximum age, he leaves the population (he/she dies).

### 4.2 Feedback Loops

The following feedback loops are defined in the model for the main cohorts.

- Positive feedback loops between the birth input flow of the main youngest cohort (i.e. 0–4 for both genders separately) and the number of women from all main female cohorts. The intensities of these feedback loops are described by the products of birth rates and the number of women in main female cohorts.
- Negative feedback loops between the death output flows and the sizes of the main cohorts. The intensity is described by the product of death rate and the size of the main cohort or by the quotient of the length of the average life expectancy (this applies to the oldest cohort) and the size of the oldest main cohort.
- Optional positive or negative feedback loops between migration flows and the sizes of main cohorts. The type of the feedback depends on the migration direction.

There are 18 main cohorts for each gender (36 in total) and each main cohort decomposes into a chain of elementary cohorts. Elementary cohort is the key construct of the model and it represents individuals being at the same age (described as the integer number) and the same gender. There are 105 elementary cohorts for each gender designed and programmed in the form of the hierarchical blocks.

The feedback loops affecting the elementary cohorts are basically the same as for main cohorts but some additional ones had to be defined:

- Positive feedback loops between the birth input flow of the elementary youngest cohort and the number of women from all main female cohorts. The intensities of these feedback loops are described by the products of birth rates and the number of women in main female cohorts.
- Negative feedback loops between the death output flows and the sizes of the elementary cohorts. The intensity is described by the product of death rate (death rates inside the main cohort are constant) and the size of the elementary cohort or by the by the quotient of the length of the average life expectancy (this applies to the oldest elementary cohort) and the size of the oldest elementary cohort.
- Negative feedback loops between the maturation flows and the sizes of elementary cohorts. This feedback loop is absent on the main cohort level. The intensity of the maturation feedback loop depends on the age range of the elementary cohort and the variant discussed in Subsect. 4.1 (it is equal to one in the discussed model and is constant inside the main cohort).

190 J. Zabawa et al.

• Optional positive or negative feedback loops between migration flows and the sizes of the cohort. The type of the feedback depends on the migration direction and it is constant inside the main cohort.

### 4.3 Input Data

The elementary cohort needs the following input data delivered through the input connectors (see Fig. 2):



Fig. 2. The external interface of the hierarchical block of elementary cohort.

- the oldest age of the individuals belonging to the main cohort: end age,
- the youngest age of the individuals belonging to the main cohort: begin age,
- the maturation flow between two consecutive elementary cohorts: younger ones,
- the size of immigration/emigration flows: immigration/emigration,
- the annual death rates: death rate,
- the initial state of the cohort: *initial state*,
- the variant selected to divide the main cohort into elementary cohorts: mode.

The output data of the elementary cohort is described by:

- the size of elementary cohort: size,
- the maturation flow between two consecutive elementary cohorts: elderly,
- the information whether the cohort is active or inactive. The cohort is activated based on the user's decision that defines the size of the main cohort. The wider age range of the main cohort, the higher number of elementary cohorts: *active*.

### 4.4 Internal Relations

Many linear and nonlinear relations were defined in the model. The most important are described below.

$$population_{gender} = \sum_{1}^{x} population in main \ cohort_{gender}$$
(2)

Population in main cohort=
$$\sum_{1}^{y} population in elementary cohort_{gender}$$
 (3)

$$birth rate = \begin{cases} \sum_{gender}^{x} birth rate_{i,j} \times popul. in main \ cohort_{j,female} & when \ i = 1, \ j = 1 \cdots x \\ 0, & when \ i > 1 \end{cases}$$

(4)

$$death \ rate_{elemental} = death \ rate_i \ where \ elemental \ \in \ i \tag{5}$$

Mode 1: migration rate<sub>elemental</sub> = 
$$\frac{migration rate_i}{5 \text{ or } 20}$$
 when  $i = 1 \cdots x$  (6)

Mode 2: 
$$migration rate_{elemental} = migration rate_i when i = 1 \cdots x$$
 (7)

Mode A: start population<sub>elemental</sub> = 
$$\frac{start population_i}{5 \text{ or } 20}$$
 when  $i = 1 \cdots x$  (8)

Mode B: 
$$\begin{cases} start popul_{elemental} = \frac{start population_i}{5 \, or \, 20} \ when \ i = 1...x - 1\\ start popul_{elemental,j} = \frac{j}{1+...+j} \times start population_x \ when \ j = x \end{cases}$$
(9)

Where:

x is total number of main cohorts of one gender,

y is time range that describes the age of individuals in the main cohort + 1,

*i* is the number of cohort,

*j* is the number of cohort from which the mother of the new-born child comes from, elemental is the number of elementary cohort,

5 or 20 is the number of elementary cohorts in the main cohort, however the last main cohort is different because it encompasses 20 elementary cohorts (85–105).

#### 4.5 Input and Output Data Bases

Input data are stored in two-dimensional tables (matrices) [2] either as integer or real numbers. The most important data describe:

- the sizes of female/male cohorts for the years 2002-2014,
- the birth rates for females/males in relation to mothers' age for the years 2002–2014,
- the death rates for female/male main cohorts for the years 2002-2014,
- the migration rates for female/male main cohorts for the years 2002-2014.

The output data are stored in two tables, each presenting the information separately for the main cohorts and for particular time steps:

- the table with the sizes of main cohorts calculated every 0.2 year step,
- the table with the sizes of main cohorts calculated at the beginning of each year (starting from 2006).

In Extends in the access to source data is available from *Database* menu level or by using the cloned button *Show Extends Database* [9]. It is also possible to connect the Excel files [10].

### 4.6 Hierarchical Blocks

The elementary population cohorts are discussed in Subsect. 4.1. The series of elementary cohorts is a part of the bigger hierarchical cohort (see Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. The part of internal structure of the youngest hierarchical (main) cohort with input and output connectors.

The elementary cohorts can communicate with each other through the connectors growing. In the first elementary cohort the feeding flow comes from the younger main cohort. The main cohorts are connected through input-output connectors (see Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. The fragment of the chain of three hierarchical (main) male cohorts.

The main cohorts operate on the following input data delivered through input connectors:

- the beginning age of the main cohort: begin age,
- the ending age of the main cohort: end age,
- the intensity of the flow of individuals leaving the younger main cohort and entering the older main cohort, because of the maturation process: *output/input*,
- the intensity of the migrations and the mode of including migration parameters: *migration/migration mode*,
- the death rate for the main cohort: death rate,
- the initial size of the main cohort: *initial*,
- the variant of the division of main cohort into elementary cohorts (as mentioned earlier in Subsect 4.1): *mode*.

The output data of the main cohorts are described by:

- the size of main cohort: *state*,
- the intensity of maturation flow between two consecutive min cohorts. In the case of the last main cohort the individuals older than 105 years are not considered: *output/input*.

### 5 Simulation Results

Our previous version of the ageing chain model [13] was positively validated for the historical data. That model used the genetic algorithm (delivered through the Optimizer block) to select the values of maturation times in such a way that the differences between the simulation and the empirical sizes of the cohorts were acceptable. That solution delivered the satisfactory results however the maturation times were artificially elongated and the model was heavily bound to the data. The application of the model in another empirical context would require the optimization process to be started from the beginning. The solution described in this paper, based on the main and elementary

cohorts, produces at least as accurate results as the previous version of our model (see Fig. 5). Mean Average Percentage Errors (MAPE) are comparable and in some cases even smaller than in the previous model, where the optimization algorithm was applied.



**Fig. 5.** The comparison of MAPEs for the previous model with optimization algorithm (left) and the current model with the hierarchical structure of the main cohorts (right).

The drawback of the new solution is the longer simulation time caused by the modular structure of the computations, however this cost is not very annoying. SD simulation requires only one replication and the more important issue here is the high accuracy and the credibility of the computations. Moreover, the model became independent from the particular age-gender real population structure, the main cohorts are more precisely described, the birth rates are connected to all female cohorts and the final structure of the model became transparent and intuitively understandable.

### 6 Future Works

Population models are applied to many fields [15]: biology, epidemiology, health economics, management and many others. This research builds upon previous studies on using simulation approach to properly address the demographic evolution. We managed to significantly improve our previous model by introducing the hierarchical structure of age-gender cohorts. The main age-gender cohorts define the basic aging chain of the population, however each main cohort decomposes into a range of one-year elementary cohorts. This solution enabled us to overcome the drainage problem and at the same time to keep the transparency of the model. The results demonstrate the usefulness of the approach in capturing the population evolution.

The accuracy of the output data and the technology applied offer a well-defined starting point for future research. The several research topics seem to be warranted. First, we would like to concentrate on the more credible integration of SD approach with discrete modeling. We aim at the development of a hybrid simulation model that would allow alignment of continuous demographic forecasts with the discrete model to simulate the demand for healthcare services on the regional level. This would require the better integration of the two modules driven by different simulation paradigms and the definition of the relations between the size of the particular cohort and the intensity of the demand generated by the population of this cohort. We expect the frequency

distributions of the demand to be defined individually for each classified disease unit with regard to demographic, temporal, and geographical factors. The verification of such model will be based on the comparison of the historical data describing number of patients arriving to healthcare system during the predefined time unit with the results of the simulation.

Next, we would like to enhance the time range of the simulation horizon and to forecast the expected population evolution for the consecutive years. This would enable us to define the influence of the population factor on the morbidity level of the particular disease unit on the regional level.

The final research direction leads to the economic analysis that would enable to forecast the future material/financial/human resources needed to cover the healthcare demand being the result of the demographic changes observed within the population.

Acknowledgements. This project was financed by the grant *Simulation modeling of the demand for healthcare services* from the National Science Centre, Poland, and was awarded based on the decision 2015/17/B/HS4/00306.

ExtendSim blocks copyright © 1987-2016 Imagine That Inc. All rights reserved.

### References

- Ansah, J.P., Eberlein, R.L., Love, S.R., Bautista, M.A., Thompson, J.P., Malhotra, R., Matchar, D.B.: Implications of long-term care capacity response policies for an aging population: a simulation analysis. Health Policy 116(1), 105–113 (2014)
- Diamond, B., Krahl, D., Nastasi, A., Tag, P.: Extendsim advanced techology: integrated simulation database. In: Johansson, B., Jain, S., Montoya-Torres, J., Hugan, J., Yücesan, E. (eds.) Proceedings of the Winter Simulation Conference (WSC), pp. 32–39. IEEE (2010)
- Eberlein, R.L., Thompson, J.P., Matchar, D.B.: Chronological aging in continuous time. In: Husemann, E., Lane, D. (eds.) Proceedings of the 30th International Conference of the System Dynamics Society, St. Gallen, Switzerland (2012)
- Eberlein, R.L., Thompson, J.P.: Precise modeling of aging populations. Syst. Dyn. Rev. 29 (2), 87–101 (2013)
- 5. Forrester, J.W.: Industrial dynamics-after the first decade. Manag. Sci. 14(7), 398-415 (1968)
- 6. GUS Główny Urząd Statystyczny. http://www.stat.gov.pl. Accessed Jan 2017
- Jagger, C., Matthews, R., Lindesay, J., Robinson, T., Croft, P., Brayne, C.: The effect of dementia trends and treatments on longevity and disability: a simulation model based on the MRC cognitive function and ageing study (MRC CFAS). Age Ageing 38(3), 319–325 (2009)
- Krahl, D.: Extend: the extend simulation environment. In: Yücesan, E., Chen, C.-H., Snowdom, J., Charnes, J. (eds.) Proceedings of the 2002 Winter Simulation Conference: Exploring New Frontiers, pp. 205–213 (2002)
- Krahl, D.: Extendsim 7. In: Mason, S., Hill, R., Mönch, L., Rose, O., Jefferson, T., Fowler, J. (eds.) Proceedings of the 2008 Winter Simulation Conference, pp. 215–221 (2008)
- Krahl, D.: Extendsim 9. In: Pasupathy, R., Kim, S.-H., Tolk, A., Hill, R., Kuhl, M. (eds.) Proceedings of the 2013 Winter Simulation Conference: Simulation: Making Decisions in a Complex World, pp. 4065–4072. IEEE Press, Piscataway (2013)

- 11. Lagergren, M.: What happened to the care of older persons in Sweden? A retrospective analysis based upon simulation model calculations, 1985–2000. Health Policy **74**(3), 314–324 (2005)
- Loumrhari, G.: Ageing, longevity and savings: the case of Morocco. Int. J. Econ. Finan. Issues 4(2), 344–352 (2014)
- Mielczarek, B., Zabawa, J.: Modeling healthcare demand using a hybrid simulation approach. In: Roeder, T., Frazier, P., Szechtman, R., Zhou, E., Huschka, T., Chick, S. (eds.) Proceedings of the 2016 Winter Simulation Conference, pp. 1535–1546. IEEE Press, Piscataway (2016)
- Mielczarek, B., Zabawa, J.: Modelling population growth, shrinkage and aging using a hybrid simulation approach: application to healthcare. In: Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Simulation and Modeling Methodologies, Technologies and Applications, SIMULTECH, vol. 1, pp. 75–83. Scitepress (2016)
- 15. Population Modeling Working Group: Population modeling by examples (WIP). In: Proceedings of the Symposium on Modeling and Simulation in Medicine (MSM 2015), pp. 61–66. Society for Computer Simulation International, San Diego, CA, USA (2015). http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2887741#authors
- Sato, J., Chalise, N., Hovmand, P., Zoellner, N., Carson, K., Brown, A.: Birth cohorts approach to modeling aging populations. In: 33rd International Conference of the System Dynamics Society 2015, Cambridge, Massachusetts, pp. 2882–2889 (2015)
- Senese, F., Tubertini, P., Mazzocchetti, A., Lodi, A., Ruozi, C., Grilli, R.: Forecasting future needs and optimal allocation of medical residency positions: the Emilia-Romagna region case study. Hum. Resour. Health 13(7) (2015). doi:10.1186/1478-4491-13-7
- Tian, Y., Zhao, X.: Stochastic forecast of the financial sustainability of basic pension in China. Sustainability 8(46) (2016). doi:10.3390/su8010046

# Factors Determining the Development of Small Enterprises

Anna Maria Kamińska<sup>(<sup>[]</sup>)</sup>, Agnieszka Parkitna, and Arkadiusz Górski

Wrocław University of Science and Technology, Wybrzeże Wyspiańskiego 27, 50-370 Wrocław, Poland {anna.maria.kaminska,Agnieszka.parkitna, arkadiusz.gorsky}@pwr.edu.pl

**Abstract.** This material refers to research on the key factors for the success of small enterprises. The results of research conducted among 120 enterprises from the SME sector operating in the Dolny Śląsk region of Poland are presented as compared to the characteristics of enterprises from the SME sector, along with current statistical data related to their operation. The research was supposed to identify the factors for success, including innovations, and its impact on their development. The first part of the article presents the characteristics of a micro, small and medium enterprise. Then, the problems of these enterprises related to the barriers for their development are presented. The third part is a review of literature presenting the key factors for success. The last part is the presentation of research results indicating how enterprises identify and perceive the key factors for success. Examined entrepreneurs.

Keywords: SME  $\cdot$  Barriers for development  $\cdot$  Development  $\cdot$  Factors for success

### 1 Introduction

The literature related to the management of enterprises provides various ways to gain advantage on the market and development, which are often contradictory but are nonetheless effective. Numerous publications and reports, for instance the Global Innovation Index (GII) or the European Innovation Scoreboard, emphasize the crucial role of innovations in the process of pursuing success on the market. However, it should be noted that such reports quote research conducted on all enterprises without distinguishing the size of the enterprise, namely they do not divide enterprises into micro, small, medium and large ones. Therefore, the question was asked whether innovativeness truly has the same meaning for small enterprises as compared to averaged observations for all enterprises. For this purpose, research on 120 enterprises from the Dolnośląskie province was conducted in 2016 and it was presented in comparison to the discussion about the characteristics of the sector of small enterprises and the key factors for success indicated by the literature on the subject.

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_19

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

## 2 Characteristics of Small Enterprises

The SME sector in Poland earns as much as 50.1% of GDP, with total share of enterprises in earning GDP at the level of 73.5%. Micro enterprises are an important group because they have the highest share in earning GDP, at the level of 30.8% [1]. This fact confirms the relevance of conducting research regarding factors determining the development of this group of enterprises.

The characteristics of small and micro enterprises, as defined by Commission Regulation (EC) No. 364 dated February 25, 2004 as well as Art. 104–106 of the Polish Act dated July 2, 2004 on the freedom of business operations, is presented in Table 1.

		-	-
Type of	Average annual	Value of revenues in	Value of assets in the balance
enterprise	employment (full	the last financial	sheet at the end of the last
	jobs) not more	year (not more than)	financial year - not more than
	than	OR	
Micro	10	EUR 2 million	EUR 2 million
Small	50	EUR 10 million	EUR 10 million
Medium-sized	250	EUR 50 million	EUR 43 million

Table 1. Guidelines determining the size of an enterprise

The most current and reliable data about the number of enterprises is provided, among others, by the Central Statistical Office of Poland (GUS). According to data from GUS, there were 1.91 million active non-financial enterprises in 2015, 99.8% of which were micro, small and medium enterprises. Large enterprises - approx. 3,500 entities [2].

When analyzing the data, it should be indicated that 254,600 enterprises were registered in 2015, of which commercial units constituted the highest percentage (21.4%). 68.9% of enterprises survived the year 2015 - most often these were entities conducting operations in the field of information and communication (82.8%). Newly created enterprises in 2015 employed 285,700 people. The average number of employees in a one-year enterprise was at the level of 1.6 people. 71.2% of entities registered in 2015 earned profit after the first year of operations [3].

# 3 Problems of Small Enterprises

In the case of small enterprises, it is essential to indicate the barriers for their development. Since there are numerous barriers, they may be divided into external and internal barriers, depending on the place of their occurrence. Internal barriers are mainly financial barriers. Every enterprise at the beginning of its operations needs to contribute a capital ensuring its start-up. Depending on the source of this capital, there are various related risks. However, it very often turns out that the necessary outlays in subsequent months of operations are greater than those previously assumed. Another internal barrier which may be encountered is the problem with management over the enterprise. This barrier is related to the organization strategy and, in practice, it also results from the current conditions of operations, which may also include: incorrect grounds for the strategy of development, poor selection of assortment, incorrect selection of irresponsible business partners, etc. Another internal barrier which should be indicated applies to the size and location of business entities. The size of the company determines its manufacturing capacities, the demand for materials or the sales volume. The following are also very important: the place in which the enterprise is located with respect to transport routes, whether it is part of the owner's property, problems with production factors strictly related to the specific nature of conducted operations. The following factors are significant as well: age of machines, problems with the acquisition of new technologies, small manufacturing capacities, or the problem with acquiring materials. The last group of internal barriers are barriers from the field of human capital, namely related to the weakness of competences, knowledge, skills, etc. [4].

External barriers faced by an enterprise include, among others [4]:

- information and education barriers meaning, in general, the lack of information on the strategy of development of the local market, the system of trainings and consulting, business partners, legal regulations, or market niches.
- infrastructural barriers consisting in the inadequate availability of infrastructure reducing investment costs (availability of roads and motorways, water management, power infrastructure, etc.).
- economic policy barriers this includes numerous limitations created by the government towards entrepreneurs, such as: deficiencies in financing, unclearly defined assumptions of aid programs, complicated procedures, excessive tax burdens, discrepancies in the interpretation of regulations, excessive frequency of tax settlements and many others.
- market barriers are barriers appearing when the demand for products or services offered by the enterprise decreases, which involves the decrease in the enterprises' sales. These may also be growing competition, saturation of the market with given products, the lack of new sales markets, or the emergence of new needs which the enterprise is unable to satisfy.
- legal barriers, such as the instability of legal regulations, the ambiguity of legal regulations, the introduction of retrospective legal regulations, etc.
- social barriers are related to the number and quality of human resources on the job market (such as poor mobility, high fluctuation of employees or low qualifications).

Small enterprises are based to a greater extent on informal research and development activities, which are difficult to measure, and they use external sources of knowledge (consulting services and licenses) less frequently than their larger equivalents. This phenomenon reflects the lower capacity of SMEs to absorb external knowledge. Therefore, it is necessary to define new notions, terms, processes, or strategies which would more precisely describe the special nature of enterprises from the SME sector. The available literature stresses the impact and the importance of internal and external factors for the success of enterprises from the SME sector in a unidimensional manner. It basically only describes the crucial role of material and financial resources, recognizing them as the main factors determining the success of the innovative process in an enterprise from the SME sector. The very structure of the innovative process is also

related to large companies and such a perspective is hardly useful for SMEs, in particular for micro enterprises, which do not have units dealing with the development and implementation of innovations.

The most important barriers for the development of entrepreneurship include [5]:

- 1. Market barriers related to:
  - the regional diversity of demand difficulties in finding new sales markets as well as the drop in the number of orders (the SME sector is related to the local and regional market and, as a consequence, it is sensitive to the drop in local demand, which results from the deterioration of the financial income of the local population; searching for sales beyond the region is hindered, which is related to the lack of funds as well as knowledge regarding marketing),
  - strong competition on the market it is connected both with small companies operating on the local market and large foreign companies (large commercial institutions are perceived as a threat for small domestic companies).
- 2. Financial barriers related to financing of the start-up of business operations, regarding:
  - the limited access to financial funds from banks or other financial institutions high interest rates for credits and loans as well as very high formal requirements to obtain them,
  - the financing of development difficult access to external sources of capital,
  - leasing (as a form of financing of investment projects) lack of standardized regulations regarding the institution of leasing,
  - the lack of reliable information about business partners the dispersion of business registers makes it difficult to acquire information about potential business partners,
  - the tax system high tax rates, frequent changes in regulations, the instability of the tax system, complicated procedures regarding the calculation, collection and return of VAT, excessive requirements resulting from statutory regulations of the employment relationship.
- 3. Barriers related to the government's policy [5]:
  - the introduction of legal acts the variability of regulations,
  - the vagueness of regulations in business law poorly defined and complicated statutory regulations,
  - the licensing of business operations,
  - the regional policy the lack of clearly defined principles of the state's regional policy, poor use of the possibilities of local governments.
- 4. Barriers related to production:
  - production factors low degree of innovative equipment, limited production capacities, inappropriate management of the enterprise, hindered access to new production techniques and technologies, undeveloped access to franchising agreements,

- employment low qualifications and the lack of a system motivating employees to work legally, the state's use of too extensive social policy regarding the job market,
- poor technical infrastructure and barriers related to real estate.
- 5. Barriers related to the access to information at the local level poor availability of information as well as the instability of legal regulations, volume of fees and taxes which are regulated by the law and complicated legal regulations [6].

The literature also contains such groups of factors as: consequences of planning, organizational problems, problems with management, or individual problems [7].

It is quite common that enterprises go bankrupt already in the first year of their operations (or after the first several years). Those enterprises which remain on the market are often characterized by a very fast growth. Since micro, small and medium enterprises are so numerous, it is worth taking a closer look into which factors determine their quick or slow growth [8].

### 4 Factors for the Success of a Small Company

The factors for the success of a company are variables which should guarantee the effective (profitable) functioning of a company. These factors will be different depending on the time, the moment of their definition, the location, as well as the size of the enterprise. These factors may include the legal system which is favorable for the operations of small enterprises. Not only the country in which the business operations are conducted is important, but also the province, the county or even the commune. This results, among others, from various prices of land, tax rates or the favorable disposition of the authorities, demonstrated in local support programs for the development of entrepreneurship in order to overcome unemployment. Another important factor is employment - two opposing aspects are important in this case. The first, positive one, is employment itself, which is positively assessed by the local authorities, the other, negative aspect, is the micro enterprises' aversion to employ employees - due to significant employment costs. A factor heavily restricting the operations of small enterprises is bureaucratization, which is particularly significant and may determine the survival of a micro enterprise in which one person is involved in the production/ provision of services, administration, accounting, contacts with customers, suppliers, etc. Another surprising factor is corruption as well as connections. This factor touches the issue of ethics in conducting business operations, because an enterprise often faces a dilemma of whether to give a bribe and receive a contract, solve a troublesome official case or not [9].

According to research from 2016, the owner/manager himself may determine the success in the context of: remuneration, attractiveness, social responsibility, or emotional intelligence. These features are significant mainly due to how the owner will cooperate with the environment. Another group of factors often present in analyses include: financial resources, technological resources, the entrepreneur's skills, support from the government, the marketing strategy and the quality of business planning, as well as the access to information and positive relations with business partners, the
environment and the authorities [10]. When analyzing the international literature on the subject, we may find different classifications of the key factors for success - depending on the author's country or continent. In his thesis, Yassine Sefiani indicates internal and external factors.

He divides internal factors into those that result from [11]:

- 1. The specific nature of a small and medium enterprise
  - the size of the company, there are numerous factors indicating that the enterprise's success comes along with its growth,
  - the age of the enterprise, where the older the enterprise, the higher the chances for survival,
  - the location which, when appropriately chosen, may be one of the main factors for success.
- 2. The nature of the entrepreneur
  - socio-demographic features,
  - the age of the entrepreneur research shows that older entrepreneurs are less willing to implement innovations, and they are more conservative in their beliefs,
  - the sex, it cannot be clearly specified which sex guarantees success,
  - the experience, which has a very large impact on creative invention in business operations,
  - the education it may be of critical importance depending on the sector,
  - upbringing and family traditions educated/entrepreneurial parents stimulate the child's development from the early years and thus the child has an easier start into life,
  - the nature mainly: the need for achievements, the need for control (locus of control), the will to undertake risk, competences and skills, entrepreneurship, leadership, being organized.
- 3. The company's strategy, the strategy of innovativeness is most often indicated as crucial, although there are scientists who claim that innovativeness is not beneficial for the development of small and medium enterprises, but only for large enterprises.

External factors are divided into [11]:

- 1. Macro-economic factors financial resources, taxation, political and legal factors, technological factors (access to technologies, information, infrastructure), socio-cultural factors,
- 2. Micro-economic factors such as relations with customers, suppliers, the competitors (Fig. 1).

A different approach is presented by Svensson, a Swedish scientist, who presents more specific factors for success: [12]

- non-standard original products,
- a customer willing to pay any price,
- high quality of production,



Fig. 1. Factors for success of a company [11]

- the Internet (an online store),
- the press, YouTube and other unconventional channels,
- strong belief in one's own abilities,
- branding.

The research on factors for success should cover not only enterprises operating within a given country but also those operating on the international market. In this case, Bose, among others, emphasizes the importance of factors such as: the network, connections, clusters, building value, the policy, or innovations [13].

The development (also innovativeness) of the SME sector depends to a large extent on the size of development capital, which comes from the entrepreneur's own resources and from foreign (external) capital. The acquisition of capital for innovations is particularly difficult in the case of small and medium enterprises. Acquiring long-term capital by entities from the SME sector is complicated, often ineffective and is referred to as the Macmillan gap (capital gap). It means the lack of capital for financing of innovative operations of the enterprise in the initial stage of the project or the difference between capital which entrepreneurs may acquire from private sources and capital for which they may apply to entities from the capital market. This is one of the main barriers for development in the SME sector. A loan or a credit is not a good solution because they increase the degree of financial risk [14].

The state's current financial and tax policy does not encourage collecting funds for development and promotion of export. Therefore, it is necessary to undertake actions which will result in the reduction in the amount of taxes and other fiscal burdens. Depreciation deductions do not ensure the regeneration of fixed assets. High social insurance contributions increase the costs of labor, which affect the growth in the prices of products/services and limit an organization's competitiveness [15]. Conditions to be met in order to obtain a credit are another barrier. The real interest rate, which is often high, involves the risks of losing the enterprise's liquidity and even going bankrupt [16]. The banks' high requirements make it difficult to access financing from a bank. There is a connection between the amount of debt of SMEs and the investment attractiveness of the region in which the enterprise is operating. Delays in paying obligations adversely impact SMEs [17]. There are also great obstacles of a bureaucratic nature, which make it difficult to start and conduct business operations. They are related, among others, to difficult-to-meet conditions, procedures and criteria for obtaining licenses and permits, as well as the vagueness and the need to obtain additional information regarding the interpretation of legal regulations [18].

The economic condition and the innovativeness of SMEs are also affected by micro-economic conditions such as [19]:

- the size of assets possessed by the entrepreneur,
- the ability to implement research and technical progress,
- the ability to manage the enterprise's resources,
- the knowledge and entrepreneurship of employees,
- the quality of offered products,
- the level of profitability,
- cooperation connections.

A factor which has already been mentioned in this study, and which is very often emphasized as important, is innovativeness (including product innovativeness). Numerous authors stress the fact that innovations are necessary for building a competitive enterprise. It is often emphasized that innovations are necessary for survival, and they should be the main strategy leading to the development of the company. Innovativeness brings only advantages, both for the customers and for the enterprise itself [20]. However, when reference is made to the key factors for the success of enterprises, economic factors are listed very often, with the main emphasis on the innovativeness of a product or a technology. It is demonstrated that innovative enterprises develop more quickly and cities with a larger number of companies conducting innovative operations are at a higher level of growth. Hence the interest in the issue of innovativeness as the key factor for success [21]. However, as has been presented earlier in the article, there are opinions that innovativeness is not beneficial for the development of small companies, but is effective only for larger entities. Since the publications which refer to innovativeness are international publications, the authors of this study decided to verify which factors are crucial for the development of small enterprises and whether innovativeness is one of the most important factors.

#### 5 Factors for Success - Studies in the Lower Silesia Region

Empirical research conducted from April to May 2016 on the sample of 120 small enterprises operating in different sectors in the Lower Silesia region was used in order to pursue the objective of this article, namely the identification of factors determining the success of s small enterprise. The research was conducted by a research team led by Agnieszka Parkitna, PhD as well as the Lower Silesia Agency of Economic Cooperation. The research sample was selected in purposive sampling, and thus the following results should be treated with caution, in the category of hypotheses, because the collected data does not allow a clear verification of the significance of factors and is fragmentary. However, it may be the basis for further discussions and in-depth research.

The conducted survey research consisted in a questionnaire with multiple-choice questions regarding the barriers and factors for development, which were referred to in the previous literature search. When asked about support from the Polish law for the development of enterprises, as many as 78% of the respondents said that there is no such support from the law in Poland.

Another question related to the mental, ethical approach to conducted business operations. As many as 92% of the respondents pointed to the great significance of fairness in conducting business operations.

The respondents answered questions related to key factors for the success of their operations as well as environmental factors affecting them. In the case of the significance of human and intellectual resources, the respondents were asked about the significance of particular factors (Fig. 2).

As may be seen from the analysis of data, the greatest significance, more than 10%, is attributed to the competences of the staff, the personnel's qualifications, knowledge, and skills. The appropriate selection of staff, trust from the staff, production capacities, or the atmosphere at work are slightly less significant. Anticipated needs and post-sales services seem slightly less important – respectively 8.51% and 7.84% of the surveyed pointed out these answers, respectively, while the sex of the owner was indicated as significant only by 2.93% of the respondents. Some of the key factors, in turn, are factors typical of a small company, e.g. atmosphere at work or the staff's skills and trust.

Another group of questions was concerned with factors supporting business operations (Fig. 3).



Fig. 2. Key success factors part one



Fig. 3. Key success factors part two

The locations of conducted operations were indicated by the respondents as one of the key factors. The second place was occupied by the company's profile, which may be slightly misleading, because it shows that it is not important what business operations are conducted, but where it is done. The third factor is the availability of material resources. The cooperation with organizations supporting business, the activity of suppliers and other business partners, as well as commune investments in regional infrastructure should be considered "less important".

The last diagram presents factors for the success of companies. Entrepreneurs could indicate 5 out of the 11 suggested factors in the group (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Key success factors part three

As is shown by the conducted research, the most important factor is the company's reputation, while the offered services and products, as well as building bonds with the customer were ranked second and third, respectively. This, again, includes a contradiction, because reputation is the result of all the other factors yet it was indicated by the respondents as the most important one. Another factor proves the importance of the human factor, since approx. 11% of the respondents pointed out the positive spirit in the team and the growth in employee commitment as significant factors. It is not a surprise that as many as 9% of the respondents in Poland indicated connections as an important factor for success. The result of innovativeness is a surprise - only 4%. Only sincere contact with the employees turned out to be less important.

#### 6 Conclusions

The basic factors for the success of an enterprise were selected at the beginning of the article on the basis of literature on the subject. The analysis of data obtained in the conducted research made it possible to select factors, which slightly differed from those present in the literature and, unfortunately, confirmed the unpopular opinion about the poor role of innovativeness - only 4% of the respondents in the sector of small enterprises. Entrepreneurs considered the company's reputation, the product offer, as well as building bonds with the customer as the three key factors. Then, a positive team spirit, which stimulates the growth in employee commitment so typical of small enterprises or start-ups, as well as connections were ranked equally high. A conclusion may be drawn that significance is attributed not only to money and connections, but also intangible assets, such as honesty, moral principles or the trust of employees.

### References

- 1. Raport o stanie sektora MSP w Polsce, ed. A. Tarnawa, A. Skowrońska, PARP, Warsaw (2016)
- 2. Grupy przedsiębiorstw w Polsce w 2015 r. GUS, Warsaw (2016)
- 3. Przedsiębiorstwa niefinansowe powstałe w latach 2011–2015, GUS, Warsaw (2017)
- Ziemba, M., Świeszczak, K.: Bariery rozwoju podmiotów z sektora MSP ze szczególnym uwzględnieniem możliwości pozyskania kapitału obcego, Zeszyty Naukowe Uniwersytetu Szczecińskiego number 786 Finanse, Rynki Finansowe, Ubezpieczenia number 64/1 (2013)
- Report of the World Bank "Doing Business 2015". http://polish.doingbusiness.org/~/media/ WBG/DoingBusiness/Documents/Subnational-Reports/DB15-Poland-polish.pdf. Accessed 03 June 2017
- 6. Raport o stanie sektora małych i średnich przedsiębiorstw w Polsce w latach 2002–2003, PARP, Warsaw, p. 202 (2004)
- Pournasir, S.: Key success factors of strategic management implementation in SMEs in Iran. J. Int. Stud. 6(2) (2013)
- Al-Mahrouq, M.: Success factors of small and medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs): the case of Jordan. Anadolu Univ. J. Soc. Sci. 10(1), 1–16 (2010)
- 9. Barkhatov, V., Pletnev, D., Campa, A.: Key success factors and barriers for small businesses: comparative analysis. Procedia Soc. Behav. Sci. 221, 29–38 (2016)
- Pletnev, D., Barkhatov, V.: Business success of small and medium sized enterprises in Russia and social responsibility of managers. Procedia – Soc. Behav. Sci. 221, 185–193 (2016)
- 11. Sefiani, Y.: Factors for success in SMEs: a perspective from Tangier. Ph.D. thesis University of Gloucestershire (2013)
- 12. Svensson, L.: Success and failure factors for SME's going abroad. In: Modern Management Research Conference (MMRC): Insights into the Sustainable Growth of Business (2009)
- 13. Bose, K.T.: Critical success factors of SME internationalization. J. Small Bus. Strat. **26**(2) (2016)
- Janasz, W.: Innowacje w zrównoważonym rozwoju organizacji, pp. 53–54. Difin, Warsaw (2011)
- 15. Strużycki, M.: Małe i średnie przedsiębiorstwa w świetle strategii Lizbońskiej, p. 138. SGH Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw (2008)
- Łuczka, T.: Kapitał jako przedmiot gospodarki finansowej MŚP prywatnego, pp. 115–116. Publishing House of the Poznań University of Technology, Poznań (1997)
- 17. Mikołajczyk, B.: Instytucje wspomagające rozwój małych i średnich przedsiębiorstw, p. 57. Cracow University of Economics, Cracow (1996)
- Popławski, W., Sojak, S.: Wprowadzenie do zarządzania małym przedsiębiorstwem, p. 14. Toruńska Szkoła Zarządzania, Toruń (1994)

- Strużycki, M.: Małe i średnie przedsiębiorstwa w świetle strategii Lizbońskiej, pp. 139–140. SGH Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw (2008)
- 20. Hanaysha, J., Hilman, H.: Product innovation as a key success factor to build sustainable brand equity. Manag. Sci. Lett. **5**(6) (2015)
- 21. Gnyawali, D.R., Fogel, D.S.: Environments for entrepreneurship development: key dimensions and research implications. Entrepreneurship Theory Practice **18** (1994)

## Design of EA Development Guideline for Small Enterprises Based on TOGAF 9.1

Arry Akhmad Arman<sup>1</sup>(<sup>(C)</sup>), Ghani Ruhman<sup>1</sup>, and Ratih Hurriyati<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institut Teknologi Bandung, Jl. Ganesha 10, Bandung 40132, Indonesia arman@stei.itb.ac.id, ghaniruhman@gmail.com

<sup>2</sup> Universitas Pendidikan Indonesia, Jl. Setiabudhi 229, Bandung, Indonesia ratih@upi.edu

**Abstract.** Information Technology (IT) become more and more important for business. Aligning between IT and business is a key success to get maximum benefit for enterprise as well as small enterprise. Enterprise Architecture (EA) framework allows an enterprise to get best alignment between business and IT, because EA represent business side and IT side together in a single model. However, todays EA framework (including TOGAF) is not dedicated designed for Small Enterprises or Small Business. In other hand, Small Business usually have very specific condition. In this case, they have very limited resources related to IT. It will be better if there is a more dedicated guideline as a reference for Small Enterprises in developing EA. So, by their limitations, Small Business can design good EA to support their business. This research is conducted to develop "EA Development Guideline for Small Enterprise" that modified from TOGAF 9.1. The resulted guideline has been tested and fulfilled all criteria from both content specification and format criteria.

Keywords: Enterprise Architecture · Guideline · Small enterprise

#### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Background

Small Enterprises play vital role to help countries to achieve their economy goals. Many governments, including government of Indonesia, aware of this situation which led to establishment of the Strategic Plan of Ministry of Cooperatives and SMEs (Kementrian Koperasi dan Usaha Kecil dan Menengah) [13]. This strategic plan suggests Small Enterprises to consider Information Technology (IT) investment in their business. However, IT investment must be aligned with the business needs of the enterprise or so called Business-IT Alignment.

There is a concept for aligning business and IT within an enterprise, called Enterprise Architecture (EA). Basically, EA is a conceptual blueprint which has an objective to optimize the enterprise by integrating fragmented processes into integrated processes and at the same time provide aligned IT system to support it to achieve business strategy. The benefits of having EA is a creation of an efficient business process execution and IT support. One of the best practice framework to develop an EA

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_20

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

in an organization is TOGAF (The Open Group Architecture Framework), developed by The Open Group. Today, TOGAF used mostly by Large Enterprises all around the world. TOGAF can also be used by Small Enterprises to develop an EA but it will be feel complicated to be used by Small Enterprises that have very limited resources.

TOGAF can be customized for Small Enterprises, so any Small Enterprise can use the customized version of TOGAF. By applying this approach, small enterprises can develop their EA with a minimum effort and resources.

Many factors must be put into considerations when we want to customize TOGAF. One of the most important factor is specific enterprise's characteristics or in this case, Small Enterprise's characteristics [5]. By finding general characteristic of small enterprises, it is possible to modify TOGAF to be a Small Enterprise version of TOGAF.

This research identifies the common characteristic of small enterprises. These characteristics will lead to step by step process of customizing TOGAF to be more specific version of TOGAF that can be used by small enterprise. The result is "EA Development Guideline based on TOGAF 9.1". The guideline includes related architecture principles, architecture domain, and the phase to be conducted to specify principles and domain according to the Small Enterprise's business context.

#### 1.2 Small Enterprise

Every country has its own definition of Small Enterprise. For example, in Indonesia, Small Enterprise is defined as an independent productive economy activity, conducted individually or as a business entity which is not subsidiary or part of medium or large enterprise. It has 50 million IDR to 500 million IDR worth of asset and 300 million IDR to 2.5 billion IDR annual revenue. Another example, in European Union, type of enterprise is defined according to number of employee and financial ceilings. Small Enterprise is defined as an enterprise which has less than 50 employees, less than 10-million-euro turnover, and less than 10 million euro of balance sheet [5].

According to [8], even though Small Enterprise has different definitions for each country, it has several similar characteristics. Those characteristics are: informal culture, quick communication, responsive, flexible, relying on individuals, nowhere to hide, wide knowledge, limited knowledge, and high unit costs [8]. Other research conducted by The Open Group, enterprise can be categorized by five characteristics: holding pattern, location, organization structure, business units, and IT requirement. Small Enterprise usually owned by individual or family, its location limited to small geography area, it has small and flat organization structure, limited business units, and has little dependency to information technology [14].

#### **1.3** EA (Enterprise Architecture)

The concept of EA firstly introduced by John Zachman in 1980s as a method to integrate three big companies into single company. This first concept was evolved continuously and today there are many reference frameworks for helping us to build an EA [14].

IBM defined EA as an architectural discipline that merges strategic business and IT objectives with opportunities for change and governs the resulting change initiatives [9]. CIO Council defined EA as a strategic information asset base, which defines the mission, the information necessary to perform the mission and the transitional processes for implementing new technologies in response to the changing mission needs. An EA includes a baseline architecture, target architecture, and a sequencing plan [2].

Among many definitions of EA, one of most comprehensive definition of EA is proposed by Bernard. Bernard define EA as a framework which includes business, strategy, and technology in a single paradigm. It is also both management program and documentation method which will give the management an overview of strategic direction, business services, information flows, and resource utilization [11].

#### 1.4 TOGAF

TOGAF is a framework which provides methods and tools to help architect to produce, deploy, and maintain an EA. This framework covers four architecture domains which are as follows [7].

- 1. Business Architecture. Defines business strategy, governance, organization, and main business process.
- 2. Data Architecture. Describes the structure of logic and physical data assets owned by the organization and data management resource.
- 3. Application Architecture. Provides certain application design to be deployed its interaction and relationship to the organization's main business process.
- 4. Technology Architecture. Describes software logic and hardware capability required to support business, data, and application services. It is also including IT infrastructure, middleware, network, security, communication, processing, standard, etc.

The core of TOGAF is TOGAF ADM (Architecture Development Method) which is the development method of EA. It consists of 10 iterative cyclic phases that guide user to develop EA. Each phase has its own inputs to be considered, processes to be conducted, and outputs to be produced. Outputs of each phase are also known as deliverables, artifacts, and building blocks [7].

## 2 Methodology

The methodology used in this research is adapted from Design Research Methodology (DRM). DRM is a generic research methodology developed by Professor Blessing in TU Berlin which basically consists of Research Clarification, Understanding Design, Developing Design, and Evaluating Design [3]. The final methodology for this research are as follows.

1. *Problem Identification*. The objective of this phase is to deepen the knowledge of the research context. It includes anything related to Small Enterprise and EA.

- 2. *Analysis.* Analyzing Small Enterprises capability, Small Enterprises characteristics, TOGAF ADM, and the impact of Small Enterprises capability and characteristics to TOGAF ADM which resulting requirement specifications.
- 3. *Design.* Tailoring TOGAF ADM and designing architecture principles and architecture domain as the main content of the guideline.
- 4. Testing. Verifying designed content guideline according to its requirement.

#### **3** Analysis and Design the Guideline

#### 3.1 Requirement Specifications

As mentioned before, an analysis towards Small Enterprises capability, Small Enterprises characteristics, TOGAF ADM, and relation between them must be conducted. Small Enterprise capability, especially financial capability, will affect their ability to buy or invest on Information Technology (IT). So, the framework must recommend the best architecture and solution that (1) in one side, it don't need high investment and (2) in other side, it can fulfill the business needs.

Another factor that might affect the guideline and its content that will be developed is **Small Enterprise characteristics**. To simplify the analysis of Small Enterprise characteristics, many characteristics that come from many sources are mapped into three categories: (1) people, (2) process, and (3) technology. People means any characteristics that related to the capability or capacity of the human resource inside the organization. Process means any characteristics that related to activities or process inside the organization. Finally, technology means any characteristics which related to the utilization of technology inside the organization. According to those definition, Small Enterprise characteristics can be mapped and grouped as can be seen below.

- 1. People: Relying on individuals, General knowledge (not specific and deep), Small and flat organization structure
- 2. Process: Informal culture, Quick communication, Responsive, Flexible, Limited knowledge, Nowhere to hide, Geographical limited, Limited business unit
- 3. Technology: Low IT dependency, IT used as an enabler.

Those characteristics must be fulfilled by the proposed guidelines. The more detail requirement specifications can be seen in Table 1.

#### 3.2 Architecture Principles

Architecture principle is a basic rule or guideline which represents the way of how organization works. It also defines rules or guideline of how to utilize IT resource in the organization. There are several things which need to be considered to create architecture principle, such as organization mission, organization characteristic, external constraints, current IT system, and industry trends. Based on the characteristic and requirement stated in previous part, Architecture Principles defined and the result can be seen in Table 2.

No	Requirement description
1	Guideline is built based on TOGAF ADM of TOGAF 9.1 with several adjustments on steps and deliverables. Only focus on adjusting preliminary phase until technology architecture
2	Guideline support EA development based on Small Enterprise's financial capability
3	EA is simple and can be understood easily. It can be used by human resource with limited IT capability. Thus, a glossary is needed
4	Guideline supports the development of Knowledge Management oriented EA. It allows to describe the way to finish a work in the organization
5	Guideline supports the development of EA which provide quick and flexible information flow
6	EA guideline provides relevant technology options
7	Guidelines supports the development of EA which allow the organization to plan strategical issue efficiently

 Table 1. Requirement specification

1	Name	Minimum investment
1		
	Statement	IT investment must be within a minimum cost
	Rationale	Enterprise has a limited financial capability
	Implication	Technology options with a sufficient has to be affordable
2	Name	Distributed information/knowledge
	Statement	Any kind of information and/or knowledge within the organization are distributed and clearly described
	Rationale	Knowledge regarding the organization only owned by the CEO
	Implication	All organization element has the same knowledge regarding the
		organization so it might operate optimally
3	Name	Quick information flow
	Statement	Information within the organization spread quickly
	Rationale	Organization has a fast communication method/process
	Implication	Organization can access and process information directly and easily
4	Name	Efficient strategic planning
	Statement	Any kind of planning must be conducted efficiently
	Rationale	Business is highly focus on operational only and has no resource to think
		about strategic issues
	Implication	System which utilize owned resource to gain insight related to business is needed

Table 2. Generic architecture principle

#### 3.3 Architecture Domain

Designing Architecture Domain as the main content of guideline is started by using Porter's Value Chain to represent Business Architecture [1]. The Business Architecture will be translated into Data and Application Architecture, and finally translated into IT Architecture as can be seen in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Conceptual architecture domain

#### 1. Business Architecture

There are two business functions which is defined in this business architecture. Those functions are: (1) primary function, and (2) support function. Primary functions adapted Primary Activities of Porter's Value Chain which include supply, operation, delivery/distribution, sales and marketing, and support service. Support functions represent Support Activities which includes procurement, asset management, human resource management, and firm infrastructure.

#### 2. Data Architecture

There are four information system areas which is included in this data architecture. Those areas are as follows.

- a. Employee: Employee Data, Payroll Data, Recruitment Data, and Training Data
- b. Operation: Supplier Data, Resource Data, Asset Data, and Product/Service Data
- c. *Sales and Marketing:* Market Data, Customer Data, Sales Data, and Distribution Channel Data
- d. *Firm Infrastructure:* Finance Data, Accounting Data, Legal and Administration Data, and Standard Operating Procedure.
- 3. Application Architecture

In this architecture, there are two application services. Those services are as follows.

a. *Business Application:* Enterprise Resource Planning, Distribution Application and Management System, Customer Relationship, Sales Application and Management System, and Marketing Application and Management System

- b. *Infrastructure Application:* Recruitment and Hiring, Payroll, Knowledge Management, Financial, Accounting, Asset Management, and Administrative.
- 4. Technology Architecture

Four technology services are defined in the designed technology architecture. Those technology services are as follows.

- a. *Cloud Service*: A service architecture which allow the user to access any kind of service via internet without physically having those service. Service category used in the cloud service are business service, firm infrastructure service, and storage service. Cloud service is the core technology architecture of EA for small enterprise.
- b. *Network and Communication*: Technology which allow data or information transaction automatically or based on user's input.
- c. *Security*: Technology to protect existing IT infrastructure, including hardware, software, and network, within the organization from theft and damage. in this technology
- d. *Data Management:* Function which includes planning and execution of a policy, practice, and project, to gain, control, protect, give, and add value of data and information assets. Four main functions included are Data Governance, Data Development, Data Operation Management, and Data Analytics [6].

#### 3.4 Guideline Format Consideration

The format of EA Development Guideline adapted many popular existing guidelines/frameworks, such as TOGAF, BABOK, PMBOK, ITIL, and COBIT. By analyzing those frameworks, there are several criteria which will be considered to develop EA development guideline for small enterprises. Those criteria are: (1) it must contain introduction to explain the description and objective of guideline, (2) general overview of each phases using conceptual diagram, (3) detailed explanation of each phase in the same format of documentation, (4) reference map, (5) additional technique explanation and recommendation, and (6) detail of related deliverables.

## 4 Result

The guideline is made as the result of analysis and design stated in previous section. It consists of following composition.

- 1. *Introduction*. It explains background and objective of the guideline. It also contains explanation about foundation and structure of the guideline.
- 2. *Core Concepts.* It contains core definition of EA, including benefits, architecture principles (Sect. 3.2), and architecture domain (Sect. 3.3).
- 3. *Glossary*. It contains definition of terms which commonly used in EA development environment.
- 4. *Architecture Development Method.* It is main part of the guideline which explain the development method to build the EA. It contains initiation phase and architecture development phase, as can be seen in Fig. 2.

- 5. *Additional Techniques.* It is a collection of additional techniques that might be useful to develop EA
- 6. *Deliverables Format and Description*. It explain format and description of related deliverables from each phase of EA development method.



Fig. 2. Architecture development method

#### 5 Evaluation

Principally, testing conducted to verify the fulfillment of requirement that stated in the developed guideline. The testing aspect is requirement/criteria of guideline content and format of guideline. The test result show that all the requirement/criteria from both aspects are fulfilled and can be seen in Tables 3 and 4.

No	Format criteria	Status
1	Contain introduction to explain the description and objective of guideline	1
2	Contains general overview of each phases using conceptual diagram	1
3	Contains detailed explanation of each phase in the same documentation	1
4	Contains reference map	1
5	Contains additional technique explanation and recommendation	1
6	Contains detail of related deliverables	1

 Table 3.
 Format criteria fulfillment

No	Requirement description	Guideline content [10, 12]	Status
1	Guideline is built based on TOGAF ADM of TOGAF 9.1 with several adjustments on steps and deliverables	The method which is used in the guideline is based on TOGAF ADM of TOGAF 9.1 with several adjustments on its steps and deliverables	J
2	Guideline supports EA development based on Small Enterprise's financial capability	Cloud computing is used as its core technology architecture which is affordable for Small Enterprise	1
3	Guideline has glossary to ensure that the EA is simple and can be understood easily is required	The guideline contains glossary which has more than 30 EA related terms	1
4	Guideline supports the development of Knowledge Management oriented EA	In the application architecture, which is aimed in the guideline contain Knowledge Management	1
5	Guideline supports the development of EA which provide quick and flexible information flow	Technology architecture use cloud computing as its core technology which has easy and fast accessibility	1
6	Guideline provides relevant technology options	Cloud computing is used as its core technology architecture which is relevant for Small Enterprise	1
7	Guideline supports efficient strategic planning	Technology architecture contains data analytics which might ease decision making. It is also supported by related architecture principles	1

Table 4. Requirement fulfillment

## 6 Conclusion

This research has delivered "EA Development Guideline for Small Enterprise based on TOGAF 9.1". This Guideline consider several important factors. The most prominent factor is characteristic of the organization, especially financial and human resource capability. In this proposed guidelines, those important characteristics are transformed into requirement specifications which must be fulfilled by the guideline as well as

guideline format. The designed guideline has fulfilled all requirement, both EA specification and guideline format. By having this guideline, small enterprise can increase the quality of governance by applying IT effectively, especially for strategic alignment and value delivery.

#### References

- 1. Porter, M.E.: Competitive Advantage. The Free Press, New York (1985)
- 2. Chief Information Officer Council: A Practical Guide to Federal EA. CIO Council (2001)
- 3. Blessing, L.: DRM: A Design Research Methodology. TU Berlin, Berlin (2004)
- 4. Sessions, R.: A Comparison of the Top Four Enterprise-Architecture Metholodogies. ObjectWatch Inc., Austin (2007)
- Republik Indonesia: Undang-Undang No. 20 Tahun 2008 Tentang Usaha Mikro, Kecil, dan Menengah. Sekretariat Negara, Jakarta (2008)
- 6. Data Management Association: The DAMA Guide to The Data Management Body of Knowledge (DAMA-DMBOK), 1st edn. Technics Publications, Denville (2009)
- 7. The Open Group: The Open Group Architecture Framework 9.1. The Open Group, San Francisco (2011)
- 8. Ayat, M., Masrom, M., Sahibuddin, S.: IT Governance and Small Medium Enterprises. IPCSIT Press, Singapore (2011)
- 9. IBM Redbooks: Combining Business Process Management and EA for Better Business Outcomes. IBM, Indianapolis (2011)
- 10. The Open Group: Maximizing the Value of Cloud for Small-Medium Enterprises: Key SME Characteristics (Business and IT). The Open Group, San Francisco (2012)
- 11. Bernard, S.A.: An Introduction to EA EA3. AuthorHouse, Bloomington (2012)
- Surendro, K., Fardani, A.: Identification of SME readiness to implement cloud computing. In: Cloud Computing and Social Networking (ICCCSN), Bandung (2012)
- Kementrian Negara Koperasi dan Usaha Kecil dan Menengah: Republik Indonesia: Rencana Strategis Kementrian Koperasi dan Usaha Kecil dan Menengah. Republik Indonesia, Jakarta (2015)
- The Open Group: A Historical Look at EA with John Zachman. The Open Group Blog (2015). http://blog.opengroup.org/2015/01/23/a-historical-look-at-enterprise-architecturewith-john-zachman/. Accessed 21 Jan 2016

## Analysis of Measurement Convertibility from FP to CFP: Conversion Formula and Monotonicity Condition

Grażyna Hołodnik-Janczura<sup>(⊠)</sup>₀

Wrocław University of Science and Technology, Wrocław, Poland Grazyna.Holodnik-Janczura@pwr.edu.pl

**Abstract.** The article describes the basics of two software measurement methods: the FPA method, which represents the first generation of Functional Size Measurement (1G FSM), and the COSMIC method, which represents the second generation of such methods (2G FSM). It discusses both the similarities and the observed differences between the two methods. The discussions also include the influence of the increasing variable values on measurement results in both measures.

Drawing upon previous research, an analysis was performed into the relation between the results obtained from both measurement methods. The hypothesis on a linear relation was tested by employing a statistical method of linear regression analysis to investigate a sample of 13 software requirements specification documents. The obtained result was verified on a group of 14 different applications, by using the MMRE and Pred(0.25) measures.

Keywords: Convertibility formula  $\cdot$  Functional size unit  $\cdot$  Linear regression model  $\cdot$  User requirements

#### 1 Introduction

As companies shift from measuring their software or requirements specifications with Function Points (FP) towards COSMIC Function Points (CFP), the need to draw on the many year experience of various programming teams necessitates conversion of the number of function points into CFP or vice versa. Hence, the research into the relation between these two measures is performed for both theoretical and practical purposes. The FPA (Function Points Analysis) method and its later, commonly used versions have been extensively described, especially from the perspective of estimating effort in IT projects<sup>1</sup> [8, 9].

Users of the FPA and CFP methods expect the ratio between the measurement results in both methods to be expressed by a value approximating 1. However, research results published so far indicate that the difference between the FP and CFP is

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6 21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> One of the examples is the Software Productivity Research (SPR) indicator method for effort estimation, which allows calculating the requisite effort N = S/P, where N is requisite effort, S is estimated software size in FP, and P is mean productivity of the project team in FPs per person-month, as calculated for a given programming language.

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

greater (Table 1). Therefore, research should be continued to further investigate and describe the relationships between the measurement results obtained from the two methods and to understand the reasons for the observed differences. This project analyzes the extent to which the variability of the arguments in the FP and CFP formulas influence the final measurement result and uses a linear regression analysis method to describe the linear relation between the FP and CFP measures. The resulting new conversion formula was evaluated with the MMRE and Pred(0.25) tools.

No.	Formula	R <sup>2</sup>
1	y(CFP) = 1.1 * (UFP) - 7.6 [4]	0.97
2	y(CFP) = 1.2 * (UFP) - 87 [12, 13]	0.99
3	y(CFP) = 0.75 * (UFP) - 2.6 [1]	0.85
4	y(CFP) = 1.2 * (UFP) - 108 [1]	0.99
5	y(CFP) = 0.84 * (UFP) + 18 [1]	0.91
6	y(CFP) = 1.0 * (UFP) - 3 [3]	0.93
7	y(CFP) = 1.22 (NESMA FP) - 64 [7]	0.97

Table 1. A set of linear conversion formulas published by various authors.

#### 2 Description of the FPA and COSMIC Methods

#### 2.1 The FPA Method

In the second half of the 1970s, Allan Albrecht together with other IBM engineers developed a new measure of "functional points", which was meant to overcome the shortcomings of the "code line" method employed at that time. Function points are a conventional measure, which is independent from the programming language. The method can be used from an early stage of requirements analysis, and through the entire project life cycle, including software maintenance and development. Function points allow the measurement of software size by identifying two types of an application's components and evaluating their complexity, as well as the so-called technical complexity.

The FPA procedure is divided into three quantitative steps [5, 6]:

1. Unadjusted function points computed from expression

$$UFP = \sum_{i=1}^{5} \sum_{j=1}^{3} z_{ij} \times w_{ij}$$
(1)

where:

UFP – Unadjusted Function Points,  $z_{ij}$  – number of components of i<sup>th</sup> type and j<sup>th</sup> complexity,  $w_{ij}$  – weighing value of components of i<sup>th</sup> type and j<sup>th</sup> complexity. 2. Adjustment factor

$$VAF = 0.65 + (TDI \times 0.01)$$
 (2)

where:

*VAF* - Value Adjustment Factor, *TDI* - Total Degree of Influence.

3. Adjusted function points

$$FP = UFP \times VAF \tag{3}$$

where:

*FP* - Adjusted Function Point count, *UFP* - Unadjusted Function points, *VAF* - Value Adjustment Factor.

In the first step of the method, unadjusted function points (UFPs) are calculated, by first identifying, and then by analyzing the complexity of the identified two types of data and three types of functional processes. The complexity of the data types and of the process types is determined by counting the number of structural elements in Internal Logical Files (ILF) and External Interface Files (EIF), as well as by calculating the number and complexity of references to data in each of the EI, EO and EQ processes (External Input, External Output and External Query, respectively). The complexity of references is characterized not only by the number of referenced files but also by the number of elementary data used. When added, the numbers become a basis for a two-dimensional qualification of each of the components into one of the three complexity levels. The complexity level thus established (L - Low, A - Average or H - High) allows the selection of an appropriate multiplier (weighing value)<sup>2</sup>.

In the next step of the method, the value adjustment factor, previously referred to as the technical complexity factor, is established by estimating the degree of influence (on a scale from 0 to 5) of each of the given characteristics. Originally, this degree of influence was a subjective criterion for evaluation. However, after the IFPUG (The International Function Point Users Group) gathered sufficient experience using the method and after some necessary evaluation criteria were introduced, the results have become acceptably objective and their usage in various comparative analyses have become possible. The method developed by Alan Albrecht distinguishes 14 technical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The values of constant weighing numbers were experimentally determined by Allan Albrecht and have been since used in unchanged form (Table 4).

complexity factors, while subsequent FPA-based methods have various numbers of factors – for instance the Symons method distinguishes 20 such factors [11].

In the third step of the method, a final number of function points is counted, adjusted with the adjustment factor determined in the previous step.

#### 2.2 The COSMIC Method

The COSMIC method [2] was developed as a response to the need to measure software in a broader scope than business applications only, as well as to adjust to the terminology related to object methodologies which started to occur in the modeling language. First research in this field was initiated in the late 1990s and works are still continued [10]. In 2002, the COSMIC method was acknowledged as international standard ISO/IEC 19761. It is an open method, and can be used on the basis of the documents available at www.cosmicon.com [14]. The method can be applied to business software, in which significant quantities of data must be managed, to real-time software used for process control and automatic data acquisition, as well in software which is a hybrid of the two types.

COSMIC is an FSM method, in which functionality is measured on the logical level, without a physical design and without a chosen implementation technology. In COSMIC method, user requirements are referred to as Functional User Requirements (FUR) and comprise only functional requirements. Non-functional requirements, such as reliability and security, are not included.

The measurement process consists of three phases [2]:

- 1. Establishing a measurement strategy, which is outlined before the measurement procedure and includes a definition of the purpose and scope of measurement, as well as identification of functional users and of the granulation level for the artefacts available in the measured software.
- 2. Mapping, which consists in the identification of functional processes, objects of interest and groups of data.
- 3. The measurement consists in identifying data movements and classifying them into one of the four types: E Enter, X Exit, R Read or W Write. In the next step, the measurement function is performed and the measurement results are aggregated for each functional process at the same granulation level. By definition, the COS-MIC measurement method is a mathematical function, which assigns a value to its arguments, i.e. to the identified data movements. In the COSMIC method, the measurement unit is referred to as a COSMIC Function Point (CFP) and corresponds to one data movement; thus 1 CFP is equal to one data movement.

Each functional process may comprise multiple data movements, and hence the size of a functional process is determined as an arithmetic sum of all identified data movements expressed as units of CFP. The measurement formula [2]:

$$\begin{aligned} \text{Size}(\text{functional process}_i) &= \sum \text{size}(\text{Enter}_i) + \\ \sum \text{size}(\text{Exit}_i) + \sum \text{size}(\text{Read}_i) + \sum \text{size}(\text{Write}_i) \end{aligned} \tag{4}$$

Thus, the functional size of a piece of software is directly proportional to the number of its data movements.

For each functional process, the method defines a minimum size of 2 CFP: one Enter and either one Exit or one Write. The upper limit of the functional size for a single process is not defined and as a consequence no upper limit exists for the functional size of a piece of software.

#### 2.3 Comparison of the Basic Principles Behind the Methods

The FPA method enables the assessment of both functional and non-functional requirements, while the COSMIC method allows the measurement only of functional requirements (Table 2). Both methods allow the measurement of applications supporting organization management systems, in which the amount of stored data is more important than the complexity of data processing procedures. Additionally, the COSMIC method can be applied to real-time systems. Both methods are similar in using a functional point as a conventional measure; the FPA method, however, can be used through the entire project life cycle, while the COSMIC method is intended for use at an early stage of this cycle.

No.	Compared feature	FPA	COSMIC
1	Area of application for the	Management Information	Management Information
	software	Systems	Systems
			Real time system
2	Application development	Structure and object	Structure and object
	methodology	oriented approach	oriented approach
3	The phase of project life cycle	Early phase of project life	Early phase of project life
		cycle	cycle
		Requirements	Requirements
		Detailed design	
		Testing	
		Implementation	
		Maintenance	
4	The scope of features measured	Functional and	Functional features
	in the application	non-functional features	
5	Type of measure	Conventional, functional	Conventional, functional
6	Monotonicity condition	Partially restricted	Unrestricted

Table 2. Comparison of the FPA and COSMIC methods in relation to features.

Although both methods represent the same Functional Size Measurement group, their detailed definitions indicate some differences. The most significant differences include the scope of features measured in an application and the fact of satisfying the monotonicity condition, which is described and analyzed in detail later in this paper.

#### 2.4 Monotonicity Condition for the UFP and CFP Measures

This analysis focuses on comparing measures in the FPA and COSMIC methods, without regard to non-functional software features, as in other conversion formulas (Table 1). Narrowing the analysis to unadjusted function points UFP (1), which are the result of calculations only for the first stage of the FPA method, is justified, since the investigated measurement values must relate to the same attributes of the compared object.

#### The Formula for the FPA Method

In the formula for the FPA method, result UFP (1) depends on variable  $z_{ij}$ , which corresponds to the number of components, and on an appropriate constant  $w_{ij}$ , which in turn depends on the type of the component (ILF, EIF, EI, EO, EQ) and on its complexity level (L, A, H). Hence, the variable is two-dimensional, one dimension being the component type, and the other dimension being its level of complexity. However, a more detailed analysis shows the level of complexity to be dependent on yet two other variables: DET and RET/FTR (Table 3). In the case of the ILF and EIF data files, the variables comprise the number of elementary data DET and the number of hierarchical relations RET, and in the case of functional processes, they comprise the number of elementary data DET and FTR. Further analysis indicates that while the increase in the number of DET, RET and FTR may be unlimited, the impact of this growth on the size of UFP is restricted by constant multipliers assigned to particular DET and RET/FTR value ranges (Table 4).

			_
File Types Referenced (FTR)	Data Ele	ment Type	es (DET)
	1-4	5–15	$\geq 16$
<2	Low	Low	Average
2	Low	Average	High
>2	Average	High	High

 Table 3.
 Complexity matrix for EIs. (Source: 6, p. 121).

Table 4.	Multipliers	of FPA	components	for high	complexity	(Source:	6, p.	123).
----------	-------------	--------	------------	----------	------------	----------	-------	-------

Type of component	RET/FTR	DET	w <sub>ij</sub> multiplier
ILF	2–5	≥51	15
	>5	$\geq 20$	
EIF	2–5	$\geq$ 51	10
	>5	$\geq 20$	
EI	2	$\geq 16$	6
	>2	$\geq 5$	
EO	2–3	$\geq 20$	7
	>3	$\geq 6$	
EQ	2–3	$\geq 20$	6
	>3	$\geq 6$	

For instance, for an EI transaction, the FTR number of 3, 5 or even 10 and with the DET number equal to 16, 20 or 45 will always result in High complexity and the same value UFP =  $1 \times 6$  (Table 4). The above fact means that in the case of variables DET and FTR, boundary values for EI's second range are reached at DET between 5 and 15, and RET > 2, while the third range is reached at DET = 16 or more and RET > 2. Any excess of these levels will have no influence on the increase in the complexity of this type of component, and hence on its size measured with UFP. Therefore, the final UFP value for a given application will depend only on variable  $z_{ij}$ , i.e. solely on the number of components of a given type.

The above analysis allows a conclusion that since the increase in the values of variables RET/FTR and DET has no influence on the increase of UFP, the required monotonicity condition is in this case partially restricted.

Additionally, boundary values of variables RET/FTR and DET with complexity High for all types of components indicate that this complexity is reached for two different combinations of RET/FTR and DET values for each type of component, but with the same multiplier value (Table 4).

#### The Formula for the COSMIC Method

The formula for the COSMIC method (4) implies that the final result of the measurement depends on two variables: the number of functional processes and the sum of each type of data movement: E, X, R and W. This means that an increase in the number of movements of each type and an increase in the number of functional processes effects an increase in the final CFP result without any upper limits for maximum size of an application.

#### Summary

The above analysis of the influence of the values of variables which occur in the formulas for both methods allows the following observations:

- 1. In the FPA method, increasing DET and RET/FTR variables have a partially limited influence on the UFP result but may have a potential influence on the difference between the UFP and CFP values for the same application,
- 2. In the COSMIC method formula, no upper limit restricts the increase in the values of four variables.

The observed partial growth restriction for applications, whose size is measured with the FPA method entails a question, if one can expect applications with limit DET and RET/FTR values reached or exceeded to show the same or similar size values when evaluated using the FPA and the COSMIC method. The above question has been investigated and described below.

## **3** Projects and Research Results

#### 3.1 Measurement Results for the Collected Projects

13 project documentation sets were collected, which comprised requirements specifications for the MIS (Management Information Systems) computer applications, such as applications for the management of commissioned works at a university, for investment management in an industrial establishment, for book sales management, or for planning timetables in a secondary school. All sets of documents comprised data models, function models and completed CRUD matrices, thus enabling the use of the FPA method. The measurement using the COSMIC method required additional analysis of documentation and performing calculations compatible with the COSMIC formula. The methods were FPA 4.1 [6] and COSMIC 3.0.1 [2]. The results obtained for both methods (Table 5) show values from 73 to 957 UFP and from 72 to 950 CFP. Importantly, the analyzed group consists of one small application 73/72), two big applications (843/845, 957/950) and 13 medium size applications from 107/136 to 275/284 and 268/292.

Project no.	FPA method					CFP	meth	od		
	ILF and EIF	EI	EO	EQ	UFP	Е	Х	R	W	CFP
P1	84	100	35	12	231	57	100	42	57	256
P2	119	88	21	40	268	57	92	92	51	292
P3	504	232	116	105	957	144	296	361	149	950
P4	280	421	28	114	843	244	275	144	182	845
P5	105	48	14	8	175	28	58	48	24	158
P6	73	52	28	6	164	30	44	30	69	173
P7	98	49	26	6	179	46	45	52	40	183
P8	105	72	30	14	221	29	59	76	28	192
P9	35	54	14	4	107	31	53	25	27	136
P10	35	18	14	6	73	19	22	16	15	72
P11	91	68	29	33	221	33	92	60	22	207
P12	112	76	14	31	233	38	85	72	37	232
P13	119	90	42	24	275	68	81	84	51	284

Table 5. Comparison of measurement results for the FPA and CFP methods

# **3.2** Relationship Between the Measurement Deviation and the Indicator of the Share of H Components

In order to answer the question posed in the summary of the discussion on the influence that the variables in formula (1) have on the final UFP result, firstly an analysis was performed which was focused on the relationship between UFPs obtained from the highest (H) complexity components and the total number of UFPs (Table 6).

Columns from 2 to 5 (Table 6) show the relation between the value of UFP(H) for each type of component (ILF, EIF, EI, EO, EQ) and the total UFP. All cells in column 2 show 0%, which means that these projects had no data types of highest complexity, while for other types of components, these values are within the range of 0% to 100%, which indicates they have a varied share in the UFP of the investigated projects. Values

Project	UFP(H)/U	UFP [%]			Sum of	UFP(H)/	CFP-UFP
no.	ILF	EI	EO	EQ	UFP(H)	UFP [%]	
	and						
	EIF						
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
P1	0.00	72.00	100.00	100.00	119.000	51.515	25
P2	0.00	0.00	100.00	0.00	21.000	7.836	24
P3	0.00	56.90	96.55	11.43	256.000	26.750	-7
P4	0.00	9.98	100.00	10.53	82.000	9.727	2
P5	0.00	100.00	100.00	0.00	62.000	35.429	-17
P6	0.00	92.31	100.00	100.00	82.000	50.000	9
P7	0.00	36.73	80.77	100.00	45.000	25.140	4
P8	0.00	100.00	70.00	42.86	99.000	44.796	-29
P9	0.00	100.00	100.00	0.00	68.000	63.551	29
P10	0.00	0.00	100.00	0.00	14.000	19.178	-1
P11	0.00	26.47	72.41	90.91	69.000	31.222	-14
P12	0.00	78.95	100.00	77.42	98.000	42.060	-1
P13	0.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	156.000	56.727	9

 Table 6. Comparison between the analysis results for the share of the H complexity components and the difference of UFP and CFP.

in column 6 comprise the UFP(H) sum calculated for all types of components in a given project. Column 7 shows the ration between the UFP(H) sum and the total UFP number.

In the second step of the analysis, a reason for the difference between the FPA and COSMIC methods is proposed. The suggested reason was the restricted influence of increasing variable values in the FPA method. This analysis required finding a proper linear correlation coefficient. To this end an indicator of the UFP(H)/UFP relationship (column 7 in Table 6) was used together with the difference between the CFP project size and the UFP project size (column 8). The correlation coefficient between these values appeared to be 0.1752. a result at this level does not support the proposed conclusion. Additionally, it shows that the UFP result strongly reacts to the increase of variable  $z_{ij}$ , i.e. to the growing number of functional processes.

#### 3.3 Confirmation of the Linear Relationship Between UFP and CFP

In order to confirm a linear relationship between the FPA and COSMIC measurement results obtained from the set of 13 collected projects (Table 5) a linear regression analysis method was used (see Fig. 1). The result was the formula with the linear model adjustment (coefficient of determination)  $R^2$  having the value of 0.996:

$$y = 0.991 \times UFP + 5.221$$
 (5)



**Fig. 1.** Graphic representation of the linear relationship between the UFP and CFP measurement results (Computed with PS IMAGO V.4.0).

#### 3.4 Validation of the Obtained Conversion Formula

In order to verify the obtained formula (5), an estimation of CFP values was performed for a group of 14 projects described by Desharnais et al. [3].

Columns 2 and 3 (Table 7) show the results of an actual project measurement performed using the FPA and COSMIC methods, while column 4 contains the results of estimations performed with formula (5). Column 5 shows the differences between the estimated values and the actual values, and column 6 shows the relative error as a percent indicator of the relationship between the difference (5) and the actual value (3).

Of the 14 projects (see Fig. 2):

- 6 projects have the estimated value below 5%,
- 2 projects are above 5% and below 10%,
- 5 projects are above 10% and less than 20%,
- 1 project is above 20%.

Importantly, 2 projects have the indicator below 1%, and only one project has the indicator above 20%, albeit with a high value of approx. 50%.

Evaluation of the accuracy of estimations performed with the obtained formula was based on the MMRE measure and on Pred(V) = n/N, where V is the required estimation accuracy, n is the number of projects with relative estimation error lower than V, and N is the total number of projects. The acceptable estimation reliability measure was MMRE of 25% and  $Pred(0.25) \ge 0.75$ . After calculations MMRE = 0.108,

Project	UFP	COSMIC	Formula	CFP-COSMIC	(CFP-COSMIC)/
no.		2.2	CFP (5)	(4–3)	COSMIC (5/3)
1	2	3	4	5	6
1	383	364	384.774	20.774	5.71%
2	647	565	646.398	81.398	14.41%
3	400	398	401.621	3.621	0.91%
4	205	188	208.376	20.376	10.84%
5	372	448	373.873	-74.127	-16.55%
6	126	88	130.087	42.087	47.83%
7	111	115	115.222	0.222	0.19%
8	287	298	289.638	-8.362	-2.81%
9	500	579	500.721	-78.279	-13.52%
10	344	291	346.125	55.125	18.94%
11	317	294	319.368	25.368	8.63%
12	258	252	260.899	8.899	3.53%
13	113	114	117.204	3.204	2.81%
14	447	467	448.198	-18.802	-4.03%

 Table 7. Comparison of the results calculated using the obtained formula with the results of measurements as presented in [3].



**Fig. 2.** Comparison of the results calculated using the conversion formula (5) with the results of measurements as presented in [3].

i.e. smaller than 0.25, and the Pred(0.25) value is greater than 0.75. Thus, of 14 projects, as many as 13 were estimated with an error below 25% and Pred(0.25) = 0.928 is only slightly smaller than 1, which implies a reliable (at the accuracy level of 25%) estimation of CFP on the basis of UFP, after using conversion formula (5).

#### 4 Conclusion

The presented research results indicate that a strong correlation exists between the size of functional requirements measured with the FPA and with the COSMIC methods and the statistically calculated coefficient of determination is close to 1. The obtained accuracy rate for the CFP estimations using this formula is acceptable and the Pred(0.25) factor is close to 1.

The discussion of the monotonicity of the UFP measure due to partial restriction of the influence of variables RET/FTR and DET on the UFP value showed that in such case the measurement result is sufficiently dependent on variable  $z_{ij}$ . At the same time, the suggested correlation between UFP(H) and the deviation of the CFP value from the UFP value has not been statistically confirmed.

Although the FPA and COSMIC methods belong to the same group of FSM methods, depending on the employed requirement modeling methods, as well as on the domain of the information system, the differences that occur may be not only interpretation- but also domain-related and have a significant impact on the measurement results. Since the usage of the two methods requires the understanding of requirements analysis techniques, and especially of function and information modeling, the employment of the two methods may also cause difficulties related to proper classification of the components of a requirements specification, as well as to ensuring an adequate and uniform complexity level in such documentation. The presented conversion formula offers a solution to these problems.

#### References

- Abran, A., Desharnais, J.-M., Azziz, F.: Measurement convertibility: from function points to COSMIC. In: 15th International Workshop on Software Measurement – IWSM 2005, vol. 12–14, pp. 227–240. Shaker Verlag, Montréal (2005)
- Abran, A., Desharnais J.-M., Oligny S., St-Pierre D., Symons C.: Podręcznik Pomiaru. Metoda pomiaru rozmiaru funkcjonalnego COSMIC. Polish translation of the COSMIC Measurement Manual (2009)
- Desharnais, J., Abran, A., Cuadrado, J.: Convertibility of function points to cosmic-ffp: identification and analysis of functional outliers. In: Proceedings of the International Workshop on Software Measurement. Shaker-Verlag (2007)
- Fetcke, T.: The warehouse software portfolio, a case study in functional size measurement. Technical report, no. 1999-20, Département d'informatique, Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada (1999)
- 5. Garmus, D., Herron, D.: Measuring The Software Process. Yourdon Press, Prentice Hall PTR, Upper Saddle River (1996)
- 6. Garmus, D., Herron, D.: Function Point Analysis: Measurement Practices for Successful Software Projects. Addison-Weslley, Boston (2001)
- 7. Heeringen, H.S.: Changing from FPA to COSMIC a transition framework. In: Proceedings of Software Measurement European Forum Conference, Rome (2007)
- Hołodnik-Janczura, G.: Szacowanie wielkości programu za pomocą analizy funkcji i informacji. In: Badania Operacyjne i Decyzje, vol. 3–4, pp. 59–74, Wrocław (2000)

- Hołodnik-Janczura, G., Brączek, M.: Retrospektywna analiza procesu wdrożenia oprogramowania za pomocą metod EV i FP. In: Metody i narzędzia w procesach biznesowo-decyzyjnych, Wydawnictwo Wyższej Szkoły Zarządzania i Finansów, pp. 85–102, Wrocław (2008)
- St-Pierre D., Maya M., Abran A., Desharnais J.-M., Bourque P.: Full function points: counting practices manual. In: Technical Report 1997-04, Universite du Quebec a Montreal, Montreal, Canada. www.Irgl.uqam.ca/ffp.html
- 11. Symons, C.R.: Function Point Analysis: Difficulties and Improvements. IEEE Trans. Softw. Eng. 14, 2–11 (1988)
- Vogelezang, F.W., Lesterhuis, A.: Applicability of COSMIC full function points in an administrative environment: experiences of an early adopter. In: 13th International Workshop on Software Measurement – IWSM2003. Shaker Verlag, Montréal (2003)
- Vogelezang, F.W.: Implementing COSMIC as a replacement for FPA. In: 14th International Workshop on Software Measurement – IWSM-Metrikon, Konig-Winsterhausen, Germany (2004)
- 14. www.cosmicon.com. Accessed 15 Apr 2017

## Developing Conformance Between Project Management and Enterprise Architecture Governance on the Basis of a PMBOK Case

Jan Werewka<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Department of Applied Computer Science, AGH University of Science and Technology, al. Mickiewicza 30, 30-059 Kraków, Poland werewka@agh.edu.pl

**Abstract.** Enterprises seek to improve their functions. This is not an easy task because the spectrum of their activities is very complex. One of the ways of untangling the complexity of enterprise activities is to describe them in a coherent and - to some extend - uniformed way. An important part of enterprise functionality is project management. Mapping the project management function onto enterprise architecture concepts is of great importance. In the paper the case of the PMBOK project management standard is considered. The main concepts of PMBOK are mapped to ArchiMate, an enterprise architecture modelling language. The obtained results indicate that such mapping is important for an enterprise and also show possibilities of improving the consistency of project management methodologies. The presented approach may be adapted for the agile approach.

**Keywords:** Project management · Enterprise architecture · Architecture governance · System modeling · PMBOK · ArchiMate

### 1 Introduction

Enterprise architecture occupies a central position in integrating different management functions, such as strategic planning, project portfolio management and project management. The project management function implements architectural changes on the basis of goals and directives of enterprise architecture. The development of enterprise architecture accounts for the structure of the organization, motivation, business, application and technology processes. The description of all components and relations requires a coherent approach (Lankhorst 2017), necessary in building integrated architecture models, which should be based on enterprise architecture modelling language. Enterprise architecture is used to obtain a holistic view of a company, and it can be adapted to a specific company as described in (Jamróz et al. 2014).

The functions and processes of a company are supported by different frames, such as methodologies, standards, and methods. The problem is that all these frames are described by different presentation approaches. The idea of the paper is to provide mapping of company project management operations to enterprise architecture governance on the basis of meta-models and ArchiMate, an enterprise architecture description language.

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_22

The software development industry is a branch which uses a mix of different project management methodologies. An important portion of activities in software development companies (software houses) is software product development, usually organized into projects. The most popular project management methodologies are PMBOK for the classic and Scrum for the agile approach. PMBOK (Project Management Body of Knowledge) (PMI 2013a) is a classic project management methodologies like PMBOK or Scrum is caused by difficulties with understanding the difference between them, due to extensive texts based on descriptions containing many not self-explanatory terms. The method proposed here is based on enterprise architectures. To reduce the time of learning for both classic and agile methodologies, a meta-model was introduced enabling mutual mapping between them. The paper concentrates mainly on PMBOK, and it should be underlined that the proposed approach has not been described in the literature yet.

Enterprise architecture models can be used to describe activities of a company. Developing enterprise architecture is supported by different frameworks, out of which TOGAF (The Open Group 2011) is most frequently citied. In the TOGAF description, conformance means that all features described in the architecture specification are implemented in accordance with the specification, but some features not described in the specification may be implemented in a different way. The best way to specify architecture is to describe it in an enterprise architecture language, such as ArchiMate, which is also supported by The Open Group (The Open Group 2016). There are many software tools certified by The Open Group that may be used for modelling in ArchiMate. The ArchiMate models presented in the paper are developed using Archi (Beauvoir 2015), a free and open source modelling tool for creating ArchiMate models and sketches.

IT companies use different approaches for organizing their activities. They may include self-made solutions, a hybrid implementation of different methods, and tailored or fully implemented standard methodologies. Some well-known approaches will be briefly discussed below.

COBIT (Control Objectives for Information and Related Technologies) is a framework (ISACA 2012) for the governance and management of IT enterprises. COBIT is used to improve (Radovanović et al. 2011) the management of IT in accordance with regulatory requirements, and the key areas of IT governance include: business IT strategic alignment, new value delivery through IT, IT resource management, IT risks management and IT performance management.

ITIL (Information Technology Infrastructure Library) is a standard aimed at supporting IT services for business, on the basis of definitions of processes, which should be implemented in organizations delivering IT services. (Vicente et al. 2013b) present a proposal of integrating ITIL with the Enterprise Architecture approach by mapping ITIL to the ArchiMate concepts. The goal of their paper is twofold: on the one hand, to offer architects the elements, relationships and models representing best practices in IT service management, and, on the other hand, to create a formal model for knowledge sharing and communication with stakeholders. Another paper by the same authors (Vicente et al. 2013a) concentrates on representing motivation behind ITIL expressed in ArchiMate motivation concepts. The problem considered here is connected with the fact that software developing companies are confronted with different standards and methodologies they should use. Some examples of such standards include PMBOK, Scrum, KANBAN for project and product management, COBIT and CMMI for software development governance, ITIL for IT service support, ISO, and TOGAF for more general usage. These standards are based on different presentation approaches, terms and motivations. The employees working in a given company may find it difficult to understand the main differences between all these standards. The proposed hypothesis states that using a common model based on enterprise architecture concepts will make it easier for them to understand and compare all these standards. The proposed solution recommends the application of enterprise architecture solutions, meta-models and ArchiMate, an enterprise architecture language.

The paper is organized as follows. The introduction describes the problem of project management conformance and reviews existing solutions in this area. In Sect. 2 a meta model of project management methodologies is proposed which allows for comparing methodologies and aligning them to enterprise architecture. In Sect. 3 a PMBOK process concept is described using ArchiMate notation. On the basis of the PMBOK flow model between processes (DFD based), in Sect. 4 artifacts modelling is proposed. The roles in PMBOK are not explicitly described, so the role-based collaboration is introduced in Sect. 5. For each process in PMBOK, a set of proposed tools and techniques is given. In Sect. 6 a workshop proposal is introduced including tools and techniques as a resource asset that may be used in the process. An example of a stakeholder process management group is presented in Sect. 7, with an application layer added. Concluding remarks are given in Sect. 8.

#### 2 Meta-Model of Project Management Methodologies

In the IT branch, agile (Scrum) and classic (PMBOK) project management methodologies are the most popular ones. For describing, mapping and integrating such different methodologies, it is necessary to develop a general model (a meta-model), which will be used for modelling methodologies. The goal of building a meta-model is to develop a notation suitable for users of the developed models. A meta-model will be a constraint in defining terms representing different methodologies. On the other hand, a meta-model must be general enough so as not to limit correct definitions of methodologies.

The proposed meta-model will be simple and will be based on concepts and schema concepts (a set of concepts of a given structure). Different relations can occur between the concepts of different concept schema, and they will be denoted as semantic mapping. On the basis of the concept schema, a meta-model - common for project management methodologies - can be build. The following concepts are introduced for project management methodologies (Werewka et al. 2010):

- Universal principles. The activities in the methodologies should conform to principles.
- Artifacts. Everything that is produced during project execution (e.g. products, documents, software, new organization of a team, etc.).

- Role. Role means a virtual person or organization which is able to perform a set of activities.
- Process. Process consists of activities leading to the creation of artifacts.
- Events. Phenomena which occur during project execution.
- Workshop. A combination of elements used by project roles in order to perform activities leading to the creation of artifacts.
- Discipline. Knowledge areas of various project management fields.

An enterprise performs many functions, and one of them is project or product management using different project management methodologies. In the above mentioned work a solution is proposed for the alignment of project management methodologies based on two ontologies, a classic one represented by PMBOK and an agile one represented by Scrum.

Different notations or models may be used for enterprise architecture modelling. The ArchiMate notation is used because the elements of the notation seem self-explanatory and the notation is not very extensive. In the ArchiMate notation seven different layers are distinguished: motivation, strategy, business, application, infrastructure, physical, implementation and migration. In this paper mainly a business layer is considered. While modelling PMBOK in ArchiMate, it is important to distinguish basic concepts of PMBOK. In mapping PMBOK concepts to ArchiMate the following PMBOK concepts will be taken into consideration: process, inputs and outputs of the process, project role, and tools and techniques supporting the process of performing.

### **3** Process Concept in PMBOK

A process is a primary concept of PMBOK. Processes are performed by process roles. In PMBOK roles occur in an implicit way. Each process is characterized by its inputs and outputs. The inputs and outputs can be modelled with flow relations. An artifact is related to each flow. In each process some defined tools and techniques may be used.

The process concept in PMBOK is very similar to that in ArchiMate. In PMBOK each process is a member of two process groups (Fig. 1): project management process group and knowledge areas. The project management process group divides management functions into project initiating, planning, executing, monitoring and controlling, and closing. The grouping process according to a knowledge area has educating functions, and grouping processes according to project phases indicates a management function assigned to each process.

General management functions are defined as: planning, organizing, staffing, directing and controlling. In case of project management in PMBOK, the following general functions can be distinguished: project initiating, planning, executing (including organizing, staffing, directing), monitoring & control, and project closing. Naturally, in project management other functions can also be listed, connected e.g. with people or organization competency.

One of PMBOK drawbacks is the lack of the definition of process activities. The activities of a process can be determined on the basis of documentation analysis, produced outputs and tools and techniques used. Another issue is connected with the



Fig. 1. PMBOK processes described in ArchiMate

fact that flow relations between processes are defined, but triggering relations are not. To some extent, it is possible to determine triggering relations on the basis of flow relations. Additionally, it is not explicitly defined when a process starts and stops.
# 4 PMBOK Artifacts Modelling in ArchiMate

Processes in PMBOK are well defined by their inputs and outputs. Every process is described as DFD (Data flow diagram). Inputs and outputs represent a flow between different processes. The flows can be grouped into different information types, like project plans or documents. The proposal is to treat inputs and outputs of processes as artifacts presented as ArchiMate business objects. Artifacts can be grouped as shown in Fig. 2.

The main group of artifacts are project plans and documents. Very often in PMBOK artifacts are used describe the project context. An important group of artifacts are project deliverables, which are the main concerns for customers. Generally, the model of artifacts does not seem consistent due to the fact that sometimes a single process input is composed of artifacts from different hierarchy levels or is a subset of other artifacts (e.g. outputs of other processes).



Fig. 2. Inputs and outputs of the MBOK processes as ArchiMate business objects

#### 5 PMBOK Role Modelling in ArchiMate

One of the problems in PMBOK is connected with the fact that roles are not given in an explicit way. So, the first task was to go through PMBOK documentation and to identify all possible roles. Figure 3 presents the roles found through searching documentation.



Fig. 3. Extracted roles from PMBOK documentation

The activities of the roles change during the project lifecycle. In PMBOK project management five process group are defined: initiating (IN), planning (PL), executing (EX), monitoring & controlling (MC), and closing (CL). The groups are the functions of project management and not direct the phases of the project. Analyzing PMBOK documentation yields 14 different project roles (Table 1). For each role and process group the participation importance is proposed as: 0 - role not necessary, 1 - role can occur, 2 - role should occur in business cooperation, 3 - role should occur, 4 - role must occur in business cooperation, and 5 - role must occur.

In ArchiMate a concept of collaboration of roles is introduced. Figure 4 shows an example of such possible collaboration. Each role is of different importance in process groups. For each process group the leading roles are proposed forming business collaborations:

- Business Collaboration (IN) = {Sponsor, Portfolio Manager, Program Manager, Project Manager, PMO, Client, Performing Organization}
- Business Collaboration (PL) = {Project Manager, PMO, Project Management Team, Sponsor, Functional Manager, Performing Organization}
- Business Collaboration (EX) = {Performing Organization, Project Manager, Project Management Team, Functional Manager,}
- Business Collaboration (CM) = {CCB, Project Oversight, Project Manager, Client}
- Business Collaboration (EX) = {Client, Project Manager, Performing Organization, Sponsor, PMO}

	Role	IN	PL	EX	MC	CL
1	Sponsor	5	3	2	2	1
2	Portfolio Manager	3	2	0	2	2
3	Portfolio Control Board	3	2	0	2	2
4	Client	4	4	0	4	5
5	Program Manager	3	2	0	2	2
6	Change Control Board (CCB)	0	2	0	5	2
7	Project Oversight	0	2	0	5	4
8	Project Manager	3	5	5	4	5
9	Project Management Office (PMO)	3	3	2	3	3
10	Project Management Team	2	4	3	2	4
11	Functional Manager	2	3	3	2	2
12	Domain Expert	1	1	1	1	1
13	Performing Organization	2	3	5	3	4
14	Project Stakeholders	1	1	1	1	1

Table 1. Role assignments to project functions



Fig. 4. Possible support of stakeholder management performed by application components

Because in PMBOK roles and activities are not defined in an explicit way, in the developed model no assignment between roles and activities is determined. Doing so, we can obtain a model which does not conform to PMBOK.

# 6 PMBOK Tools and Techniques Modelling in ArchiMate

In PMBOK each process realization can be supported by tools and techniques. PMBOK tools and techniques may be considered a methodology asset. In ArchiMate (The Open Group 2016) a resource represents an asset owned or controlled by an individual or organization. Resources can be classified as financial, physical, human and organization (e.g. technology, methods) assets. In PMBOK a set of tools and techniques is assigned to each process. Generally, in project management methodology for process a workshop can be defined. The workshop here means using different assets to support process execution. The workshop can consists of:

- Techniques (expert judgement, stakeholder analysis, analytical techniques, leader and interpersonal capabilities, etc.)
- Tools (meetings, communication methods, information management systems, etc.)
- Practices
- Rules (methods, instructions, terms of use, etc.)

With each process described in the paper tools and techniques will be considered as methodology assets. In PMBOK for each process a workshop is defined consisting of tools and techniques. The practices that may be used within the project are described in separate PMI standard as OPM3 (Organizational Project Management Maturity Model). The OPM3 (PMI 2013b, p. 3) is used to determine organization project management maturity on the basis of the level of use of best practices by project management organization. The usage of rules is not given in an explicit way. In PMBOK documentation methods and instructions to be applied for a general purpose or for purposes specific for each process are described in a general way, and the terms of use of different activities are mentioned.

## 7 Example of PMBOK Process Model

In the first step, the core PMBOK elements including all processes, artifacts, roles and workshop items are described in ArchiMate. A process group known as stakeholder management knowledge area will be considered as an example. The basic structure of this process group is presented in Fig. 4. The presented diagram consists of PMBOK processes which realize services for this group.

Additionally, in Fig. 4 possible support of these processes performed by application components is given. The application usage is not a part of PMBOK, but could be an enterprise architecture solution supporting business processes.

### 8 Conclusions

The paper proposes a way of aligning a basic PMBOK concept to enterprise architecture description. The proposed solution may be useful for common understanding of company operations and may be important for developing enterprise architecture governance. The proposed solution may be successfully adapted to agile projects and product development methodologies. In the paper only the core PMBOK concepts are considered. The future work will concentrate on alignment of motivation concepts to different organization levels: enterprise, project, process.

# References

- Beauvoir, P.: Archi User Guide, Version 3.3.0 (2015). http://www.archimatetool.com/ downloads/latest/Archi%20User%20Guide.pdf. Accessed 4 Mar 2016
- ISACA: COBIT 5: A Business Framework for the Governance and Management of Enterprise IT (2012). http://www.isaca.org/Cobit/pages/default.aspx. Accessed 13 May 2017
- Jamróz, K., Pitulej, D., Werewka, J.: Adapting enterprise architecture at a software development company and the resultant benefits. In: Avgeriou, P., Zdun, U. (eds.) Software Architecture, pp. 170–185. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2014). http://link.springer.com/ chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-09970-5\_16
- Lankhorst, M.: Enterprise Architecture at Work. Springer, Heidelberg (2017). doi:https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-662-53933-0
- PMI: A Guide to the Project Management Body of Knowledge: PMBOK(R) Guide, 5th edn. Project Management Institute, Newtown Square, Pennsylvania (2013a)
- PMI: Organizational Project Management Maturity Model (OPM3®), 3rd edn. (2013b). https:// www.pmi.org/pmbok-guide-standards/foundational/organizational-pm-maturity-modelopm3-third-edition
- Radovanović, D., Lučić, D., Radojević, T., Šarac, M.: Information technology governance #x2014; COBIT model. In: 2011 Proceedings of the 34th International Convention MIPRO, pp. 1426–1429 (2011)
- The Open Group: TOGAF Version 9.1, 10th edn. van Haren Publishing, Zaltbommel (2011)
- The Open Group: ArchiMate® 3.0 Specification (2016) http://pubs.opengroup.org/architecture/ archimate3-doc/toc.html. Accessed 27 Jan 2017
- Vicente, M., Gama, N., da Silva, M.M.: The value of ITIL in enterprise architecture. In: 2013 17th IEEE International Enterprise Distributed Object Computing Conference, pp. 147–152 (2013a). https://doi.org/10.1109/EDOC.2013.24
- Vicente, M., Gama, N., da Silva, M.M.: Using ArchiMate to represent ITIL metamodel. In: 2013 IEEE 15th Conference on Business Informatics, pp. 270–275 (2013b). https://doi.org/10. 1109/CBI.2013.45
- Werewka, J., Szwed, P., Rogus, G.: Integration of classical and agile project management methodologies based on ontological model. Prod. Eng. Mak. 7–28 (2010)

# Hazard Control in Industrial Environments: A Knowledge-Vision-Based Approach

Caterine Silva de Oliveira<sup>1(⊠)</sup>, Cesar Sanin<sup>1</sup>, and Edward Szczerbicki<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The University of Newcastle, Newcastle, NSW, Australia caterine.silvadeoliveira@uon.edu.au, cesar.maldonadosanin@newcastle.edu.au <sup>2</sup> Gdansk University of Technology, Gdansk, Poland edward.szczerbicki@newcastle.edu.au

Abstract. This paper proposes the integration of image processing techniques (such as image segmentation, feature extraction and selection) and a knowledge representation approach in a framework for the development of an automatic system able to identify, in real time, unsafe activities in industrial environments. In this framework, the visual information (feature extraction) acquired from video-camera images and other context based gathered data are represented as Set of Experience Knowledge Structure (SOEKS), a formal decision event for reasoning and risk evaluation. Then, grouped sets of decisions from the same category are stored as decisional experience Decisional DNA (DDNA) to support future decision making events in similar input images. Unlike the existing sensor and vision-based approaches, that required rewriting most of the code when a condition, situation or requirement changes, our platform is an adaptable system capable of working in a variety of video analysis scenarios. Depending on the safety requirements of each industrial environment, users can feed the system with flexible rules and in the end, the platform provides decision makers with hazard evaluations that reuse experience for event identification and correction.

**Keywords:** Decisional DNA (DDNA) · Set of Experience Knowledge (SOEKS) · Industrial hazard control

# 1 Introduction

Hazards are present in all workplaces and can result in injuries, short and long-term illnesses, and even death. According to the Safe Work Australia SWA [1], from 2003 to 2015, over three thousand workers lost their lives in work-related incidents. In addition, still according to SWA in 2014–2015, there were 107,355 serious worker' compensation claims related to disease and injuries, resulting in productivity loss, human suffering and the cost of billions of dollars to the Australian Economy.

The Australian Work Health and Safety Strategy 2012–2022 aims at reducing the incidents related to occupational health and safety and has identified the manufacturing industry as a priority to reduce the work-related injuries, illnesses and fatalities -

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_23

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

according to industry type, from 2003 to 2015, the manufacturing had the third highest incidence rate of serious claims and the fourth highest proportion of fatalities [2].

Hazard control is essential to ensure the occupational health and safety of workers [3]. In this context, monitoring of workers activities and identifying any risk present in the workplace emerged as a need. The use of sensors data and computer vision techniques support the fast and automated detection of potentially dangerous situations. This information can be used to provide feedback, and manage workers behavior to perform the work in a safe manner [4].

However, as stated by [5], the broad industrial environments and situations existing, result in rewriting most of existing applications code each time the circumstances or conditions change. In addition, as the system grows the scalability becomes an issue and the quantity of considerations required for each application in particular can easily lead to a rigid and inflexible structure [6]. Aiming at controlling hazards in industrial workplaces, in special for a wide diversity of environments in the manufacturing industry, it is proposed in this research an adaptable system capable of working in a variety of video analysis scenarios requiring little or no modification.

This paper is organized as follow: in section two, we present some relevant related work in sensor-based and vision-based systems as well as the use of knowledge representation approaches for the task of recognizing human activities; in section three, we introduce our proposed framework, explaining each layer of the overall architecture of the system; and lastly, in section four, we present conclusions and future work.

### 2 State of Art

We separated the state of art into two sections: (i) sensor and vision-based human activity recognition, and (ii) recognizing human activities using knowledge representation approaches.

#### 2.1 Human Activity Recognition

Human activity recognition has become one of the most active research subjects in pattern recognition and image processing fields [7]. It can be a challenging problem, particularly in real world scenes, subject to illumination changes, difficult structured background, occlusion and variation of human body poses [8]. This is a significant problem with a broad range of applications such as video surveillance of train stations, airports and pedestrians in road traffic scenes; smart homes; human computer interfaces; sports video analysis and workspace monitoring [9–14].

Generally, approaches to recognize human activities can be divided into two groups: sensor-based and vision-based. Sensor-based systems use a combination of sensors, attached to the subject being monitored, whereas, vision-based activity recognition systems attempt to recognize human behavior from images and video sequences [15, 16].

Sensor-Based Systems. Activity recognition based on sensors is a growing area of interest given the advances in wearable sensors. With common use of smartphones,

applications in various domains are taking advantage of the ease to monitor personal activities and behavior in order to provide dynamic and personalized services [17].

For daily activity recognition, Palumbo et al. [18] research introduced a flexible and robust multi-sensor data approach using data sampled by sensors embedded in a smartphone and the reciprocal values coming from worn wireless sensor devices with applications in smart homes. Moreover, Wang et al. [19] proposed a method for human activity recognition using a wearable inertial sensor, which achieved higher recognition accuracy for hierarchical classification even with few training samples; although, it presented the limitation of implementability, and porting the proposed algorithm would be, according to the authors, a "meaningful job". In the industrial context, Li et al. [20] described an intelligent system able to identify head motion, aiming to reduce accidents caused by fatigue and sleepiness of workers.

Despite the fact that several activity recognition systems have been developed over more than two decades, there are still unsolved issues to be addressed with new techniques [17]. One of the biggest limitations of sensor-based systems is the requirement of classifiers to work as fast as possible in order to be embedded in lower-power wearable devices [16]. Dohnálek et al. [16] tested the performance of several classifiers on multiple datasets and concluded that the computation power for real-time implementation, even when using the best performances, still remains a challenge. Additionally, in spite of sensor-based systems providing more accurate results than vision-based systems, it requires sensors or markers to be attached on the human body, which can be a difficulty because the device can disturb some movements [4].

**Vision-Based Systems.** The majority of previous work on activity recognition has focused on development of systems using 2D video cameras, which are, in general, sensitive to clutter and occlusion, resulting in low accuracy [21]. Aiming to solve this limitation, the use of the RGBD sensor has been proposed in recent researches. This sensor is composed by a RGB camera that works in association with a particular kind of depth sensing device and is capable of supplementing the conventional image with depth information [22]. The RGBD sensor was used, for example, in Sung et al. [21] research, which considered the problem of detecting and recognizing human activities in unstructured environments.

Additionally, Farooq et al. [23] presented an effective body skin joints feature identification system based on depth sequences, handling problems such as self-occlusion, overlapping among people and hidden body parts prediction. With applications to safety, Han and Lee [4] developed a supervised vision-based framework to detect critical unsafe activities of construction workers using 3D human skeleton models, aiming to provide workers with feedback on their behavior and to examine the impact of safety-related management actions.

Furthermore, Roitberg et al. [24] presented a two-step approach for activity recognition based on Random Forest and Hidden Markov Models for safe cooperation between humans and robots. In terms of accuracy, the systems performance when operating in real life remains limited. In Xu et al. work [25], vision-based activity recognition techniques are examined, and showed that it is still a challenging task for several reasons, such as variance in the appearance of particular events, similarity in the appearance of different events, lack of specific background information, scalability and in flexibility.

#### 2.2 Knowledge Representation

Besides the significant improvements of human activity identification that has been done in the past few years, only a little research has focused on specific requirements for industrial applications and the commercial systems available that are able to run in real time (mostly using vision-based approach) currently perform far from satisfactorily [8]. In addition, the issues related to human detection such as occlusion, position accuracy, frame rate and background changes result in the necessity of adapting the algorithms for different conditions, clients and situations [6].

In this context, methods incorporating priori knowledge and context information are gaining interest. Zambrano et al. [6] developed an automatic semantic and flexible annotation service able to work in a variety of video analysis with little or no modification using SOEKS. With additional contextual information it was possible to enhance the speed and accuracy of the detection algorithms and reduce the scalability issues.

With our approach, we attempt to implement an analogous idea to Zambrano et al. [6]. The system is composed, basically, by the combinations of image processing techniques (e.g. segmentation, feature extraction and selection) and a knowledge representation approach: Set of Experience Knowledge Structure (SOEKS) and Decisional DNA (DDNA). The platform, unlike the sensor and vision based systems, has the flexibility to work in a range of manufacturing environments, without the necessity of recoding the whole system to each different industry. In addition, reusing the past experiences and contextual knowledge for future decisions improves the system performance in terms of computational time, accuracy and scalability, as well as gives support for self-learning; those factors make its implementation possible in a real time application. Though, in Zambrano et al. [6] approach, a lot of information contained in the classifiers is lost by separating the classifiers can be very time consuming. To overcome that issue, we propose representing the image feature vectors also as part of the SOEKS together with context variables.

#### **3** Proposed Framework

Figure 1 shows the overall architecture of the proposed knowledge-vision-based hazard control system, which is divided into three main layers: Configuration Setup, Reasoning and Repository, and Monitoring.

The initial process for behavior-based worker observation is to develop a checklist of critical safety-related behaviors. Initially, it will consider general activities that may present risk such as non-use of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) when required (e.g. when accessing certain areas, operating machines or interacting with robots), access to restricted area when not permitted, disregard to gap or safety distances to areas and machineries, among others.



Fig. 1. Overall architecture of the proposed knowledge-vision-based hazard control system.

#### 3.1 Configuration Setup

This layer comprehends the selection of the PPE according to industry requirements; labeling of machinery, areas and plants of the workplace being captured by the camera; creation of the rules and configuration of other functionalities such as frame and learning rate.

Through the application, the user is able to select the required PPE from a given list. In case of the desired equipment is not in the list, a new one can be added. To include a new equipment, which might be used future configuration setups, the user must upload an image containing the equipment and its label (name). It gives the system the ability to self-increase the range of possible workspaces' applicability. The resulting set of numeric features extracted from the new equipment is described by a feature vector and represented in the SOEKS as new variables.

Once the process of selection of equipment is finalized, the selection of areas and machinery is initialized. In this step, each single machine is manually select and labeled. The same process is repeated for the areas. Once all the areas and machinery are selected and labeled, and the all extra functionalities are configured, the configuration setup process is finalized. The features composed by the selected areas and machineries are also stored in the SOEKS for recommendations in future setup configurations.

**Feature Extraction and Selection.** A In Machine Learning and Pattern Recognition, 'feature' is a single computable property of a certain pattern that is being observed, such as color components, length, area, circularity, gradient magnitude, gradient direction, or simply the gray-level intensity value. For the feature extraction, a range of different approaches will be tested such as Histogram of Oriented Gradients [26], Speeded Up Robust Features [27], Local Binary Patterns [28] and Haar-like wavelets

[29]. To reduce processing time and data storage, a small set of features is selected (the ones whose values efficiently discriminate among patterns of different classes, but are similar for patterns within the same class). This process is known as feature selection. For feature selection, existing methods such as Principal Component Analysis [30], Adaboost [31], Random Forest [32] and Mrmr [33] will be explored.

**Rules Creation.** We propose to recognize workers activity under the organization and relationships of the context attributes. In this research, we consider, at first, four basic attributes to compose an activity: object (in this case the PPE), person, action (e.g. approaching, operating) and the risk point (e.g. machinery, plants and restricted areas). An activity may contain one or more attributes and may be composed by more than one attribute of the same type. Each of those attributes and other context data, as well as the rules created by the users, are represented as a SOEKS in our system. Once an activity is detected, its recognition and indication of hazards take into consideration the set of rules given by the user. They contain an explicit relationship among the context attributes, such as "Workers must wear gloves when operating machine 1" and "Workers must stay 2 m from the area 1". The rules can be changed according to each industry requirement and is able to adapt to different necessities by, simply, changing the entries.

### 3.2 Reasoning and Repository

The Reasoning and Repository layer is composed by the Set of Experience Knowledge Representation (SOEKS), Decisional DNA (DDNA) and the intelligence of the entire system. The SOEKS, DDNA and system operation are explained below.

**Set of Experience Knowledge Structure (SOEKS).** SOEKS is a knowledge representation structure designed to obtain and store formal decision events in an explicit way. It is based on four key basic elements of decision-making actions (variables, functions, constraints and rules). Variables are generally used to represent knowledge in an attribute-value form, following the traditional approach for knowledge representation. Given the set of variables, functions, constraints, the rules of SOEKS are different ways of relating knowledge variables. Functions define relations between a dependent variable and a set of input variables; therefore, SOEKS uses functions as a way to create links among variables and to build multi-objective goals. Likewise, constraints are functions that act as a way to limit possibilities, restrict the set of possible solutions and control the performance of the system in relation to its goals. Finally, rules are relationships that operate in the universe of variables and express the condition-consequence connection as "if-then-else" and are used to represent inferences and associate actions with the conditions under which they should be implemented [34].

**Decisional DNA (DDNA).** The repository is composed of experienced decision events, which are represented as SOEKS in our platform, grouped according to the areas of decision categories – the Decisional DNA. A SOEKS from a formal decision event represents a portion of an organization's DDNA (as a gene that guides

decision-making). This gene belongs to a decisional chromosome from a certain type or category. A group of chromosomes from different kinds (e.g. hazard control decisions, production decisions, marketing decisions) comprise the DDNA, a decisional genetic code of an organization. The DDNA can be used to solve the scalability issues found in current vision-based approaches by introducing an experience-based approximation that aims to recognize events defined by the user using production rules, adaptable for different conditions, clients and situations [35].

**System Operation.** The visual information (vector of features) and other gathered data is stored as variables in the SOEKS. Those variables are connected by relationships, the functions, which describe the associations between the set of input variables and the dependent variable (in this case the hazard). These relationships provide uniqueness and reduce the ambiguity for decision-making.

As any other system, our platform is also composed of constrains, which is another way of describing relationship among the variables, but with the purpose of limiting the possibilities and restrict the feasible solution. Without the constraints, the system would have infinite performance. As an example, when the user configures the system and chooses the list of personal protective equipment and the risk points, constraints are created, which means, any another PPE or risk point different from the selected ones will not be considered for evaluation.

In addition, the SOEKS will be composed by the set of rules given by the user, translated and represented as if-then-else statements. Finally, each decision-making, i.e. evaluation of events, for each single SOEKS captured will be grouped and stored in the DDNA repository for reuse in future similar occurrences. In order to build a smart platform, the system will be trained, which means, it will run several times as a way to learn as much as possible before it is put into practical use.

When operating, the platform will compare the vector of information obtained from the application (monitoring layer) to the vector of variables existing in the repository. For the comparison, few methodologies may be tested to measure similarity between the input vector and the stored vectors. Initially, Euclidian distance and Cosine [36] techniques will be used. When comparing the vectors, the similarity is given along with the established solution contained in the SOEKS with the shortest distance. If the solution given does not fit the requirement of the user, then human intervention will be needed. In this case, if the SOEKS is not completely equal to any existing one, a new experience is created with the suggested solution given by the user; otherwise, the SOEKS is entirely equal to an existing one and, then, the suggested solution given by the user replaces the existing in that SOEKS.

In addition, when operating, the system creates new experiences even when the solutions given are reasonable and non-human intervention occurs. As stated before, the learning rate, which is the frequency of storage of experiences, is given by the user when configuring the system. The higher the learning rate, the smarter the system becomes. On the other hand, reusing information whenever possible without the necessity of creating a new experience reduces the complexity of the system, saving processing time and storage space. Thus, in order to achieve the desired performance, there should be a balance between capability and simplicity.

#### 3.3 Monitoring

This layer represents the monitoring of workers' activities. For each captured frame, the visual information (features) and other context based gathered data are grouped into a vector of variables for comparison with the vectors of variables stored in each SOEKS of the DDNA repository. It might also be stored (depending on the learning rate), as previously explained. When a hazard is identified by the system, an alert message is shown on the application with some details about the existing risk. This information is useful to avoid creation of a mistaken SOEKS when there is an issue with the collecting of information (and not with the reasoning of the system). For instance, if it is required the use of helmets to operate a machine and the system fails in recognizing it, the alert message will provide the detail of why a risk was identified. Knowing that the given output message does not reflects the reality, the user will be able to manually annotate the equipment and the system can use that information to create a new experience which containing, besides all the other variables, the set of features extracted from the selected region. This is an additional way for the system to learn when operating in real time.

# 4 Conclusion

The research is still at its early stages. The related work has been extensively researched and helped us to propose an overall architecture for a knowledge-vision-based system to control hazards in workplaces, in particular in manufacturing industry. We intend to recognize, in real time, human activities that can cause hazards or accidents in industrial environments and overcome the problem of recoding when the system is applied to a variety of scenarios subject to different conditions, situations and specifications. For that purpose, the proposed system combines computer vision and knowledge representation technologies, which allows its adaptability to different necessities, requiring little or no modification.

In our future work we will implement the representation of the image features, context variables theirs relationships as a SOEKS and explore the available technologies for computation of vectors similarity. The goal is to analyze the performance of each approach in terms of accuracy and computation costs and choose the most reasonable option for our real-time application.

## References

- 1. Safe Work Australia SWA: Disease and injury statistics. https://www.safeworkaustralia.gov. au/collection/australian-workers-compensation-statistics
- 2. Safe Work Australia: Australian Work Health and Safety Strategy 2012–2022. Creative Commons (2012)
- 3. Safetycare Australia: Recognition, evaluation and control of hazards, Victoria (2015)
- 4. Han, S., Lee, S.: A vision-based motion capture and recognition framework for behavior based safety management. Autom. Constr. **35**, 131–141 (2013)

- 5. Little, S., Jargalsaikhan, I., Clawson, K., Li, H., Nieto, M., Direkoglu, C., et al.: An information retrieval approach to identifying infrequent events in surveillance video, Dallas (2013)
- Zambrano, A., Toro, C., Nieto, M., Sotaquirá, R., Sanín, C., Szczerbicki, E.: Video semantic analysis framework based on run-time production rules – towards cognitive vision. J. Univ. Comput. Sci. 21(6), 856–870 (2015)
- Aggarwal, J.K., Ryoo, M.S.: Human activity analysis. ACM Comput. Surv. 43(3), 1–43 (2011)
- Mosberger, R., Andreasson, H., Lilienthal, A.J.: Multi-human tracking using high-visibility clothing for industrial safety. In: IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, pp. 638–644. IEEE (2013)
- Zin, T.T., Tin, P., Hama, H., Toriu, T.: An integrated framework for detecting suspicious behaviors in video surveillance. In: IS&T/SPIE Electronic Imaging, International Society for Optics and Photonics, p. 902614 (2014)
- Favoreel, W.: Pedestrian sensing for increased traffic safety and efficiency at signalized intersections. In: 8th IEEE International Conference on Advanced Video and Signal Based Surveillance (AVSS) (2011)
- 11. Mokhtari, G., Zhang, Q., Hargrave, C., Ralston, J.C.: Non-wearable UWB sensor for human identification in smart home. IEEE Sens. J. **17**(11), 3332–3340 (2017)
- Yin, Y., Davis, R.: Real-time continuous gesture recognition for natural human-computer interaction. In: IEEE Symposium on Visual Languages and Human-Centric Computing (VL/HCC), pp. 113–120 (2014)
- Gade, R., Jørgensen, A., Jensen, M.M., Alldieck, T., Abou-Zleikha, M., Christensen, M.G., Moeslund, T.B., Poulsen, M.K., Larsen, R.G., Franch, J., Jensen, M.M.: Automatic analysis of activities in sports arenas using thermal cameras. In: 12th International Conference on Signal-Image Technology & Internet-Based Systems. IEEE Computer Society Press (2016)
- Moughlbay, A.A., Herrero, H., Pacheco, R., Outón, J.L., Sallé, D.: Reliable workspace monitoring in safe human-robot environment. In: International Joint Conference SOCO 2016-CISIS 2016-ICEUTE 2016, ICEUTE 2016, SOCO 2016, CISIS 2016. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 527. Springer, Cham (2017)
- Mukhopadhyay, S.C.: Wearable sensors for human activity monitoring: a review. IEEE Sens. J. 15(3), 1321–1330 (2015)
- 16. Dohnálek, P., Gajdoš, P., Peterek, T.: Human activity recognition: classifier performance evaluation on multiple datasets. J. Vibroeng. **16**(3) (2014)
- Ponce, H., Miralles-Pechuán, L., Martínez-Villaseñor, M.D.L.: A flexible approach for human activity recognition using artificial hydrocarbon networks. Sens. Basel Sens. 16 (2016)
- Palumbo, F., Gallicchio, C., Pucci, R., Micheli, A.: Human activity recognition using multisensor data fusion based on reservoir computing. J. Ambient Intell. Smart Environ. 8 (2), 87–107 (2016)
- 19. Wang, X., Zhang, B., Zhang, F., Teng, G., Sun, Z., Wei, J.: Toward robust activity recognition: hierarchical classifier based on Gaussian process. IDA **20**(3), 701–717 (2016)
- Li, P., Meziane, R., Otis, M. J.-D., Ezzaidi, H., Cardou, P.: A smart safety helmet using IMU and EEG sensors for worker fatigue detection. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Robotic and Sensors Environments (ROSE), pp. 55–60. IEEE (2014)
- Sung, J., Ponce, C., Selman, B., Saxena, A.: Unstructured human activity detection from RGBD images. In: IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation, pp. 842– 849. IEEE (2012)

- Nunes, J.F., Moreira, P.M., Tavares, J.E.: Human motion analysis and simulation tools: a survey. In: Handbook of Research on Computational Simulation and Modeling in Engineering, pp. 359–388. IGI Global (2016)
- 23. Farooq, A., Jalal, A., Kamal, S.: Dense RGB-D map-based human tracking and activity recognition using skin joints features and self-organizing map. KSII TIIS, **9**(5) (2015)
- Roitberg, A., Perzylo, A., Somani, N., Giuliani, M., Rickert, M., Knoll, A.: Human activity recognition in the context of industrial human-robot interaction. In: Asia-Pacific Signal and Information Processing Association Annual Summit and Conference, pp. 1–10. IEEE (2014)
- Xu, X., Tang, J., Zhang, X., Liu, X., Zhang, H., Qiu, Y.: Exploring techniques for vision based human activity recognition: methods, systems, and evaluation. Sens. Basel Sens. 13 (2), 1635–1650 (2013)
- Dalal, N., Triggs, B.: Histograms of oriented gradients for human detection. Proc. CVPR 1, 886–893 (2005)
- 27. Bay, H., Tuytelaars, T., Van Gool, L.: Surf: speeded up robust features. In: Computer Vision–ECCV, vol. 3951, pp. 404–417 (2006)
- Ojala, T., Pietikäinen, M., Harwood, D.: Performance evaluation of texture measures with classification based on Kullback discrimination of distributions. In: Proceedings of the 12th IAPR International Conference on Pattern Recognition, vol. 1, pp. 582–585 (1994)
- 29. Viola, P., Jones, M.: Robust real-time object detection. IJCV 57(2), 137-154 (2004)
- 30. Jolliffe, I.T.: Principal Component Analysis. Springer, New York (2002)
- Freund, Y., Schapire, R.E.: A decision-theoretic generalization of on-line learning and an application to boosting. J. Comput. Syst. Sci. 55(1), 119–139 (1997)
- 32. Breiman, L.: Random forests. Mach. Learn. 45(1), 5-32 (2001)
- Ding, C., Peng, H.: Minimum redundancy feature selection from microarray gene expression data. J. Bioinform. Comput. Biol. 3, 185–205 (2005)
- 34. Sanin, C., Szczerbicki, E.: Set of experience: a knowledge structure for formal decision events. Found. Control Manag. Sci. **3**, 95–113 (2005)
- Sanín, C., Szczerbicki, E.: Towards the construction of decisional DNA: a set of experience knowledge structure java class within an ontology system. Cybern. Syst. 38, 859–878 (2007)
- Qian, G., Sural, S., Gu, Y., Pramanik, S.: Similarity between Euclidean and cosine angle distance for nearest neighbor queries. In: Proceedings of the 2004 ACM Symposium on Applied Computing, pp. 1232–1237. ACM (2004)

# The Adaptation of the Device Assessment Questionnaire ISO 9241-9 in the Polish Samples

Katarzyna Jach<sup>(⊠)</sup>, Beata Bajcar, and Anna Borkowska

Wrocław University of Science and Technology, Wrocław, Poland {katarzyna.jach,beata.bajcar, anna.borkowska}@pwr.edu.pl

**Abstract.** The paper demonstrates the Polish version of Device Assessment Questionnaire. Adaptation process was made in order to create the universal tool for the assessment of pointing devices other than keyboard, as it is intended in ISO9241-9 standard. The authors' main purpose was to include in the adaptation process some of the problems of psychological rather than the content or language nature. These problems are associated with the uncertainty of those respondents, especially people with disabilities, in the subject of evaluation and excessive internal attribution (assessment of their own competencies and not the characteristics of the device). The results of three studies with an adapted diagnostic tool for comfort of work are presented. Obtained study results show compliance with the Standard, versatility and flexibility of the Questionnaire.

Keywords: Device Assessment Questionnaire ISO 9241-9  $\cdot$  Adaptation procedure  $\cdot$  Users comfort of work  $\cdot$  Face Controller

## 1 Introduction

The main goal of presented study was adapting the Polish version of Device Assessment Questionnaire prepared according to ISO 9241-9 standard entitled *Ergonomic* requirements for office work with visual display terminals (VDTs) – Part 9: requirements for non-keyboard input devices (International Organization for Standardization 2000). Moreover, the adapted versions of the Device Assessment Questionnaire ISO 9241-9 were checked for two different pointing devices: a standard wired optical mouse, and Face Controller system, which is a pointing device based on head movements and facial expressions only.

The main role of the ISO standard is to establish guidelines and testing procedures for evaluation of different pointing devices (Douglas et al. 1999). Even if the ISO 9241-9 standard originally applied to a close catalogue of mentioned devices, i.e. mice, trackballs, styli, joysticks with exclusion of eye-trackers, head-mounted controllers and devices for users with disability, some testing procedures described in the standard are used wider than it was assumed. According to the ISO 9241-9 standard, the evaluation of device needs take into account three main aspects: performance, effort and comfort. The performance is measured as a result of a combination of six different tasks

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_24

proposed in the standard and the effort need to be assessed by biomechanical measurements of muscle load and fatigue during performance tests (Douglas et al. 1999). The Device Assessment Questionnaire is proposed in the standard as a metrics of users' comfort to measure after the performance testing (International Organization for Standardization 2000). The typical application of the questionnaire is the subjective evaluation of different pointing devices made by participants after usability testing i.e. different video game controllers (Natapov et al. 2009), a finger-controlled isometric joystick and a touchpad (Douglas et al. 1999), the device called Virtual Binocullar (Glowinski et al. 2011), eyetracker (Zhang and MacKenzie 2007), different head activating systems like the CameraMouse, the ASL Head Array mouse emulator, the CrossScanner, and the Quick Glance Eye Tracking System (Man and Wong 2007). The questionnaire is used in usability research with different modifications. For example Natapov et al. (2009) applied a short version with nine questions only and Zheng and MacKenzie (2007) used twelve items with significant modifications. Especially interesting for our purposes was the adaptation of the ISO 9241-9 Device Assessment Questionnaire made by Zheng and MacKenzie in 2007. As they applied the questionnaire for eye tracking systems evaluation, their modifications were similar to the ones presented in this paper. They deleted questions about body parts not involved during the operating with evetracker (fingers, wrists) and added question about eve fatigue. Moreover, they changed the original proposed five-point scale into seven-point one, reversed the scale for some of the questions and added the 4 as the mid-point (Zheng and MacKenzie 2007).

A particular research and application purpose is to adapt the questionnaire for use in specific test groups and in different contexts of research into the usability and comfort of working with different pointing devices and systems. For the authors it was very important to adapt the Questionnaire as a diagnostic tool used by people with a high level of motor disability.

# 2 The Tool

The original version of Device Assessment Questionnaire was described in ISO 9241-9 standard and covers thirteen items referring to different aspects of user's comfort after working with the evaluated device. Items are divided into three parts. Four of them describe subjective opinion about the device's features (pointing accuracy, operation speed, smoothness, ease of use). Other three focus on requirements for a user (force, mental and physical effort required for operation). Last group focus on user's physical feelings after operation with the device described as fatigue of specific body parts and general statement about comfort. The original Device Assessment Questionnaire has a form of very simple statements. The respondent chooses the most appropriate answer for each item on five-points scale with descriptions on both ends. Items are evaluated on bipolar scale with optimum in the middle point or on unipolar scale with optimum in one of the ends.

#### 2.1 The Procedure

The adaptation proceeded in the following steps: (1) forward-translation done by three independent experts, (2) formulation of the list of problems, (3) comparison of all versions of translation and synthesis of the translation, (4) procedure of collating (5) application of the adapted questionnaire for the assessment of two different pointing devices. Besides the 5. step, the procedure is consistent with test adaptation practices (Hornowska and Paluchowski 2004). As it is recommended with WHO, all three translators mother tongue was Polish (World Health Organization 2016). The list of problems found was made on the basis of all the translations. As most of the findings were not linguistic but connected with specified context of use, further modifications were focus on psychological aspects.

#### 2.2 Respondents Oriented Modifications of Device Assessment Questionnaire

The authors' idea was to create a Polish version of the Device Assessment Questionnaire, which would be a flexible and adaptable tool in various research and diagnostic contexts. At the same time, the questionnaire should derive from the assumptions of the ISO 9241-9 standard and give the possibility of comparisons even in different projects and evaluations of different systems and devices.

In the first step, the English version was translated into Polish independently by several people, and the final version was jointly established. However, a fundamental change over the original version is the change of the format from the statements to the questions. The original questionnaire assumes the rating of the pointing device, but this is not in *expressis verbis*. Because this question structure appear to be ambiguous to the respondents (i.e. it does not emphasize that it is an evaluation of a system/device rather than its own competencies in using a system/device), it is assumed that the form is changed from simple statements such as *Operation speed was* ... to a more elaborate form of questions: *How do you assess the operation speed at work?*. This assumption was confirmed in interviews with the respondents at the initial stages of construction of the questionnaire. The respondents declared that they were not sure whether they would judge the system/device or themselves as its users.

The problem with a clear distinction between self-evaluation as a user of the system or device and the assessment of it and of the comfort it gives the user is particularly important in the case of people with disabilities. The studies show some attributional bias of this group of respondents. In comparison to able-bodied, people with disabilities in the situation of an absence of success (i.e. due to problems with the use of devices or systems) tend to have a higher tendency to attribute themselves to these problems rather than external attribution of failure. Most research show people with disability reported lower self-esteem level in comparison to able-bodied. People with physical disabilities generally have more negative self-esteem than others (Martin 2006). For example, the research made on a sample of 475 women with a variety of mild to severe physical disabilities versus 406 without disabilities shown that women with disabilities had among others significantly lower self-cognition and self-esteem (Nosek et al. 2003). Other study shown that persons with disability, independent from its source, possessed lower self-esteem (both personally perceived and socially perceived) than able bodied (Bhattacharjee and Chhetri 2014). Moreover, people with disability opinions about their own capacities are not consistent with objective tests results and professional evaluation. For example, in the research of customers of Pomeranian Competence Center investigated by the set of objective physical tests and a questionnaire focuses on functional abilities, significant discrepancies were stated between objective test results and self-assessment of subjects, and between the same questionnaires fulfilled by the client and by the professional (occupational therapists). For persons with disability the consistency with professional assessment was stated for 30% only. The elevated self-assessment was observed among persons with disabilities with official statement of disability (42%). The low self-assessment was easy observed especially for persons with injuries, which affected their work capacity and it was stated for the half of persons with disability without any official statements of disability (Jach 2015).

In view of these data, the more efforts were made to ensure the correct, unambiguous interpretation of the subject of evaluation by the respondents. Our goal was to minimize the impact of a particular self-image and attribution model of persons with disabilities. Moreover, this approach can be observed in all usability testing projects, where the need of respondents awareness of the assessment of devices/systems rather than their individual effectiveness and competence is generally present.

Additionally, under the adaptation procedure, scales were extended. In the version designed to test the FC system, in addition to describing the extremities of the scale, a label of its central point has also been added. The extension of the scale from five to seven was intended to increase the discriminative power of the evaluations made by the respondents and was made in other studies too (Zhang and MacKenzie 2007; Glowinski et al. 2011; Man and Wong 2007).

#### 2.3 Variations the Device Assessment Questionnaire ISO 9241-9

As a result of described adaptation procedures, two different versions of the questionnaire were produced, designed for two different pointing devices. Table 1 presents two versions of the questionnaire items in Polish along with the English item samples (see Table 1).

The scales used in Polish versions of the Device Assessment Questionnaire were analogous to English. As it is described above, for greater discriminant power seven-point scale was used with middle point added. The full content of the Questionnaire is shown in Appendix 1.

Item content original version	Item content universal Polish version I <sup>a</sup>	Item content Polish version for FC study <sup>b</sup>
The force required for actuation was	Jak oceniasz siłę fizyczną potrzebną do uruchomienia i działania urządzenia?	Jak oceniasz siłę fizyczną potrzebną do działania w systemie FC?
Operation speed was	Jak oceniasz prędkość wykonywania operacji za pomocą urządzenia?	Jak oceniasz prędkość wykonywania przez system operacji?
Arm fatigue was	Jak oceniasz swoje zmęczenie ramion w trakcie pracy z urządzeniem?	Jak oceniasz swoje zmęczenie ramion w trakcie pracy z systemem FC?
General comfort:	Ogólny komfort pracy z urządzeniem był	Twój ogólny komfort pracy z systemem FC był
Overall, the input device was	Ogólnie rzecz biorąc, urządzenie było	Ogólnie rzecz biorąc, system FC był

Table 1. Example items of the Questionnaire in the English and both Polish versions.

<sup>a</sup>Device Assessment Questionnaire (universal Polish version) used in the computer mouse evaluation

<sup>b</sup>Device Assessment Questionnaire (specific Polish version) used in the Face Controller system evaluation

#### **3** The Study

The Polish adaptation of the Device Assessment Questionnaire ISO 9241-9 was checked for two different pointing devices. The first device tested with Device Assessment Questionnaire was a standard wired optical mouse, model Tracer TRM – S030. This is a simple, universal model operating with resolution 800 dpi.

The other pointing device used for tests was Face Controller system. This is a special software based on Microsoft Kinect game controller created by Polish enterprise Risenbit. The system allows a user for operating with a computer by head movements and facial expressions only. The head position is used for the cursor placement control, while chosen facial expressions (smile, mouth opening, eye blinking, duck face) emulate different mouse actions, like left, right or double click. The user can individually assign specific face expressions for specific actions as well as adjust different parameters (gesture recognition sensitivity, cursor speed etc.) (Bajcar et al. 2017).

Due to the Face Controller (FC) specificity in this study three items referring the face, mouth and eyes fatigue were introduced, while other three (fatigue of finger, wrist and arms) were cancelled as useless for the evaluation of this kind interface. This replacement allows for better tailoring the questionnaire to our needs and observed similar approach in other experiments (Zheng and MacKenzie 2007).

#### 3.1 The Evaluation of Computer Mouse Device

The test of computer mouse was performed in the sample of 35 people (17 females and 18 males) aged from 21 to 24 years (M = 22.3, SD = .71). Participants assessed the

Tracer TRM – S030 mouse after 30 min continuous operating by filling out Device Assessment Questionnaire. The parameters of mouse evaluation are shown in Table 2. Participants rated the accurate pointing and smoothness during mouse operation, and general comfort and easy using above average. The speed operation and the level of the force, physical and mental effort required to mouse operation were assessed as below average. Furthermore, use of the computer mouse implied the low degree of the fatigue of finger, wrist, arm, neck and shoulder, maybe because of the relatively short time of work.

	1. Mouse $n = 35$		2. FC without disabilities n = 27		3. FCdisabil n = 33	lities	1–2	2–3	1–3
	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	$U^a$	$U^a$	$U^a$
1. The force required for actuation	3.81	.92	4.23	1.03	4.24	1.06	372.5	441.0	459.0 <sup>†</sup>
2. Smoothness during operation	4.33	1.17	4.38	1.47	4.67	1.65	469.5	386.0	491.0
3. The mental effort required for operation	3.56	1.08	4.19	1.30	4.33	1.16	298.0**	418.5	393.0*
4. The physical effort required for operation	3.67	1.22	4.38	.98	4.30	1.05	318.0*	421.5	412.5*
5. Accurate pointing	4.75	1.56	2.96	1.66	4.18	2.02	178.5***	283.5*	468.0
6. Operation speed	3.47	1.03	3.15	1.26	3.45	1.60	392.0	406.5	535.0
7. Finger fatigue <sup>a</sup>	3.09	1.58							
8. Wrist fatigue <sup>a</sup>	3.23	1.82							
9. Arm fatigue <sup>a</sup>	2.66	1.59							
10. Eyes fatigue <sup>b</sup>			3.73	1.71	2.52	1.70		287.0*	
11. Mouth fatigue <sup>b</sup>			3.19	1.79	2.27	1.53		307.5*	
12. Face fatigue <sup>b</sup>			3.58	1.50	2.61	1.84		296.5*	
13. Shoulder fatigue	2.75	1.48	1.73	1.22	2.55	1.89	284.5**	367.5	535.0
14. Neck fatigue	2.81	1.60	2.88	1.84	3.58	2.02	468.5	360.5	495.5
15. General comfort	4.56	1.18	4.04	1.25	5.15	1.62	329.0*	239.0**	459.0 <sup>†</sup>
16. Ease of device use	5.92	1.20	4.46	1.56	5.27	1.88	197.0***	305.0*	480.0

Table 2. The differences in Device Assessment Questionnaire items between three subsamples

Note: <sup>a</sup>items in mouse device evaluation; <sup>b</sup>items in FC system evaluation.

 $^{\dagger}p < .1, \ ^{*}p < .05, \ ^{**}p < .01, \ ^{***}p < .001$ 

#### 3.2 The Evaluation of Face Controller System

To examine the universality of the presented measurement tool the Device Assessment Questionnaire ISO 9241-9, the other pointing device used for tests was Face Controller system described above. 30 persons with physical disabilities (4 females and 26 males, aged from 20 to 58 years, M = 33,0, SD = 9.38) assessed Face Controller (FC) system by completing the Device Assessment Questionnaire. According to the evaluation of disability by Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) (Palisano et al. 2008), all the participants were assessed on 4 or 5 disability level, which does not allow them for independent use a computer mouse as a typical pointing device. For comparison, in the evaluation of the FC system, 27 able-bodied persons (14 females and 13 males, from 18 to 34 years old, M = 23.3, SD = 3.83) took part. The Face Controller system evaluation is shown in Table 2.

Data analysis shows that people without disabilities assessed the smoothness during FC operation above average, but accurate pointing and operation speed as too low. Moreover, the force and mental and physical effort during FC using was rated above average (as a bit too high). The fatigue of the all body parts was rated on the low or moderate level (although face and eyes fatigue were relatively the highest). Compared to mouse evaluation in the FC operation participants indicated their mental and physical effort as higher, but accurate pointing, general comfort, ease of device use, and shoulder fatigue as lower.

Compared to able-bodied people, participants with disabilities assessed general comfort and overall input as higher. They indicated also higher accurate pointing of FC than persons without disabilities. There were no significant differences in the FC smoothness (both scores above average), speed (both scores below average) the force and effort required to FC system operation (above average scores). Moreover, participants with disability assessed lower fatigue of eyes, mouth, and face after operating with FC system than those without disabilities. No significant differences between these groups were stated for neck fatigue only (both scores were below average).

#### 3.3 Discussion

The above comparisons do not exhaust the possibility of further analysis of collected data. It is worth noting that the computer mouse is a typical pointing device for able-bodied people, while our specific participants with disability use different other types of pointing devices or use a computer mouse in a nontypical way due to restrictions with upper limbs movements. We can assume that FC is one of the typical pointing devices for this group.

There were significant differences in ratings of the computer mouse (assessed by able-bodied people) with FC system (rated by people with disability) in the force, efforts required to operation, and general comfort, and ease of device use (see Table 2). Participants with disabilities assessed FC system as slightly more comfortable, but requiring higher force and efforts to operation in the comparison to mouse operation (assessed by able-bodied people). In the remained aspects of device evaluation people both with and without disabilities assessed similarly (no significant differences; see Table 2). The ease to use and smoothness of the pointing devices were above average, but operation speed, accurate pointing, neck and shoulder fatigue reached below average scores.

#### 4 Summary

Just after few years of ISO 9241-9 standard obtaining, Soukoreff and MacKenzie (2004) showed an evidence of higher agreement in throughput values in nine investigations provided according to the recommended procedure in comparison to other twenty two research done without this frame. Therefore, the application of procedures, tests and the Device Assessment Questionnaire seems to be the appropriate research approach. Moreover, the Device Assessment Questionnaire demonstrated significant correlation between the level of comfort and performance as other aspects verified in ISO9241-9 standard i.e. by movement time and accuracy (Man and Wong 2007).

We produced two different versions of the Device Assessment Questionnaire. The first one is universal and was checked by the evaluation of a computer mouse. The other, specific version of the Questionnaire was intended to assess a nontypical pointing device – Face Controller system. As empirical evidence – our study results - has shown, the Device Assessment Questionnaire is a universal tool for evaluation of different pointing devices. Thanks to the possibility of individual adaptations for specific purposes by item selection and modifications for specific device evaluation, it is useful and versatile tool. Given the problems that the authors predicted and the subjects reported at the very beginning of the procedure, should be emphasized that the questionnaire in the course of the subsequent examination procedure of adaptation, does not cause any problems and did not raise doubts of the respondents.

Moreover, the presented questionnaire adaptation procedure and the results of the studies with its use, clearly show the area of problems that are overlooked in the study of usability and comfort of working with devices. This area consists of the attitudes, evaluations and attributions of the respondents, which can significantly influence the assessments of systems and devices.

For this reason, so much effort has been put into adapting the form of the Question-naire to the needs of testing people who are not always well-behaved in the evaluated devices. A particular challenge were also people with disabilities, whose specific functioning, slightly lower self-esteem and internal attributions can significantly biased the results of studies using this questionnaire (the tendency to judge their own competencies, and not the utility and comfort of working with the device).

The results presented in this paper, i.e. the evaluation of the pointing device and FC system performed by non-disabled and physically disabled respondents, clearly indicate the achievement of the intended purpose. The aim was to adapt the Questionnaire of assessment the comfort of working with devices and systems based on the ISO Standard. In addition, the authors attempted to demonstrate the flexibility of this diagnostic tool and its applicability in various research contexts - in the study of the various devices and in the various test groups.

#### 4.1 Limitations of the Research

Both presented investigations were made on a relatively little sample (around 30 persons) due to restricted access to Face Controller users, both able-bodied and physically impaired. Additionally, among participants with disability, huge gender discrepancy can be observed. It should be emphasized that the adaptation of the

questionnaire has resulted in a universal tool, however, modifications applied to specific projects (e.g. evaluation of the FC system), the results of these different studies are not directly comparable.

Acknowledgments. The research was conducted at Wroclaw University of Science and Technology, Poland partially in cooperation with Polish society "Association for Your New Opportunities".

# Appendix 1

#### Kwestionariusz oceny urządzenia wskazującego ISO 9241-9

Oceń swoją pracę z urządzeniem, zakreślając odpowiednią odpowiedź przy każdym pytaniu. Pamiętaj, że oceniasz działanie systemu. Nie ma odpowiedzi złych ani dobrych. Zaznacz odpowiedź na każde pytanie.

1. Jak oceniasz siłę fizy D Zbyt mała	γczną potrzebną d □	o działania u 🗖	r <b>ządzenia?</b> <b>D</b> Odpowiednia		☐ Zbyt duża
2. Jak oceniasz płynno D Bardzo mała	ść działania urząd 🗖	zenia?	□ Przeciętna		☐ Bardzo duża
3. Jak oceniasz swój w D Zbyt mały	rysiłek umysłowy p D	oodczas prac	<b>y z urządzeniem?</b> D Odpowiedni		☐ Zbyt duży
4. Jak oceniasz swój w D Zbyt mały	vysiłek fizyczny po D	dczas pracy z	z <b>urządzeniem?</b> D Odpowiedni		☐ Zbyt duży
5. Jak oceniasz precyz D Bardzo mała	yjność urządzenia	we wskazyw	<b>/aniu elementów na ek</b> D Przeciętna	ranie?	☐ Bardzo duża
6. Jak oceniasz prędko D Zbyt mała	ość wykonywania p D	orzez urządze	enie operacji?		☐ Zbyt duża
7. Jak oceniasz swoje : Brak	zmęczenie palców	w trakcie pr	acy z urządzeniem? D Średnie		☐ Bardzo duże
8. Jak oceniasz swoje : Brak	zmęczenie nadgar: D	stków w trak	<b>kcie pracy z urządzenie</b> <b>D</b> Średnie	m?	☐ Bardzo duże
9. Jak oceniasz swoje : D Brak	zmęczenie ramion	w trakcie p D	racy z urządzeniem? D Średnie		□ Bardzo duże
10. Jak oceniasz swoje D Brak	e zmęczenie szyi w D	rtrakcie prac	<b>cy z urządzeniem?</b> ☐ Średnie		☐ Bardzo duże
11. Jak oceniasz swoj D Brak	je zmęczenie barko D	ów wtrakcie	e pracy z urządzeniem? Średnie		□ Bardzo duże
12. Twój ogólny komf D Bardzo niski	ort pracy z urządze	eniem był:	☐ Przeciętny		☐ Bardzo wysoki
<ul> <li>13. Ogólnie rzecz bior</li> <li>□</li> <li>Bardzo trudne w użyciu</li> </ul>	ąc, urządzenie był	o: □	☐ Przeciętne		D Bardzo łatwe w użyciu

# References

- Bajcar, B., Borkowska, A., Dzidowski, A., Jach, K., Kuliński, M., Krzos, P., Piwińska, J.: Raport z testów systemu Face Controller [Face Controller Testing Report] (2017). http://www.tnm. org.pl/facecontroler/2017/02/15/raport-z-testow-systemu-face-controller/. Accessed 15 Feb 2017
- Bhattacharjee, A., Chhetri, K.: Self-esteem of disabled and abled: a comparative analysis. Voice Res. **3**(2), 11–14 (2014)
- Douglas, S.A., Kirkpatrick, A.E., MacKenzie, I.S.: Testing pointing device performance and user assessment with the ISO9241, Part 9 standard. In: Proceedings of the ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI 1999, pp. 215–222. ACM, New York (1999). doi:10.1145/302979.303042
- Glowinski, D., Mancini, M., Coletta, P., Ghisio, S., Chiorri, C., Camurri, A., Volpe, G.: User-centered evaluation of the virtual binocular interface. In: Camurri, A., Costa, C. (eds.) Intelligent Technologies for Interactive Entertainment. INTETAIN 2011. Lecture Notes of the Institute for Computer Sciences, Social Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering, vol. 78. Springer, Heidelberg (2011)
- Hornowska, E., Paluchowski, W.J.: Kulturowa adaptacja testów psychologicznych. In: Brzeziński, J. (ed.) Metodologia badań psychologicznych – wybór tekstów, pp. 149–190. Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN, Warszawa (2004)
- International Organization for Standardization (ISO). ISO 9241-9:2000, Ergonomic requirements for office work with visual display terminals (VDTs) Part 9: requirements for non-keyboard input devices (2000)
- Jach, K.: Functional capacity evaluation of persons with disabilities for the labour market in the pomeranian competences center. In: Kardas, J.S., Wójcik-Augustyniak, M. (eds.) Ergonomics
  Opportunity for New Human Jobs, pp. 149–159. Publishing House of Siedlce University of Natural Sciences and Humanities, Siedlce (2015)
- Man, D.W.K., Wong, M.L.: Evaluation of computer-access solutions for students with quadriplegic athetoid cerebral palsy. Am. J. Occup. Ther. **61**(3), 355–364 (2007)
- Martin, J.J.: Psychosocial aspects of youth disability sport. Adap. Phys. Act. Q. 23, 65-77 (2006)
- Natapov, D., Castellucci, S.J, MacKenzie, I.S.: ISO 9241-9 evaluation of video game controllers, In: Proceedings of Graphics Interface 2009, 25–27 May, Kelowna, British Columbia, Canada (2009)
- Nosek, M.A., Hughes, R.B., Swedlund, N., Taylor, H.B., Swank, P.: Self-esteem and women with disabilities. Soc. Sci. Med. 56(8), 1737–1747 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00169-7
- Palisano, R., Rosenbaum, P., Walter, S., Russell, D., Wood, E., Galuppi, B.: Development and reliability of a system to classify gross motor function in children with cerebral palsy. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. 39(4), 214–223 (2008)
- Soukoreff, R.W., MacKenzie, I.S.: Towards a standard for pointing device evaluation, perspectives on 27 years of Fitts' law research in HCI. Int. J. Hum.-Comput. Stud. 61(6), 751–789 (2004). http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2004.09.001
- World Health Organization: Process of translation and adaptation of instruments (2016). http:// www.who.int/substance\_abuse/research\_tools/translation/en/. Accessed 23 Feb 2016
- Zhang, X., MacKenzie, I.S.: Evaluating eye tracking with ISO 9241 Part 9. In: Jacko, J.A. (ed.) Human-Computer Interaction. HCI Intelligent Multimodal Interaction Environments. HCI 2007. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 4552. Springer, Heidelberg (2007). doi:10. 1007/978-3-540-73110-8\_85

# **Special Session: Modeling** of Manufacturing Processes

# Improvement of Production Processes with the Use of Simulation Models

Dagmara Górnicka<sup>(运)</sup> and Anna Burduk

Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Centre for Advanced Manufacturing Systems, Wroclaw University of Science And Technology, Wybrzeze Wyspianskiego 27, 50-370 Wroclaw, Poland {dagmara.gornicka, anna.burduk}@pwr.edu.pl

**Abstract.** The paper presents results of the studies aimed at improving the production process by performing a reorganization of workstations. The purpose of this reorganization was to increase the rate of utilization of machines in the production process. The studies were carried out with the use of an IT package for modeling and simulation of production systems – ProModel. The paper describes a plan of optimization of the layout of workstations, which consists in grouping them into functional work centers and determining the best arrangement of the workstations using the Schmigalla method of triangles. The arrangement was assessed by comparing the simulation models prior to and after the reorganization.

**Keywords:** Process improvement · Modeling and simulation of production systems · Layout · Schmigalla method of triangles · Simulation packages

## 1 Introduction

Simulation models belong to the group of symbolic models based on mathematical notation, in which the reality is represented with the use of symbols and mathematical relations [8]. Modeling and simulation of manufacturing processes make it possible to analyze them and trace the way they have been functioning, sometimes for many years, in just a few minutes. This allows verifying the assumptions made and identifying the irregularities that may occur during the operation, particularly the weaknesses of a production system that is being designed or operated [2, 3, 6, 7].

Due to the fact that production systems are very complex and vary in individual industries, as well as due to different applications for computer simulations of production systems, there is no single, universal software that could be deemed to be the best in the market. An appropriate package should be selected each time depending on the purpose of modeling and the type of the system analyzed. Figure 1 shows the percentage share of the use of computer modeling and simulation methods in the selected areas of production system management. The most commonly used commercial computer tools were assigned to each area.

A computer simulation of a production system consists in building a computer model of the system to be analyzed, and then examining the influence of input

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_25

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:



**Fig. 1.** Application of computer modeling and simulation methods in selected areas of production system management and the commercial tools that are used in these areas [1, 5, 9]

parameters (signals) on the behavior of the model with the of simulation experiments. Typically, many simulation experiments are carried out on the model for different sets of the input parameter values. An analysis of the reports with simulation results allows selecting the best (optimal) input parameters from the viewpoint of building a model of a set of input parameters. In addition, the model can be improved and further simulations may be carried out for different variants of the model.

Computer simulation and modeling methods are used when obtaining a solution by analytical methods is too complicated, while direct experiments on the real system consume too much time or cannot be carried out. Such a situation took place in P.P.H. U. Packer company and the problem concerned a method for increasing the utilization rate of machines. In this case, the improvement of the production process consisted, among other things, in the reorganization of the layout of the workstations. It was achieved using the Schmigalla method of triangles and the heuristic method for layout planning [4].

# 2 The Profile the Company and an Assessment of the Utilization Rate of Workstations

P.P.H.U. Packer company manufactures flap cardboard boxes and is located in the Opole province. The company's production program is built on the basis of orders from customers. The products manufactured and the volumes of standard orders are shown in Table 1.

In the case of traditional flap boxes made with the use of traditional methods, the main stages of the production process include cutting and creasing (bending the edges of the packaging) performed on the cutter-creasing machines, as well as gluing and stitching of boxes. The process is different in the case of packaging made using

Item	Product	Order volume [pcs]	Transport batch [pcs]
1.	Flap box (traditional method)	10,000	20
2.	Flap box (BoxMaker)	1000	20
3.	Printed flap box	10,000	20
4.	Die-cut box	1000	20

Table 1. Standard orders executed in P.P.H.U. Packer

BoxMaker (a machine that allows making a ready-to-use packaging) which is used in the same stages except for gluing. The process of manufacturing the die cut boxes differs primarily in the method of cutting, in which special punching dies prepared according to the customer's order template are used instead of standard cutters. The layout of the production floor is shown in Fig. 2, where the numbering corresponds to the numbers of machines from Table 2.



Fig. 2. Layout of the production floor in P.P.H.U. Packer

The main problem of the company is the need to perform multiple transport operations during the production process. This is due to the fact that the development of the company and consequently the development of its machinery resources took place in stages. The placement of further workstations in the production floor at different time intervals was dictated mainly by the free space in the floor rather than by production organization and technology. Currently this fact causes that some work centers are not sufficiently used due to a too long distance. This results in an uneven use of the machinery resources, an extension of the production time and increased costs of executing production orders.

#### 2.1 Assessment of the Utilization Rate of the Workstations

In order to assess the utilization rate of the workstations, it was proposed to group them into work centers first (Table 3).

No.	Machine	No.	Machine
1	Cutting-creasing machine 1	11	Crucible 3
2	Slotter	12	Roller press
3	Cutter 1	13	Guillotine
4	Cutter 2	14	Stitching machine 1
5	Cutting-creasing machine 2	15	Stitching machine 2
6	Cutting-creasing machine 3	16	Stitching machine 3
7	Screen printing unit	17	Sticking workstation 1
8	Laminating machine	18	Sticking workstation 2
9	Crucible 1	19	BoxMaker
10	Crucible 2	20	Band saw

Table 2. List of machines

Table 3. Grouping the machines into functional work centers

Work centre	Work centre name	Machine	Operations performed
no.		no.	
1	Sticking work centre	17, 18	Sticking, gluing of parcels
2	Stitching work centre	14, 15 and 16	Stitching of parcels
3	Die cutting work centre	9, 10 and 11	Die cutting with the use of a punching die
4	Screen printing work centre	7	Printing, drying
5	Creasing work centre	1, 5, 6, 2	Cutting, creasing
6	Cutting work centre	3, 4	Cutting, cutting out
7	BoxMaker work centre	19	Ready-made packaging
8	Laminating machine	8	Laminating
9	Cutting centre	13, 20	Cutting, cutting off, cutting through
10	Roller press	12	Rolling

Then a simulation model of the production system reflecting the present state was built to assess the current utilization rate of the machines. The model of the present state includes process and organizational data such as volumes of production orders, a typical production schedule, manufacturing technologies of individual products, cycle times and transport times. The ProModel package for modeling and simulation of production systems was used to build the simulation model. Thanks to this tool it was possible to take into account the actual dimensions of the production floor, machines, the distance between the workstations, the length of the transport routes, as well as the transport times.

Due to the fact that four machines are not used for executing standard orders, they were omitted in the model. These machines are not the subject of the improvement and their layout does not affect the results of the study in any way. A graphical representation of the process modeled in the computer program is shown in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Screenshot of the simulation model of the production process - present state

As a result of the simulation of the process subject to the studies described in this paper, data concerning the percentage degree of the current utilization of machines and equipment in the company were obtained. These results are shown in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. The utilization rate of the machines, which was obtained from the model of the present state

The first clearly noticeable issue is a huge disproportion between the utilization rates of the machines. As many as eight machines are not used despite the fact that they are in good working order. This is caused by the ill-judged layout of the workstations, which was described earlier in the paper. Attention should be paid to the fact that these machines are in good working order and can perform their tasks to relieve the strongly worn out machines such as cutting-creasing machine 1. The fact that they are not used is results only from a poor spatial organization. Such disproportions between the utilization rates of the machines that perform the same functions lead to a faster wear of the machines in use, the need to perform maintenance and inspection activities on the machines not in use, as well as an unnecessary occupation of space. All these aspects generate losses in the company – not only financial ones, but also losses in terms of performance and logistics.

# **3** The Concept of the Reorganization of Workstations and Its Assessment

When planning the reorganization in the layout of workstations with the use of the Schmigalla method of triangles, a material flow matrix should be created to determine relationships between the workstations [4]. The flow of materials is constructed by writing down the individual workstations (here: work centers) and summarizing the batches that are transported between them, and then presenting this in a form of matrix. A matrix created in such a way is shown in Table 4.

Work centre		Transport from						
no.		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Transport to	1	X		50			500	50
	2	600	X			500		
	3			Χ				
	4				X	500		
	5					X		
	6				500		X	
	7							X

Table 4. Matrix of the material flow between work centers

In accordance with the matrix, the centers 1 and 2, i.e. gluing and stitching, are the pair of work centers with the highest flow intensity, while the flow for the orders in question is 600 transitions. According to the Schmigalla method of triangles, this is just the first pair placed in the vertices of the central triangle of the network [4]. Then, there should be placed the work centre with the highest intensity of relations with the work centers already placed in the adjacent vertices of the triangle. In order to determine, in which of the free vertices the next centre should be placed, calculations should be performed according to the formula :

$$W = Ip \, x \, M \tag{1}$$

where:

W – value of potential vertex Ip – intensity of relations

M – modular distance

The modular distance is an integer that determines how many modules (graphically: dashes) are located between the already placed workstation and a potential vertex. After the calculations have been performed, the vertex with the highest value should be selected and the element should be placed in it. If the intensities of relations for a number of work centers are the same, the intensity of the relations between the subsequent work centers that have already been placed should be taken into account first, and then the intensity of those that have not been placed yet. If they are also the same, then the work centre being placed can be selected freely. By repeating those steps until all the objects have been placed, we obtain a triangle network showing how the spatial arrangement of the objects should be designed. In this case, the layout of the work centers in the Schmigalla triangle network is shown in Fig. 5.



Fig. 5. Layout of the work centers in the triangle network

The layout of the production floor planned in such a way will allow using all the machines available in the company, which will be discussed in more detail further in this paper. Thus, in addition to grouping the machines into functional work centers, the changes include the arrangement of all the machines in accordance with the flow taken into account in the Schmigalla method of triangles.

#### 3.1 Improvement – Computer Simulation Model

After the new layout had been developed, the second simulation model was built. The only change within the company was a change in the layout of workstations, which enabled the use of the remaining machines. Graphical representation of the process after the changes is shown in Fig. 6.

The utilization rate of the machines was changed as a result of placing the machines closer to the warehouse, which is shown in Fig. 7.

The fundamental change is that out of the eight machines that have not been used, as many as seven machines are now in use. One of them is still not used, which results from the fact that the company's production capacity is much bigger than that currently used. This can be understood in two ways: either the machine is redundant or the company can afford to execute larger orders.



Fig. 6. Screenshot from the simulation model - after the reorganization



Fig. 7. The utilization rate of the machines after the improvement

#### 3.2 Results of the Reorganization

As a result of the reorganization of the production system, the utilization rate of the machines has changed. This change for each machine was presented in Table 5.

In some cases the utilization rate of the machines increased, but in the case of the workstations intensively used before the reorganization, it decreased. This is caused by the distribution of work to other machines that perform the same function but were not available before. So the most important change in this improvement project is that the machines, which have not been used earlier in the production process, work simultaneously with other machines after the reorganization. Only in the case of the second cutter the result was still 0%, which indicates that the remaining two cutters are sufficient to execute the sample order adopted for the needs of the studies.

Machine name, number (number in the drawing)	Utilization rate [%] before the reorganization	Utilization rate [%] after the reorganization	Change [percentage points]
Crucible 2 (10)	0	1.63	1.63
Crucible 3 (11)	0	1.85	1.85
Sticking workstation 1 (17)	35	2.42	-32.58
Sticking workstation 2 (18)	0	17.87	17.87
Crucible 1 (9)	1.45	1.91	0.46
BoxMaker (19)	2.74	3.33	0.59
Screen printing unit (7)	57.37	64.89	7.52
Stitching machine 3 (16)	24.04	7.32	-16.72
Cutting-creasing machine 3 (6)	0	64.18	64.18
Cutting-creasing machine 2 (5)	18.63	72.7	54.07
Cutter 2 (4)	0	0	0
Cutter 1 (3)	44.13	22.55	-21.58
Cutting-creasing machine 1 (1)	77.08	61.03	-16.05
Stitching machine 2 (15)	0	7.43	7.43
Stitching machine 1 (14)	0	9.02	9.02
Slotter 2	0	86.26	86.26

Table 5. Change in the rate of the utilization of the machines for execution of orders

# 4 Conclusions

The purpose of the studies described in the paper was to improve the utilization rate of the machines and equipment available in the company in question. This goal was achieved and the total change (for all the machines) is almost 164 percentage points of the increase in their utilization. In addition, the load on the machines was distributed more evenly among different workstations performing the same function in the manufacturing process. It should also be noted that the change modeled under the study requires from the company only a reorganization of its existing resources without a need to purchase new equipment. Of course, this is also an investment associated with costs, but it is not possible to analyze the financial side of the project within this paper. It should also be taken into account that certain volumes of orders were assumed for the needs of this study in accordance with the opinion of the Production Engineer from the company in question. These are only standard orders that constitute the majority of the production, but not whole production. Therefore, the analysis indicates that there are still machine resources that allow executing the remaining orders, since the utilization rate has not increased to more than 90% in the case of any of the machines. Of course, it is important to consider the limitations resulting from computer methods for simulation of production processes. One of them is the limitation imposed by the tool used, which requires making simplifications specific to a given program.

# References

- Abu-Taieh, E., El Sheikh, A.: Commercial simulation packages: a comparative study. Int. J. Simul. 8(2), 66–76 (2007)
- Burduk, A.: An attempt to adapt serial reliability structures for the needs of analyses and assessments of the risk in production systems. Eksploatacja i Niezawodność – Maint. Reliab. 3(47), 85–96 (2010)
- Daaboul, J., Castagna, P., Da Cunha, C., Bernard, A.: Value network modelling and simulation for strategic analysis: a discrete event simulation approach. Int. J. Prod. Res. 52 (17), 5002–5020 (2014)
- 4. Ficko, M., Palcic, I.: Designing a layout using the modified triangle method and genetic algorithms. Int. J. Simul. Model. **12**(4), 239 (2013)
- 5. Grzybowska, K., Kovács, G.: The modelling and design process of coordination mechanisms in the supply chain. J. Appl. Logic (2016)
- Grzybowska, K., Gajdzik, B.: Optimisation of equipment setup processes in enterprises. J. Metal. 51(4), 563–566 (2012)
- Rudawska, A., Čuboňova, N., Pomarańska, K., Stanečková, D., Gola, A.: Technical and organizational improvements of packaging production processes, advances in science and technology. Res. J. 10(30), 182–192 (2016)
- Taylor, S., Eldabi, T., Riley, G., Paul, R., Pidd, M.: Simulation modelling is 50! Do we need a reality check? J. Oper. Res. Soc. 60(1), 69–82 (2009)
- Tewoldeberhan, T., Verbraeck, A., Valentin E.: An evaluation and selection methodology for discrete-event simulation software. In: Proceedings of the 2002 Winter Simulation Conference, Michigan (2002)
# Optimization of Production Support Processes with the Use of Simulation Tools

Joanna Kotowska<sup>(⊠)</sup> and Anna Burduk

Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Wrocław University of Science and Technology, Wybrzeze Wyspianskiego 27, 50-370 Wrocław, Poland {joanna.kotowska, anna.burduk}@pwr.edu.pl

**Abstract.** The paper presents a concept for improving production support processes of ordering tools, parts and consumables for machines. In this concept, there were used selected Lean Manufacturing (LM) tools and the simulation models of primary and secondary processes created in iGrafx Process for Six Sigma software. The performance of the analysis of the secondary processes aimed at the identification of waste was possible, inter alia, thanks to the use of the following methods: Value Stream Mapping (VSM), Failure Mode and Effects Analysis (FMEA). Based on the results of the simulation studies, there was proposed an implementation of the scheduling method along the stream of values. The combination of LM methods with simulation tools allowed refining the method in such a way, so that it gives results satisfactory to the company.

**Keywords:** Production support processes · Lean management · Scheduling · Value stream management · Computer model · Simulations of processes

## 1 Introduction

The concept of Lean Management (LM) has been functioning in Poland since the end of the 1990s. From that time, many production companies have implemented the LM principles in their management systems. Now the idea of management based on the LM philosophy is being implemented more and more often in maintenance (Lean Maintenance) [1], in external logistics (Lean Logistics) [2], in product development (Lean Product Development) [3], in offices and administration (Lean Office/Lean Administration) [4], in accounting (Lean Accounting) [5], in mining (Lean Mining) [2, 6] and in healthcare (Lean Healthcare) [7]. LM tools and methods are universal.

However, the implementation of LM does not bring desired effects in any sector, if it is carried out partially and thus inconsistently with the concept of a system approach. In order to maintain the competitive advantage it is necessary to go beyond a given area – in accordance with the Lean Enterprise concept [8]. In the case of production companies this means, inter alia, that along with optimization of production processes there should also be performed an optimization of production support processes.

The implementation of the concept of lean management in production support processes provides great opportunities for improving the functioning of the entire company. It is estimated that approx. 70% of the waste elimination potential can be

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_26

found in such processes [9] and that by reducing the transition time by at least 25% it is possible to double the productivity and working capital of a given organization [10]. A correct implementation of the continuous flow in production support processes allows reducing the transition time by up to 90% and the processing time by up to 40%, as well as improving the quality up to 75% [11]. A change of the strategy in the work and time management from the focus on operating activities (typical of administrative processes that generate and process any information in an excessive amount) to the focus on strategic activities translates into better results and thus a higher customer satisfaction. It often happens that the potential for improvement in administrative processes is even greater than in processes of typically production character. Production is evolving all the time, while the processing in individual production floors is easier to observe and much more tangible than in the case of the "on desk" manufacturing. In turn, the secondary processes are adapted to a certain organizational structure that was established at the beginning of the company's operation and has been functioning up to now.

LM in production support processes focuses on defining the value and the value stream, then creating conditions for its smooth flow generated by customer needs, as well as on continuous improvement. Value is defined in the same way as in sectors of typically production character. Frequently it is not something tangible, but still is what the customer expects and for what the customer is willing to pay.

The aim of this study is to examine the possibility of optimizing the process of ensuring the continuity of supply of production support materials in the selected production company using Lean Management and simulation tools. Figure 1 shows the adopted flow chart of the test plan.



Fig. 1. Flow chart of the test plan

All the simulation models have been created in iGrafx Process for Six Sigma software. The iGrafx model (1) is the base model of the process being analysed, which does not take into account any disturbances occurring in the process. It is a reference point for comparison of results of the subsequent models. The second model – iGrafx (2), the actual course, was built by adding to model 1 the waste identified in the process. The Value Stream Mapping (VSM) method was used to identify sources of waste. The root causes were identified using Failure Mode and Effects Analysis (FMEA). This was a reason that the use of scheduling for the optimization of the

processes analysed was considered. It was taken into account in the iGrafx (3) model. iGrafx (4) model was built in order to examine the effectiveness of the selected solution in the real conditions that has been forecast with the use of Gemba Walk. The analysis of results of the simulations carried out on these models resulted in a modification of the schedule in order to achieve measurable outcomes.

## 2 Problem of Waiting for Acceptance and Execution of Orders

The company being analysed is a global manufacturer and supplier of high quality components and tools for production of electric machines. The company is developing continuously both through the use of the latest technologies and by implementation of improvements based on Lean Management tools.

Up to now, LM tools have been used only in processes of typically production character. Over time an observation was made that the optimized production processes did not lead to measurable outcomes, if they were restricted by the secondary processes correlated with them. Earlier they had been neglected due to the fact that they were not essential for the core business activity of the company, but in the end it was admitted that their proper functioning is necessary for adequate implementation and development of production processes.

One of the processes subjected to observation was the process of ensuring the continuity of non-cyclic supplies (more expensive, ordered sporadically) of production support materials. This process is responsible for responding on a current basis to emerging demand for the materials which are not processed, but enable proper functioning of the production in the company (including tools, materials used for machine operation, etc.). The process is supported by a computerised management system that improves the information flow within the company. In connection with the fact that an analysis of the internal value stream is considered to be a key activity in terms of improving the efficiency of the company, value stream mapping was used to describe the process being analysed (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Pictorial map of the current state of the process

The process begins when a worker notices any deficiencies. Then the worker sends a request for an offer to the purchasing department, which in turn sends the request for quotation to a group of potential suppliers. After the offers have been received, they are analysed and the most favourable of them are sent back to the person concerned, who makes selection and then enters a new workflow to the system (i.e. a certain item in the computerized management system that represents the initiation of an order). Before the final execution of an order (understood as sending a complete order to the supplier), an acceptance from the supervisor, chief manager, category manager, controlling department and the chief financial officer is required. Next stage of control takes place only after the acceptance of the previous one. Finally the order gets to the purchasing department where it is executed. Correct operation of the process appeared to be important insofar as the lack of supporting components caused even temporary production downtimes. Considering the above, a decision was made to examine the functioning of the process. Data have been collected for 3 months through the access to the company's internal system. Over this period, the authors participated in execution of approximately 200 orders.

The waiting is caused by different types of irregularities and waste in the process. Possibilities of optimizing the process at different stages with the use of LM methods were proposed. It appeared that the most problematic area was the management of the workflow unit in the system and more attention was paid to it in the paper (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Pictorial map of the current state of the analysed fragment of the process

When analysing the process, there was observed waste in the form of waiting in connection with the fact that a workflow must pass through all the required stages. It was estimated that the time needed for all the stages was over 4.3 days, while the activities that add value took less than 10 min.

The collected data resulted in the need to compare the real outcomes of the process with the planned outcomes. For the needs of the analyses in the iGrafx Process for Six Sigma software, a model of the perfect process, without confounding factors, was built and simulations were performed. The results obtained in this way allowed assessing that the time of complete execution of an order was approx 4–5 days, while the time required only for acceptance of the workflow units was approx. 2 days, which shows that there is a possibility to shorten the duration of the process more than twice by eliminating the disturbances. In order to validate the model, a model of the actual state that includes the disturbances was also built. The results of the simulations carried out on the second model confirmed the earlier concerns and showed that the time of execution of an order was 9-12 days, while the time of its acceptance was 4-6 days.

In connection with a significant discrepancy between the desired state and the actual state, observations of irregularities occurring in the process were commenced. The results are shown in Table 1.

Deficiency	Frequency
Independent execution of an order outside the purchasing department	1/10 cases
Doubled orders	1/1.5 month
Outdated offer	1/50 cases
Lack of a range of products	1/30 cases
Acceptance of the same order several times	1/5 cases
Execution of the same order several times	1/25 cases

Table 1. The deficiencies identified in the order acceptance and execution process

Then, the FMEA analysis was performed. It has been found that all errors occurring in the analysed fragment of the process are closely related to the problem of long-lasting order execution procedure. Independent execution of orders outside the purchasing department and related doubled shipments result from the attempts of avoiding too long procedure which would not ensure obtaining necessary components on time. The outdated offer and a lack of a range of products are also associated with the fact that the time between preparing the offer by a supplier and sending the order is too long. Other irregularities result from the errors of the system itself and from a lack of division of work between the two persons responsible for execution of orders.

The outcomes of the work performed indicate that the computerized management system has led to automation of waste instead of its elimination. It appeared that the root cause was incorrect management of the subprocess in connection with a lack of synchronization between its successive stages. A difficulty in management results from the fact that this fragment of the process involves representatives of different organizational units located even in different buildings. The process is simplified for each of the units, however there is a lack of a process approach. Guidelines between successive links of the chain links are not properly synchronized with each other.

## 3 Scheduling

In an attempt to reduce the waste identified, a decision was made to assume that a proper process management should be synonymous to the value stream management. Observing what is happening in office processes and understanding the essence of added value, two basic issues can be noticed:

- there was a variability of processes resulting from multitasking and arbitrariness in the sequence of the tasks executed, and
- there was waiting time practically between all successive stages due to a lack of synchronization among the employees responsible for them.

A properly organized value stream may be a solution here. From among various methods for organizing the stream of values suggested for both production support and non-production processes [11], the organization of activities according to the value stream for each unit has been selected. This is a method for a proper synchronization of the work of people from different departments (also quite far away from each other) without disturbing the existing structure (which is essential for the optimization of the secondary processes).

Organization of activities according to the value stream for each administrative unit consists in a maximum synchronization of the moment of completion of the previous stage of the process with the moment of starting the next one. This makes it possible to introduce a relatively simple tool, i.e. schedules, however not within a department but along the value stream. Such scheduling of a work week in a breakdown by hours and tasks offers a possibility to maximize the flow of information and thus improves also the productivity. Introduction of a schedule for each unit should stabilize the variable system and ensure its predictability, and then speed up the response to needs of customers (also internal ones).

The company decided to check the possibility of improving the process by preparing schedules for the persons taking part in the acceptance of workflow units in the system. Time intervals were assigned to each of them (Table 2), during which a given person should redirect orders further in the system.

Introducing of workflow	Acceptance by the superior	Acceptance by the chief manager	Acceptance by the category	Acceptance by the chief financial	Acceptance by the controlling	Execution of the order	
8:30 am	08:45 am	09:00 am	09:15 am	09:30 am	09:45 am	08:45 am	10:00 am
11:00 am	11:15 am	11:30 am	11:45 am	12:00 noon	12:15 pm	11:15 am	12:30 pm
01:30 pm	01:45 pm	02:00 pm	02:15 pm	02:30 pm	02:45 pm	01:45 pm	03:00 pm

 Table 2.
 Workflow implementation schedule

There also appeared an idea of introducing an additional signal, i.e. a message from the system about striking a given hour. The hours in the schedule were proposed according to the observation about when most new workflows were getting to the system, while the time between successive stages was proposed adequately to the time required to get acquainted in detail with several different workflows. More dates were foreseen for execution of the order to synchronize them both with cyclical orders (concerning cheaper materials, consumed and replenished on a current basis, which get directly to the purchasing department) and non-cyclical orders (analysed in this study), but also to divided the work between two persons responsible for non-production purchases.

#### 3.1 Analysis of the Potential Time of Execution of a Production Support Order After the Introduction of Schedules – Model (3)

The implementation of the proposed method requires the involvement of high-level personnel, which caused that the permission to test it in real conditions was declined. In order to investigate the potential of the method and estimate its capabilities, another model, i.e. model (3), was built in the iGrafx Process for Six Sigma software. The basis for it was provided by the basic model, i.e. model (1), to which the proposed schedule was introduced by assigning time limits for execution of the order to each of the units involved. Simulations were carried out to check what minimum time can be achieved by implementing the proposed improvement. The results of the simulations have shown that the use of the scheduling method proposed (at the assumption that it will be followed in 100%) makes it possible to execute orders in approx. 1.5 h. Similar results were obtained with the use of mapping of the value stream of the future state (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Pictorial map of the future state of the analysed fragment of the process

It has been estimated that due to a significant reduction in the waiting time it will allow reducing the time of execution of the analysed subprocesses by over 98%.

#### **3.2** Analysis of the Estimated Time of Execution of a Production Support Order After the Introduction of Schedules – Model (4)

After demonstrating the potential of the analyzed method using the model (3), a decision was made to examine its effectiveness in real conditions. Considering the fact that office processes are characterized by high variability [11], it is important to consider that it is sometimes impossible to respond to every single sound signal informing about the need to accept orders. Model (4) has been built in accordance with the above and takes into account the fact that the schedule is not followed fully by the employees. It is based on model (3) which was modified by designating certain schedule points as inactive.

In the first turn there were performed simulations, in which the number of such points was increased until the average actual time of order execution was exceeded. The results of the simulation have shown that even if a given workflow unit encounters in the acceptance route 14 schedule points that will not be properly completed and will generate additional waiting, it will be executed faster than in the present system functioning in the company.

In order to determine the most probable scenario for the execution of workflow units with the use of the proposed scheduling method, interviews were conducted with employees in order to gather information on the probability of observing the designated hours. Based on the data collected, the number of the schedule points skipped by each employee during 1 working week has been estimated. The probability of the occurrence of inactive points in a given working week was entered into the model (4). Then simulations of a few next working weeks were carried out. The results of the simulations indicate a fairly low predictability of the process, taking into account the predicted degree of compliance with the schedule. Although there were achieved shorter times of order execution (43 h on average) as compared with the current system functioning in the company, the stability of the system was not ensured (standard deviation for the average cycle of order execution at 10 trials is over 30 h). The number of workflows completed in a week varies from 30% to 100%, which means a relatively large spread. The time of execution of order from a full working week also has very different values: from 4 to 10 days. The results of the simulations performed show that the method can be effective, but it should be modified accordingly, taking into account the capabilities of the employees.

#### **3.3** Analysis of the Estimated Time of Execution of a Production Support Order After the Introduction of Modified Schedules – Model (5)

The analysis of results of the simulations carried out on the previous models (1), (2), (3) and (4) has led to the development of another model (5) that will allow integrating the scheduling tool with the company's capabilities. The basis for the last model is provided by the model (4), in which time frames for execution of the workflow for the units involved were modified. For each new proposal of the schedule, there were collected data concerning whether the employees followed it and simulations were carried out in the strive to obtain an optimal solution. The results of the subsequent simulations led to reorganization of the schedule in order to increase the control over processes and shorten the average order execution time at the cost of extending the shortest possible time of execution of a workflow unit. The solution is therefore a schedule with a fewer number of the acceptance points, but with longer time for their execution. Employees would then have to keep tabs on one deadline a day only (which would be much simpler), and also would have more time (1 h) to comply with it (so they would not have to suddenly interrupt other activities).

To illustrate the effectiveness of the method, the results of simulations of the models were summarized (Fig. 5). A random unit taken from each of the 10 consecutive working weeks was included in the comparison.



Fig. 5. The processing time of a workflow unit in successive working weeks

In accordance with the results of the simulations carried out on the model (5) with the modified schedule, the introduction of the proposed solution will extend the minimum order execution time to approx. 6.5 h, but the average time will be at a level of a dozen or so hours.

## 4 Summary

The use of simulation tools supported by LM methods enabled examining the possibilities of optimizing the process of ensuring the continuity of supply of production support materials in the production company in question. Irregularities in functioning of the process were demonstrated and their causes were identified. On their basis, there was proposed an optimization tool – scheduling along the value stream. An analysis of the improvement considered by the company was possible thanks to the computer models. The simulations performed on the models allowed checking the capabilities of the selected method and its efficiency in the estimated real conditions (Table 3).

iGrafx model number	Average time of order acceptance and execution	Conditions of execution
(1)	2 days	Possible after elimination of disturbances
(2)	4-6 days	Actual with the existing waste
(3)	1.5 h	Impossible in the real conditions
(4)	1–4 days	Possible after the introduction of the schedule
(5)	1–2 days	Possible after a modification of the schedule

Table 3. Summary of results of the simulation of the process

The studies confirmed the potential of the method, however they indicated that it is not utilized fully due to insufficient capabilities of the units involved. The conclusions led to a modification of the solution by adjusting the schedule to the daily work plans of employees, which allowed achieving better results than in the case of the previous solution.

## References

- 1. Baluch, N., Abdullah, C.S., Mohtar, S.: TPM and lean maintenance A critical review. Interdisc. J. Contemp. Res. Bus. 4, 850–857 (2012)
- Chlebus, E., Helman, J., Olejarczyk, M., Rosienkiewicz, M.: A new approach on implementing TPM in a mine - case study. Arch. Civ. Mech. Eng. 15(4), 873–884 (2015)
- Wu, Y.C.J.: Effective lean logistics strategy for the auto industry. Int. J. Logist. Manag. 13(2), 19–38 (2002)
- 4. Gautam, N., Singh, N.: Lean product development: maximizing the customer perceived value through design change (redesign). Int. J. Prod. Econ. **114**(1), 313–332 (2008)
- Chen, J.C., Cox, R.A.: Value stream management for lean office—a case study. Am. J. Ind. Bus. Manag. 2(2), 17–29 (2012)
- Maskell, B.H., Kennedy, F.A.: Why do we need lean accounting and how does it work? J. Corp. Account. Finan. 18(3), 59–73 (2007)
- 7. Steinberg, J.G., De Tomi, G.: Lean mining: principles for modelling and improving processes of mineral value chains. Int. J. Logist. Syst. Manag. **6**(3), 279–298 (2010)
- 8. de Suoza, B.L.: Trends and approaches in lean healthcare. Leadersh. Health Serv. 22(2), 121–139 (2009)
- 9. Naga, V.K.J., Kodali, R.: Lean production: literature review and trends. Int. J. Prod. Res. 53(3), 867–885 (2015)
- 10. Keyte, B., Locher, D.: The Complete Lean Enterprise. Productivity Press, New York (2004)
- 11. Stalk, G., Hout, T.: Competing Against Time. NY Free Press, New York (2003)

# An Artificial Bee Colony Algorithm to Solve the Single Row Layout Problem with Clearances

Laura Manzke, Birgit Keller<sup> $(\boxtimes)$ </sup>, and Udo Buscher

Faculty of Business and Economics, TU Dresden, Dresden, Germany {Birgit.Keller,Udo.Buscher}@tu-dresden.de

Abstract. The single row layout problem (SRLP) is defined as the optimal arrangement of n machines with varying length along a straight line in order to minimize the weighted sum of distances between all machine pairs. In this paper, an artificial bee colony (ABC) metaheuristic is proposed to solve the SRLP considering sequence-dependent, asymmetric clearances for the first time. The algorithm is evaluated on several benchmark instances selected from literature as well as random generated ones involving up to n = 60 machines. By comparing the computational results, either to optimal or best known solutions, it is revealed that our ABC performs efficiently, especially for instances with sequencedependent asymmetric clearances.

Keywords: Single row layout  $\cdot$  Artificial bee colony algorithm  $\cdot$  Asymmetric clearances  $\cdot$  Machine layout problem  $\cdot$  Combinatorial optimization

## 1 Introduction

A thorough planning of the facility layout is an essential contribution to the companies' competitiveness due to the beneficial effects upon work in process, lead times, manufacturing costs, and the overall productivity. It has been shown that an efficient machine layout is able to reduce the material handling cost by 10-30% (cf. [21]). One layout configuration frequently adopted in modern manufacturing systems is the single row layout where machines are arranged along one side of the material transportation path. In practice, a single row layout may assume different shapes such as linear, semicircular, U-shaped, or serpentine patterns.

The corresponding single row layout problem (SRLP) is an  $\mathcal{NP}$ -hard optimization problem that necessitates robust and effective heuristics. Therefore, a number of metaheuristics have been applied to the SRLP including genetic algorithm (e.g. [4,10]), taboo search (e.g. [1,9]), scatter search (e.g. [11]), simulated annealing (e.g. [15,16]), and swarm intelligence optimization approaches such as ant colony algorithms (e.g. [20]) and particle swarm optimization (e.g. [17]). One

 $\mathit{ISAT}$  2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_27

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

 $<sup>\</sup>ensuremath{\mathbf{Z}}. \ensuremath{\,\text{Wilimowska}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{et}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{a}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{c}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{a}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{c}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{a}}\xspace \ensuremath{\{a}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{a}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{a}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{a}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{a}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{a}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{a}}\xspace \ensuremath{\{a}}\xspace \ensuremath{\$ 

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

recently proposed algorithm based on swarm intelligence optimization is the artificial bee colony algorithm (ABC) introduced by [7] who adopts the intelligent foraging behavior of a honey bee swarm to numerical optimization problems. To the best of our knowledge, [18,19] are the only ones who refer to the ABC technique in the research area of machine layout. The former describes the heuristic only in general without any specific application to the machine layout problem, whereas the latter solve a multi-row layout problem with predefined locations.

In this paper, an ABC algorithm is introduced and applied to the SRLP considering asymmetric and sequence-dependent clearances for the first time. Based on the work of [20], the respective mathematical formulation for SRLP is presented in Sect. 2. To solve this optimization problem, we have proposed an ABC heuristic which is described in detail in Sect. 3. Furthermore, we conducted extensive tests on several benchmark instances from literature as well as new generated ones. The results and the performance are reported in Sect. 4. Finally, Sect. 5 recapitulates our findings and suggests directions for future research.

## 2 Mathematical Model Formulation

To fulfill more real-life manufacturing requirements, Solimanpur et al. [20] introduced a continuous model formulation for the SRLP. This model overcomes a series of shortcomings such as (a) neglected or equal-sized machine dimensions, (b) neglected or constant clearances between machine pairs as well as (c) locations that have to be defined in advance. Instead of that, the following assumptions closer to reality are considered:

- Machines are of varying dimensions, but all are considered to be rectangular.
- Clearances between each pair of machines are variable and dependent on the machine sequence in the single row.
- Orientation of machines is predetermined in respect of the transportation path, and
- Distances between machines are measured with respect to their centroids.

The required size of clearances are affected by several factors, especially production volume and routing of components, processing times, shape and size of components, type of material handling equipment, and type and size of pallets used by the material handling device (cf. [20]). Based on these considerations, the respective SRLP is concerned with finding an optimal arrangement of a given set N of machines placed along one side of the material transportation path. Given the flow  $f_{\pi_i\pi_j}$  as well as the clearances  $e_{\pi_i\pi_j}$  between two machines  $\pi_i$  and  $\pi_j$  and the known lengths  $l_{\pi_i}$  (i = 1, ..., n), the objective is therefore to find a feasible permutation  $\pi = (\pi_1, ..., \pi_n)$ , which minimizes the summed products of flow and center-to-center distances travelled by the material-handling device. Additionally, let  $\Pi$  denotes the set of all possible permutations  $\pi$  of N = (1, ..., n), i.e.  $\pi \in \Pi$ , then the problem can be stated as:

$$\min_{\pi \in \Pi} \sum_{i,j \in N} (f_{\pi_i \pi_j} + f_{\pi_j \pi_i}) d_{ij}^{\pi}$$
(1)

s.t.

$$d_{ij}^{\pi} = \frac{l_{\pi_i}}{2} + \sum_{k=i}^{j-1} e_{\pi_k \pi_{k+1}} + \sum_{k=i+1}^{j-1} l_{\pi_k} + \frac{l_{\pi_j}}{2},$$
(2)

where  $d_{ij}^{\pi}$  is the minimal distance between two machines  $\pi_i$  and  $\pi_j$  which are arranged at position *i* and *j* in the particular solution  $\pi$  as depicted in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Declaration of variables for SRLP with sequence-dependent, asymmetric clearances

Considering unequal, asymmetric clearances, the symmetry of the single row layout is cancelled out, since the distance between machine pairs depends on the clearances. That means the distances of permutation  $\pi = (\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_n)$  may not equal the distances of the reverse permutation  $\pi = (\pi_n, \ldots, \pi_n)$ . To the best of our knowledge, this model is the only one which can handle this special kind of clearances (cf. [8]).

#### 3 The Artificial Bee Colony Algorithm for the SRLP

Artificial bee colony algorithms belong to the research field of swarm intelligence. This phenomenon arises in multi-agent systems where colonies of nonsophisticated individuals cooperatively achieve complex tasks (cf. [2]). Such systems are comprised of autonomous agents that interact with each other and the environment in such a fashion that certain patterns emerge without central control (cf. [12]). The scientific field of swarm intelligence arose from the study of social insects such as ants, bees, wasps and termites as well as fish schools and bird flocks. Since swarm intelligent systems operate in both a flexible and robust manner, they are almost predestined to the field of optimization. Thus, a social insect colony can be understood as a decentralized problem-solving system (cf. [3]).

A wide variety of algorithms has been developed to apply swarm intelligence to optimization problems. Most famously these include particle swarm optimization (PSO) and ant colony optimization (ACO). However, in this paper, we focus on the more recently developed ABC algorithm that mimics the foraging behavior of honey bee swarms. It consists of at least three integral components: food sources, employed and unemployed foragers (see [7]). In this configuration, *food sources* are characterized by a certain profitability that is dependent on their proximity to the nest, the energy contained within and the ease with which energy can be extracted. *Employed foragers* are associated with a certain food source they are exploiting. They share the location of this source with other bees with a probability which depends on the profitability of the source. *Unemployed foragers* can be divided into *scouts* and *onlookers*. The former search the surrounding area of the nest for new food sources while the latter wait in the nest and can be recruited to known food sources by employed foragers.

The classification of bees into certain groups according to the behavior they are exhibiting is dynamic. A certain bee may be classified as a scout and an employed forager at different points in time. To maximize the nectar obtained by the whole colony, the bees share information amongst each other to exploit the most profitable food sources. In this case, the most important mechanism that facilitates the emergence of collective intelligence is the exchange of information which is conducted by performing a waggle dance.

An employed forager will share the information about the food source it is currently exploiting with a probability depending on the profitability of the source. A more profitable source leads to a longer duration of the dance. An employed forager has three options after unloading nectar: (1) abandon the food source if no more energy can be extracted, (2) recruit onlookers by waggle dancing and return to the food source or (3) continue exploiting the food source without recruiting others. An unemployed forager on the other hand has two options: It can either spontaneously become a scout and search the nest' surroundings for possible food sources or it can become a recruit after watching waggle dances. After locating and exploiting a food source, it becomes an employed forager. Since more information is circulated about profitable sources (longer dances), onlookers are more likely to choose lucrative sources.

Applying the observations made about natural bees to the field of optimization, several analogies can be drawn: In the algorithm by [7], a food source corresponds to a feasible solution to the problem and the quality of the associated solution matches the sources profitability. In ABC algorithm, half of the bees are employed bees and the other half onlooker bees, where each employed bee is associated with exactly one food source. If a given solution cannot be improved within a predetermined number of trials (= all of the sources energy has been extracted), the associated forager becomes a scout. Scouts introduce an aspect of randomness to the optimization, while onlookers choose food sources with a certain probability.

In the case of the ABC algorithm, scouts employ random processes (exploration), while employed and onlooker bees try to improve given solutions (exploitation). The algorithm proposed by [7] has three control parameters:

- SN is the number of food sources or employed bees and equals half the population size.
- *Limit* is the parameter which determines whether a food source is to be abandoned or not. It thereby regulates the creation of scouts.
- *Maximum Cycle Number* (*MCN*) regulates how many cycles the whole algorithm is run before it terminates.

After initialization, each cycle of the ABC algorithm consists of three distinct steps (see Algorithm 1): measuring the quality of the solutions in memory (employed bees phase), determining which solutions could not be improved over a given number of trials and generating new solutions for the associated bees randomly (scout bees phase), and calculating the probability with which onlooker bees will choose these solutions (onlooker bees phase). To illustrate the mechanisms of the ABC algorithm, the three steps will be explained in more detail.<sup>1</sup>

Algorithm 1 Pseudo-code for the implemented algorithm						
1:	procedure ABC (SN;Limit;MCN)					
	Initialize					
2:	Create SN solutions					
3:	while cycle < MCN do					
4:	Employed bees phase (SN)					
Scout bees phase:						
5:	<pre>if trial i &gt; Limit then</pre>					
6:	create random solution					
7:	end if					
8:	<b>Onlooker bees phase</b> (SN)					
9:	end while					
10:	end procedure					

**Initialization.** At the start of the algorithm, SN possible solutions (food sources) were initialized by generating SN random permutations  $\pi^i$ , i = 1, ..., SN. Each permutation  $\pi^i = (\pi_1^i, ..., \pi_n^i), \pi^i \in \Pi$ , consists of n machines.<sup>2</sup> Its respective objective value  $F(\pi^i)$  is determined and memorized. Since the SRLP considered is a minimization problem, the fitness of a solution is measured by:

$$fitness^{i} = \frac{1}{F(\pi^{i})}.$$
(3)

**Employed Bees Phase.** An employed bee produces a modification on the food source it is associated with and compares the fitness of the resulting neighboring solution with its original food source. This is repeated for each of the SN permutations. To obtain a neighboring solution  $\pi^{i\prime}$ , two indices r and s were randomly chosen and the machines at the  $r^{th}$  and  $s^{th}$  index in  $\pi^i$  were switched:  $\pi_r^i = \pi_s^{i\prime}, \pi_s^i = \pi_r^{i\prime}$ , with  $r, s \in \{1, \ldots, n\}, r \neq s$ . After calculating the fitness of the new solution  $\pi^{i\prime}$ , it is compared to the fitness value of the former food source  $\pi^i$ . If the neighboring solution exhibits a better fitness than the former

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Here we are following the recommendation of [13] to conduct the scout bees phase before the onlooker bees phase in order to limit the maximum number of fitness evaluations per cycle. That is contrary to [7] who proposed the reverse order.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Please note that  $\pi^i$  (superscript) denotes one of the *SN* permutations in the ABC algorithm, whereas  $\pi_i$  (subscript) and  $\pi_i^i$  denotes a machine in the permutation  $\pi$  and  $\pi^i$ , respectively.

one,  $\pi^i$  is overwritten by  $\pi^{i'}$  and the  $i^{th}$  trial counter associated with permutation  $\pi^i$  (i = 1, ..., SN) is set to 0. Otherwise,  $\pi^i$  is kept and the trial counter is incremented by 1.

**Scout Bees Phase.** During this phase, all trial counters are checked to see if any have reached the limit. If they have, the corresponding food source is abandoned and a random new solution is generated and its trial counter is set to 0.

**Onlooker Bees Phase.** The employed bees share the information about the food sources they have been exploiting with onlookers. The onlooker bees choose a solution among the presented ones with a probability that depends on the fitness. For this purpose, a roulette wheel selection scheme is employed, whereby a probability is assigned to every solution  $\pi^i$ :

$$\theta^{i} = \frac{fitness^{i}}{\sum_{k=1}^{SN} fitness^{k}}.$$
(4)

This equation ensures that on average more lucrative sources are chosen by more onlookers. Then a random real number  $q^i \in [0; 1]$  is generated for each source. If  $\theta^i > q^i$ , a modification is run on  $\pi^i$  and evaluated as in the employed bees phase. This process is repeated until all onlooker bees have been assigned to a food source.

## 4 Computational Results and Comparisons

Several problems from literature as well as new generated ones are used to demonstrate the efficiency of our ABC heuristic for the SRLP. The algorithm was coded in python programming language, and was executed on a desk-top PC equipped with AMD A10-6700 APU 3.7 GHz and 16 GB RAM. The (near)optimal solutions were obtained by CP Optimizer, part of IBM ILOG CPLEX Optimization Studio v12.6.0.0 and were run on an Intel<sup>®</sup> Xeon<sup>®</sup> CPU E5-4627 v2 with 3.30 GHz and 768 GB RAM. A 1 h time limit was imposed for each solution of the problem.

## 4.1 Test Instances

Initially, our metaheuristic is successfully tested on 49 instances for the equidistant SRLP (SRELP) with up to 35 machines used by [6] and provided in the FLPLIB Facility Layout Database. Here, all machines are assumed to be of equal size and clearances are set to be zero. A second set is composed of eight problems proposed by [14] where machines lengths are obtained from [5]. These instances with constant clearances were solved by [17,20]. Finally, since no benchmark instances with sequence-dependent and asymmetric clearances are available, we have generated new instances with 6, 7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 15, 20, 30, 40, 50, and 60 machines adopting the flow matrices from set one. In these instances, the lengths are integer numbers drawn uniformly at random from the interval  $[1; \lfloor 0.5 n \rfloor]$  and the non-diagonal entries of the clearance matrix from the interval  $[0.5; 0.5 \lceil \alpha(l_i + l_j) \rceil]$  with  $\alpha \in U(0, 1)$ .

#### 4.2 Performance Evaluation

Due to the random characteristic of the algorithm and to obtain robust solutions, each instance in the dataset is run 30 times. For comparison purposes, we measure the solution quality in terms of the relative percentage deviation (RPD) from the optimal objective value over all 30 runs of each instance that is defined as:

$$RPD = \frac{H - B}{B} \times 100\%,\tag{5}$$

where H describes the solution obtained by our ABC heuristic and B is the optimal or best known solution regarding the associated instance. Additionally, in order to evaluate the performance of the algorithm with respect to the control parameters SN, Limit, and MCN, we conducted preliminary tests considering different adaptive parameter settings. These tests revealed that low values for SN and high values for MCN should be chosen. The most promising combinations are used in the following analysis: (I)  $\{n; n^2; 1000\}$  and (II)  $\{n; 100; 500\}$  (in the order SN, Limit, MCN).



**Fig. 2.** RPD for set 1 and 2 with parameter setting  $\{n; n^2; 1000\}$ 

Set 1 and 2. The optimal or best known solutions of set one and two are reported in [6, 20], respectively. Compared to those, Figs. 2 and 3 show the RPDs over all instances of both sets. In the boxplot, each line indicates the median RPD of the instance considered. The box itself ranges from the first to the third quartile and the whiskers terminate at the largest data point within the 1.5 interquartile range. While all data points of each instance and each run



**Fig. 3.** RPD for set 1 and 2 with parameter setting  $\{n; 100; 500\}$ 

are represented by grey dots, outliers are marked with black dots. Although our heuristic is developed for the SRLP with sequence-dependent, asymmetric clearances, it can be seen that the ABC is still promising for these sets. For both parameter settings, the algorithm found the optimal solution for instances with up to 25 machines. Results of larger instances deviate from best known solutions by 1.62% (I) and  $1.81\%^3$  (II) at most. Even for the largest problem size tested (n = 60), 75% of all data have an RPD less than 0.43% (I) and 0.99% (II) as indicated by the box' top. Comparing both parameter settings, it is notable that the ABC heuristic controlled by the first setting exhibits a better performance, irrespective of the instance size. This corresponds to the observation based on our preliminary examinations that higher values of the control parameter MCNseem to strongly affect the results positively, whereas Limit has no significant effect. Furthermore, in Fig. 3 (setting (II)), the interquartile range of each box is comparatively large which suggests higher variation in the different runs. On this account, it can be deduced that setting (I) is more robust than setting (II).

Set 3. Since no comparison values for set 3 are available, the performance of the ABC algorithm with parameter setting (I) is compared with the (near)optimal solution of the presented model obtained by the CP Optimizer (column CP). The results are presented in Table 1. Instances larger than n = 10 are computational expensive so that the optimal solution process was aborted due to a time limit of one hour. It is depicted that the ABC heuristic hits the optimal objective value for small-sized instances and produces even better solutions for larger instances (column Best OFV). The differences between the two approaches strongly grow up to 35% with increasing instance sizes revealing that our ABC heuristic clearly outperforms the CP, especially for large-sized problems. This observation holds even when the mean OFV is taken into account (n = 20 to 60). Additionally, comparing best and mean results, the algorithm seems to perform very robust,

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  An outlier with an RPD of 3.38% was neglected.

Instance CP			Artificial bee colony algorithm					
	OFV	Time	Best OFV	Best RPD	Mean OFV	Mean RPD	Time	
O-6	966.0	$0.48\mathrm{s}$	966.0	0	966.13	0.01%	$1.7\mathrm{s}$	
Y-7	4,795.0	$1.63\mathrm{s}$	4,795.0	0	4,814.93	0.42%	$2.9\mathrm{s}$	
O-9	$3,\!498.0$	$3{,}001{\rm s}$	3,498.0	0	3,655.17	4.49%	$5.9\mathrm{s}$	
O-10	$5,\!293.0$	$3{,}600{\rm s}$	$5,\!293.0$	0	5,385.20	1.74%	$9.3\mathrm{s}$	
Y-11	13,604.0	$3,\!600\mathrm{s}$	13,604.0	0	14,101.08	3.65%	$12.4\mathrm{s}$	
S-12	17,764.0	$3,\!600\mathrm{s}$	17,764.5	0	18,485.82	4.06%	$15.8\mathrm{s}$	
N-15	11,210.0	$3{,}600\mathrm{s}$	11,210.0	0	11,428.93	1.95%	$32.6\mathrm{s}$	
O-20	70,079.0	$3,\!600\mathrm{s}$	66,519.0	-3.6%	$68,\!566.47$	-2.16%	$84.9\mathrm{s}$	
S-30	80,065.5	$3,\!600\mathrm{s}$	$67,\!577.0$	-16.53%	68,064.68	-14.99%	$257.1\mathrm{s}$	
Y-40	571,704.0	$3,\!600\mathrm{s}$	$512,\!975.0$	-19.95%	468,582.22	-18.04%	$766.8\mathrm{s}$	
Y-50	1,402,370.0	$3,\!600\mathrm{s}$	1,243,914.0	-25.07%	1,053,429.75	-24.88%	$1{,}719.6\mathrm{s}$	
Y-60	$2,\!552,\!070.0$	$3,\!600\mathrm{s}$	$1,\!656,\!143.5$	-35.11%	1,681,569.22	-34.11%	$3,\!273.8\mathrm{s}$	

**Table 1.** Comparison of OFV and RPD for instance set 3 with parameter setting  $\{n; n^2; 1000\}$ 

since only small variability in the different runs occurs and both values differ in 4.5% (O-9) at the most. Regarding the average computational time, our heuristic requires significantly less time to obtain a solution compared to the optimal approach. Only for O-6 and Y-7 a slightly longer time is needed. According to that, our ABC algorithm is very competitive referring to computational requirements.

# 5 Conclusion

In this paper, an ABC algorithm is proposed to solve the more practical variant of SRLP in which variable and asymmetric clearances between each pair of machines of unequal size is assumed. The performance of our metaheuristic is tested on several well-known data sets taken from literature supplemented by new instances tailored for the SRLP considered. Preliminary tests reveal that an appropriate parameter setting should consist of low and high values of SNand MCN, respectively, since a proportional correlation between SN as well as MCN and the computation time was observed. Additionally, higher number of cycles (MCN) provide lower objective values. The control parameter Limit seems to have a marginal effect on the objective values and computation time. In accordance with this, the results indicate that the proposed metaheuristic algorithm possesses a competitive effectiveness and efficiency for solving the SRLP with sequence-dependent, asymmetric clearances as studied in this paper. In general, ABC algorithms are comparable to those of other population-based metaheuristics, but with the advantage of tuning fewer control parameters. Nevertheless, more thorough studies on the effects of different parameter settings are needed, particularly in order to optimize the trade-off between RPD and time.

# References

- de Alvarenga, A.G., Negreiros-Gomes, F.J., Mestria, M.: Metaheuristic methods for a class of the facility layout problem. J. Intell. Manuf. 11(4), 421–430 (2000)
- Blum, C., Li, X.: Swarm intelligence in optimization. In: Blum, C., Merkle, D. (eds.) Swarm Intelligence. Natural Computing Series. Springer, Heidelberg (2008). doi:10.1007/978-3-540-74089-6\_2
- Bonabeau, E., Dorigo, M., Theraulaz, G.: Swarm Intelligence From Natural to Artificial Systems, no. 1. Oxford University Press, New York (1999)
- Datta, D., Amaral, A.R., Figueira, J.R.: Single row facility layout problem using a permutation-based genetic algorithm. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 213(2), 388–394 (2011)
- Heragu, S.S., Kusiak, A.: Machine layout problem in flexible manufacturing systems. Oper. Res. 36(2), 258–268 (1988)
- Hungerländer, P.: Single-row equidistant facility layout as a special case of singlerow facility layout. Int. J. Prod. Res. 52(5), 1257–1268 (2014)
- 7. Karaboga, D.: An idea based on honey bee swarm for numerical optimization. Technical report, Engineering Faculty, Computer Engineering Department (2005)
- Keller, B., Buscher, U.: Single row layout models. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 245(3), 629– 644 (2015)
- Kothari, R., Ghosh, D.: Tabu search for the single row facility layout problem using exhaustive 2-opt and insertion neighborhoods. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 224, 93– 100 (2013)
- Kothari, R., Ghosh, D.: An efficient genetic algorithm for single row facility layout. Optim. Lett. 6(2), 679–690 (2014)
- Kothari, R., Ghosh, D.: A scatter search algorithm for the single row facility layout problem. J. Heuristics 20(2), 125–142 (2014)
- Liu, Y., Passino, K.M.: Swarm intelligence: literature overview. Technical report, Department of Electrical Engineering, The Ohio State University (2000)
- Mernik, M., Liu, S.H., Karaboga, D., Črepinšek, M.: On clarifying misconceptions when comparing variants of the artificial bee colony algorithm by offering a new implementation. Inf. Sci. 291, 115–127 (2015)
- Nugent, C.E., Volhnann, T.E., Rum, J.: An experimental comparison of techniques for the assignment of facilities to locations. Oper. Res. 16(1), 150–173 (1968)
- Palubeckis, G.: Fast simulated annealing for single-row equidistant facility layout. Appl. Math. Comput. 263, 287–301 (2015)
- Palubeckis, G.: Single row facility layout using multi-start simulated annealing. Comput. Ind. Eng. 107, 1–16 (2017)
- Samarghandi, H., Taabayan, P., Jahantigh, F.F.: A particle swarm optimization for the single row facility layout problem. Comput. Ind. Eng. 58(4), 529–534 (2010)
- Saravanan, M., Ganesh Kumar, S.: Different approaches for the loop layout problems: a review. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 08, 1–17 (2013)
- Soimart, P., Pongcharoen, P.: Multi-row machine layout design using aritificial bee colony. In: 2011 International Conference on Economics and Business Information, vol. 9, pp. 103–108 (2011)
- Solimanpur, M., Vrat, P., Shankarsa, R.: An ant algorithm for the single row layout problem in flexible manufacturing systems. Comput. Oper. Res. 32(3), 583–598 (2005)
- Tompkins, J.A., White, J.A., Bozer, Y.A., Tanchoco, J.M.A.: Facilities Planning. Wiley, New York (2010)

# Measurement Center Processes Support in the Automotive Industry

Martin Sarnovsky<sup>(⊠)</sup> and Petra Cibulova

Department of Cybernetics and Artificial Intelligence, Faculty of Electrotechnics and Informatics, Technical University Kosice, Letna 9/A, 04001 Kosice, Slovakia {martin.sarnovsky,petra.cibulova}@tuke.sk

Abstract. Nowadays, business process management and process modeling is an important part of business management and business process improvement. Resulting from the increasingly fast growing customer requirements for the final product, organizations need to introduce process management. The work presented in this paper was situated in the area of the automotive industry, which is the most important sector of the world economy. Technical development is progressing with rapid fashion, and even in the automotive industry, there is a need to monitor, manage and improve production processes. This is related to the deployment and use of information systems that support and automate these processes. The main goal of the work described in the paper is to provide a brief overview of the field of business process management, process modeling, related technologies, and the situation of the automotive industry in general. This work also analyzes the current situation in one of the measurement centers, selected processes, and user requirements for the application supporting those processes. Based on the analysis, we proposed an improvement of the selected processes and also designed a web application that supports these processes. The application was built using current technologies such as ASP.NET Core Framework, MVC architecture and the available libraries. Results of testing proved that the solution meets all requirements and in terms of key performance indicators surpassed the expected results. It is suitable for real use in practice and in the future, it is recommended its deployment to all measurement centers.

Keywords: Business processes  $\cdot$  Process modeling  $\cdot$  Process optimization  $\cdot$  Automotive industry  $\cdot$  Measurement center

# 1 Introduction

Nowadays, the automotive industry is one of the most important sectors of the world economy and even of the economy of the Slovak Republic. Slovakia is currently one of the top automotive manufacturers in the world. Measurement centers play an important role in the whole production process. The main objective of the measurement centers is to detect the smallest variations between the real parameters of the manufactured automotive parts and the required ones, thus preventing the errors of the final vehicles. The work presented in this paper was performed in the environment of one particular measurement center in chosen car factory. The work is dedicated to a thorough analysis

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_28

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

of the current situation at a specific measurement center and based on the analysis we propose the most suitable solution for improvement of the selected processes deployed at this measurement center.

## 2 Automotive Industry and Manufacturing Process

In general, automotive industry involves a cooperation of a large number of companies and different organizations in various stages of the production of the motor vehicles such as design, development, production, marketing, and sales [1]. It is one of the largest and most important sectors of the world economy, especially in Slovakia. Nowadays Slovakia belongs to the 20 biggest car producers in the World. In Slovakia, there are 3 big world car manufacturers, and since 2018 one more will start the production there [2]. According to production statistics [3], since 2015, Slovakia has reached 1 million vehicles produced per year. Taking into consideration the number of inhabitants, Slovakia is by far the global leader in car production per 1000 inhabitants [2]. Figure 1 depicts the number of cars produced in Slovakia per year with the forecast for the year 2020 when the estimated number of cars produced in the country will reach 1 350 000 units per year.



## **Car Production in Slovakia**

Fig. 1. Car production in the Slovak Republic

In general, the car manufacturing process can be described as follows: everything starts with the metal sheets and the handling process that takes place in the press shop. The sheets are cut to the required dimensions, then pressed and bent. The first moldings, after each mold change, are scanned measured at the measurement centers. From these moldings, the car body is then welded and goes to the paint shop, where all its parts are thoroughly painted with the desired color. In this final car body, there are cable networks located and the dashboard is put together. Then, there are put together all necessary car parts (such as engine, drive mechanism, wheels, etc.). This is where the production process ends and the car passes from the production hall to the test track where the car goes through the testing. After success in the testing phase, the car can be shipped to the customer.

## 3 Current Situation at Measurement Center

All manufactured car parts must pass through the Measurement center. Only those that meet all the necessary standards and strict criteria can be returned to the production process. The measurement center for which the output of this work is designed and developed is one of the three measurement centers that are located in the selected automotive production. This particular measurement center includes four touch measuring machines (KMG). Currently, they are delivered, measured, and analyzed on an average of 500 pieces per month. The current process of the transport of the measured vehicle parts is depicted in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Transport process of the measured parts

According to the pre-established measurement plan, the production workers move the necessary parts to the Stage area. The Stage area is a place that temporarily stores the parts that need to be measured or that have already passed the measurement process. From this place, the workers of the measurement center move the necessary parts to the measuring machines, where the particular measurements and analyses will be carried out. Upon completion of the measurements, the parts that have successfully passed through will be moved back from the measuring center to the Stage area. Finally, production workers will pick up the measured parts from the Stage area and move them back to the Body Shop. This process is currently not formalized (in any way) and not supported by any software in the measurement center. The staff of individual centers is not sufficiently informed about the actual status of the parts at the measurement center, which often causes problems. One of the most important ones is that the Stage area is filled with the temporarily stored parts too fast. Because of the lack of space there, there is a need to expand this area. At present, 1,233.94 m<sup>2</sup> space is used for the Stage area. Measurement center managers estimate, that the expansion of the center would cost more than 1,200 EUR per square meter.

#### 3.1 Current Problems in the Measurement Center

The main reason of the problems is the lack of information and communication between the Body Shop and the Measurement center. In this case, especially the obsolete, "paper" way of creating, approving, and distributing measurement plans is implemented. This method does not allow any real-time information exchange when operational changes apply to these plans. Plans themselves are currently being created in the Excel spreadsheet environment and, once created, they need to be approved by responsible workers, printed and distributed to the individual centers.

Because of the reasons mentioned above, it is necessary to create and deploy an appropriate information system and process support mechanism that will effectively support not only the transport of measured parts but also the creation, approval, and distribution of the measurement plans. Support for these processes should include the possibility of creating, approving and making available of measurement plans by several workers of different centers immediately. In addition, it should include the possibility of monitoring the status at the measurement center including production and logistics. It should enable the users to perform immediate notifications to all involved workers in case of a change in the measurement plan. Based on the information provided, it is possible for the production to effectively adapt to the changes. All this should be done in real-time and without unnecessary delays.

## 4 Proposed Solution

We proposed a solution, which automates certain stages of the current process and the workflows that take place at the Measurement center. The solution aims to optimize the existing processes [4] and to provide real-time communication between production, logistics and the Measurement center. Staff will exchange the necessary information through the proposed software solution supporting the designed and optimized processes. Such implementation will result in more readable generation of measurement plans on a daily, weekly and monthly basis.

#### 4.1 Processes Re-engineering

#### Process of Transportation of the Parts to the Measurement Center

The process of the transportation of the parts to Measurement center was not formalized in any standard or notation. Therefore, we decided at first to design the process models and identify the concrete activities that could be supported by a kind of software solution in order to optimize the process or resources. The process is designed in a way, which enables the elimination of the issues mentioned in Sect. 3.1. The process was designed in the BPMN (Business Process Modeling Notation), which is a standard for modeling of the business processes [5] and is depicted in Fig. 3. The process starts when Measurement center staff receives the weekly measurements plan. The first step is to check, whether the actual state in the Measurement center is aligned with the plan. If not, the warning is issued and staff is notified. Notification has to be confirmed (staff has to confirm, that they are informed about the change). In the next step, the parts are ready for measurement and transported to the Stage area. Measurement center staff pick up the parts, update the information in the system, and move the part to perform measurements. When the part is located at measurement machine, staff changes the status of the part in the system and starts the measurement and analysis. The part remains in this state until the measurement in completed. After that, the part is moved back to the Stage area, its status is changed to "ready" and production staff is notified, that the part can be picked up from Stage area. Production staff confirms when the part is actually picked up from Stage area and moved back into the production. Figure 3 also shows the tasks directly supported by proposed software solution.



Fig. 3. Process of the transportation of the parts to the measurement center

#### **Process of Measurements Planning**

The planning phase is required to correctly perform the measurement process. In general, this process is performed on weekly basis and it results in the measurement plan which can be changed during the operation. The plan then orchestrates the all involved parties including Measurement center staff, Production staff, and Logistic staff. Changes during the operation can be made by the Measurement center designated staff members. Such operative changes should reflect the current requirements.

Designed and formalized process model is depicted in Fig. 4. Highlighted tasks are the ones supported and partially automatized by designed software solution. In general, the process starts weekly, when Measurement center staff member starts to create the plan, either from scratch or using the existing template. The template has to be checked, if it is ready to be used, in case when a new template is created, staff member has to fill all needed information (about the measuring machines and measurements) until all information for all machines is provided. When all information are provided and all fields correctly filled, designated worker sends the created plan for approval. In case of plan dismissal, designated worker performs the needed corrections (e.g. to remove errors) and again sends the plan for approval. When the plan is approved, it can be printed out or just stored in the database without printing. In both cases, the plan is available in the application for all involved parties.



Fig. 4. Modified process of the measurement planning

## 4.2 Design and Implementation of the Supporting Application

The required functionalities of the proposed solution can be summed up:

- Definition of a measurement plan according to the process standard: possibility of defining a measurement plan for a particular measuring machine according to the type of measured parts. It is possible to enter the number of measured parts on a given measuring machine, to determine the time of measurement from to, the possibility of adding, removing and adjusting the measurements.
- Approve and view the created plan.
- Possibility to make operational changes in an already generated and approved plan: adding a measurement, removing measurement and adjusting the measurement.
- All changes are immediately visible to all employees in real time: alerting workers to changes.
- Changing the status of the measured part: not delivered, delivered, done, measured, finished, picking up, transport to production.
- Search for possible measured parts.
- Application administration: setting permissions for individual application users, administration of the lists vehicle model list, list of the types of measured parts, list of measuring machines.

After the initial analysis, we identified the three major user roles of the proposed system:

- Production and logistics staff.
- Measurement center staff.
- Administrators.

The main data model of the application is depicted in the Fig. 5. There are also more tables in the database that provide the functionalities of the user accounts management and roles support.



Fig. 5. Data model of the proposed solution

There are two main views that will provide the required functionality and one view for administrator that will manage lists. The first view is dedicated to the Production and Logistics staff as well as the staff of the Measurement center. All staff is able to view the current measurement plan for the particular day or week and set the status of individual measurements. This view also provides the alerts when the measurement plan has been changed.

The second view is dedicated for the staff of the Measurement center and provides the functionality to define and modify the measurement plan, search in existing records and lists. Users can create alerts displayed to the Production and Logistics staff at first view. We developed this application using Visual Studio 2017, the ASP.NET Core MVC framework [6] as the framework for web applications development. It leverages the MVC (Model-View-Controller) architecture [7]. We used Microsoft SQL Server 2014 database server. From programming languages, we used C#, HTML, CSS, ASP.NET, JavaScript and jQuery, DataTables and Bootstrap libraries.

## 5 Evaluation

To evaluate the proposed solution, we chose three key performance indicators (KPIs) [8]:

- The time needed to create, approve, and distribute the measurement plan (KPI I): currently, this time can climb to more than 3 h. We will consider the application to be successful if this time is reduced by at least 30%.
- The time in which the Stage area is filled in case of an operational change of the measurement plan (KPI II): when a delay occurs at present if there is a delay of approximately 2 h, this space will be filled within one hour. We expect the application to be successful if this delay time is reduced by at least 30%, but it is best to avoid filling the Stage area.
- The time for which the Stage area is emptied in case of an operational change of the measurement plan (KPI III): at the present time, if the measurement is completed approximately 2 h earlier, this space begins to be emptied for up to two hours, as determined by the original plan. We will consider the application as successful if the Stage area is emptied within half an hour after the measured parts are delivered to this space.

# 6 Testing and Evaluation

Application testing took place in a simulated environment of the Measuring center for a period of three weeks. During the testing, the application was deployed to a test server where it was evaluated by chosen employees of the Measurement center. Server deployment, testing, and communications with the Measurement center has been provided by the company BSP Applications. The whole testing process took place in the form of Black-Box testing.

The first phase of the test trials lasted approximately two weeks. During this phase, we focused mostly on the detection of errors that would cause the application to crash, to specify the functionalities that would be missed in the real environment of the Measurement center by its end users.

The second phase of testing lasted approximately one week and this phase was mainly focused on tracking and estimating times for the predefined KPIs. User requirements were met, as the solution provided all the required functionalities and interfaces. KPI were evaluated by the staff of the Measurement center. Staff members were involved in a set of simulated processes and we measured the particular KPIs in several trial runs. The evaluation results proved that the KPI I was fulfilled as the expected time was peaking at 1 h 45 min, which represents the time reduction of 40% (30% planned). KPI II and KPI III metrics were tested in scenarios of the measurement delay of 2 h. During the simulations, the KPI II times were reduced by 40% and KPI III times by 70%.

# 7 Conclusion

The test results clearly indicate that the application met all user requirements and its measured performance based on predefined key performance indicators exceeds the expected results by at least 40% in each of these indicators. For this reason, we

consider the solution to be successful and we can recommend that the solution is ready to be deployed to the real environment of the Measurement centers. In the future, it is possible to add the possibility of displaying images for individual types of cars in an aesthetic and design aspect. Also, it is recommended to extend the possibility of exporting weekly templates and plans to the SharePoint corporate environment as well as the possibility of sending SMS and emails with notifications in case of an operative change in the currently running weekly schedule.

Acknowledgements. The work presented in this paper was supported by the Slovak VEGA research grant 1/0493/16, Slovak APVV research grant APVV-16-0213 and Slovak KEGA grant 025TUKE-4/2015.

# References

- 1. Rae, J.B., Binder, A.K.: Automotive Industry | Britannica.com. https://www.britannica.com/ topic/automotive-industry
- SARIO I Slovak Investment and Trade Development Agency: Automotive Sector in Slovakia (2016). http://www.sario.sk/sites/default/files/content/files/sario-automotive-sectorin-slovakia-2017-03-02.pdf
- 3. Production Statistics | OICA. http://www.oica.net/category/production-statistics/
- Soković, M., Pavletić, D., Kern-Pipan, K.: Quality improvement methodologies PDCA cycle, RADAR matrix, DMAIC and DFSS. J. Achiev. Mater. Manuf. Eng. 43, 476–483 (2010)
- 5. White, S.A.: Introduction to BPMN (2004)
- 6. Freeman, A.: Pro ASP.NET Core MVC, 6th edn. Apress, New York (2016). ISBN 978-1-4842-0397-2
- 7. Galloway, J., et al.: Professional ASP.NET MVC 5. Wiley, Indianapolis (2014). ISBN 978-1-118-79475-3
- 8. Weber, A.: Maintenance Key Performance Indicators Introduction (2005). www.ivara.com
- Indulska, M., et al.: Business process modeling: current issues and future challenges. In: The 21st International Conference on Advanced Information Systems, 8–12 June 2009, Amsterdam, The Netherlands (2009)
- Recker, J., et al.: Business process modeling a comparative analysis. J. Assoc. Inf. Syst. 10(4), 333–363 (2009)

# Ergonomics Analysis in the Context of a Digital Factory

Dariusz Plinta<sup>(IM)</sup> and L'uboslav Dulina

Production Engineering Department, University of Bielsko-Biala, Bielsko-Biala, Poland {dplinta,ldulina}@ath.bielsko.pl

**Abstract.** The paper deals with possibilities of using ergonomics analyses in the area of a digital factory with the focus on the load on the human musculoskeletal system. The emphasis is put on results of research aimed at connecting simulation software with inertial and optical MoCap systems. The importance of such analyses is to achieve the most exact estimation of consequences on human health, already within the stage when the work systems design begins. The paper comprises theoretical starting points, results of laboratory verification and results of realisation outputs.

Keywords: Ergonomics · Digital factory · Production systems

## 1 Introduction

One of the basic elements of the assembly system is the operator and his or her workforce. The workforce is the sum of our physical and mental abilities. The aim of ergonomics is to adapt human workplaces, thus optimising all the physiological and psychological aspects of the work. The concept of ergonomics first appeared after the Second World War in 1949, when it was defined as a new branch of science dealing with the whole complexity of relations: man - technology - working environment. Ergonomics is a classical interdisciplinary science that uses knowledge of anthropometry, occupational medicine, physiology and hygiene, biomedicine, psychology, sociology, labour education, labour law, philosophy and other disciplines. In terms of the application of ergonomics, we distinguish two basic approaches [1]:

- Reactive ergonomics focused on the evaluation of the existing system. The
  evaluation result is a selection of the risks in the work process and a proposal of
  new measures to eliminate or reduce their harmful effects on human beings at work,
- Proactive ergonomics this is the application of ergonomics' principles in the design and development of future products, departments, systems, installations, but also of the entire factories. The aim is to eliminate shortcomings in terms of ergonomics at the proposal stage.

Work is a goal-seeking human activity resulting in immediate or potential benefits. From the physiological point of view, it is an activity involving muscles and nerves, which can be made on the basis of the stored energy. The energy is consumed during

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_29

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

physical work, and information - in sensory or mental work. During work, certain load is applied to the operator, which can be divided into physical, mental and sensory load. Depending on the type of work the operator performs, a particular part of the human body is mainly affected. However, all three types of load influence the body simultaneously [21]. Ergonomics provides a number of rules and recommendations how to design a workplace so that it is harmless to health and does not cause health problems to the operator even in older age. There are several procedures that should be considered when designing a workplace, for example: [20]

- 1. Selection of a worker (gender, age, size restrictions such as: max. height).
- 2. Determination of prevailing working position (standing, sitting).
- 3. Proposal of workplace layout based on the size and weight of the product, number of operations, assembly process and joining technologies, appropriate technologies, the number and size of machinery and equipment, and physical and psychological load on the operator.

Basic principles of ergonomics in the workplace are connected with [6, 22]:

- working position,
- physiology,
- repetitive movements,
- excessive force,
- hand tools,
- lighting,
- noise,
- temperature,
- humidity, etc.

In developed countries, an increasing importance is nowadays attached to proper design of manufacturing and assembly systems as well as their ergonomics site. Proper design needs information about what the operator will do at a particular workplace, and how he or she will perform the activities. Design and assessment of spatial arrangement of workplaces, as well as design of ergonomically correct tools and machines, must take into account dimensions and power capabilities of the human body. Anthropometry is a science that specifies average values of body parts in a given geographic area. This discipline of science provides the designer with dimensional data, possible load and mobility of the human body parts which must be respected in the design of production and assembly systems [8].

Optimal workplace areas and manipulation space, optimum working plane height for sitting and standing, handling and pedipulation space, etc. are defined on the basis of the aforementioned dimensions [2, 3].

#### 2 Current Opportunities of Supporting Workplace Design

Thanks to the development of technology, methods of workplace design have significantly changed. The biggest changes have occurred in the last twenty years. The rapid development of computer technologies and advanced software solutions support the area of design and allow for testing things in a virtual environment. This way it is possible to save considerable funds for prototyping and implementing corrective actions caused by wrong decisions. Extending modern technology usage to almost all areas of business activities has led to defining the concept of a digital factory.

A digital factory is a broad and rapidly changing notion, therefore, there are no precise definitions. Various authors give their views and opinions on this concept. If we generalise them, we can say that a digital factory is a virtual view of manufacturing and production systems, processes and resources for the purpose of design, planning, testing and optimisation [4, 5].

This concept is one of the newest approaches used in industrial production. Its applications are now limited due to high acquisition costs. It is mainly used in the auto-motive, electronics and aerospace industries. Virtual reality has become an area of great dynamism of development and new applications. Over the last few years it has found usage mainly in companies that operate within high technology business.

If a digital factory is "alive" and working properly, it offers rapid feedback to the planning, analysis and optimisation of production based on multifunctional team results. The importance of the concept of digital factory is shown in Fig. 1. It shows the differences between real and virtual verification in the change of costs and possibility of its implementation.



Fig. 1. Importance of digital factory

If we want to optimise current workplaces in a virtual environment, we must have 3D models of all important workplace elements. The problem often is that these 3D models do not exist because 3D design is a new approach. If parts of the workplace are not very complicated, the situation is not problematic. Problems appear when we want to measure complicated or huge components or we have to measure a large number of them. In such a case, we should use reverse engineering techniques.

Reverse engineering covers methods dealing with transfer of physical objects dimensions into a 3D model. This is made with the aim to make further adjustments more quickly and efficiently. This type of modification in the final physical model is currently the fastest and cheapest method, especially if adjustments are very extensive [13, 15] (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Mannequins in working postures

The software provides several options for adjusting working postures. It is possible to use a library with 30 basic postures and 27 basic grips. Alternatively, it is possible to modify these basic postures in several ways. The program enables to adjust the mannequin posture to the last fingertip. When the posture is set, it is possible to evaluate the visual field, view the cone for one or both eyes or evaluate reach-zones of the operator based on several rules [18].

All well-known ergonomics analyses as OWAS, RULA, NIOSH, Low Back Analysis, Static Strength Prediction or MTM can be found in Technomatrix software in Task Analysis Toolkid. For example, RULA is an analysis which does not give specific advice how to change the work procedure. It is designed for quick assessment of a working posture and determination whether it will be necessary to use more detailed analysis of the evaluated work. An OWAS-based analysis shows us the four-digit code indicating the back position, hands position, feet position and load level for the selected working posture and shows the result of corrective recommendations [23].

As for software solutions, there are more alternatives. The first alternative are simple 3D model viewers that are able to display a 3D image. The second alternative is software programmed primarily for the CAVE environment, as, e.g. VDP developed by the company ICIDO. These software products are very costly. The third alternative are graphic programs which are able to general stereo display. These programs include also modules of Technomatrix Teamcenter Visualization Mockup and Jack. They contain various display settings to display a stereo image [12].

## 3 Proposals of Supporting a Workplace Ergonomics Analysis

#### 3.1 Detailed Design Using Tecnomatix Jack

The use of the tracking technologies and Tecnomatix Jack presented in the previous chapter, can significantly shorten the time of creating an animation and of dynamic load evaluation. They can save hours of time when evaluating longer movements, because we do not have to create movement manually. We can create it thanks to saving our own movements.

These technologies do not always work properly, but they are rapidly developing. We believe that in the future this type of operator load evaluation will be common and often used.

Assembly is a collection of activities aimed at creating a functional unit (machine, equipment, etc.) by means of joining various components. It is usually the last stage of production, followed by functional testing. It has a decisive impact not only on quality and reliability of products, but also on productivity and efficiency of the whole assembly and production system. The assembly of difficult products is still manual work even in the automotive or mechanical industries. Therefore, it is necessary to ensure suitable working conditions during assembly workstations design.

When the operator manipulates a hand tool or another object (e.g. a drilling ma-chine) in an incorrect way many times per day, it can cause serious health problems. That is the reason why we have to know how to measure the load.

Tecnomatix Jack is one of the several software packages that allows to evaluate load of the operator during work or assembly. For load evaluation we can use several well-known ergonomics analyses, each of which has a special menu and a possibility of entering different data. For example, OWAS of RULA evaluates a working posture only. When we add load to the figure in evaluating posture the results will not change. But there are other analyses that change the results very significantly when load is added.

We can add load into this program in two ways. The first way is to add the weight of bur in kilograms. In this way, the direction of loading always aims downward. The second way is to add a load vector. We can specify x, y, z coordinates of this vector and the load level is defined in newtons. These variants can be seen in the figure above.

As has been already said, this load significantly changes results of ergonomics analyses. We can see it in Fig. 3 where the same situation, at first without load, (the operator is bending down to the bur) and then again with load of 15 kg (operator is lifting a 15 kg heavy object) is compared. In this working sequence, the operator is lifting a work piece and then he is flattening it at the worktable.

#### 3.2 Load Measurement Using ErgoPAK

When we solve a real project, we have no problems to detect real weight of components or work pieces, but there is a problem how to detect a real load while pushing or pulling something [14].

There are several possibilities how to measure this load. One of them is ErgoPAK. It is a tool kit for collecting and analysing data under real job conditions. It can measure force, velocity and also angle. It has few sensors that can measure pushing or pulling. Each sensor is calibrated independently and has a wireless hub with eight ports so you can use more sensors at the same time. For collecting and processing data, it is necessary to install special, very user-friendly ErgoPak data acquisition software [23].

ErgoPAK tool kit includes the following sensors:

- A handle sensor for measuring push or pull for both hands,
- A handle sensor for measuring push or pulling for one hand,



Fig. 3. Comparison of loading with and without bur

- one finger sensor for measuring push,
- two finger sensors for measuring push,
- a "mushroom" sensor for measuring push of the whole hand,
- gyroscopes for angle measuring,
- accelerometers for measuring acceleration,
- a special glove with four push sensors measuring each finger independently (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. ErgoPAK tool kit

This device is able to capture one hundred elevations per second. It means that we get about one thousand values in ten seconds. Push values are captured in positive numbers and pull values are captured in negative numbers. In Fig. 5 we can see a sample of the pushcart pulled with two hand handles. In the graph we can see push forces at four fingers and pull force needed for moving the pushcart.



Fig. 5. Pulling a pushcart - measured values

It is very important to know the right load values especially in the assembly processes where the same movements are repeated very often. Because when they have some harmful influences they can cause serious health problems. This part describes possibility of measuring push and pull forces in working and assembly processes using the ErgoPAK tool kit and of using these values in load evaluation. This evaluation can be also done in many other ways. We will present load evaluation by means of ergonomics analyses in Tecnomatix Jack software as an example of many possibilities [24].

#### 3.3 Arrangement of Proposals and Choice of the Final Proposal

When the user is surrounded by a virtual environment and can see displayed elements of the future workplace in the real dimensions, he or she can very exactly imagine the work space and reveal possible limitations and disadvantages of components arrangement. Individual software packages also offer tools for detecting collisions, generating outreach zones and many other ergonomics analyses, using which we can efficiently and quickly assess the proposal of component placement in the workplace. Thanks to these tools we arrange the placement of basic components in the workplace and specify their precise dimensions. If there is no CAVE environment at our disposal, we can make arrangements with the support of a 3D projector or a 3D monitor [11, 17] (Fig. 6).


Fig. 6. Placement of components in the workplace using the CAVE

HMD displays can also be used for displaying individual variants in the virtual environment and for supporting the decision making process. In the past, these devices were relatively defective; however, at present they offer convincing experience and are visibly smaller. Currently, one of the best solutions is the glassed Oculus Rift developed by Oculus VR®. The company started selling the first version of glasses under the name "Development Kit" and is currently offering a new version with HD resolution. The company also offers accessible development environment and users can test new possibilities of the device and prepare their own applications [7].

The device contains a gyroscope; thus it can interactively react to head movements and automatically recalculates an image in the displays as if the user moved his/her head also in a virtual environment [19]. The device is connected via HDMI or a DVI cable and is considered to be an external monitor. When the device is used, the monitors have to be set to image cloning. This is the reason why the generated image can be seen also on the monitor screen. There are two separate windows with a shifted image. 3D impression and immersion into a virtual environment can be achieved only with the support of a HMD device [16].

If all the proposals for the workplace arrangement have been optimised in the previous design step, we choose the best variant. With more complex projects it is necessary to take into account different aspects of proposals and, therefore, a multimember team is to be created. The decision-making team consists mostly of the project team members, but it is possible to add a specialist from a particular area of activity. The resultant variant then moves to the stage of detailed design, in which a detailed



Fig. 7. View of the future workplace using AR in 1:1 scale

placement of all – also less important – workplace elements is done: placement of tools, visual management, maintenance, working and assembly procedures, etc. (Fig. 7).

This variant can be visualised before the detailed design phase with the use of AR in real size and real position in a layout where it will be placed in the future. Such a display can be used as visualisation of the final concept solution presented to company management, etc. [9, 10].

#### 4 Conclusions

In the time of rapid changes in demand, it is necessary to flexibly react to customer requirements. Thus, it is necessary to rebuild and change the existing working and assembly workstations. Modern information technologies and software solutions offer a range of possibilities to try new ways how to design or evaluate a workstation. We have introduced one possible software solution Tecnomatix Jack and its features in the CAVE environment. The aim was to design and implement the CAVE environment with the possibility of special use of Tecnomatix Jack software. The new solution was adding plug-in for possible cooperation between the CAVE and Tecnomatix Jack. To be able to implement the new solution, we suggest using Kinect for Windows devices.

These technologies are not without defects or disadvantages, but they are constantly developing. The assumption is that these technologies will become more and more common and widely used. They will be very helpful because already the current versions shorten the time of the design process and significantly reduce costs.

#### References

- Bartánusová, M., Dulina, Ľ.: Research in the field of ergonomics within the digital factory concept. In: Transcom 2013, pp. 31–34. EDIS, Žilina (2013). ISBN 978-80-554-0695-4
- Dulina, Ľ., Bartánusová, M.: Ergonomics and preventive medicine in companies in the Slovak Republic and EU. In: Ergonomics 2013, pp. 81–86. Croatian Ergonomics Society, Zagreb (2013). ISSN 1848-9699
- Furmann, R., Furmannová, B., Więcek, D.: Interactive design of reconfigurable logistics systems. Procedia Eng. 192, 207–212 (2017). ISSN: 1877-7058
- Gregor, T., Krajčovič, M., Więcek, D.: Smart connected logistics. Procedia Eng. 192, 265– 270 (2017). ISSN: 1877-7058
- Gregor, M., et al.: Digital Factory (in Slovak), 1st edn, pp. 1–148. Slovenské centrum produktivity, Žilina (2006). ISBN 80-969391-5-7
- 6. Hatiar, K.: Ergonomics and Its Use in Practice (in Slovak). EKOVYS, Bratislava (2003). ISBN 80-968689-2-6
- Hovanec, M., Sinay, J., Pačaiová, H.: Application of proactive ergonomics utilizing digital plant methods based on augmented reality as a tool improving prevention for employees. In: International Symposium on Occupational Safety and Hygiene, 13–14 February 2014, Guimares, Portugal, pp. 182–185 (2014). ISBN: 978-989-98203-2-6
- Kall, F.: Appraisal of workplaces using modern ergonomics solutions. In: Advanced Industrial Engineering. Wydawnictwo Fundacji Centrum Nowych Technologii, Bielsko-Biała, pp. 81–92 (2013). ISBN 978-83-927531-6-2

- Kall, F., Bartánusová, M.: Using tracking systems for ergonomics analysis. In: Transcom 2013, Machines and Equipment. Applied Mechanics, Section 6, pp. 157–160 (2013). ISBN 978-80-554-0695-4
- Kall, F., Krajčovič, M., Hnát, J.: Tracking systems in ergonomics. In: InvEnt 2014 Industrial Engineering Navigating the Future, Žilina (2014). ISBN 978-80-554-0879-8
- Korba, P., Pil'a, J., Sabo, J., Antoško, M.: The use of CAX systems as a tool to reduce the economic costs in the aviation industry. In: SGEM 2014: 14th International Multi-disciplinary Scientific Geoconference: GeoConference on Informatics, Geoinformatics and Remote Sensing: Conference Proceedings, 17–26 June 2014, Albena, Bulgaria, Sofia, vol. 1, pp. 385–392. STEF92 Technology Ltd. (2014). ISBN 978-619-7105-10-0 (2014)
- Krajčovič, M., et al.: Intelligent manufacturing systems in concept of digital factory. Commun. Sci. Lett. Univ. Žilina 15(2), 77–87 (2013). ISSN 1335-4205
- Krajčovič, M., Furmann R.: Modern approach of 3D layout design. In: Transcom 2011: 9-th European Conference of Young Research and Scientific Workers, pp. 43–46. EDIS, Žilina (2011). ISBN 978-80-554-0370-0
- Kupka, M., Hulín, M.: Progressive approach to analyses of assembly process. Produktivita (4), 18–19 (2005). (in Slovak), ISSN 1335-5961
- Kurkin, O., Polášek, P., Görner, T., Hořejší, P.: Virtual reality using in industry. AI Mag. 2013(1), 58–61 (2013). (in Czech), ISSN 1337-7612
- 16. Magdech, M.: Support of simultaneous projection of productions systems with reverse engineering application (in Slovak). Dissertation, University of Žilina, Žilina (2011)
- Mičieta, B., Biňasová, V., Haluška, M.: Reconfigurable Manufacturing System and Sustainable Production: Reconfigurable Manufacturing System as the Right Way to Achieving Sustainable and Energy Efficient Production. 1st edn., 86 p. LAP LAMBERT Academic Publishing, Saarbrücken (2014). ISBN 978-3-659-59101-3
- Mičieta, B., Dulina, Ľ., Smutna, M.: New approach of ergonomics workplace design. In: 22nd International DAAAM Symposium, p. 303, DAAAM International Vienna, Vienna (2011). ISSN 1726-9679
- Mirandová, G., Krajčovič, M.: Use of augmented reality in industrial engineering. In: Transcom 2011, pp. 193–196. University of Žilina (2013). ISBN 978-80-554-0370-0
- Mleczko, J., Mičieta, B., Dulina, E.: Identification of bottlenecks in the unit of make-to-order production. Appl. Comput. Sci. 9(2), 43–56 (2013). Lublin University of Technology, Lublin, ISSN 1895-3735
- 21. Sablik, J.: Ergonomics. SVŠT, Bratislava (1990). (in Slovak), ISBN 80-227-0299-4
- 22. Slamková, E., Dulina, Ľ., Tabakova, M.: Ergonomics in Industry. 1st edn. Georg, Žilina (2010). (in Slovak), ISBN 978-80-89401-09-3
- Smutná, M., Dulina, Ľ.: Selecting software product as a support tool ergonomics. In: InvEnt 2012, pp. 148–151. EDIS, Žilina (2012). ISBN 978-80-554-0542-1
- Smutná, M., Dulina, Ľ.: Advanced access to detailed workplaces design using the principles of ergonomics. In: Ergonomics 2013, pp. 81–86. Croatian Ergonomics Society, Zagreb (2013). ISSN 1848-9699 (2013)

# Multiple Criteria Decision Support System for Making the Best Manufacturing Technologies Choice and Assigning Contractors

Joanna Gąbka and Grzegorz Filcek<sup>(\BD)</sup>

Wrocław University of Science and Technology, 27 Wybrzeże Wyspiańskiego St., 50-370 Wrocław, Poland {Joanna.Gabka, Grzegorz.Filcek}@pwr.edu.pl

Abstract. The article presents a conceptual framework of Multiple Criteria Decision Support System for choosing technology and contractors. It consists of two modules which conduct the decision process in two phases. The first one equipped in Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP) method indicates which technology has a priority for a given part to be produced. The solution space contains Addictive Manufacturing, Conventional Manufacturing, and the combination of both. The second phase aids decision-maker in the NP-hard problem which is choosing the best (in multiple criteria sense) configuration of contractors to the order realization with the technologies suggested theretofore. For this phase, a mathematical model and problem formulation are presented. The solution applied for the first phase was tested on the example of data extracted from a real order giving promising results. For the second phase, a solution procedure is proposed, which involves usage of metaheuristic (NSGA II algorithm) and the reference point method. The research for this approach is not a subject of this paper.

**Keywords:** Decision support systems · Additive manufacturing technologies · Multi-criteria analysis · Multi-criteria optimization · AHP · NSGA II

### 1 Introduction

The recent research and trends in the industry indicate that there is a noticeable trend towards Additive Manufacturing (AM) technologies. It is visible that it over crossed its root domain which was single part production for very individual purposes like in medical implants and now it is seriously considered or already used in serial production. The insight in reports and analysis [1–6] regarding dynamic of development in this field indicates that there are particular obstacles in their faster and more extensive deployment with a positive impact on the economy. This is a lack of appropriate support of decision processes and deficiency of new business models. The popularization of 3D technologies naturally causes new challenges in the field of production engineering. The Solid Free Fabrication processes often do not lead to making final goods, so they have to be integrated with conventional processing. Moreover, there

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_30

appears a very complicated decision process for executive leaders who have to indicate which elements of workflow has to be redesigned and shifted to the Additive Manufacturing field. It can be either particular machine stands, a group of products or series of products/parts. Despite the type of dilemma cost is always a key factor in this kind of analysis. For small and medium enterprises which do not have such an investment potential as big corporations, it might be crucial to find new business models enforcing cooperation. Producing within manufacturing networks or clusters, they may diversify the range of their technologies including different types of AM technologies nowadays still relatively expensive despite the increasing popularity.

During the next ten years, there may occur significant changes in the organization of production process surprising those who stacked in the traditional manufacturing paradigms. The history seems to come full circle. The products have been produced in accordance with the individual customer order and tailored to meet his needs [7]. Today we can talk about getting into the age of mass customization thanks to the exponential development of AM technologies. It enables manufacturing of customized products on the mass scale simultaneously dispersing production systems and creating well-communicating network of small production units.

The article contains the concept of Multiple Criteria Decision Support System (MCDSS) equipped with the appropriate algorithms and procedures which enable to make decisions on two levels. First one leads to making a choice regarding the best technology of production for components consisted in a given order. In this phase, the system suggests whether the part should be produced with conventional manufacturing (CM), additive manufacturing or a mix of both technologies AM and CM. While in the second phase the designed application suggests the best combination of contractors who could realize the order using the technologies suggested accordingly for each element in the first phase.

## 2 Multi-criteria Analysis Method Dedicated for MCDSS

The crucial aspect of the effectiveness of MCDSS is applying and tailoring the appropriate algorithm and reasoning rules corresponding to the type of problem to be solved. In the analyzed case it was obvious that the befitting multi-criteria approach has to be applied. It was necessary to take into consideration fact that choosing between AM and CM technologies requires the participation of experts team where design engineer, process engineer, and AM expert has to be involved. Moreover, some of the given criteria are more qualitative than quantitative, which makes the evaluation process even harder. Having this aspects in mind a multi-criteria decision analysis (MCDA) method called AHP (analytic hierarchy process) was applied in the first phase of the decision process. The method developed by Saaty [8] is based on making judgments by pairwise comparisons of elements composed hierarchically. The conclusion is made by establishing the preference relation, together with its degree between elements. Based on this knowledge, the ranking of variants are calculated. The method can be described by the following procedure:

**Step 1.** Describing the problem in hierarchical way containing decision goal (in this case the best manufacturing technology for the process is being chosen), the alternative variants of the problem solution and criteria for evaluating alternatives.

In this step, the tree picturing hierarchy is built. The top element which is the main goal is followed by the criteria and sub-criteria placed in the chosen order. It is recommended that each element has no more than 5-7 sub-elements so that each node of the tree has no more than 5-7 children. This assumption results from the limited ability to make consistent judgments by a human being.

**Step 2.** Establishing relations between elements of the hierarchy by making a series of judgments based on pairwise comparisons of them. The judgments are made by pairwise comparisons of sub-elements against the element (sub-criteria, criteria or main goal). The judgments establish the preference relation of one element against the other. The relation degree is expressed using scale suggested by Saaty in [8], where the main values used are 1, 3, 5, 7, 9 to express the degree, where 1 corresponds to equal importance of the elements, 3 – weak preference, 5 – moderate preference, 7 – very strong preference, 9 – extreme preference. The even numbers can also be used to reflect the semi degrees of the main ones. The opposite relation is also used if the second element is more preferred then the first, then inverse numbers are used, i.e., 1/3, 1/5, 1/7, 1/9 (and if necessary 1/2, 1/4. 1/6, 1/8).

**Step 3.** Checking consistency of the judgments (if necessary, the consistency has to be corrected). The calculation of consistency is used to check if expert judging elements gives coherent information. From judgments, for each hierarchy element (except solution alternatives) a "comparison matrix" is build (it consists of numbers reflecting the degree of preference relation between elements), which then is normalized. Based on the own value of the matrix and "random index" value, a "consistency index" is calculated. If its value is greater than 0,1, it is assumed that the judgment is inconsistent, and should be amended.

**Step 4.** Calculating local priorities of elements for each hierarchy level on the base of judgments. To compute the local priorities of the elements, the normalized "comparison matrix" is used.

**Step 5.** Calculating the final overall priorities of the alternatives. The final overall priorities of the alternatives are calculated using local priorities and hierarchy structure of the model.

The AHP method is a great tool for ranking alternatives when more than one expert is involved in the evaluation process. Each expert may have his own set of criteria composed in the hierarchy, that he uses for evaluation. The main expert may set priorities of the experts' judgments explicit or by using pairwise comparisons. The resulting priorities take into account the opinion of every expert involved.

# 3 Dedicated Multiple Criteria Decision Support System

It is very important to systematize and rationalize decision process regarding the type of technology that should be used in the production of each part from a given order. The decision process is very complex due to the extensive criterion collection and their different weight depending on the analyzed case, expert competence scope, knowledge, and preferences. Once the decision regarding the best way of producing given part is made in the next step, the appropriate resources for the process have to be found. Since the AM technologies still belong to a group of new or being developed in the industry it is recommended to realize orders with their usage within manufacturing networks or cluster which integrate many production units having at disposal diversified technologies and machines. This in turn also require the application of an MCDSS to find the best configuration of Virtual Organization which will be most profitable realizing particular order. Here the list of criteria is quite standard (time, cost, risk, quality) but there is a significant number of possible combinations in solution space which induces designing an appropriate method of their search.

The conceptual framework of MCDSS which would answer the need of straightening and formalizing the decision procedure in described scope is presented in Figs. 1 and 2. Module 1 of the developed MCDSS executes the first phase of the decision process when it is necessary to prioritize conventional manufacturing (CM) methods (machining) and Additive Manufacturing. The collection was divided into four categories:



Fig. 1. The conceptual framework of MCDSS for choosing technology - Phase I.

- 1. The factors resulting from design process (time, cost, risk),
- 2. Cost of material,
- 3. The factors connected with production process (risk of delay, insufficient quality, cost, time),
- 4. The factors that are tied to the machine (the risk of breakdown, the cost of utilization, the risk of insufficient quality).



Phase II – Decision regarding choice of production entities

Fig. 2. The conceptual framework of MCDSS for choosing contractors - Phase II.

The engine of the reasoning in *Phase I* is AHP (Analytic Hierarchy Process) method. The solution space consists of the three options: Conventional Manufacturing, Additive Manufacturing and the combination of both CM and AM.

*Phase II* consists of assigning work to the contractors taking into consideration optimal time, cost, risk, quality for the entire order, fitting their competencies with technologies which are the best for the process (according to priorities obtained in Phase I). In the initial phase of building the MCDSS system, it will not be able to divide work necessary for producing one component between different contractors.

## 4 Mathematical Model for the Decision Problem in Phase II

Let us denote the following notation referring to the main elements of the model:

#### Contractors

Let us denote by  $Q = \{1, 2, ..., Q\}$  a set of contractors numbers, where Q is the number of all contractors available. With each contractor, a processing capacity, and a level of risk characteristic are bounded and given by vectors  $\mathbf{PC} = [PC_q]_{q \in O}$ , and

 $\mathbf{CR} = [CR_q]_{q \in Q}$ , respectively, where  $PC_q \in N$  is the processing capacity, and  $CR_q \in [0, 1]$  is the risk inherent with processes realized by the contractor q.

#### Orders

Let us denote by  $P = \{1, 2, ..., P\}$  a set of orders numbers to be assigned to the contractors, where *P* is the number of all orders. With each order, a number of processing capacity required, and minimal quality are connected and represented by vectors  $\mathbf{V} = [V_p]_{p \in P}$ , and  $\mathbf{Q}^{\min} = [Q_p^{\min}]_{p \in P}$ , respectively, where  $V_p \in N$  is the number of processing capacity required for realization of order *p*, and  $Q_p^{\min} \in N$  is the minimal order realization quality needed for the order *p*.

#### **Technologies**

The orders may be realized in different technologies denoted by the set  $T = \{1, 2, ..., T\}$ , where T is the number of all technologies specified.

The technology chosen as the best for each order is given by a matrix  $\mathbf{TN} = [TN_{p,t}]_{p \in P, t \in T}$ , where  $TN_{p,t} = 1(0)$  if the technology *t* is the best for order *p* (otherwise). From the other hand, each contractor has some experience with each technology, which reflects matrix  $\mathbf{Q}^{\mathbf{L}} = [Q_{q,t}^{L}]_{q \in Q, t \in T}$ , where  $Q_{q,t}^{L} \in N$  is the level of quality in which contractor *q* realizes orders in technology *t*. Contractors may have different wages for one processing capacity unit used for order realization in a given technology, which is treated as unit costs and given in matrix  $\mathbf{C} = [C_{q,t}]_{q \in Q, t \in T}$ , where  $Q_{q,t \in R_+}$  is the unit cost of realization of one unit of processing capacity in technology *t* by contractor *q*.

#### Decision Variables

Let us introduce the following binary decision variable representing the assignment of orders to the contractors, and given by matrix  $\mathbf{x} = [x_{p,q}]_{p \in \mathbf{P}, q \in \mathbf{Q}}$ .  $(x_{p,q} = 1(0)$  if the order p is assigned to the contractor q (otherwise)).

#### **Constraints**

The constraints imposed on the decision variable are as follows:

All the orders must be assigned to exactly one contractor

$$\forall_{p \in \mathbf{P}} \sum_{q \in \mathbf{Q}} \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}} = 1.$$
(1)

The production capacities of any contractor cannot be exceeded

$$\forall_{q \in \mathcal{Q}} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} x_{p,q} V_p \le PC_q.$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

The minimal order realization quality for each order must be reached

$$\forall_{p \in \mathbf{P}} \sum_{q \in \mathbf{Q}} \sum_{t \in \mathbf{T}} x_{p,q} \mathcal{Q}_{q,t}^L T N_{p,t} \ge \mathcal{Q}_p^{\min}.$$
(3)

#### **Objectives**

The evaluation of the decision is made with the use of the following criteria:

The total orders realization quality

$$TQ = \sum_{p \in P} \sum_{q \in Q} \sum_{t \in T} x_{p,q} Q_{q,t}^L TN_{p,t}.$$
(4)

The total orders realization risk

$$TR = \sum_{p \in P} \sum_{q \in Q} x_{p,q} CR_q.$$
(5)

Total orders realization cost

$$TPC = \sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}} \sum_{q \in \mathbf{Q}} \sum_{t \in \mathbf{T}} \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}} C_{q, t} TN_{p, t}.$$
(6)

This is the most standard and basic criteria set that can be used to the contractor's evaluation. In the future, it can be developed with more elements such as the experience of the contractor in cooperation, the level of pro-ecological politics implemented in production and many others specific to a given industry.

#### **Problem Formulation**

For the given data: *P*, *Q*, *T*, **PC**, **CR**, **V**, **Q**<sup>min</sup>, **TN**, **Q**<sup>L</sup>, **C** obtain values of decision variable  $\mathbf{x}^*$  with respect to constraints (1)–(3), which minimizes the vector of objectives  $\mathbf{J}(\mathbf{x}) = [-TQ, TR, TPC]$ , i.e.  $\mathbf{x}^* = \arg \min \mathbf{J}(\mathbf{x})$ .

The problem considered is a hard multi-criteria optimization problem. To solve it, we propose first to find a Pareto front of non-dominated solutions and then to choose one of them, which is the closest (in the sense of Chebyshev distance) to the reference point [9] (provided by a decision-maker). Because, the problem is too hard to be solved efficiently with the conventional methods (problem is NP-hard, while it can be reduced to multi-criteria multiple knapsack problem), we propose to use evolutionary algorithm NSGA II [10] to approximate Pareto front. This algorithm has quite good performance in this types of problems [11]. The application of this algorithm will be tested and developed in future research.

#### 5 AHP Algorithm Verification

The procedures implemented in Phase I of the decision process were verified on the example of three chosen parts from the order that could be analyzed in the proposed system. Turbocharger (Fig. 3) used in automotive engines consist of the following components: 1 – Compressor Housing, 2 – Compressor impeller, 3 – Shaft, 4 – Bearing System, 5 – Centre Housing, 6 – Turbine Impeller, 7 – Turbine housing. Three components were analyzed in the proposed DSS system: Compressor Impeller, and Bearing system, Centre Housing. Figure 3 shows a fragment of the tree picturing criteria hierarchy and some of the results obtained during analysis made for Compressor Impeller.



Fig. 3. Turbocharger expanded view [12].

The results of the analysis made for each part are presented in Tables 1, 2 and 3. The most recommended technology chosen has the lowest number in a row called rank number. Results obtained for compressor impeller (Fig. 4, element 2) are pictured in Table 1. In this case, the combination of Additive Manufacturing and Conventional Manufacturing gained the highest priority. The result is quite realistic. Due to the fact that this kind of part has complex geometry which influences working parameters of the part, it is possible to improve some parameters producing the part in AM technology and final surface processing in Conventional technology.

Alternatives	CM (Conventional)	AM (Additive)	CM + AM
Priorities	0.120939869	0.40736482	0.471695311
Rank number	3	2	1

Table 1. AHP analysis results for compressor impeller.

Table 2 presents results of AHP analysis made for the bearing system (Fig. 4, element 4). In this variant of analysis, the conventional machining was suggested with the highest rank. The choice, in this case,, is also very rational because the part construction is quite simple and requires a significant amount of solid material. The production with AM technologies would not be economically reasonable while using metal powder in the production process.

Table 2. AHP analysis results for the bearing system.

Alternatives	CM (Conventional)	AM (Additive)	CM + AM
Priorities	0.649496547	0.169022064	0.18148139
Rank number	1	3	2

Table 3 contains results obtained for the centre housing (Fig. 4, element 5). Again the choice is very reasonable due to the part construction and its modifications that can be easily implemented while designing for production in AM technology.



Table 3. AHP analysis results for the centre housing.

Fig. 4. Fragment of tree build for AHP method showing chosen results as priorities of elements.

AM (Additive)

CM+AM

All the suggestions made in Phase 1 using AHP algorithm have technological justification so the algorithm verification may be acknowledged as a successful.

## 6 Summary

CM (Conventional)

The article presents the concept of a complex Multiple Criteria Decision Support System which was designed to work on two different levels. The first phase of its operation is based on AHP method which enables the involvement of experts in the decision process simultaneously making it more transparent than it is in a traditional environment without supporting applications. The tests made on the real order shows that the AHP implementation empowers the intelligence of designed system. The best technology for analyzed part production is suggested effectively. The second phase requires more thorough analysis which was presented in form of mathematical model. The proper choice of contractors for a given order realization will be made with the use of NSGA II algorithm, which approximates the Pareto front of non-dominated solutions. From the obtained set, the best one will be chosen based on the reference point method. This approach requires future testing to prove its accuracy in this application. The issue will be the subject of a future research.

## References

1. Brettel, M., Friederichsen, N., Keller, M., Rosenberg, M.: How virtualization, decentralization and network building change the manufacturing landscape: an industry 4.0 perspective. Int. J. Mech. Ind. Sci. Eng. **8**(1), 37–44 (2014)

- D'Aveni, R.: The 3-D Printing Revolution. Harvard Bussiness Review (2015). https://hbr. org/2015/05/the-3-d-printing-revolution
- 3. Ford, S.L.N.: Additive Manufacturing Technology: Potential Implications for US Manufacturing Competitiveness. Additive Manufacturing Technology (2014)
- 4. Garrett, B.: 3D printing: new economic paradigms and strategic shifts. Glob. Policy 5(1), 70–75 (2014)
- Pierrakakis, K., Charitini D., Gkritzali, K.M., Gritzalis, D.: 3D printing: a paradigm shift in political economy? In: Proceedings of the 65th International Studies Association's Annual Convention. Citeseer (2015)
- 6. Living Tomorrow. 3D printing a tool to empower the European economy. Opinion of the European Economic and Social Committee CCMI/131, Brussels (2015)
- Pawlak, A., Rosienkiewicz, M., Chlebus, E.: Design of experiments approach in AZ31 powder selective laser melting process optimization. Arch. Civil Mech. Eng. 17(1), 9–18 (2017)
- Saaty, T.L.: Decision making with the analytic hierarchy process. Int. J. Serv. Sci. 1(1), 83– 98 (2008)
- Ogryczak, W., Kozłowski, B.: Reference point method with importance weighted ordered partial achievements. TOP 19(2), 380–401 (2011)
- Deb, K., Agrawal, S., Pratab, A., Meyarivan, T.: A fast and elitist multiobjective genetic algorithm: NSGA-II. IEEE Trans. Evol. Comput. 6(2), 681–695 (2002)
- 11. Ishibuchi, H., Akedo, N., Nojima, Y.: Behavior of multi-objective evolutionary algorithms on many-objective knapsack problems. IEEE Trans. Evol. Comput. **19**(2), 264–283 (2015)
- 12. Kair, B., Sofos, K.: Additive manufacturing and production of metallic parts in automotive industry. Master thesis, KTH Royal Institute of Technology, p. 49 (2014)

# Sludge Volume Index (SVI) Modelling: Data Mining Approach

Bartosz Szeląg<sup>1(⊠)</sup>, Jarosław Gawdzik<sup>1</sup>, and Jan Studziński<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Kielce University of Technology, 25314 Kielce, Poland bszelag@tu.kielce.pl
<sup>2</sup> Polish Academy of Science, 01447 Warsaw, Poland

Abstract. In this paper, statistical models to forecast based on the sludge volume index (SVI) with the continuous measurements carried out in the period from 2013 to 2016 for waste water treatment Sitkowka-Nowiny was developed at the same, for two variants of analyses. In the first one, a model of SVI predicting based on the quality indicators of wastewater flowing into the treatment plant, i.e. Biochemical (BOD) and chemical oxygen demand (COD), the content of total nitrogen (TN) and ammonia nitrogen (NH<sub>4</sub>), total suspended solids, total phosphorus (TP) and the operating parameters of the bioreactor (pH, temperature, oxygen concentration in the nitrification chamber). In the second case, the possibility of replacing individual measurements of the quality of wastewater values calculated on the basis of daily sewage flows to the treatment plant was examined. The above mentioned models statistical analysis was performed using the method of k-nearest neighbor (k-NN), cascading neural network (CNN) and boosted tree (BT). To evaluate the predictive ability of these models the average relative error (MAE) and absolute error (MAPE) were used. The conducted analysis showed that based on the above mentioned indicators of effluent quality and technological parameters of the biological reactor it is possible to modeling of sediment volume index with satisfactory accuracy. In the case under consideration methods of lower values of the prediction error of SVI obtained using a cascade neural networks (MAE = 17.49 ml/g and MAPE = 9.80%) than for the method k-nearest neighbor (MAE = 27.85 ml/g and MAPE = 14.50%). Furthermore, based on the performed simulation, it was found that it is possible to model the analyzed work of the quality of waste water on the basis of the daily flow with reasonable accuracy, it is confirmed by the calculated value of the average and absolute and relative error, and the better ability predictive characterized by the models obtained on the basis CNN than k-NN. In examined cases, the MAP in a set of validation did not exceed 10.13%. The simulation results of quality indicators obtained by CNN were substituted in place of the explanatory variables of sludge volume index in the model for prediction index of sediment and conducted simulations SVI, set out the error MAE = 25.15 ml/g and MAPE = 15.26%. On this basis, it is possible to replace the measured values of the quality of the results of their simulation, thereby reducing the cost of testing, but also gives you continuous control of SVI and adjustments discussed in this work of technological parameters of the biological reactor.

Keywords: Sludge volume index  $\cdot$  Cascade neural network  $\cdot$  K-nearest neighbor method  $\cdot$  Wastewater treatment

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology –

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_31

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

### 1 Introduction

An effective method of communal sewage treatment is the biological treatment process using the activated sludge. Reaching the given level of pollution reduction depends then not only on the correctness of process planning and on the correct designing of process plan but also on the right operation of the treatment plant. The latter is not realizable without knowing the operational parameters of activated sludge chambers (ASC) and the sludge ability for sedimentation. This ability of activated sludge is calculated by means of Mohlman sediment volume index (SVI) which is defined as the quotient between the volume of sludge compressed by 30 min in one-liter Imhoff funnel and the dried mass of sludge sedimented.

The sludge sediments well when its SVI values are from the value range 50-150 ml/g [1]. The Mohlman index makes possible the successful prediction of unstable states of sewage treatment process which are arising when an excessive increase of filamentous bacteria in the activated sludge occurs what takes place for SVI > 150 ml/g [2, 3]. The presence of these bacteria in the sludge creates treatment problems especially during the sewage clarification in the secondary clarifiers of the plant. In the case of a SVI worsening an increase of total suspended solids as well as of organic carbon content in the sewage effluent arises. To avoid the problems the mathematical models predicting the Mohlman index shall be developed. To realize this aim different kinds of neuronal nets are commonly used, like hierarchical, probabilistic, compartmental or hybrid networks [4-7]. Previous analyses of Mohlman index and of its connection with the sludge ability for sedimentation showed [4, 8] that the index value depends strongly on the indicators characterizing the quality of sewage flowing into the treatment plant and on the parameters describing the operation of plant bioreactor (ASC). The concerned indicators are mostly biological and chemical oxygen demand characterizing the content of organic matters in the sewage as well as nitrogen compounds (ammoniacal and total nitrogen) appearing in total suspended solids; sometimes also total phosphorus is taken into consideration in such analyses. In the papers published the influence of only singular indicators or of their limited combinations on SVI value is analyzed [9] while an aggregated effect of all of them could be more interesting and cognitive. Apart from the factors mentioned also the sludge concentration, its pH value and temperature as well as oxygen concentration in nitrification chambers affect SVI value. An authorial approach to the sludge index prediction is presented in the papers of [10, 11], who considered in their works the sludge bioceonosis, quality of the raw sewage inflow and several technological ASC parameters. An interesting solution is presented also in the paper of [12], in which for SVI modeling the results of analysis of sludge flocs pictures were used. The SVI models discussed in the papers noted are accurate but their development requires application of expensive measurement devices (in case of sludge flocs observation) or carrying out the time consuming determination of sewage quality indicators what is often difficult or impossible from the technical point of view [7]. In the works mentioned neither the influence of dosing the chemical coagulant PIX on the sludge sedimentation ability has been considered what is a common practice by treatment plants operation.

In this paper the possibility of Mohlman index prediction by means of data mining methods has been investigated and by the works the daily sewage inflows, sewage quality indicators (i.e. chemical and biological oxygen demands, contents of total and ammoniacal nitrogen, of total phosphorus and of total suspended solids in the sewage) and the operational ASC parameters (pH, temperature, activated sludge and oxygen concentration in sludge chambers and amount of PIX coagulant dosed) were taken into consideration. Additionally the possibility of prediction of the sewage quality indicators while using only the sewage inflow measurements has been investigated in order to eliminate them from the SVI models.

# 2 Object Investigated

The analysed object is the communal sewage treatment plant (STP) localized at the Polish municipality Sitkowka–Nowiny into which the sewage from the wastewater systems of Kielce city, Sitkowka–Nowiny and partially of Maslow commune flows. The nominal capacity of plant equals to 72 000  $\text{m}^3$ /d by its baseload equal to 275.000 ENI (Equivalent Number of Inhabitants). The raw sewage flowing into STP are mechanically pretreated on the stepped bars and in the aerated sand trap with the fats separator (see Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Technological diagram of Sitkowka-Nowiny sewage treatment plant.

Afterwards the sewage is directed into the primary clarifiers from which it flows into the biological part of the plant (bioreactor with separated chambers of dephosphatation, denitrification and nitrification). The process of dephosphatation takes place firstly and then the processes of denitrification and nitrification occur consecutively. The sewage treated with the activated sludge together flows after that into four secondary clarifiers and from there it goes out already clarified into Bobrza river that is the wastewater receiver.

# 3 Modelling Methodology

In the paper some mathematical models for calculation SVI values while using three data mining methods have been developed. To do it measurements data concerning the sewage inflow Q, sewage inflow quality (like chemical oxygen demand COD, biological oxygen demand BOD<sub>5</sub> called farther as BOD, total nitrogen TN, ammoniacal nitrogen  $NH_4$ , total suspended solids TSS and total phosphorus TP) and bioreactor parameters (like temperature  $T_{os}$ , pH values, sludge concentration MLSS, amount of

PIX dosed and oxygen concentration in the chamber of nitrification OD) were used. The relations modelled can be written as follows:

$$SVI(t) = F{Q, T_{os}, pH, OD, MLSS, PIX, BOD, COD, TP, NH_4, TN, TSS}$$
 (1)

Also modelling of the above indicators of sewage quality basing only on the sewage inflow measurements has been investigated. Possession of such the models is very convenient and useful for they enable the SVI calculation with the use of the measurements of only ASC parameters and of sewage inflow and its temperature what makes this calculation very easy and simple. Then Eq. (1) can be formulated following:

$$SVI(t) = F\left\{Q, T_{os}, pH, DO, MLSS, PIX, C(t)_{j}\right\}$$
(2)

where  $C_j(t) = F{Q(t), Q(t - 1), Q(t - i), T_{in}(t), T_{in}(t - 1), T_{in}(t - p)}$ ,  $T_{in}$  means the inflow temperature and j = 1, 2, ..., 6 and i, p = 0, 1, 2, ..., 7.

That approach to SVI modelling is of importance from the practical point of view either for it makes possible to predict and supervise the Mohlman index event when the sewage quality meters are out of order, i.e. they are broken down or just calibrated. By that modelling the assumption is done that the sewage quality characterized by the pollutant load is influenced mainly by the sewage dilution what has been confirmed by [6] while investigating the wastewater network in Rzeszow city. In this paper the time delays of Q and Tin variables in Eq. (2) have been determined by means of the classification trees method (CTM) with the use of the predictor importance index (IMP) [13]. There was assumed that these variables could be taken into account while modelling the sewage quality indicators if IMP > 0.90 [14]. The first models developed were designed to predict the SVI parameter and they were calculated by use of the methods of Cascade Neuronal Nets (CNN), of k-Nearest Neighbour (k-NN) and of Boosting Trees (BT). To perform the calculation the available measurement data have been divided into learning, testing and validation sets in the proportions of 75%, 25% and 25% respectively and they were normalized by their min and max values [6, 12]. To ensure obtaining the proper models the process of their five-time cross-validation has been done.

The artificial neuronal nets are commonly used to model and simulate linear and nonlinear dynamic processes as well as for solution of optimization, classification and control tasks in the field of environmental engineering [4, 6, 12]. By process modelling the nets in form of Multi Layer Perceptrons (MLP) are used mostly and one of their modifications is CNN network owning the weight connections between the input layer and all internal layers and concurrently between the subsequent internal layers within the net. CNN networks with several hidden layers can be used to model complex nonlinear processes [15].

The optimal structure of neuronal nets designed to predict SVI index as well as COD, BOD,  $NH_4$ , TN, TP and TSS the parameters has been determined by using the error coefficients defined in (4). The CNN nets calculated consisted of only one hidden layer on which the neurons number changed from 3 to 10, the activation functions between the input and hidden layer have been taken optionally of linear, exponential,

sinusoidal, sigmoidal and tangent-hyperbolical kinds and for the output layer the linear activation function was assumed. According to the works of [16, 17] only two connections between the input neurons and the following layers of CNN networks have been considered. The method of CNN nets have been applied till now for modeling treatment plants and for forecasting air quality but it has not been used to model the sludge sedimentation neither the sewage quality flowing into a STP. In the subsequent calculation of SVI modelling also some methods less complex as neuronal nets have been used. The first of them was k-NN method being the one of easiest nonparametric methods used commonly for modelling the sewage inflow quality and for prediction of efficiency of treatment plants operation. To calculate the variable predicted the following relation is used:

$$\hat{y} = \frac{1}{K} \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{N} y_i J(x_i, x_j)$$
(3)

where  $x_i$  is one of K nearest neighbours  $x_j$  when the distance  $d(x_i, x_j)$  belongs to the smallest distances between them, N – number of all distances between the neighbours,  $J(x_i, x_j)$  – a function equal to 1 (if  $x_i$  is one of K nearest neighbours  $x_j$ ) or to 0 (otherwise). While using k-NN method mostly Euclid norm to calculate those distances is used what has been done also in our research and where K value was determined by successive approximation using the error coefficients defined in (4).

The last approach used in the paper to model SVI index was BT method that is an implementation of the method of stochastic gradient boosting applying commonly for the solution classification and regression tasks [18]. The main idea of the method relies on the creation of a sequence of decision trees and during the modelling process each following tree is used to determine the rests generated by the preceding trees. The choice of the trees number in the model developed has been realized by trial and error and this number was taken never bigger than 200 in order to avoid the overlearning of models calculated. The subsample proportion for building a tree was taken equal to 0.5 and the maximum number of levels was set to 10.

In the following analyses STATISITCA 12.0 software has been used to develop the models by means of BT and k-NN methods and MATLAB software was applied while using CNN method.

To assess the prediction abilities of models forecasting the values of sewage quality indicators COD, BOD<sub>5</sub>, NH<sub>4</sub>, TN, TP and TSS as well as the sludge volume index SVI the following error coefficients have been applied:

relative average error:

$$MAPE = \frac{1}{n} \cdot \left| \frac{y_{i,obs} - y_{i,pred}}{y_{i,obs}} \right| \cdot 100\%$$
(4)

- absolute average error:

$$MAE = \frac{1}{n} \cdot \left| \mathbf{y}_{i,obs} - \mathbf{y}_{i,pred} \right| \cdot 100\%$$
(5)

- correlation coefficient:

$$R = \frac{\sum_{s=1}^{N} (y_{s,obs} - \overline{y_{obs}}) \cdot (y_{s,pred} - \overline{y_{pred}})}{\sqrt{\sum_{s=1}^{N} (y_{s,obs} - \overline{y_{obs}})^2} \cdot \sqrt{\sum_{s=1}^{N} (y_{s,pred} - \overline{y_{pred}})^2}}$$
(6)

where: n - measurements data number, y<sub>i,obs,pred</sub> - measured or calculated data.

#### 4 Results

Basing on the available measurements concerned the sewage inflow and quality and the ASC parameters the changeability of these variables has been determined in order to define the range of applicability of models under development (Table 1). An analysis of data listed in Table 1 shows that the pollutant load in the sewage inflow changed in a wide range what affected actually the ASC parameters and influenced strongly the SVI which values varied from 95 up to 320 ml/g.

Variable	Minimum	Average	Maximum
Q, m <sup>3</sup> /d	32.564	40.698	86.592
T <sub>os</sub> , °C	10.0	15.9	23.0
pН	7.2	7.70	7.8
OD, mg/dm <sup>3</sup>	0.55	2.56	5,78
MLSS, kg/m <sup>3</sup>	1.19	4.26	5.89
PIX, m <sup>3</sup> /d	0	0.80	1.93
SVI, ml/g	95	186	320
BOD, mg/dm <sup>3</sup>	127	309	557
COD, mg/dm <sup>3</sup>	384	791	1250
TSS, mg/dm <sup>3</sup>	126	329	572
NH <sub>4</sub> , mg/dm <sup>3</sup>	24.4	49.31	65.9
TN, mg/dm <sup>3</sup>	39.91	77.60	124.09
TP, mg/dm <sup>3</sup>	4.3	7.80	12.6

**Table 1.** Summary of the range of variation of parameters describing the amount (Q), influent quality and the parameters of the biological reactor.

The calculations done demonstrate that for the STP investigated the SVI values can be estimated with a satisfied exactness using for that the measurements of the sewage quality indicators (COD, BOD<sub>5</sub>, NH<sub>4</sub>, TN, TP, TSS) and of bioreactor technological parameters (pH,  $T_{os}$ , OD, MLSS, PIX) (Table 2).

Method	MAE	MAPE	R
CNN	5.08	3.01	0.965
k-NN	12.03	6.70	0.896
BT	11.25	6.37	0.904

Table 2. Comparison of CNN, k-NN and BT models calculated by SVI prediction.

The modelling results obtained (Table 2) show that the smallest errors by SVI prediction have been got for CNN model when the neurons number on the hidden layer of the network was equal to 6 and a tangent-hyperbolic function has been taken as the activation function between the input and hidden layer. By k-NN models the smallest error values have been got for K = 4 but they were more than two times bigger as by CNN model. In case of BT model the results received are alike as by K-NN model although its error values MAE and MAPE are slightly smaller. The results of modelling obtained with CNN method are similar to these ones reported by [19] (R = 0.97) who used for the SVI forecasts an ANN method and as the input variables the measurements of COD, TN, DO, TSS, MLSSV, pH and Tos. Some smaller error values MAE and MAPE and consequently a bigger correlation value (R = 0.99) the authors received using the ANN method modified by means of a genetic algorithm. A slightly smaller correlation value (R = 0.95) than in our work (R = 0.965) has been got by [5] who for SVI calculation used the following sewage quality indicators BOD, COD, TN,  $NH_4$ and TP and ASC parameters MLSS, Tos and pH. Our results of modelling are alike as these ones got by [15] (MAE = 5%); they calculated SVI values by means of a modified neuronal network using as the inputs only the variables Q, BOD, COD, TN, OD and pH. An analysis of our current results shows that although the models calculated have got the satisfied prediction abilities but nevertheless there is problematic and difficult to gain the measurements of sewage quality indicators that are used in the calculation. Because of that an idea arose to replace them by their models calculated the formulas  $C(t)_i = F{Q(t - i), T(t - p)}$ , according to Eq. (2). The models of the indicators listed in Table 1 have been developed with k-NN and CNN methods using the measurements of the sewage inflow Q and sewage temperature T<sub>in</sub>. By the modelling the method of classification trees has been applied to determine for particular indicators the coefficients of predictor significance (IMP); the results of this calculation are shown in Table 3.

Looking at the data recorded in Table 3 there is to note that the values of IMP are changing in a wide range from 0.56 up to 1.00. The biggest variation range is for COD and the smallest one is for BOD. The data show also that the values of all indicators BOD, COD, TN,  $NH_4^+$ , TSS and TP are similarly affected by the volume as well as by the temperature of sewage inflow. This conclusion is also supported by the results obtained by [6, 7] who performed similar investigation for communal treatment plants in Polish cities Kielce and Rzeszow.

In Table 4 coefficients of fitting the calculation results to the measurements (MAE, MAPE and R) in the wake of using the methods CNN, k-NN and BT are listed. By CNN method the smallest values of MAE and MAPE obtained for indicators COD, BOD, NH<sub>4</sub>, TSS and TN have been got for 7 and 9 neurons on the hidden layer of the net and for the tangent-hyperbolic activation function between the input and hidden

BOD		COD	TSS NH4 <sup>+</sup>			TN		ТР			
Variable	IMP	Variable	IMP	Variable	IMP	Variable			Variable IMP		IMP
$\frac{Variable}{Q(t)}$	1.00	Q(t)	1.00		1.00		1.00	Q(t)	1.00	Variable Q(t)	1.00
				•••		•••					
Q(t - 1)	0.97	Q(t - 1)	0.94	Q(t - 1)	0.97	Q(t - 1)	0.98	Q(t - 1)	0.96	Q(t - 1)	0.96
$T_{in}(t - 3)$	0.95	Q(t - 6)	0.93	Q(t - 3)	0.95	Q(t - 2)	0.94	Q(t - 2)	0.95	Q(t - 2)	0.94
Q(t - 5)	0.94	Q(t - 3)	0.92	Q(t - 4)	0.94	$T_{in}(t - 1)$	0.93	$T_{in}(t - 3)$	0.94	$T_{in}(t - 3)$	0.93
Q(t - 6)	0.93	Q(t - 4)	0.92	$T_{in}(t - 3)$	0.93	$T_{in}(t-2)$	0.92	$T_{in}(t-2)$	0.93	$T_{in}(t - 7)$	0.92
$T_{in}(t - 7)$	0.92	Q(t - 5)	0.92	Q(t - 3)	0.92	$T_{in}(t-3)$	0.91	Q(t - 6)	0.92	Q(t - 4)	0.91
T <sub>in</sub> (t)	0.92	Q(t - 7)	0.91	$T_{in}(t - 1)$	0.91	Q(t - 4)	0.90	T <sub>in</sub> (t)	0.91	T <sub>in</sub> (t)	0.91
$T_{in}(t - 5)$	0.91	T <sub>in</sub> (t)	0.90	Q(t - 2)	0.90	Q(t - 5)	0.90	Q(t - 7)	0.90	Q(t - 8)	0.90
$T_{in}(t-1)$	0.90	$T_{in}(t - 7)$	0.90	Q(t - 7)	0.81	Q(t-3)	0.87	Q(t - 3)	0.85	$T_{in}(t-2)$	0.81
Q(t - 4)	0.90	$T_{in}(t-3)$	0.74	$T_{in}(t - 5)$	0.80	Q(t - 6)	0.81	$T_{in}(t - 6)$	0.73	Q(t - 11)	0.57
Q(t - 2)	0.82	$T_{in}(t-6)$	0.71	T <sub>in</sub> (t)	0.79	T <sub>in</sub> (t)	0.80	Q(t - 4)	0.66	Q(t - 12)	0.55
$T_{in}(t - 6)$	0.81	T <sub>in</sub> (t)	0.70	$T_{in}(t-4)$	0.78	$T_{in}(t - 5)$	0.80	$T_{in}(t-4)$	0.65	Q(t - 9)	0.53
Q(t - 7)	0.79	$T_{in}(t-4)$	0.68	$T_{in}(t - 6)$	0.74	$T_{in}(t - 6)$	0.77	Q(t - 5)	0.64	Q(t - 14)	0.50
$T_{in}(t-4)$	0.75	$T_{in}(t-1)$	0.58	$T_{in}(t-2)$	0.73	$T_{in}(t - 7)$	0.76	$T_{in}(t - 5)$	0.63	Q(t - 10)	0.48
$T_{in}(t-2)$	0.72	$T_{in}(t - 5)$	0.56	$T_{in}(t - 7)$	0.66	Q(t - 7)	0.75	$T_{in}(t - 7)$	0.62	Q(t - 13)	0.47

Table 3. Calculation of significance coefficients for predictors of COD, BOD, TN, TSS,  $NH_4$  and TP.

layer. In case of TP indicator the smallest values of the errors were reached for 8 hidden neurons and for sigmoidal activation function. By the k-NN method the MAE and MAPE values were minimal for k = 6 in case of COS and BOD, for k = 5 in case of NH<sub>4</sub>. TN and TP, and for k = 4 in case of TSS. By the BT method the number of iterations while the tree parameters were corrected has not exceeded 100. There is to see from Table 4 that better prediction models for the sewage quality indicators have been achieved by means of CNN method than of k-NN and BT methods.

The correlation value for the BOD model received with the CNN method (Table 4) is bigger than that value obtained by [20] (R = 0.83) by means of an ANN method while as the inputs the sewage inflow parameters  $T_{in}$ , pH and TSS have been used. A better fitting of the BOD model to the measurements data (R = 0.92) than [20] was got by [21] who used as the model inputs the variables TN, TP, TSS and Q. On the other hand the correlation value for the COD model reached by [20, 22] was bigger

Indicator	CNN			k-NN			BT		
	MAE	MAPE	R	MAE	MAPE	R	MAE	MAPE	R
COD	66.90	8.88	0.90	83.21	11.05	0.76	76.79	10.16	0.82
BOD	23.58	8.11	0.94	41.00	14.11	0.82	38.84	13.19	0.85
NH <sub>4</sub>	1.83	3.70	0.93	3.52	7.12	0.81	3.39	7.13	0.81
TN	4.37	5.62	0.82	6.45	8.30	0.75	6.08	8.14	0.77
TSS	22.93	7.81	0.91	32.84	11.19	0.79	32.26	10.84	0.82
ТР	0.75	10.13	0.78	0.93	12.56	0.73	0.86	11.51	0.75

Table 4. Comparison of CNN, k-NN and BT models by COD, BOD, TN, TSS,  $NH_4$  and TP prediction.

than in our work. As to the R values obtained for the TSS model they are smaller by us than these ones calculated by [23] (R = 0.93) who used for that also an ANN method. The MAPE values listed in Table 4 for TN and TP models developed with CNN method (5.62% and 10.13%, respectively) are in the first case smaller and in another one bigger than those values got with the method k-NN by [21] (5.79% and 8.87%, respectively).

In the following stage of investigation the results of modelling of the sewage quality indicators COD, BOD, TN,  $NH_4^+$  and TSS that was done with the CNN, k-NN and BT methods have been put into Eq. (2) with which the SVI values could be now calculated in another way. The modelling errors received by this calculation are following: MAE = 17.43 ml/g and MAPE = 9.80% for CNN method; MAE = 22.72 ml/g and MAPE = 13.20% for BT method; and MAE = 24.35 ml/g and MAPE = 13.78% for k-NN method. In Figs. 2 and 4 the diagrams illustrated the comparison of the measurements and simulation results while calculating SVI values by means of Eqs. (1) and (2) are designed. From the Figures one can concluded that the maximal and minimal values of the SVI index calculated by BT and k-NN methods while using Eq. (2) are underestimated in the most calculation steps. A satisfied matching between the measurements and calculations can be stated only for CNN model (Fig. 3).



Fig. 2. A comparison of measurements and SVI model obtained with CNN method while using Eqs. (1) and (2).



**Fig. 3.** A comparison of measurements and SVI model obtained with k-NN method while using Eqs. (1) and (2).



Fig. 4. A comparison of measurements and SVI model obtained with BT method while using Eqs. (1) and (2).

#### 5 Conclusions

The results of investigation presented in the paper confirm that with the use of measurements concerning the volume of sewage flowing into a sewage treatment plant (Q) and the indicators of the sewage inflow quality (BOD, COD, TN, NH<sub>4</sub>, TP and TSS) as well as the operational parameters of activated sludge chambers (pH,  $T_{os}$ , MLSS and OD) there is possible to calculate SVI index with satisfied exactness. An assessment of the results showed that the best prediction of SVI was achieved by means of CNN method that proved to be essentially better than k-NN and BT methods.

The results obtained demonstrated also that values of the sewage quality indicators can be determined with acceptable exactness with the use of only sewage inflow Q and its temperature  $T_{in}$ . It means that the quality of the raw sewage flowing into a STP is forming by biochemical processes occurring in the wastewater incoming from sewerage networks and by rainfalls determining the sewage dilution ratio. Because of that there was possible to replace the measurements data of COD, BOD, NH<sub>4</sub>, TN, TP, TSS that were used to SVI calculation on the first stage of modelling by the results of solution of  $C(t)_j = F{Q(t - i), T_{in}(t - p)}$  equation what has been done on the second stage of modelling. The modelling results received on this modelling stage confirmed that the SVI models calculated by means of  $Q(t - i)_j$  measurements have got satisfied prediction abilities and they can be used successfully in operational practice. This statement is important from the economical as well as technological point of view because such the modelling way makes possible to eliminate the costs of on-line monitoring regarding the sewage quality indicators.

# References

- 1. Łomotowski, J., Szpindor, A.: Nowoczesne systemy oczyszczania ścieków. Wydawnictwo Arkady, Warszawa (2012)
- Chan, W.T., Koe, L.C.: A knowledge-based framework for the diagnosis of sludge bulking in the activated sludge process. Wat. Sci. Technol. 23, 847–855 (1991)
- Sezgin, M., Jenkins, D., Parker, D.S.: A unified theory of filamentous activated sludge bulking. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 50, 362–381 (1978)
- Han, H., Li, Y., Guo, Y., Qiao, J.: A soft computing method to predict sludge volume index based on a recurrent self-organizing neural network. Appl. Soft Comput. 38, 477–486 (2016)
- 5. Lou, I., Zhao, Y.: Sludge bulking prediction using principle component regression and artificial neural network. In: Mathematical Problems in Engineering, pp. 1–17 (2012)
- Szeląg, B., Gawdzik, J.: Application of selected methods of artificial intelligence to activated sludge settleability predictions. Pol. J. Environ. Study 25(4), 1709–1714 (2016)
- Gawdzik, J., Szeląg, B., Bezak-Mazur, E., Stoińska, R.: Zastosowanie wybranych modeli nieliniowych do prognozy ilości osadu nadmiernego. Rocznik Ochrona Środowiska 18, 695–708 (2016)
- Martins, A.M.P., Pagilla, K.R., Heijnen, J.J., Van Loosdrecht, M.C.M.: Bulking filamentous sludge - a critical review. Water Res. 38(4), 793–817 (2004)
- 9. Martins, A.M.P., Heijnen, J.J., van Loosdrecht, M.C.M.: Bulking sludge in biological nutrient removal systems. Biotechnol. Bioeng. **86**(2), 125–135 (2004)
- Belanche, L., Valdes, J., Comas, J., Roda, I., Poch, M.: Prediction of the bulking phenomenon in wastewater treatment plants. Artif. Intell. Eng. 14(4), 307–317 (2000)
- Cote, M., Grandjean, B.P.A., Lessard, P., Thibault, J.: Dynamic modelling of the activated sludge process: improving prediction using neural networks. Water Res. 29(4), 995–1004 (1995)
- Boztoprak, H., Özbay, Y., Güçlü, D., Küçükhemek, M.: Prediction of sludge volume index bulking using image analysis and neural network at a full-scale activated sludge plant. Desalin. Water Treat. 57(37), 17195–17205 (2016)
- 13. Gatnar, E.: Podejście wielomodelowe w zagadnieniach dyskryminacji i regresji. Wydawnictwo PWN, Warszawa (2012)

- Wei, X., Kusiak, A.: Short-term prediction of influent flow in wastewater treatment plant. Stoch. Environ. Res. Risk Assess. 29(1), 241–249 (2015)
- 15. Li, F., Qiao, J., Han, H., Yang, C.: A self organizing cascade neural network with random weights for nonlinear system modeling. J. Appl. Soft Comput. **42**, 184–193 (2016)
- Capizzi, G., Sciutto, G.L., Monforte, P., Napoli, C.: Cascade feed forward neural network based model for air pollutants evaluation of single monitoring stations in urban areas. Int. J. Electron. Telecommun. 61(4), 327–332 (2015)
- Al-Batah, S.B., Alkhasawneh, Tay, L.T., Ngah, U.K., Lateh, H.H., Isa, M.T.A.: Landslize occurrence prediction using trainable cascade forward network and multilayer perceptron. Math. Probl. Eng. 20(15), 1–9 (2015)
- 18. Friedman, J.: Multivariate adaptive regression splines. Ann. Stat. 19(1), 1-67 (1991)
- Bagheri, M., Mirbagheri, S.A., Bagheri, Z., Kamarkhani, A.M.: Modeling and optimization of activated sludge bulking for a real wastewater treatment plant using hybrid artificial neural networks-genetic algorithm approach. Process Safety Environ. Prot. 95, 12–25 (2015)
- Abyaneh, H.Z.: Evaluation of multivariate linear regression and artificial neural networks in prediction of water quality parameters. J. Environ. Health Sci. Eng. 12(40), 1–8 (2014)
- Dogan, E., Ates, A., Yilmaz, E.C., Eren, B.: Application of artificial neural networks to estimate wastewater treatment plant inlet biochemical oxygen demand. Environ. Progress 27 (4), 439–446 (2008)
- Minsoo, K., Yejin, K., Hyosoo, K., Wenhua, P., Changwon, K.: Evaluation of the k nearest neighbour method for forecasting the influent characteristics of wastewater treatment plant. Front. Environ. Sci. Eng. 10(2), 299–310 (2016)
- Kusiak, A., Verma, A., Wei, X.: A data mining approach to predict influent quality. Environ. Monit. Assess. 185, 2197–2210 (2013)

# Simulated Annealing Based on Linguistic Patterns: Experimental Examination of Properties for Various Types of Logistic Problems

Jerzy Grobelny and Rafał Michalski<sup>( $\square$ )</sup>

Wrocław University of Science and Technology, 27 Wybrzeże Wyspiańskiego St., 50-370 Wrocław, Poland {jerzy.grobelny,rafal.michalski}@pwr.edu.pl http://JerzyGrobelny.com, http://RafalMichalski.com

Abstract. The paper presents simulation experiment results regarding properties of linguistic pattern based simulated annealing used for solving the facilities layout problems in logistics. In the article, we investigate four different arrangements ( $02 \times 18$ ,  $03 \times 12$ ,  $04 \times 09$ , and  $06 \times 06$ ) comprising of 36 items. The examined layouts also differ in the links matrix density (20%, 40%, and 60%) and in defining distance between objects' pairs for the distance membership function (absolute and relative). We formally examine how these factors influence corrected mean truth values and average classical goal function values based on Manhattan distance metric. The results generally revealed a significant influence of all of the studied effects on the analyzed dependent variables. Some of the findings, however, were surprising and confirmed previous outcomes showing that the linguistic pattern approach is not a simple extension of the classic simulated annealing.

**Keywords:** Facilities layout · Optimization · Linguistic variables · Logistics · Fuzzy sets

## 1 Introduction

The main purpose of optimizing the placement of linked objects is to minimize the cost of their interoperability. In manufacturing engineering, one seeks such locations of machines and equipment in the production space that minimize the total cost of material flow, parts transportation, etc. between the objects. In the area of ergonomic research, the facilities layout problem is reduced to the arrangement of workplace elements that minimizes the overall cost of biological work such as energy expenditure. In the domain of human-machine interaction, the optimization could be based on the arrangement of the interface elements to ensure its maximum usability.

Since the layout optimization task is a combinatorial problem belonging to the NP-hard class [11], it is not possible to find optimal solutions within a reasonable time for large problems. Hence, the main research trend for years has been focused on developing heuristic algorithms leading to finding acceptable suboptimal solutions.

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_32

Extensive reviews and classifications of such algorithms and optimization systems are presented, inter alia, in [1, 8, 9, 13] or [10].

An interesting research direction initiated, among others, by Scriabin and Vergin [12], focuses on the human ability to solve facilities layout problems. In general, studies conducted in this field has shown that intuition and experience allow experts to obtain very good solutions. Such results were a likely impulse for exploring the use of soft approaches in solving and modeling this type of problems. For instance, applications of fuzzy logic [14, 15] allow the use of experts' knowledge and experience in this respect. One of the possible approaches to modeling in such a manner was proposed by Grobelny [2–5]. The idea of linguistic patterns presented in these works enables the designers to take advantage of expert's intuition by expressing it in a form similar to natural language. The implementation of this concept in the simulated annealing algorithm [7] was proposed by Grobelny and Michalski in [6].

Although the overall nature of the approach and examples provided in this work are encouraging, the practical possibilities and limitations of the algorithm are not sufficiently examined and require further, systematic investigation. This paper presents the results of experimental studies on the influence of linguistic model describing the distance criterion and the links matrix density on the quality of solutions obtained by the proposed approach for a number of possible arrangements of 36 objects.

The following sections briefly discuss the idea of the linguistic pattern based approach, present the design of the experiment, the results along with discussion, and brief conclusions.

# 2 Overview of Simulated Annealing Based on Linguistic Patterns

The implementation of the linguistic patterns concept in the simulated annealing algorithm proposed by Grobelny and Michalski [7] implies the substitution of the classical goal function formula with the following pattern (1).

If 
$$Link\_between\_objects_{(ij)}$$
 is  $STRONG$  then  $Distance\_between\_objects_{(ij)}$  is  $SMALL$ 
(1)

When pattern (1) is true for all pairs of objects, we may assume that the solution is good. As it was demonstrated in a number of articles [2-6], it is possible to assess the truth level of formula (1) by means of the Łukasiewicz's implication formula (2):

$$Truth\_of(1) = minimum\{1, 1 - Truth\_of(l) + Truth\_of(r)\},$$
(2)

where  $Truth_of(l)$  and  $Truth_of(r)$  denote truth values of left and right sides of linguistic pattern (1).

The overall idea of the simulated algorithm does not change, but the objects pairs changes are performed in each step based on the degree of mean truth for the solution.

#### **3** Simulation Experiment

#### 3.1 Method

**Experimental Design.** The experiment examines logistics problems comprising of 36 objects in various arrangements. The main three layouts include structures with two rows and 18 columns ( $02 \times 18$ ), three rows and 12 columns ( $03 \times 12$ ), as well as four rows and nine columns ( $04 \times 09$ ). For comparison purposes we also tested a typical square grid layout with 6 rows and columns ( $06 \times 06$ ). The layouts are schematically demonstrated in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Layout arrangements examined in this study. From the top:  $02 \times 18$ ,  $03 \times 12$ ,  $04 \times 09$ , and  $06 \times 06$  layouts.

Relationships between objects were randomly generated from the 1–5 range. Their density was controlled and constituted the second independent variable specified on three levels 20%, 40%, and 60% of all possible links. The mean relationship value amounted respectively 2.90 (Standard Deviation, SD = 1.30; Flow Dominance, FD = 2.2), 2.96 (SD = 1.69, FD = 1.4), 3.19 (SD = 1.91, FD = 0.998).

The third factor investigated in this study was related with the way experts may treat the distance between objects. We tested two options: the relative and the absolute one. In the former approach, the membership function of the *SMALL* distance linguistic variable is linear starting from 1 for objects being next to each other and 0 when they were maximally far away. Such a case is symbolically illustrated in Fig. 5.

Naturally, the maximal distance varied along with the examined arrangements. Assuming the same, unitary distances between grid cells, the maximal Manhattan distance equals 10 for layout  $06 \times 06$ , 11 for  $04 \times 09$ , 13 for  $03 \times 12$ , and 18 for arrangement  $02 \times 18$ . In the absolute case, the distance memberships function is also linear and starts from 1 for adjacent items however, the zero value is assigned for all distances equal or bigger than 10. Thus, the function does not take into account differences in maximal possible gap between investigated arrangements. Graphical illustration of this idea is provided in Figs. 2, 3, 4 and 5.



Fig. 2. Schematic presentation of the absolute distance membership function for  $02 \times 18$ .



Fig. 4. Schematic presentation of the absolute distance membership function for  $04 \times 09$ .



Fig. 3. Schematic presentation of the absolute distance membership function for  $03 \times 12$ .



Fig. 5. Schematic presentation of the absolute and relative distance membership function for layout  $06 \times 06$ .

A full factorial, within subjects design gives 24 different experimental conditions, that is, arrangement  $\{02 \times 18, 03 \times 12, 04 \times 09, 06 \times 06\} \times \text{links density } \{20\%, 40\%, 60\%\} \times \text{distance function type } \{\text{absolute, relative}\}$ . Since for layout 06 × 06 absolute and relative distance functions are exactly the same, the simulations finally included 21 variants.

The first dependent variable called corrected mean truth is based on goal function (3), which is related to the maximal possible mean truth value for a given arrangement (4) computed according to the theorem from [3].

$$mean truth = maximize\left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{n} \left(Truth\_of(1)_{ij}\right)}{\frac{n^2-n}{2}}\right),$$
(3)

$$corrected mean truth = \frac{mean truth}{maximal mean truth} \cdot 100, \tag{4}$$

The second dependent measure included a typical goal function (5) based on Manhattan distance (6) that was computed for the best layouts obtained by maximizing mean truth (3).

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{n} \left( D_{p(i)p(j)} \cdot L_{ij} \right), \tag{5}$$

where  $D_{p(i)p(j)}$  is the standard Manhattan distance metric calculated by the formula:

$$D_{p(i)p(j)} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} |x_{p(i)k} - x_{p(j)k}|, \qquad (6)$$

with N denoting the number of dimensions – here equal two, and  $L_{ij}$  specifying the link strength between two objects.

**Procedure.** For each of 21 problems defined by the experimental design, the linguistic pattern based simulated annealing algorithm was repeated 100 times. Every time, before applying the optimization algorithm, objects were randomly assigned on the grid. Taking advantage of the experimental results presented in [6], in all present study simulations, the epoch length multiplier was set at 20, the probability of accepting worse solutions equaled .8, while the cooling scheme .99.

#### 3.2 Results and Discussion

**Descriptive Statistics.** Basic descriptive statistics regarding all examined experimental conditions both for mean truth values and classical goal function values are put together in Table 1.

**Analysis of Variance.** A series of analyses of variance were conducted to formally verify the influence of examined independent variables on two types of dependent measures. Summaries of essential results are provided in Figs. 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19 and 20.

*Corrected Mean Truths.* The analyses' results of mean truth value depending on the investigated factors are graphically illustrated in Figs. 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11. These figures show mean truth values for the studied arrangements from the perspective of two factors – the way the membership function is defined for linguistic variable  $Distance\_between\_objects_{(ij)}$  is *SMALL* and the link matrix density.

The obtained results were rather anticipated. The membership function for the relative approach treats bigger distances milder which makes it easier to obtain higher mean truth values for the same relationship matrix.

It is also understandable that the value of average truth increases along with the bigger and bigger concentration degree of the layout arrangement. For more concentrated layouts, the area of possible solutions is characterized by smaller, on average, distances and the bigger number of available pairs of locations with the same distances. This results in greater freedom for the simulated annealing algorithm in making changes in objects locations by pairs.

No.	Links density	Layout	Distance function type	Corrected mean truth		Manhattan based goal function			
				Max	Mean	MSE	Min	Mean	*MSE
1.	20%	02 × 18	Absolute	91.9	91.7	.0175	1387	1436	2.25
2.			Relative	98.6	98.5	.0095	1503	1532	1.94
3.		$03 \times 12$	Absolute	96.4	96.2	.0111	1076	1123	2.08
4.			Relative	98.8	98.7	.0077	1113	1157	1.82
5.		$04 \times 09$	Absolute	98.6	98.4	.0154	961	1005	1.71
6.			Relative	99.0	98.8	.0120	969	1007	1.70
7.		$06 \times 06$		99.4	99.1	.0134	889	938	2.25
8.	40%	02 × 18	Absolute	85.0	84.9	.0096	3597	3646	2.74
9.			Relative	94.7	94.7	.0053	3655	3733	4.35
10.		$03 \times 12$	Absolute	90.9	90.8	.0098	2722	2766	2.19
11.			Relative	95.0	94.9	.0069	2752	2817	2.87
12.		$04 \times 09$	Absolute	94.1	94.0	.0111	2365	2428	2.69
13.			Relative	95.2	95.1	.0108	2383	2437	2.89
14.		$06 \times 06$		95.6	95.5	.0088	2182	2257	2.26
15.	60%	02 × 18	Absolute	81.2	81.0	.0066	6499	6567	3.71
16.			Relative	92.0	91.9	.0029	6487	6558	4.97
17.		$03 \times 12$	Absolute	87.9	87.8	.0088	4884	4940	2.36
18.			Relative	92.6	92.5	.0044	4871	4926	3.17
19.		$04 \times 09$	Absolute	91.6	91.4	.0072	4235	4285.7	2.57
20.			Relative	93.0	92.9	.0060	4234	4286.4	3.36
21.		$06 \times 06$		93.4	93.2	.0082	3941	4003	2.51

 Table 1. Basic descriptive statistics for all experimental conditions and two dependent variables analyzed in the current study.







**Fig. 6.** Corrected mean truth depending on the layout. Links density: 20%, absolute distance membership function.  $F(3, 396) = 53\ 081$ , p < .0001.

**Fig. 7.** Corrected mean truth depending on the layout. Links density: 20%, relative distance membership function. F(3, 396) = 601, p < .0001.



**Fig. 8.** Corrected mean truth depending on the layout. Links density: 40%, absolute distance membership function. F(3, 396) = 226 987, p < .0001.



**Fig. 10.** Corrected mean truth depending on the layout. Links density: 60%, absolute distance membership function. F(3, 396) = 488 195, p < .0001.



1500

1400

1300

1200

1100

1000

Mean goal function





**Fig. 13.** Mean goal function depending on the function type. Links density: 20%. F(1, 594) = 783, p < .0001.

**Fig. 14.** Mean goal function depending on the layout  $\times$  function type. Links density: 20%. F(2, 594) = 302, p < .0001.

03x12

Layou t

02x18

Abs

Rel

04x09



**Fig. 9.** Corrected mean truth depending on the layout. Links density: 40%, relative distance membership function. F(3, 396) = 1700, p < .0001.





**Fig. 15.** Mean goal function depending on the layout. Links density: 40% F(2, 594) = 91 506, p < .0001.



**Fig. 16.** Mean goal function depending on the function type. Links density: 40%. F(1, 594) = 399, p < .0001.



**Fig. 17.** Mean goal function depending on the layout  $\times$  function type. Links density: 40%. F (2, 594) = 83, p < .0001.







**Fig. 18.** Mean goal function depending on the layout. Links density: 60%. F(2, 594) = 229 500, p < .0001.

**Fig. 19.** Mean goal function depending on the function type. Links density: 60%. F(1, 594) = 7.1, p = .0078.

**Fig. 20.** Mean goal function depending on the layout  $\times$  function type. Links density: 60%. F (2, 594) = 2.3, p = .096.

The relative decrease in mean truth values along with the higher matrix densities was also predictable. In general, facilities layout problem tasks are more difficult to solve for dense relationships between objects. It is worth pointing out that all differences in means presented in Figs. 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 are statistically significant.

*Goal Function Based on Manhattan Distance.* The outcomes for the classical objective function (5) are demonstrated in Figs. 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, and 20. It seems that the most important relations were observed for definitions of membership functions in the absolute and relative conventions. One may be surprised while comparing these results with those presented in Figs. 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11. Function values (5) express the overall cost and are to be minimized, so they should be interpreted inversely than corrected mean truths that supposed to be maximized. For small and medium densities, classic goal function mean values are better for distances treated in an absolute manner.

Comparison with the results from Figs. 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 clearly indicates that, in terms of mean truth of pattern (1), better solutions were obtained for the membership functions representing relative distances. This dependence disappears as the relationship density increases. For a density of 60% it becomes even, slightly but statistically significantly, reversed (Table 2 and Fig. 20). Such a reverse relation is strongly influenced by the shape of the available area modeled by the modular grid structure.

 Table 2. Manhattan based mean goal function differences between absolute and relative membership function types

$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Links der	inks density							
Absolute $<.001^*$ $<.001^*$ $.34$ $<.001^*$ $.028^*$ $.056^{**}$ $.0045^*$ $.88$ LSD		20%			40%			60%		
vs relative LSD		$02 \times 18$	$03 \times 12$	$04 \times 09$	$02 \times 18  03 \times 12  04 \times 09$				$03 \times 12$	$04 \times 09$
r · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	vs relative	<.001*	<.001*	.34	<.001*	<.001*	.028*	.056**	.0045*	.88

 $\alpha^* \alpha = .05, \alpha^{**} \alpha = .1$ 

## 4 Conclusion

Grobelny and Michalski in [6] showed that the simulated annealing algorithm based on linguistic patterns is not a simple extension or generalization of the traditional approach where the function (5) is minimized. The results obtained in the current experiments empower the specifics of the approach and suggest that subtle analysis of its properties may lead to interesting outcomes.

The presented empirical data both in the present study as well as in the work [6] reveal that the behavior of the investigated algorithm with linguistic patterns is determined by many factors and interactions between them. In light of this, further research on the properties of the approach is justifiable and necessary.

Usually, in practical applications of the proposed approach, the actual relationships and distances are not known and are estimated in linguistic terms by an expert. Despite that, findings presented in the current study are an important indication for rational use of linguistic pattern based simulated annealing.

## References

- Drira, A., Pierreval, H., Hajri-Gabouj, S.: Facility layout problems: a survey. Ann. Rev. Control 31(2), 255–267 (2007). doi:10.1016/j.arcontrol.2007.04.001
- Grobelny, J.: The fuzzy approach to facilities layout problems. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 23(2), 175– 190 (1987). doi:10.1016/0165-0114(87)90057-1
- Grobelny, J.: On one possible "fuzzy" approach to facilities layout problems. Int. J. Prod. Res. 25(8), 1123 (1987)

- Grobelny, J.: The 'linguistic pattern' method for a workstation layout analysis. Int. J. Prod. Res. 26(11), 1779–1798 (1988). doi:10.1080/00207548808947991
- 5. Grobelny, J.: Fuzzy-based linguistic patterns as a tool for the flexible assessment of a priority vector obtained by pairwise comparisons. Fuzzy Sets Syst. (2016). doi:10.1016/j. fss.2015.05.012
- Grobelny, J., Michalski, R.: A novel version of simulated annealing based on linguistic patterns for solving facility layout problems. Knowl.-Based Syst. 124, 55–69 (2017). doi:10. 1016/j.knosys.2017.03.001
- Kirkpatrick, S., Gelatt, C.D., Vecchi, M.P.: Optimization by simulated annealing. Science 220(4598), 671–680 (1983). doi:10.1126/science.220.4598.671
- Kusiak, A., Heragu, S.S.: The facility layout problem. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 29(3), 229–251 (1987). doi:10.1016/0377-2217(87)90238-4
- Meller, R.D., Gau, K.-Y.: The facility layout problem: recent and emerging trends and perspectives. J. Manuf. Syst. 15(5), 351–366 (1996). doi:10.1016/0278-6125(96)84198-7
- Moslemipour, G., Lee, T.S., Rilling, D.: A review of intelligent approaches for designing dynamic and robust layouts in flexible manufacturing systems. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 60(1–4), 11–27 (2011). doi:10.1007/s00170-011-3614-x
- 11. Sahni, S., Gonzalez, T.: P-complete approximation problems. J. ACM **23**(3), 555–565 (1976). doi:10.1145/321958.321975
- 12. Scriabin, M., Vergin, R.C.: Comparison of computer algorithms and visual based methods for plant layout. Manag. Sci. 22(2), 172–181 (1975). doi:10.1287/mnsc.22.2.172
- Singh, S.P., Sharma, R.R.K.: A review of different approaches to the facility layout problems. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 30(5–6), 425–433 (2006). doi:10.1007/s00170-005-0087-9
- Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets as a basis for a theory of possibility. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 1(1), 3–28 (1978). doi:10.1016/0165-0114(78)90029-5
- Zadeh, L.A.: PRUF—a meaning representation language for natural languages. Int. J. Man-Mach. Stud. 10(4), 395–460 (1978). doi:10.1016/S0020-7373(78)80003-0

# Knowledge Sharing Using Customer Relationship Management Systems (CRM) in NPD Processes - Research Results from Polish and German Manufacturing Companies

Justyna Patalas-Maliszewska<sup>(IZI)</sup> and Sławomir Kłos

University of Zielona Góra, ul. Licealna 9, Zielona Góra, Poland {j.patalas, s.klos}@iizp.uz.zgora.pl

**Abstract.** Knowledge sharing in manufacturing companies is not an easy task. Our previous research conducted in Polish manufacturing companies in the construction and automotive industries, showed that 52% of respondents identified organisational difficulties which directly resulted from problems in knowledge sharing within the company, usually in the form of insufficient organization within the company and a lack of communication between company employees.

An NPD process in a manufacturing company needs innovative ideas supported by an information system. CRM systems are used to facilitate the creation of new knowledge about market demand and support an NPD process in a manufacturing company. This case study investigates how knowledge is shared through CRM use and explores how the use of this system supports New Product Development (NPD) process based on a data obtained from Polish Manufacturing Enterprises from Lubuskie region and from German Manufacturing Enterprises from Brandenburg region. Based on our research results it is stated that managers in German and in Polish companies perceive the importance of the knowledge sharing supported by CRM system in the context of the improvement of the new product development.

Keywords: Customer relationship management  $\cdot$  Knowledge sharing  $\cdot$  Manufacturing company  $\cdot$  New product development

### 1 Introduction

Effectively managing knowledge in a manufacturing company, especially in an inter-organizational context, can improve New Product Development (NPD) configurations [10]. Knowledge sharing between company employees is a critical issue when managing the creation of a new product within an organization. Workers can exchange data through a database built on the infrastructure of information and communication technology [11]. For example, the implementation of a CRM system offers a common workspace in which product data can be shared. The data and information included in this system can enhance the robustness of new products at the conceptual design stage.

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_33

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:
IT solutions can play a role in effective knowledge sharing within an organization [1]. Our previous research, conducted in Polish manufacturing companies in the construction and automotive industries, showed that 52% of respondents were able to identify organisational difficulties which directly resulted from problems in knowledge sharing within the company, usually in the form of insufficient organization within the company and a lack of communication between company employees.

The analysis in this study also shows the relationships between useful knowledge sharing among employees who carry out an NPD process using a CRM system and explores how the use of this system supports this process.

Based on the research results from 69 Polish manufacturing companies from the Lubuskie region and from 23 German manufacturing companies from the Brandenburg region [9], it is possible to identify the most important knowledge which should be shared among employees and supported by CRM system. The research was intentionally carried out in the Lubuskie region of Poland and the Brandenburg region of Germany because these regions form a special joint cross-border area and the research results contribute to the achievement of an objective of European Territorial Cooperation.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. A number of related works are briefly introduced in the following section. Section 3 presents an overview of the design of a research model. Section 4 elaborates the research details. Closing remarks and a summary are then outlined in the last section.

## 2 Literature Review

New product development (NPD) has significant and positive effects with regards to competitive advantages [6]. NPD is a process of transforming market demands and opportunities into the knowledge necessary for production [2, 5, 7]. On the other hand, the process of new product development should be flexible and able to adjust to a company's needs and desires [3]. Moreover it is possible to define the following tasks in the process of the development of a new product in a manufacturing company (Fig. 1).

An NPD process needs innovative ideas supported by an information system. Moreover, communication mechanisms have important effects on knowledge sharing within a company [6]. Knowledge sharing within an enterprise refers to contact between employees by which one employee can help to transform the knowledge and skills of another [6, 8]. Customer relationship management (CRM) systems are information systems that enable organizations to gain a comprehensive view of their customers [4]. CRM systems are used to facilitate the creation of new knowledge about market demand and support an NPD process in a manufacturing company. The major contribution of this study is that it proposes the exploitation of a knowledge-sharing support tool (CRM) in an NPD process which can efficiently supply potentially useful knowledge to users in order to support their tasks in the process of NPD in a manufacturing company.

The following departments in a company are defined, from which employees share knowledge using a CRM system: sale department (SD), production department (PD),

54 -	D <sub>1</sub> - defining the strategy in the company					
	Idea for a new product: T <sub>1</sub>					
	D <sub>2</sub> - conducting the research					
5	Elaboration of the specification of a new product: T <sub>2</sub>					
mpan	Performing a preliminary design of a new product: : T <sub>3</sub>					
00 CO	Performing a detailed design of a new product: T <sub>4</sub>					
actuni	Engineering simulation: T5					
ıanufi	Generating a prototype: T <sub>6</sub>					
inam	Testing a new product: T <sub>7</sub>					
DAN	D3- commercialization					
The process of the development of a new product: NPD in a manufacturing company	Commercialising a new product: T <sub>8</sub>					
w pro	D4- implementing a new product					
fane	Economic analysis of a new product: T9					
nent o	Risk analysis of a new product: $T_{10}$					
elopn	Preparing the production process: T <sub>11</sub>					
e dev	Manufacturing simulation: T <sub>12</sub>					
s of th	D5- company innovation climate					
Cocess	Starting the production of a new product: T <sub>13</sub>					
The pi	D <sub>6</sub> - company culture					
	Service for a new product: T <sub>14</sub>					
	Cooperation with suppliers: T <sub>15</sub>					
	D <sub>6</sub> - a project for reporting product development					
	Investment analysis of a new product: T <sub>16</sub>					

Fig. 1. An NPD process in a manufacturing company, own work

purchasing department (PRD), research and development department (RDD), service department (SD). The research model posits, from the preceding argument, that when workers who are involved in a NPD process in a manufacturing enterprise share knowledge using a CRM system, they are able to create an increased number of new products.

# 3 Research Method

Before the survey was carried out, it was assumed that those employees who took part in the research would realize at least 80% of the defined activities of an NPD process (Fig. 1) and use the CRM system to support this process. This study expects that knowledge sharing in Polish manufacturing companies supported by the CRM system, will positively influence NPD processes.

The survey data were collected between January to September, 2014 (69 Polish enterprises from the Lubuskie region of Poland - respondents: managers: 82%), between November 2015 to January 2016 (23 German enterprises from Brandenburg region of Germany - respondents: managers: 87%). The chosen 85 manufacturing companies from the "automotive" and "construction" sectors contribute about 20% of those enterprises in the cooperative, special joint cross-border region<sup>1</sup>.

The respondents were asked to evaluate the degree the use of a CRM system in an enterprise facilitates knowledge sharing among the organization's employees and influence NPD processes.

New product creation: The degree to which a company develops a new product from the use of a CRM system for knowledge sharing within the enterprise:

- NPD-factor1: I know that in my organization the use of CRM is not very important for new product creation.
- NPD-factor2: I know that in my organization the use of CRM is not important for new product creation.
- NPD-factor3: I know that in my organization the use of CRM is quite important for new product creation.
- NPD-factor4: I know that in my organization the use of CRM is important for new product creation.
- NPD-factor5: I know that in my organization the use of CRM is very important for new product creation.

The use of a CRM system: The degree to which the use of a CRM system in an enterprise facilitates knowledge sharing among the organization's employees:

• CRM-factor1: I know that in my organization the use of CRM systems is not very important for knowledge sharing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This work was supported in part by the project realized by Justyna Patalas-Maliszewska: "Assessing the relationship between business strategy and knowledge transfer in German Manufacturing Enterprises" by the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD), Bonn, Germany, Nr: 235585, 2016.

- CRM-factor2: I know that in my organization the use of CRM systems is not important for knowledge sharing.
- CRM-factor3: I know that in my organization the use of CRM systems is marginally important for knowledge sharing.
- CRM-factor4: I know that in my organization the use of CRM systems is important for knowledge sharing.
- CRM-factor5: I know that in my organization the use of CRM systems is very important for knowledge sharing.

For all kinds of characteristics which were measured, a five-point Likert scale was adopted in which 1 = strongly unimportant and 5 = strongly important.

# 4 Research Results

In our research results we can match the relationships between the use of the CRM system by the employees in the defined departments: sale department (SD), production department (PD), purchasing department (PRD), research and development department (RDD), service department (SD) which should support the knowledge sharing within a company and the improvement of the NPD process. The research results were defined using a correlation approach with Statistica ver. 12.5. The data were carefully examined with respect to linearity, equality of variance and normality. No significant deviations were detected. Tables 1 and 2 present descriptive correlations for the main variables levels of headings.

Construct (item: CRM-factor and NPD-factor)	Correlation	r2	t	p
Using CRM in the sale department (SD)/NPD	0.0128	0.0002	0.1015	0.9195
Using CRM in the production department (PD)/NPD	0.0640	0.0041	0.5088	0.6127
Using CRM in the purchasing department (PRD)/NPD	0.3158	0.0997	2.6419	0.0104
Using CRM in the research and development department (RDD)/NPD	0.1459	0.0213	1.1707	0.2461
Using CRM in the service department (SD)/NPD	0.2950	0.0870	2.4508	0.0170

Table 1. Research results from Polish manufacturing companies, own work.

Our research results present, that for managers of polish manufacturing companies from the Lubuskie Region the use of the CRM system by the employees in the purchasing department is important in the knowledge sharing process for the improvement of the new product development process (corr = 0.3158). To determine the nature of the significant interaction: the use of a CRM system in the purchasing department facilitates knowledge sharing among the organization's employees and New Product Development improvement, the study plots the effect (see Fig. 2):

Construct (item: CRM-factor and NPD-factor)	Correlation	r2	t	p
Using CRM in the sale department (SD)/NPD	-0.2218	0.0492	-1.0425	0.3090
Using CRM in the production department (PD)/NPD	-0.1828	0.0334	-0.8520	0.4038
Using CRM in the purchasing department (PRD)/NPD	-0.2598	0.0675	-1.2328	0.2313
Using CRM in the research and development department (RDD)/NPD	0.1555	0.0242	0.7211	0.4788
Using CRM in the service department (SD)/NPD	0.2944	0.0866	1.4114	0.1728

Table 2. Research results from German manufacturing companies, own work.



**Fig. 2.** Interactions involving New Product Development creation and knowledge sharing using a CRM – research results from Polish manufacturing companies, own work

New Product Development 
$$= 0.34627 \text{ PRD} + 2.2771$$
 (1)

New Product Development creation clearly increases with knowledge sharing using CRM systems by employees in the purchasing department. However, when given low frequencies of use the CRM, a decrease in company New Product Development is evident. So, we can state, that knowledge sharing supported by the CRM system within the purchasing department influences positive on the new products creation. Based on our research we can also define, that the knowledge from customers improves new

products development process in the company, because customers communicate their needs for new solutions.

We can match also the second equal significant relationship: knowledge sharing within the employees by the use the CRM system in the service department and its effects on the improvement of a new product development (corr = 0.2950). This similar interaction we can observe in our research results from German Manufacturing companies (see Table 2).

We examine the effects on New Product Development that result from knowledge sharing using a CRM by employees in the service department, based on the research results from Polish Manufacturing Companies:

New Product Development = 
$$0.31995 \text{ SD}_{PMC} + 2.4014$$
 (2)

and based on the research results from German Manufacturing Companies:

New Product Development = 
$$0.27482 \text{ SD}_{GMC} + 1.9419$$
 (3)

As Figs. 3 and 4 show, the study plots the effects also in Polish and German manufacturing companies. New Product Development creation clearly increases with knowledge sharing in Polish and German manufacturing companies when faced with a high frequency of use of a CRM system by employee in the service department.



**Fig. 3.** Interactions involving New Product Development creation and knowledge sharing using a CRM – research results from Polish manufacturing companies, own work



**Fig. 4.** Interactions involving New Product Development creation and knowledge sharing using a CRM – research results from German Manufacturing Companies, own work

In our research results we received similar research results from both German and Polish manufacturing enterprises. We can state, that knowledge sharing supported by the CRM system within the service department influences positive on the new products creation. In the service department we can match also the knowledge from customers (similar to the knowledge in the purchasing department), but this knowledge is mostly about the deficiencies in the products/services. This knowledge can also provide to the improvement of the new products in the company. Based on our research results we can state that managers in German and in Polish companies perceive the importance of the knowledge sharing supported by CRM system in the context of the improvement of the new product development.

# 5 Conclusions and Recommendations

This research analyzes the effects which occur on an NPD process in a manufacturing company when knowledge sharing, using a CRM system, takes place among employees in the enterprise.

It is based on using a comprehensive framework that integrates two research streams: knowledge sharing and an NPD process. Actually, Polish manufacturing companies tend not carry out their work in an innovative environment. It is necessary to support NPD processes in companies to increase the level of innovation of Polish industry. By proposing a model which addresses the influence of knowledge sharing among employees using a CRM system (ones who realize the effect of an NPD process on new product creation in enterprises), this study contributes to a filling of the gap which exists in the literature. The empirical findings suggest that it may be a good idea to share useful knowledge, because it could increase new product creation in Polish and German manufacturing companies.

Like all studies, this one has certain limitations that further research should aim to overcome. Firstly, because the intention is to analyze knowledge sharing, this study focuses on Polish and German manufacturing industries in the cooperative, special joint cross-border region which traditionally use defined functionalities of CRM systems. It would be unwise to generalize the findings too broadly to other enterprises. Furthermore, all the variables were measured at the same moment in time. So, it would be useful to provide such research over a longer time period and within different innovative environments of manufacturing companies. These conclusions and limitations suggest proposals for future research directions.

## References

- 1. Antonova, A., Anikó, C., Marchev, A.: How to extend the ICT used at organizations for transferring and sharing knowledge. J. Knowl. Manag. 9, 37–56 (2011)
- Barczak, G., Griffin, A., Kahn, K.B.: Trends and drivers of success in NPD practices: results of the 2003 PDMA best practices study. J. Prod. Innov. Manag. 26(1), 3–23 (2009)
- Davidson, J.M., Clamen, A., Karol, R.A.: Learning from the best new product developers. Res.-Technol. Manag. 42(4), 12–18 (1999)
- 4. Karakostas, B., Kardaras, D., Papathanassiou, E.: The state of CRM adoption by the financial services in the UK: an empirical investigation. Inf. Manag. 42, 853–863 (2005)
- 5. Lin, C.T., Chen, C.T.: New product go/no-go evaluation at the front end: a fuzzy linguistic approach. IEEE Trans. Eng. Manag. **51**(2), 197–207 (2004)
- Lin, H.F.: Knowledge sharing and firm innovation capability: an empirical study. Int. J. Manpow. 28, 315–332 (2007)
- Oliver, N., Dostaler, I., Dewberry, E.: New product development benchmarks: the Japanese, North American and UK consumer electronics industries. J. High Technol. Manag. Res. 23(1), 371–388 (2004)
- Patalas-Maliszewska, J., Śliwa, M.: The role of knowledge acquisition in a company research results from German and Polish manufacturing companies. Found. Manag. Int. J. 9, 87–98 (2017)
- Patalas-Maliszewska, J.: Studying the adoption of a knowledge management tool within German and Polish manufacturing companies: an empirical case study. Appl. Comput. Sci. 12(2), 74–83 (2016)
- Takeishi, A.: Bridging inter- and intra-firm boundaries: management of supplier involvement in automobile product development. Strateg. Manag. J. 22, 403–433 (2001)
- 11. Tyndale, P.: A taxonomy of knowledge management software tools: origins and applications. Eval. Program Plan. 25, 183–190 (2002)

# An Analysis of the Impact of Buffer Allocation and Maintenance on the Effectiveness of a Manufacturing System Using Computer Simulation

Sławomir Kłos<sup>1(⊠)</sup> and Dorota Stadnicka<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Zielona Gora, ul Licealna 9, 65-417 Zielona Gora, Poland s.klos@iizp.uz.zgora.pl <sup>2</sup> Rzeszow University of Technology, Al. Powstancow Warszawy 12, 35-959 Rzeszow, Poland dorota.stadnicka@prz.edu.pl

Abstract. Maintenance management is responsible for the effectiveness of automated manufacturing systems. The allocation of a certain number of employees to the servicing sector of a manufacturing system ensures that an enterprise's throughput is at a satisfactory level but of course, there is the 'cost' factor to be taken into account. The present paper concentrates on the impact of the number of maintenance staff employed, the availability of resources, the allocation of a capacity buffer and the topology of the manufacturing system on the throughput and average lifespan of a given product. Research has been conducted with the use of a computer simulation, using Tecnomatix Plant Simulation software. The model for the manufacturing system includes a parallel, serial production line with two separate manufacturing cells, connected by an intermediate buffer. Additionally the results obtained in simulations were subjected to statistical analysis. Performed analysis indicates that machines availability, size of buffer as well as number of operators have positive influence on value of throughput. Size of buffer has also positive influence on value of lifespan, while machines availability and number of operators have negative influence on value of lifespan.

Keywords: Discrete event modeling and simulation  $\cdot$  Maintenance  $\cdot$  Buffer allocation and associated problems  $\cdot$  Availability of resources  $\cdot$  Throughput  $\cdot$  Average product lifespan

## 1 Introduction

The modelling and computer simulation of production, using manufacturing systems, plays an important role in industrial, engineering research. A variety of manufacturing systems, processes, and resources require computer simulation in order to facilitate dynamic analyses of the plethora of product variants and parameters. The main advantage of the computer simulation method is the possibility of carrying out many experiments using the various input parameters of a manufacturing system over a short period of time, thereby obtaining results showing the behaviour of the system. In the

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology -

ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_34

literature, there are many publications on the computer simulation of manufacturing [1, 2] as well as maintenance processes.

Negahban and Smith [3] provided a comprehensive review of discrete event simulations presented in publications which were published between 2002 and 2013 and are focussed particularly on simulations application, vis-à-vis manufacturing. The use of simulation methods to study maintenance processes is included in the paper. Ni and Jin [4] propose a decision-support system for effective maintenance operations. The proposed system supports data-driven, short-term identification of bottlenecks in throughput, the evaluation of "windows of opportunity" in maintaining it, the prioritisation of maintenance tasks, joint production and the maintaining of scheduling systems and maintenance staff management. To illustrate the concept of a decisionsupport system, mathematical algorithms and simulation tools are used. Mjema [5] used a simulation method to analyse the requirements of personnel capacity in the maintenance department. The 'SIMPLE++' simulation language was used to build a model. Input data included work orders with various throughput times, various personnel profiles, based on the requirements of work orders and various prioritisation rules. The effects of personnel organisational policies, vis-à-vis the full use of personnel, as well as on the time spent in this maintenance, were studied. The results of the simulation show that the best utilisation of maintenance personnel and the best throughput time spent on maintenance work was obtained when personnel was allowed cross-border departmental interaction.

Iassinovski et al. [6] presented a structure, along with the components of a shared decision-making system for complex, discrete systems and process control. The proposed model allows on-line simulations, state-graph search expert systems and other decision making methods to be used. Boschian et al. [7] compared two strategies for operating a production system composed of two machines working in parallel with a downstream inventory supply for an assembly line. Manufacturing resources are prone to random failure and are, therefore, subject to preventive and corrective maintenance operations. A simulation model for each strategy is developed to compare them and simultaneously determine the timing of preventive maintenance on each machine, taking into consideration the total average cost per unit of time as the performance criterion. Allaoui and Artiba [8] dealt with the scheduling of problems in a hybrid flow shop under maintenance constraints in order to optimise several objectives based on flow time and due dates. In this model, set-up, cleaning and transportation time periods have also been taken into consideration. Simulation and optimisation were integrated in order to tackle practical, NP-hard problems. They also illustrated that the performance heuristics applied to this problem can be affected by the percentage of breakdown times.

Maintenance specific, modelling decisions are of a component or system perspective and finite or infinite in the planning horizon [9]. In highly automated production systems, professional, maintenance department employees decide on how best to avoid, if not put an end altogether to breakdowns and production system failures. Maintenance departments usually employ specialists in the fields of automatic, electronic, robotic, production and mechanical engineering. Management of the maintenance staff is not easy because planning is often haphazard and, as well, there are breakdowns and damage to production resources [10]. System breakdowns are quite unforeseeable and it is not possible to predict whether a given repair will be ready in 10 min, 10 h or 10 days. To effectively manage a maintenance department, the 'motivational path' might be the best option for a company.

In the paper, the computer simulation method is used to analyse the effectiveness of maintenance in a series parallel production line where intermediate buffer capacity and the number of maintenance staff fluctuates. The production system investigated is fully automated but production resources need maintenance support. During the simulation, experiments on such as input values, intermediate buffer capacity, the availability of resources and the number of maintenance workers, are defined as output values, system throughput and the lifecycle of the average product.

## 2 The Buffer Allocation Problem (BAP)

The buffer allocation problem (BAP) is one of the most important questions facing a serial production designer. It is a combined, NP-hard, combinatorial, optimisation problem when designing production lines and the issue is studied by many scientists and theorists around the world. The buffer allocation problem is concerned with the allocation of a certain number of buffers P, among the N-1 intermediate buffer locations of a production line, in order to achieve a specific objective [11]. A production line consists of machines working in a sequence and being separated by buffers (Fig. 1) where the machines are denoted as  $M_1, M_2, ..., M_N$ , and the buffers as  $B_1, B_2, ..., B_{N-1}$ .



Fig. 1. A production line with N machines and N - 1 intermediate buffers.

Also, it is obvious that in each station, there might be a number of parallel machines that boost production and manufacturing systems (Fig. 2).



**Fig. 2.** A series-parallel production line; where: K, L, S and Z – number of machines working in parallel.

358 S. Kłos and D. Stadnicka

In the literature, several types of production lines are taken into account. The classification of production lines can be based on the blocking type, that is, those which block before or after service; job transfer timing, such as, asynchronous, synchronous, continuous; production control mechanisms, such as, push and pull; types of workstations and whether they are reliable or unreliable and career requirements, whether open or closed. BAP can be formulated in three cases depending on the function of the objective. In the first case, the main objective is maximisation of the throughput rate for a given fixed number of buffers. The first BAP case is formulated as follows (1)–(3): fi

$$B = (B_1, B_2, \dots, B_{N-1}) \tag{1}$$

so as to

$$max f(B) \tag{2}$$

subject to

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} B_i = P \tag{3}$$

where B represents a buffer size vector and f(B) represents the throughput rate of the production line as a function of the size vector of the buffers and P is a fixed, non-negative integer denoting the total buffer space available in the manufacturing system. The second BAP case is formulated as follows (4)–(6):

$$B = (B_1, B_2, \dots, B_{N-1}) \tag{4}$$

so as to

$$\min\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} B_i \tag{5}$$

subject to

$$f(B) = f^* \tag{6}$$

where  $f^*$  is the desired throughput rate. The third BAP case is formulated as follows (7)-(10):

find

$$B = (B_1, B_2, \dots, B_{N-1}) \tag{7}$$

so as to

$$min \ Q(B) \tag{8}$$

subject to

$$f(B) = f^* \tag{9}$$

$$\min\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} B_i \le P \tag{10}$$

where Q(B) denotes the inventory of the average work-in-process as a function of the size vector of the buffers and  $f^*$  is the desired throughput rate. This formulation of the problems expresses maximisation of the throughput rate for a fixed, given number of buffers which achieves the desired throughput rate with the minimum total buffer size or minimisation of the inventory of the average *work-in-process* which is subject to the constraints of total buffer size and the desired throughput rate.

...

## **3** The Model of Manufacturing System

The model of the manufacturing system was prepared using Tecnomatix Plant Simulation software (see Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. A model of the manufacturing system created in Tecnomatix Plant Simulation software.

The model includes 4 CNC machines which work fully automatically; the workplaces are prepared for maintenance services. It is assumed that transportation system is failure-free and transportation times are negligibly small compared to the processing times. The WorkerPool object determines the number of maintenance staff which can, of course, vary. The number of maintenance staff is defined as between 1 and 3 workers. Operation times are determined as Uniform distribution which can be used for the modelling of random numbers which are located between the 'start and stop' interval limits. This is useful when little is known about the distribution of random numbers. The function of the density of the probability of distribution, for values between *start* < x < stop, takes the following form (Eq. 11).

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{stop - start} \tag{11}$$

where the average value of the distribution is (12)

$$\sigma^2 = \frac{(stop - start)^2}{2} \tag{12}$$

An example of uniform distribution is presented in the Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. Uniform distribution for the start value = 2 and for the stop value = 6 [12].

The processing times for each of the CNC machines are defined as *start* = 1:00 and *stop* = 5:00. The production materials are delivered from the *Source*, to CNC11 and CNC21 objects on a *round robin* basis, dispatch format. Similarly, parts are distributed from the *Buffer* object into machines CNC12 and CNC22. The simulation experiments are prepared for different numbers of maintenance staff, different availabilities of manufacturing resources and different intermediate buffer capacities. For the manufacturing system model, here presented, the following research problem is formulated: 'Given is a simulation model of a manufacturing system which includes a series parallel production line. What is the impact of buffer capacity, the availability of resources and the number of maintenance workers on throughput and the average lifespan of the system?'

The results of the computer simulation are presented in the next chapter.

# **4** Simulation Experiments – The Results

As is the case with the input of the simulation experiments, the different values for the availability of manufacturing resources and intermediate buffer capacity are taken into account. The input values for simulation experiments are presented in Table 1. The availability of resources changes from 99% to 95% and the buffer capacity increases from 1 to 10. For different combinations of input values, 25 simulation experiments were prepared.

Experiment Availability of machines [%] Buffer					
Experiment	CNC11	CNC21	CNC12	CNC22	Duner
Exp 01	99	99	99	99	1
Exp 02	98	98	98	98	1
Exp 03	97	97	97	97	1
Exp 04	96	96	96	96	1
Exp 05	95	95	95	95	1
Exp 06	99	99	99	99	3
Exp 07	98	98	98	98	3
Exp 08	97	97	97	97	3
Exp 09	96	96	96	96	3
Exp 10	95	95	95	95	3
Exp 11	99	99	99	99	5
Exp 12	98	98	98	98	5
Exp 13	97	97	97	97	5
Exp 14	96	96	96	96	5
Exp 15	95	95	95	95	10
Exp 16	99	99	99	99	10
Exp 17	98	98	98	98	10
Exp 18	97	97	97	97	10
Exp 19	96	96	96	96	10
Exp 20	95	95	99	99	10
Exp 21	99	99	95	95	10
Exp 22	95	99	95	99	10
Exp 23	95	96	97	98	10
Exp 24	99	95	96	97	10
Exp 25	99	98	96	95	10
Exp 26	95	96	98	99	10

**Table 1.** Input values of the simulation experiments

Simulation experiments were conducted for 1 maintenance worker and also for 3 maintenance workers. The values of throughput and for the average lifespan of a product for 1 maintenance worker is presented in Fig. 5.



Fig. 5. Results of simulation experiments for 1 maintenance worker; (a) values of throughput per hour, (b) average *lifespan*.

The lowest throughput value was reached for Exp 05 (availability of resources 95% and buffer capacity 1) and was equal to 28.09 products per hour. The greatest throughput value was reached for experiments Exp 11 and Exp 16 (respectively 35.54 and 35.82 products per hour). For experiment Exp 11, the average lifespan of the products equalled 11:21, while for Exp 16, it equalled 13:29. From an analysis of the results of the throughput, it can be stated that buffer capacity impacts on this parameter. The throughput of the system, for buffer capacity 1 and for a 99% availability of

resources, was 33.35 (Exp 01) while a buffer capacity of 10, with the same availability of resources, equalled 35.82, the difference equating to 2.42 products per hour per a maintenance worker (Exp 16).

The same simulation experiments were conducted for 3 maintenance workers. The results are presented in Fig. 6.



Min-Max intervals with guartiles

Fig. 6. Results of simulation experiments for 2 maintenance workers; (a) values of throughput per hour, (b) average *lifespan*.

An increase in the number of workers resulted in only minimal differences presenting, among the best throughput values, for the maximum availability of resources (99%). Maintenance can usually be continued, the average lifespan of the products being relatively smaller than for the first scenario. The best throughput values were reached for experiments Exp 11 and Exp 16 (respectively 37.60 and 38.06 products per hour). The difference between the system's throughput for buffer capacities 1 and 10 and for the availability of resources at 99% was slightly more than for the former case. The system's throughput for buffer capacity 1 and for the availability of resources at 99% was 35.29 (Exp 01) while for buffer capacity 10, with the same availability of resources (Exp 16), this equalled 38.06, the difference being 2.77 products per hour per 2 maintenance workers. Increasing the number of maintenance workers to 3 or even more, had no influence on the earlier increase in throughput or on the average lifespan of the product.

The average differences between the values of the output with the same buffer capacity, vis-à-vis the minimum/maximum availability of resources, were greater for the system with only 1 maintenance worker, at 4.93 products per hour, than for the system with 2 maintenance workers, at only 1.68 products per hour. The greatest throughput was reached with the maximum availability of all resources and with the greatest buffer capacity. The greatest value for the average lifespan of products was reached with a buffer capacity equalling 10, while the largest difference presented between the availability of resources (Exp 21). The main conclusions of the research are presented in the last chapter.

## 5 Statistical Analysis of the Results

The obtained results (Table 2) were subjected to statistical analysis. Availability of machines was on five levels (A1 – 99%, A2 – 98%, A3 – 97%, A4 – 96%, A5 – 95%), buffer size was on four levels (B1 – 1 pcs, B2 – 3 pcs, B3 – 5 pcs, B4 – 10 pcs), number of operators was on wo levels (O1 – 1 operator, O2 – 2 operators). The analysis were performed to verify the hypotheses presented in Table 3. P-values being the results of performed Anova analysis on the confidence level equalled 95% are also presented in Table 3. The analysis were performed in Minitab 16.

All presented hypotheses were rejected. It means that levels of machines availability, size of buffer and number of operators have significant influence on Throughput as well as on average Lifespan. The next question is what is the influence of inputs on outputs. To answer this question a regression analysis on the base of data from planed experiments were made.

Experiments were made according to  $2^3$  full factorial design, where availability were taken on levels 99% and 96%, buffer was on levels 1 pcs and 10 pcs and number of operators was 1 operator and 2 operators (Table 4). On the base of the performed experiments the regression Eqs. (13) and (14) were derived.

$$T = 0.947A + 0.3B + 3.61O - 65.1 \tag{13}$$

No of	Availability of	Buffer	No of	Throughput	Lifespan
experiment	machines (A) [%]	(B)	operators (O)	(T) [pcs/hour]	(L) [min]
Exp 01-01	A1	B1	01	33.3542	561
Exp 02-02	A2	B1	01	31.7833	589
Exp 03-03	A3	B1	01	30.4917	612
Exp 04-04	A4	B1	01	28.8417	648
Exp 05-05	A5	B1	01	28.0917	665
Exp 06-06	A1	B3	01	35.0292	621
Exp 07-07	A2	B3	01	33.4458	660
Exp 08-08	A3	B3	01	31.8625	696
Exp 09-09	A4	B3	01	30.3708	736
Exp 10-10	A5	B3	01	29.3375	766
Exp 11-11	A1	B5	01	35.5417	681
Exp 12–12	A2	B5	01	33.8958	733
Exp 13–13	A3	B5	01	32.1833	797
Exp 14-14	A4	B5	01	31.1083	831
Exp 15-15	A5	B10	01	30.5333	1090
Exp 16-16	A1	B10	01	35.8167	810
Exp 17–17	A2	B10	01	34.2875	902
Exp 18-18	A3	B10	01	32.9583	972
Exp 19–19	A4	B10	01	31.6250	1047
Exp 01-20	A1	B1	O2	35.2958	535
Exp 02–21	A2	B1	O2	34.9125	541
Exp 03-22	A3	B1	O2	34.4125	548
Exp 04-23	A4	B1	O2	33.9583	555
Exp 05-24	A5	B1	O2	33.4625	563
Exp 06-25	A1	B3	O2	37.1125	597
Exp 07-26	A2	B3	O2	36.6458	604
Exp 08-27	A3	B3	O2	36.2167	613
Exp 09-28	A4	B3	O2	35.6958	619
Exp 10-29	A5	B3	O2	35.1875	630
Exp 11-30	A1	B5	O2	37.6000	662
Exp 12-31	A2	B5	O2	37.1417	665
Exp 13-32	A3	B5	O2	36.8292	671
Exp 14-33	A4	B5	O2	36.2708	685
Exp 15-34	A5	B10	O2	36.2625	791
Exp 16-35	A1	B10	02	38.0625	767
Exp 17-36	A2	B10	O2	37.6292	788
Exp 18-37	A3	B10	02	37.1750	790
Exp 19–38	A4	B10	O2	36.7458	779

Table 2. Coded inputs and values of outputs of the simulation experiments

No	Hypotheses	P-value
1	H0: There is no statistically justified difference between values of Throughput obtained for different levels of machines availability	0,000
2	H0: There is no statistically justified difference between values of Throughput obtained for different size of buffer	0,000
3	H0: There is no statistically justified difference between values of Throughput obtained for different number of operators	0,000
4	H0: There is no statistically justified difference between values of average Lifespan obtained for different levels of machines availability	0,001
5	H0: There is no statistically justified difference between values of average Lifespan obtained for different size of buffer	0,000
6	H0: There is no statistically justified difference between values of average Lifespan obtained for different number of operators	0,000
7	H0: There is no statistically justified difference between values of Throughput obtained for different levels of machines availability	0,000

Table 3. Hypothesis and results of Anova analysis

**Table 4.** Values of input and outputs of the simulation experiments according to  $2^3$  full factorial design

No of experiment	Availability of machines (A) [%]	Buffer (B)	No of operators	Throughput (T) [pcs/hour]	Lifespan (L) [min]
			(0)		
Exp 01-01	99	1	1	33.3542	561
Exp 04-02	96	1	1	28.8417	648
Exp 16-03	99	10	1	35.8167	810
Exp 19-04	96	10	1	31.6250	1047
Exp 01-05	99	1	2	35.2958	535
Exp 04-06	96	1	2	33.9583	555
Exp 16-07	99	10	2	38.0625	767
Exp 19-08	96	10	2	36.7458	779

$$L = -29.7A + 30.7B - 108O + 3598 \tag{14}$$

Machines availability, size of buffer as well as number of operators have positive influence on value of throughput. Size of buffer has also positive influence on value of lifespan, while machines availability and number of operators have negative influence on value of lifespan.

# 6 Conclusions and Further Researches

In the paper, the results of the simulation experiments conducted on the model of a series parallel production line, is presented. The impact of intermediate buffer capacity, the availability of resources and the number of maintenance workers on the output and

average lifespan of a product, within a manufacturing system, was analysed. The manufacturing system model was created using Tecnomatix Plant Simulation software. To analyse the system's behaviour, two series of 26 simulation experiments were performed for 1 maintenance worker and for 2 maintenance workers. The results of the research will be used for productions planning decision support system [13, 14]. For the input values of the simulation research, different combinations of buffer capacities and availabilities of resources were prepared. The following final conclusions can be formulated:

- 1. Buffer capacity has a significant impact on the throughput and average lifespan of products of a series parallel production line.
- 2. For different combinations of the availability of resources and buffer capacities, similar throughput values can be obtained.
- 3. The average lifespan of products depends on intermediate buffer capacity and on the allocation of the availability of resources.
- 4. However, the actual number of maintenance workers which guarantees the greatest throughput value, with regard to the allocation of buffer capacity and the availability of resources, in a series parallel production line, is critical.

The results presented are only a small part of the simulation research into manufacturing systems where the buffer allocation problem is taken into account. In further research, more complex systems will be analysed because, at that time, the input variable for the MTTR simulation experiments, that is, Mean Time To Repair, will be taken into consideration.

## References

- Burduk, A., Chlebus, E.: Variant simulation in design and risk estimation of manufacturing system. J. Manuf. Technol. Manag. 17(4), 448–459 (2006)
- Jasiulewicz-Kaczmarek, M., Bartkowiak, T.: Improving the performance of a filling line based on simulation. In: ModTech International Conference - Modern Technologies in Industrial Engineering IV. IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering, vol. 145 (2016)
- 3. Negahban, A., Smith, J.S.: Simulation for manufacturing system design and operation: literature review and analysis. J. Manuf. Syst. **33**, 241–261 (2014)
- Ni, J., Jin, X.: Decision support systems for effective maintenance operations. CIRP Ann. Manuf. Technol. 61(1), 411–414 (2012)
- 5. Mjema, E.: An analysis of personnel capacity requirements in the maintenance department by using a simulation method. J. Qual. Maint. Eng. **8**(3), 253–273 (2002)
- Iassinovski, S., Artiba, A., Fagnart, C.: A generic production, rules-based system for online simulation, decision making and discrete process control. Int. J. Prod. Econ. 112(1), 62–76 (2008)
- Boschian, V., Rezg, N., Chelbi, A.: Contribution of simulation to the optimisation of maintenance strategies for a randomly failing production system. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 197(3), 1142–1149 (2009)

- 8. Allaoui, H., Artiba, A.: Integrating simulation and optimisation to schedule a hybrid flow shop with maintenance constraints. Comput. Ind. Eng. **47**(4), 431–450 (2004)
- Horenbeek, A., Pintelon, L., Muchiri, P.: Maintenance optimisation models and criteria. Int. J. Syst. Assur. Eng. Manag. 1(3), 189–200 (2010)
- Rosqvist, T., Laakso, K., Reunanen, M.: Value-driven maintenance planning for a production plant. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Safety 94(1), 97–110 (2009)
- 11. Demir, L., Tunali, S., Eliiyi, D.T.: The state of the art on the buffer allocation problem: a comprehensive survey. J. Intell. Manuf. **25**, 371–392 (2014)
- 12. Tecnomatix Plant Simulation Software Package documentation
- Kujawińska, A., Rogalewicz, M., Diering, M., Hamrol, A.: Statistical approach to making decisions in manufacturing process of floorboard. In: Recent Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, WorldCIST 2017. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 571, pp. 499–508. Springer, Heidelberg (2017)
- Trojanowska, J., Varela, M.L.R., Machado, J.: The tool supporting decision making process in area of job-shop scheduling. In: Recent Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, WorldCIST 2017. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 571, pp. 490–498. Springer, Heidelberg (2017)

# Planning and Assessment of Manufacturing Processes Flow Variants Based on a Simulation Experiment

Sławomir Kukla<sup>(🖂)</sup>

University of Bielsko-Biala, Willowa 2, 43-309 Bielsko-Biala, Poland skukla@ath.bielsko.pl

Abstract. The article presents issues relating to planning, improvement and assessment of manufacturing processes flow variants based on a simulation experiment. A computer simulation model has been created, on which simulation experiments were planned and carried out for several scenarios of events. To carry out the research, a simulation model of a line in universal Arena software for modelling and simulation of manufacturing systems by Rockwell Software Inc. was created. An analysis of work intensity was carried out and the costs were divided in order to identify operations with no value added, particularly at individual manufacturing departments. Also an analysis of ergonomics at work stations was carried. The results of the simulation experiment were subject to a multi-criteria evaluation in order to select an efficient process flow variant. A developed system for supporting making up manufacturing decisions was presented on the example of manufacturing processes of sports equipment. The summary of the obtained results reflects benefits from implementation of the proposed solutions.

Keywords: Modelling · Simulation and design · Production planning

# 1 Introduction

Modelling and simulation techniques of manufacturing processes are increasingly used to solve problems at the production set-up stage as well as the production stage itself. Modelling and simulation is a technique that allows to quickly analyse different scenarios of events on a computer model of a system. The essence of modelling is not a mathematical description of physical phenomena occurring in a given system but on a description of functional links among the components of a studied system and external factors. Modelling of manufacturing systems comes down to determining characteristics and action of individual elements of the system as well as relationship among them. The manufacturing process may be presented a set of dynamic systems consisting of a series of unrelated or related processes, in which each process is defined as a string of specific actions [1, 2, 8, 10, 14].

In case of production control, simulation allows to plan the most effective control method for a controlled material stream.

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_35

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

In order to facilitate and accelerate development of input data for a simulation experiment, a simulation package should be integrated with the company's databases (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. A company's information system as a source of data for modelling and simulation

The system for modelling and simulation should be integrated also with the company's IT system. Thanks to such an integration, it will be possible to create a tool for facilitating making up manufacturing decisions, enabling to automatically import and export manufacturing data, and to improve flexibility and efficiency of simulation studies [7, 11].

## 2 Modelling and Simulation of Manufacturing Systems

Figure 2 presents a general concept of the course of a simulation project. The first step of the project is to define a problem. Then, the concept of a model should be specified. In this phase of the simulation project a problem is defined and analysed, usefulness of records is assessed, initial assumptions are made, logical bases of a model are set and input parameters are specified and defined. A detailed analysis of the situation and precise defining of project objectives are crucial for proper scope and level of detail of the simulation model, schedule of realization of the project as well as comparison and price of alternative solutions.



Fig. 2. A course of a simulation project

The next step of the project is to collect and prepare necessary data, such as technical parameters of the equipment, availability of work stations, cycle times, auxiliary times, preparatory and set-up times, material flow diagrams, cost information, scheduling strategies, machines and equipment operation times. Quantity, quality and form of input data have a great importance for a simulation project.

While developing a manufacturing system model, above all, the boundaries of the system, connection of the system with the environment are defined, work stations and their mutual relations with defined material and information flows are modelled.

When the model is developed, it is tested and verified. Before approving the model, it should be thoroughly checked through analysis of the results of the test and observation of a computer animation in order to become convinced about its correctness. The results of a simulation on a model and current data from a real system should be compared.

Upon approval of a model, a simulation experiment should be planned. A computer simulation is not just random experimentation on a model by trial and error. To plan the experiment, large experience and knowledge of methodology of experimental research is necessary. Planning simulation experiments is based on specifying type, number and order of analyses to be carried out, which should be implemented in order to obtain the research objectives. While planning a simulation experiment, a plan that will ensure reliability of characteristics of a real system in the most efficient and an economical way should be selected.

A simulation experiment, which allows for evaluation of the tested system, is carried out upon planning. As a result of simulation experiments carried out on a computer model, a set of reports is obtained. Variants which do not fit to the allowed set of solutions due to certain limits (such as exceeding implementation time or profitability threshold) should be eliminated out of the experiments carried out. Variants from the set of acceptable solutions should be evaluated and the best solution should be selected [3, 5, 7, 9, 11-13].

# 3 The System for Supporting Making up Manufacturing Decisions Based on a Simulation Experiment and a Multi-criteria Assessment of Variants

The choice of the best solution is difficult if multiple criteria are used for an assessment. To solve the problem, a combination of a simulation experiment and a multi-criteria assessment in accordance with a point-by-point method of assessment according to Yager has been suggested (Fig. 3). The procedure of assessing variants in line with this method was described in the works of [4, 6, 9, 10].

In the framework of the presented example, the criteria of assessment and their significance were determined according to the Saaty's method. The criteria were compared in pairs by assigning them grades in line with the scale provided below: individual b<sub>ii</sub> values of the matrix being developed were adopted as follows:

- $b_{ij} = 1$  where  $k_i$  and  $k_j$  are equivalent,
- $b_{ij} = 3$  where  $k_i$  is a bit more important than  $k_j$ ,
- $b_{ij} = 5$  where  $k_i$  is a lot more important than  $k_j$ ,
- $b_{ij} = 7$  where  $k_i$  is evidently more important than  $k_j$ ,
- $b_{ij} = 9$  where  $k_i$  is absolutely more important than  $k_j$ ,
- $b_{ij} = 2, 4, 6, 8$  intermediate values,
- $b_{ji} = 1/b_{ij}$ .

Subsequently, one cumulative matrix of significance of criteria was created and coordinates of a latent root were set, on the basis of which the weights of criteria were specified.

Based on reports from the simulation experiment, individual variants of solutions were assessed according to each criteria separately. The grades of variants were brought to normalised values and cumulative normalised grades were created by averaging of grades indicated for individual experts. On this basis, normalised



Fig. 3. A system for supporting decisions based on a multi-criteria assessment of variants on the basis of the results of a simulation experiment

decisions were created by raising each component of subsequent normalised grades to a power equal to the appropriate weight of a criteria.

As a consequence, an optimal decision was created, on the basis of which a reasonable course of manufacturing process was selected and implemented in a real system. The best variant of the course of the manufacturing process is a variant to which the highest component in an optimal decision corresponds, i.e. the highest value of a degree of belonging to the set of acceptable solutions.

# 4 A Description of the Results Obtained

The object of research in the study is a system for manufacturing winter sport equipment.

The purpose of research is to improve organization of material flows in the CNC department and the preparation room by identifying sources of losses using simulation tools. Arena software created by Rockwell Software Inc. was used in the research. This universal software was originally dedicated for business analysts and consultants. At present, it is also used by engineers as a computer tool to aid engineering work. A simulation model was created in this tool for the experiment, the fragment of which was presented in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. A fragment of a manufacturing system model in the Arena package

The results obtained by a method of a simulation experiment were assessed in terms of four criteria (Fig. 5):

- Performance,
- Transport costs,
- Average use of work production stations,
- Station costs.

In a developed Excel worksheet the validity of individual criteria was assessed by comparing them in pairs (Fig. 6). On the basis of a cumulative matrix of criteria significance, a latent root was specified with the use of a developed programme, which carried out calculations on the basis of the power method.

The results obtained from the simulation were used to estimate costs. Subsequently, individual variants of solutions were assessed under each of the criteria, a board



Fig. 5. A graphic presentation of results of the experiment

of cumulative normalised grades were created and aggregation of grades of variants including the weights of criteria was carried out (Fig. 7).

On the basis of so-called optimal decision, the best variant of the manufacturing process flow was set. The best variant appeared to be the solution marked as  $V_{5.}$ 



Fig. 6. Significance assessment of criteria according to the Saaty's method



Fig. 7. A multi-criteria assessment of variants and a selection of the best solution

## 5 Summary and Conclusions

The analysis of the results of the experiment has a great importance for the success of the whole simulation project. Each mistake made during the assessment of the results is able to completely destroy planning and realization of the experiment on a computer model.

At the stage of production planning, a simulation might be used both to specify capacity of selected production stations, lead time of production tasks as well as estimation of costs being paid.

Simulation is a very good tool facilitating a decision-making process at various levels of managing the company. In conjunction with the methods of a multi-criteria assessment, it allows for a more complex approach to difficult and complex problems relating to manufacturing management processes.

# References

- 1. Dennis, P.: Lean Production Simplified. CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton (2016)
- 2. Dima, I.C., Man, M.: Modelling and Simulation in Management. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2015)
- Kelton, W.D., Sadowski, R.P., Sturrock, D.T.: Simulation with ARENA. McGraw-Hill Inc., New York (2007)
- 4. Kukla, S.: Improving the organization of iron casts finishing processes. Arch. Foundry Eng. **15**(2), 55–58 (2015)
- 5. Kukla, S.: Modelling and optimization of organization of workplaces in a foundry. Arch. Foundry Eng. 16(3), 55–58 (2016)
- Kukla, S.: Multi-criterion assessment of different variants of casts manufacturing processes. Arch. Foundry Eng. 14(3), 47–50 (2014)
- Maciąg, A., Piertroń, R., Kukla, S.: Prognozowanie i symulacja w przedsiębiorstwie. Polskie Wydawnictwo Ekonomiczne, Warszawa (2013)
- 8. Manas, J.: The Resource Management and Capacity Planning Handbook. McGraw-Hill Companies, New York City (2015)
- 9. Matuszek, J., Kukla, S.: Analysis of foundry production systems on the basis of modelling and simulation. Acta Mech. Slov. **13**(2), 106–111 (2009)
- 10. Owens, T., Fernandez, O.: The Lean Enterprise: How Corporations Can Innovate Like Startups. Wiley, Hoboken (2014)
- 11. Plinta, D.: Modelowanie i symulacja procesów produkcyjnych. Wydawnictwo Naukowe Akademii Techniczno-Humanistycznej, Bielsko-Biała (2015)
- 12. Rainey, L.B., Tolk, A.: Modeling and Simulation Support for Systems of Systems Engineering Applications. Wiley, Hoboken (2015)
- 13. Rossetti, M.D.: Simulation Modelling and Arena. Wiley, Hoboken (2016)
- 14. Womack, J., Jones, D.: Lean Solutions: How Companies and Customers Can Create Value and Wealth Together. Simon & Schuster, London (2007)
- 15. Zadeh, L., Kacprzyk, J.: Fuzzy Logic for the Management of Uncertainty. Wiley, New York (1992)

# Smart Innovation Engineering (SIE): Experience-Based Product Innovation System for Industry 4.0

Mohammad Maqbool Waris<sup>1(⊠)</sup>, Cesar Sanin<sup>1</sup>, and Edward Szczerbicki<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> ES320, University of Newcastle, Callaghan, NSW 2308, Australia MohammadMaqbool. Waris@uon.edu.au, cesar.sanin@newcastle.edu.au
<sup>2</sup> Gdansk University of Technology, Gdansk, Poland edward.szczerbicki@newcastle.edu.au

**Abstract.** This paper presents a semi-automatic system capable of facilitating product innovation process. This system, known as Smart Innovation Engineering (SIE) system, helps in decision-making by using the explicit knowledge of formal decision events. The SIE system carries the promise to support the innovation processes of manufactured products in a quick and efficient way. It stores and reuses the past decisional events or sets of experiences related to innovation issues, which significantly enhances innovation progression.

This system can be potentially used in large enterprises manufacturing a range of similar products or a group of Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). The analysis of basic concepts and implementation method proves that SIE system is an expert system facilitating Cyber Physical Systems (CPS) and it can play a vital role towards Industry 4.0. This system provides flexibility and customization of products, is quick and systematic, and can be further extended and used for lean innovation and sustainable innovation.

Keywords: Smart Innovation Engineering  $\cdot$  Product innovation  $\cdot$  Industry 4.0  $\cdot$  Set of experience  $\cdot$  Decisional DNA

## 1 Introduction

Due to shear competition among similar manufacturing organizations and high customer expectation for quality products at lower costs, manufacturing units need to implement changes in their products regularly and systematically. They are also facing continuous market changes and need for short product life cycles [1]. Furthermore introduction of new/smart products into the market, technological advancements, development of new materials having enhanced properties/lower costs, improved/costeffective manufacturing processes, and other similar factors intensify their problems [2]. To overcome this, and for the prosperity and survival of the manufacturing unit in this competitive market, the entrepreneurs and manufacturing organizations have to introduce new features in their products, leading to innovation. They have to repeat the

Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6\_36

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology:

product innovation process after a particular time, otherwise their product may become obsolete.

Proper knowledge management therefore plays an important role in product design and innovation for taking effective decisions. In the past, knowledge-based industrial design and manufacturing techniques have been used with considerable success. But they need to be smarter, as they are costly, time-consuming, domain-specific, unreliable in their intelligence and more importantly their inability to take into account the previous experiences [3, 4].

The World is moving forward towards fourth industrial revolution that is known as Industry 4.0. At the Hanover Fair in 2011, an initiative named "Industry 4.0" was promoted by an association of representatives from business, politics, and academia as an approach to strengthening the competitiveness of the German manufacturing industry.

The term Industry 4.0 refers to the fourth industrial revolution and is often understood as the application of the generic concept of Cyber Physical Systems (CPSs). CPSs refer to the next generation of engineered systems that require tight integration of computing, communication, and control technologies to achieve stability, performance, reliability, robustness, and efficiency in dealing with physical systems of many application domains [5].

Knowledge Engineering (KE) and Knowledge Management (KM) are important role players in cyber-physical systems. The concept of Virtual engineering object (VEO) proposed by Shafiq et al. [6, 7] is experience-based knowledge representation of engineering objects can be treated as specific form of CPS and consequently can be utilized in design of Industry 4.0. The concept was extended further by Waris et al. [8–10] into Smart Innovation Engineering (SIE) system. The SIE system uses a collective, team-like knowledge developed by past experiences of the innovation-related formal decisional events. Through this systematic approach, product innovation process can be performed semi-automatically. Smart design and manufacturing systems capable of continuous design/innovation, configuration, monitoring and maintenance of operational capability, quality, and efficiency are, in fact, a requirement for the Industry 4.0 [11]. According to the European commission under the Horizons 2020 program, the self-learning closing feedback loop between production and design should be included in future factories. The goal here is to show how SIE system can be considered as a step forward towards Industry 4.0.

## 2 Background

To clearly understand the idea, some concepts are described below that will also be helpful in justifying the inter-relationship among each other.

### 2.1 Product Innovation

The key features for designing and manufacturing a new product are: required features/functions of the product (based on the human aspects so as to make it more

valuable for users), technology, resources and materials available, manufacturing processes, and other such factors at that time [8-10]. For the prosperity and survival of the manufacturing unit in this competitive market, the entrepreneurs and manufacturing organizations have to introduce new features in their products, leading to innovation. They have to repeat the product innovation process after a particular time, otherwise their product may become obsolete.

In fact, the process of product innovation is very difficult and complex. Both knowledge and experience are essential attributes of an innovator that are necessary to find the best possible solution for the required changes, leading to achieve innovation. These changes are based on the innovative objectives reapplied to the established, existing product. These innovation objectives can be determined through various techniques. Some of which are lead user analysis [12], beta testing [13], consumer idealized design [14], use of online user toolkits [15] to name a few. Apart from that new technological advancements in materials or processes are required along with the experts' advice for stating the innovation objectives. Product innovation process has to be quick and systematic so that the changes in the product may be implemented at the required time.

In the context of manufactured products, product innovation can be defined as the process of making required changes to the already established product by introducing something new that adds value to users and also providing expertise knowledge that can be stored in the organization [16]. Knowledge and innovation play an important role in regional growth, and it is not a new issue at all. Innovation plays an important role in providing competitive advantage for manufacturing organizations [17].

Thus, innovation-related activities have become a key imperative for many manufacturing organizations. Strategy for implementation of product innovation includes the use of better components, new materials, advanced technologies, and new product features/functions. External factors such as legislation and sustainable development also affect implementation of product innovation. Another factor that is considered during product innovation process is ergonomics. Research suggests that ergonomics is related to product characteristics such as safety, efficiency of use, and comfort aimed at maximizing customer satisfaction [18]. Ergonomic properties are recognized as important because firms are competing on ease of use of the product [19]. Moreover, the establishment of cross-functional, multidisciplinary teams was found to be vital to the success of the innovation project [20].

From the above discussion, it is clear that product innovation is highly complex process that requires vast knowledge and other external factors. Product innovation process can be facilitated by a system that uses a collective, team-like knowledge developed by experiences of the past decisions related to product innovation. This system is called Smart Innovation Engineering (SIE) System.

#### 2.2 Industry 4.0: The Fourth Industrial Revolution

The concept of Industry 4.0 came into existence in 2011, when an association of representatives from academia, business, and politics promoted the idea as an approach for strengthening the competitiveness of the German manufacturing industry [21]. The

term "Industry 4.0" is used for the fourth industrial revolution which is about to take place right now. In the history of mankind, the first industrial revolution was the introduction of mechanization of production systems started in the second half of the 18th century and being intensified throughout the entire 19th century. The second industrial revolution started from the 1870s led by electrification, assembly line and the division of labor. The third industrial revolution, also called "the digital revolution", set in around the 1970s, when advanced electronics and information technology developed further the automation of production processes.

Industry 4.0 is a collective term for technologies and concepts of value chain organization. Within the modular structured Smart Factories of Industry 4.0, CPS monitor physical processes, create a virtual copy of the physical world and make decentralized decisions. Over the Internet of Things (IoT), CPS communicate and cooperate with each other and humans in real time. Via Internet of Services (IoS), both internal and cross organizational services are offered and utilized by participants of the value chain [22]. Therefore Industry 4.0 is a concept that will transform current industries into Smart Factories having a well-defined network of intelligent machines, smart products, systems and processes creating real world virtualization into a huge information system. Potential benefits of Industry 4.0 are flexibility, reduced lead times, reduced costs and customization of products.

#### 2.3 Cyber Physical Systems

Cyber Physical Systems has drawn a great deal of attention from academia, industry, and the government due to its potential benefits to society, economy, and the environment. CPSs require tight integration of computing, communication, and control technologies to achieve stability, performance, reliability, robustness, and efficiency in dealing with physical systems of many application domains. Application of CPS in the manufacturing industry leads to Cyber Physical Production System (CPPS) and hence the ability for continuous viewing of product, production equipment and production system under consideration [23].

According to the European Commission under the Horizons 2020 program, the self-learning closing feedback loop between production and design should be included in future factories for optimizing energy expenditure and minimizing waste as a direct relation to the enhancement in control and immediate information processing that a CPS will provide. The Internet of Things will make a new wave of technological changes that will decentralize production control and trigger a paradigm shift in manufacturing. It is highly likely that the world of production will become increasingly networked until everything is interlinked [7].

## 3 Smart Innovation Engineering (SIE) System

The importance of the aforementioned aspects creates the necessity for systems that collectively work together for Industry 4.0. We propose one of such system known as Smart Innovation Engineering (SIE) system. This system is technically an extension of

the work developed by Shafiq et al. [6] known as Virtual Engineering Object (VEO) which permits dual computerized/real-world representation of an engineering artifact. VEO is a specialization of CPS in terms of its extension into knowledge gathering and reuse, whereas CPS is aimed only toward data and information management [6, 7].

The SIE system is a prominent tool to support the innovation processes in a quick and efficient way. It stores the experiential knowledge of the past decisional events related to product innovation in the form of sets of experience and uses such experiential knowledge in decision making. Manufacturing organizations and entrepreneurs can take improved decisions systematically and at an appropriate time by implementing the SIE system in the process of product innovation. The SIE System is based on the Set of Experience Knowledge Structure (SOE) and Decisional DNA (DDNA), which were first presented by Sanin and Szczerbicki [24]. It is a Smart Knowledge Management System (SKMS) capable of storing formal decision events explicitly [25, 26].

The architecture of SIE system is shown in Fig. 1. It consists of three main modules: Systems, Usability and SIE\_Experience and is also linked with VEO-DDNA. SIE system extracts the knowledge about the manufacturing scenario of the product from the VEO-DDNA, these are required only for the purpose of selecting relevant manufacturing process and better material for required quality. Other three modules (Systems, Usability, and Experience) are more important for the purpose of innovation process [2]. The Systems, Usability and Experience modules are crucial modules of the SIE system.



Fig. 1. Architecture of SIE-DDNA.

#### 3.1 Implementation of SIE System

As we have discussed earlier that the structure of the Smart Innovation Engineering System includes three modules (Systems, Usability and SIE\_Experience). Sets of experience are created for each module individually that allows the experience-based knowledge to be stored more systematically for a wide range of similar manufactured products. Set of experience is a unique combination of Variables, Functions, Constraints and Rules. Proper implementation of SIE System requires its integration with the Decisional DNA. Sets of experience are generated for each individual modules having specific weightages for the variables of the product. Combination of all the individual Sets of experience are combined under the SIE system that represents complete knowledge and experience necessary for supporting innovation process of manufactured products.

As the decisional DNA is constructed in JAVA and has been successfully applied in various other fields of application like virtual engineering factory, industrial maintenance, diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease by decision support medical system, banking activities involving periodic decision making and storing information, digital control system of the geothermal and renewable energy, e-decisional community, and smart interactive TV to name a few.

The code for SIE system was written in Java programming using Windows 7 operating system. The complete information about manufactured product is stored in each module in Comma Separated Values (CSV) files. This information is in the form of sets of Variable, Functions, Constraints and Rules. Separate CSV files were generated for all modules viz. Characteristics, Functions, Systems, etc. A parser was written in Java programming language to read these files. This parser reads Variables, Functions, Constraints and Rules from CSV files. The CSV files contains data in standard format so that the parser collects information as required.

First the parser looks for the term 'Variables' and goes to the next line. The first line after the term 'Variables' contains the name of the Variables. It stores values written in each cell of the first line as the 'Name' of the Variables. Each line after this contains the Value of the corresponding Variables. The parser assigns the values to the respective Variables. This group of Variables is stored in the system as one 'Set of Variables'. Similarly the parser reads the second set of values from the CSV file and assigns them to the respective Variables that is stored as the second 'Set of Variables'.

The same process continues until the parser finds the term 'Functions', 'Constraints', or 'Rules'. In the same way, the parser reads 'Set of Functions', 'Set of Constraints', and 'Set of Rules' from the CSV file. One 'Set of variables' plus 'Set of Functions', 'Set of Constraints', and 'Set of Rules' are combined together to form one Set of Experience (SOE). Each line containing the values of Variables results in corresponding SOE.

Same procedure is repeated for other CSV files representing data for different modules of SIE System. Each file represents a category of the SIE System. Collection of SOE of the same category forms a Chromosome of the SIE System and collection of different Chromosomes (for each Module) forms what we call as Decisional DNA (DDNA) of the SIE System.

Graphical User Interphase (GUI) for the SIE System is shown in Fig. 2. This GUI will allow the user to interact with SIE System in a user-friendly language. The user can select the set of values from the drop-down menu and the also be able to define the required Constraints and preferences in the form of set of variables with selected values. This set of information (Query) is then converted into SOE and compared with the similar Sets of Experience that were generated by the SIE System from CSV files as

SMART INNOVATION ENGINE	ERING (SIE) SYSTEM	6) Smart Innovation Management in	
Select Product Name	Select Innovation Objective/s	Define all the Constraints/Preferences Variable Operator Value	
ScrewJack_WormGear  ScrewJack_WormGear	InnovationObjective1	Variable1 = -	Reset
ThrustBearing_Ball Product A Product B			
Product C			Run Query
Add Product Name	Add Innovation Objective	Add Constraint	!
Solution based on Query	1		

Fig. 2. Graphical User Interphase (GUI) for SIE System

explained above. The SIE System then compares the results of the most similar SOE and stores the changes that were made in those Products. These SOE actually represents the experiential knowledge of the successful changes made in product innovation processes of the group of similar products or products with similar features or objectives. Each past decision (SOE) has its Performance Factor [2] that represents the success of the decision taken in that Product Innovation process. The SIE System looks for the best available option for a change that fits in the current Product (based on the constraints/preference set by the user).

The SIE System provides a list of proposed solutions (say 10) that is displaced in the GUI. At this time, the user/entrepreneur/innovator has the privilege to select the best possible solution from that list. This selected final solution is stored in the SIE System as SOE that can be used in future for similar query. In this way, the SIE System is a semi-automatic system that facilitates the process of Product Innovation. The SIE System gains experience with each decision taken that increases its expertise and behaves as an expert in its domain.

## 3.2 SIE: A Step Forward Towards Industry 4.0

The importance or contribution of SIE system can be justified from the potential benefits that it offers towards the establishment of Industry 4.0 that itself is a complex system. Some of them are described here:

*More Flexibility:* SIE system will allow the manufacturing organizations to choose from the list of proposed solutions based on user preferences. Thus allowing the flexibility in product innovation process.

*Quick and Systematic:* Due to its fast computational capabilities, innovation process is much quicker as compared to the time taken by human group of experts. The process is systematic due to the fact that SIE system behaves as the group of experts that possesses the knowledge required for Product innovation.

*Customization:* Industry 4.0 allows the incorporation of individual customer-specific criteria concerning design, configuration, ordering, planning, production and operation as well as enabling modifications to be made at short notice. Using SIE system will definitely help in achieving the designing of customized products.

*Reduction in Costs:* Implementation of SIE system in manufacturing industries will reduce their dependability on experts which will result in significant cost reduction in product innovation process.

Apart from that, the SIE system can be used confidently in the field of lean product development, lean innovation, and sustainable innovation.

# 4 Conclusion

This paper presented the concept of Smart Innovation Engineering (SIE) that enhances the product innovation process. Implementing this system in manufacturing organizations will allow them to take quick and systematic innovation-related decisions. The analysis of basic concepts and implementation method proves that SIE is an expert system that can facilitate Cyber Physical Systems (CPS) and it can play a vital role towards the establishment of Industry 4.0 and has the potential to be used further for lean innovation and sustainable innovation in future. The SIE system has the potential to be used by large enterprises or group of SMEs, manufacturing similar products sharing data among themselves.

# References

- Wim, J.C., Verhagen, P.B., Garcia, R.E., Dijk, C.V., Curran, R.: A critical review of knowledge-based engineering: an identification of research challenges. Adv. Eng. Inform. 21 (1), 5–15 (2012)
- Waris, M.M., Sanin, C., Szczerbicki, E.: A semiautomatic experience-based tool for solving product innovation problem. Cybern. Syst. 48(3), 231–248 (2017)

- 3. Qiu, Y.F., Chui, Y.P., Helander, M.G.: Cognitive understanding of knowledge processing and modeling in design. J. Knowl. Manag. **12**, 156–168 (2008)
- Duong, T.H., Nguyen, N.T., Jo, G.S.: Constructing and mining—a semantic-based academic social network. J. Intell. Fuzzy Syst. 21, 197–207 (2010)
- Lee, E.: Cyber Physical Systems: Design Challenges. University of California, Berkeley (2008). Contract No.: Technical report no. UCB/EECS-2008-8
- Shafiq, S.I., Sanin, C., Szczerbicki, E., Toro, C.: Virtual engineering objects/virtual engineering processes: a specialized form of cyber physical systems and industry 4.0. Procedia Comput. Sci. 60, 1146–1155 (2015). doi:10.1016/j.procs.2015.08.166
- Shafiq, S.I., Sanin, C., Toro, C., Szczerbicki, E.: Virtual engineering (VEO): towards experience-based design and manufacturing for industry 4.0. Cybern. Syst. 46, 35–50 (2015). doi:10.1080/01969722.2015.1007734
- Waris, M.M., Sanin, C., Szczerbicki, E.: Smart innovation management in product life cycle. In: Wilimowska, Z., Borzemski, L., Grzech, A., Świątek, J. (eds.) Information Systems Architecture and Technology: Proceedings of 36th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology (ISAT 2015), Karpcz, Poland. Advances in Intellignet Systems and Computing, vol. 432. Springer, Cham (2015)
- Waris, M.M., Sanin, C., Szczerbicki, E.: Framework for product innovation using SOEKS and decisional DNA. In: Nguyen, N.T., Trawinski, B., Fujita, H., Hong, T.-P. (eds.) Intelligent Information and Database Systems, ACIIDS 2016, Part I. LNAI, vol. 9621, pp. 1– 10. Springer, Heidelberg (2016)
- Waris, M.M., Sanin, C., Szczerbicki, E.: Toward smart innovation engineering: decisional DNA-based conceptual approach. Cybern. Syst. 47(1–2), 149–159 (2016)
- Garcia-Crespo, A., Ruiz-Mezcua, B., Lopez-Cuadrado, J.L., Gomez-Berbis, J.M.: Conceptual model for semantic representation of industrial manufacturing processes. Comput. Ind. 61, 595–612 (2010)
- 12. Herstatt, C., von Hippel, E.: From experience: developing new product concepts via the lead user method: a case study in a "low-tech" field. J. Prod. Innov. Manag. **9**(3), 213–221 (1992)
- Dolan, R.J., Matthews, J.M.: Maximizing the utility of customer product testing: beta test design and management. J. Prod. Innov. Manag. 10(4), 318–330 (1993)
- Ciccantelli, S., Magidson, J.: From experience: consumer idealized design: involving consumers in the product development process. J. Prod. Innov. Manag. 10(4), 341–347 (1993)
- 15. Piller, F.T., Walcher, D.: Toolkits for idea competitions: a novel method to integrate users in new product development. R&D Manag. **36**(3), 307–318 (2006)
- 16. O'Sullivan, D., Dooley, L.: Applying Innovation. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks (2008)
- Gunday, G., Ulusoy, G., Kilic, K., Alpkan, L.: Effects of innovation types on firm performance. Int. J. Prod. Econ. 133(2), 662–676 (2011). doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2011.05.014
- 18. Osborne, D.J.: Ergonomics at Work. Wiley, New York (1987)
- 19. Nussbaum, B.: Hot Products, Business Week, 7 June 1993
- Jayarama, J., Okeb, A., Prajogo, D.: The antecedents and consequences of product and process innovation strategy implementation in Australian manufacturing firms. Int. J. Prod. Res. 52(15), 4424–4439 (2014). doi:10.1080/00207543.2013.849363
- Kagermann, H., Wahlster, W., Helbig, J.: Recommendations for implementing the strategic initiative INDUSTRIE 4.0 (2013). http://www.acatech.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/ Baumstruktur\_nach\_Website/Acatech/root/de/Material\_fuer\_Sonderseiten/Industrie\_4.0/ Final\_report\_\_Industrie\_4.0\_accessible.pdf. Accessed 03 June 2017
- Hermann, M., Pentek, T., Otto, B.: Design Principles for Industrie 4.0 Scenarios: A Literature Review (2015). http://www.snom.mb.tu-dortmund.de/cms/de/forschung/ Arbeitsberichte/Design-Principles-for-Industrie-4\_0-Scenarios.pdf

- 23. Platform Industry 4.0.: Cyber Physical Production Systems (CPPS). http://www.plattformi40.de/glossar/cyber-physical-production-systems-cpps. Accessed 01 Apr 2015
- 24. Sanín, C., Szczerbicki, E.: Set of experience: a knowledge structure for formal decision events. Found. Control Manag. Sci. **3**, 95–113 (2005)
- Sanín, C., Szczerbicki, E.: Towards the construction of decisional DNA: a set of experience knowledge structure java class within an ontology system. Cybern. Syst. 38, 859–878 (2007)
- 26. Sanín, C., Szczerbicki, E.: Towards decisional DNA: developing a holistic set of experience knowledge structure. Found. Control Manag. Sci. 9, 109–122 (2008)

# **Author Index**

#### A

Akhmetshina, Alsu, 38 Arman, Arry Akhmad, 210

#### B

Bajcar, Beata, 253 Banaszak, Zbigniew, 89 Bocewicz, Grzegorz, 89 Borkowska, Anna, 253 Bukietyńska, Agnieszka, 13 Burduk, Anna, 265, 275 Buscher, Udo, 285

С

Cibulova, Petra, 295 Czekała, Mariusz, 13

#### D

Dąbkowska, Magdalena, 141 de Oliveira, Caterine Silva, 243 Dereń, Aldona Małgorzata, 128 Dolińska, Małgorzata, 108 Dudek-Dyduch, Ewa, 3 Dulina, Ľuboslav, 304

F

Filcek, Grzegorz, 314

### G

Gąbka, Joanna, 314 Gawdzik, Jarosław, 324 Gaweł, Bartłomiej, 47 Górnicka, Dagmara, 265 Górski, Arkadiusz, 128, 197 Grobelny, Jerzy, 336 Η

Hajłasz, Maria, 184 Hołodnik-Janczura, Grażyna, 220 Hopej, Marian, 173 Hurriyati, Ratih, 210

### I

Ignaciuk, Przemysław, 118

#### J

Jach, Katarzyna, 253

#### K

Kamińska, Anna Maria, 197 Keller, Birgit, 285 Kłos, Sławomir, 346, 355 Koczar, Joanna, 38 Kotowska, Joanna, 275 Kowalski, Michał J., 57 Kseniia, Terenteva, 38 Kukla, Sławomir, 369

### L

Lisiak-Felicka, Dominika, 141

### М

Manzke, Laura, 285 Martan, Janusz, 173 Michalski, Rafał, 336 Michna, Zbigniew, 89, 164 Mielczarek, Bożena, 184

#### N

Nielsen, Izabela, 164 Nielsen, Peter, 89, 164

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Z. Wilimowska et al. (eds.), Information Systems Architecture and Technology: Proceedings of 38th International Conference on Information Systems Architecture and Technology – ISAT 2017, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 657, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-67223-6

#### Р

Parkitna, Agnieszka, 128, 197 Patalas-Maliszewska, Justyna, 346 Plinta, Dariusz, 304

### R

Rębiasz, Bogdan, 47 Ruhman, Ghani, 210

### S

Sanin, Cesar, 243, 379 Sarnovsky, Martin, 295 Skalna, Iwona, 47 Skonieczny, Jan, 128 Stadnicka, Dorota, 355 Stasiak, Michał Dominik, 27 Studziński, Jan, 324 Szczerbicki, Edward, 243, 379 Szeląg, Bartosz, 324 Szmit, Anna, 141 Szmit, Maciej, 141 Szpara, Agnieszka, 69

## Т

Tomczak, Sebastian Klaudiusz, 98 Tworek, Katarzyna, 173

V Vagizova, Venera, 38

#### W

Waris, Mohammad Maqbool, 379 Werewka, Jan, 233 Więcek, Dariusz, 78 Więcek, Dorota, 78 Wieczorek, Łukasz, 118 Wilimowska, Zofia, 13 Wilimowski, Marek, 13

## Z

Zabawa, Jacek, 184 Żytniewski, Mariusz, 153